

Durham E-Theses

The behavioural ecology of migratory salmonids in the River Tweed, UK

GAULD, NIALL, RODERICK

How to cite:

GAULD, NIALL, RODERICK (2014) The behavioural ecology of migratory salmonids in the River Tweed, UK, Durham theses, Durham University. Available at Durham E-Theses Online: http://etheses.dur.ac.uk/10722/

Use policy

 $The full-text\ may\ be\ used\ and/or\ reproduced,\ and\ given\ to\ third\ parties\ in\ any\ format\ or\ medium,\ without\ prior\ permission\ or\ charge,\ for\ personal\ research\ or\ study,\ educational,\ or\ not-for-profit\ purposes\ provided\ that:$

- a full bibliographic reference is made to the original source
- a link is made to the metadata record in Durham E-Theses
- the full-text is not changed in any way

The full-text must not be sold in any format or medium without the formal permission of the copyright holders.

Please consult the full Durham E-Theses policy for further details.

Academic Support Office, The Palatine Centre, Durham University, Stockton Road, Durham, DH1 3LE e-mail: e-theses.admin@durham.ac.uk Tel: +44 0191 334 6107 http://etheses.dur.ac.uk

Niall R Gauld

The behavioural ecology of migratory salmonids in the River Tweed, UK

Abstract

This study investigated various life history stages of salmonids within the River Tweed, UK with a focus on migratory movements. The River Tweed is a large upland river situated on the border between Scotland and England and is home to some of the healthiest stocks of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) and sea trout (*Salmo trutta*) in the UK. The research undertaken as part of this thesis aims to assess how management can be improved to aid the migration of salmonids moving within freshwater. This is of particular importance due to increased demand for renewable energy including small scale hydropower as well as legislation that demands improved fish passage within rivers such as the Water Framework Directive.

Sea trout smolts were captured and acoustic tagged to assess the roles that in river obstructions such as weirs play on their migration between years with varying river flow. The two study years varied radically in flow levels due to the incidences of hydrological drought in 2010 significant differences were observed in the degree of delay smolts experienced at weirs as well as differing responses to flow during years.

Sea trout and salmon were acoustic tagged and tracked during their freshwater spawning migration. The aim of the study was to examine the interspecific differences in spawning migration such as spawning location and movement rate during migration. By looking at migration rate of sea trout and salmon it was observed that both species decreased their migratory rate the further into the river system they moved. It was also observed that sea trout and salmon spawned in different locations, with sea trout using tributaries and salmon using lower stretches of the Tweed.

The small scale movements of freshwater resident trout was studied. Freshwater resident trout tend to have relatively small home ranges and often hold a territory within their home range. As a result they also tend to rapidly home back to their territory after being displaced from it. As such, the study aimed to assess the degree to which brown trout home after being displaced, particularly whether being offered a choice of empty territories at their site of displacement would affect their homing behaviour. The study found that there was no apparent difference in homing behaviour observed between treatment groups offered empty territories at their site of displacement compared to controls that were displaced into fully populated sites.

Continued research into the behaviour of salmonid species is important due to increasing demand on water resources, future conflict between man and fishes water needs is inevitable.

The behavioural ecology of migratory salmonids in the River Tweed, UK

Niall R. Gauld



School of Biological & Biomedical Sciences

Durham University

Submitted to Durham University for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Contents

Contents	iii
Figures	viii
Tables	xiii
Declaration	xv
Acknowledgements	xvi
Dedication	xix
Preface: The Living North Sea Project	xx
Chapter 1: The life history and ecology of Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) & b	rown trout
(Salmo trutta)	22
1.1 The taxonomy and worldwide distribution of salmonids	22
1.2 Salmonid species in Europe	23
1.3 Brown trout life history variation and taxonomic controversies	25
1.4 Salmonid stocks of the Tweed	27
1.4.1 Atlantic salmon stocks	27
1.4.2 Sea trout stocks	27
1.5 Smolt migration in river	28
1.5.1 Smoltification	28
1.5.2 Factors influencing smolting	30
1.5.3 Migratory behaviour	31
1.5.4 Smolt estuary and coastal movements	33
1.5.5 Autumnal migration	35
1.6 Adult biology at sea	35
1.7 Adult oceanic homing migration	37

1.8	In river movements and spawning migration	38
1.9	In-stream structures and their impacts on migrant fishes	.39
1.9.1	Upstream migrants	40
1.9.2	Downstream moving fishes	41
1.10	Aims of thesis	43
Chapter 2	2: Study site, biotelemetry and justification of field methods	45
2.1	The River Tweed	45
2.2	Use of telemetry in studying fish behaviour and migration	49
2.2.1	Telemetry: early studies and modern advances	55
2.3	Tagging procedures and fish health	58
2.3.1	Anaesthesia	58
2.3.2	Intragastric tagging	59
2.3.3	Surgical tagging	59
2.4	Rationale for telemetry techniques used	62
Chapter 3	3: Reduced flow impacts salmonid smolt emigration in a river with low-hea	ıd
weirs (di	rect paper duplication)	64
3.1	Introduction	64
3.1.1	Study areas	66
3.2	Methods	69
3.2.1	Smolt capture and tagging	69
3.2.2	Acoustic tracking	71
3.2.3	Environmental data	73
3.3	Results	73
3.3.1	Inter-annual variations in successful migration out to sea and passage	
effici	encies at weirs	73

3.3.2	The delay of smolts during seaward migration in 2010 and 2011 and its	5
impao	t on smolt movement rate	76
3.3.3	Variation in flow conditions between 2010 and 2011 and its influence of	วท
smolt	ground speed	79
3.4	Discussion	83
Chapter 4	: The migration of spawning sea trout (<i>Salmo trutta</i>) and Atlantic salme	on
(Salmo sa	<i>lar</i>) in the River Tweed, Scotland	89
4.1	Introduction	89
4.1.1	Study area	93
4.2	Methods	98
4.2.1	Acoustic ALS locations	98
4.2.2	Adult fish capture	99
4.2.3	Atlantic salmon intragastric tagging procedure	100
4.2.4	Sea trout intraperitoneal tagging procedure	101
4.2.5	Manual tracking	103
4.2.6	ALS data retrieval	103
4.2.7	External data retrieval	104
4.2.8	Statistical analysis	104
4.3	Results	105
4.3.1	Sea trout and Atlantic salmon migration destinations 2010-2011	105
4.3.2	Adult sea trout and salmon migration speed through the lower half of	the
Twee	d.	109
4.3.3	Variation in adult sea trout and salmon migration throughout the River	r
Twee	d catchment.	111
4.3.4	The role of river flow on adult migration within tributaries	114
4.3.5	Interspecific differences in diel migration timing between Atlantic salm	ion
and s	ea trout.	116

4.4	Discussion	119
Chapter !	5: The homing migration of territorial brown trout (Salmo trutta) after	ŗ
displacer	nent in the Blackadder Water, Scotland	125
5.1	Introduction	125
5.1.1	Study area	128
5.2	Methods	130
5.2.1	Experimental rationale	130
5.2.2	Experimental fish capture	131
5.2.3	Radio and PIT tagging procedure	132
5.2.4	Release sites	133
5.2.5	Population estimation calculations	134
5.2.6	Radio tracking	135
5.2.7	PIT detection array set up and maintenance	136
5.2.8	Electrofishing recaptures	138
5.2.9	Environmental data	138
5.3	Results	139
5.3.1	Environmental conditions	139
5.3.2	Release site population densities	139
5.3.3	Post-displacement PIT tagged trout movements	142
5.3.4	Post-displacement movements of radio tagged brown trout	148
5.3.5	Electro-fishing recaptures	153
5.4	Discussion	154
Chapter (5: General discussion	160
61	Summary	160
U.T		
6.2	Justification of methodology and possible limitations	162
6.3	Implications and management applications	166

6.4	Future research	168
Append	dix I: Chapter 3 supplementary material	172
PIT ti	tracking sea trout and salmon in the Yarrow Water	172
Redu	uced flow impacts salmonid smolt emigration in a river with low-he	ead
weirs	⁻ S	178
Append	dix II: Chapter 5 supplementary material	187
Referen	nces	188

Figures

Figure 1.1: Sub-families and genera of the family Salmonidae as well as their nearest
genetic neighbour order Esociformes (pike species). *represents extinct species.
Reproduced from Ramsden <i>et al.</i> (2003)23
Figure 1.2: Diagram of the typical Atlantic salmon life cycle
Figure 1.3: Diagram of the brown trout life cycle25
Figure 2.1: Map of the River Tweed catchment including tributaries. Dashed black lines
represent the Tweed and Eye Fisheries District boundary, grey lines represent sub-
catchment boundaries. Large blue text with guide lines denotes catchments and areas
of the Tweed of interest in this thesis48
Figure 3.1: Map of the River Tweed showing all the major tributaries as well as the
migration route downstream from the Yarrow Water. Grey boxes denote the release
sites along with white circles denoting the ALS positions and white diamonds for SEPA
flow gauging stations (FGS). Black bars indicate the sites of in-river structures68
Figure 3.2: Cumulative survival of acoustically tagged brown trout smolts migrating
out to sea in 2010 and for three separate release groups in 2011. Black vertical bar
represent weirs along the migration route. * Measured from the furthest upstream
release point down to the estuary75
Figure 3.3: Time spent by individual smolts at ALS positions (delay) that were within
the impoundment zones of in river structures (obstructed) compared with those that
were not (unobstructed). Data are presented as box plots, showing median, upper and
lower quartiles, upper and lower 5 percentiles, mild outliers (circles; Q3 +1.5 ×IQR)
and extreme outliers (asterisks; Q3 + 3 \times IQR). In the 2010 panel medians are obscured
by other lines. Data do not include records from station 5 due to insufficient sample
size78
Figure 3.4: Box plot displaying the median net ground speeds of tagged trout smolts

moving through each river section in both 2010 and 2011. Boxes represent upper and lower quartiles and T-bars represent the upper and lower 5 percentiles and round dots

signify outliers. *Section of river between ALS positions, station 5 removed from analysis due to insufficient sample size.79 Figure 3.5: Mean daily flows at the flow gauging station at Lindean on the Ettrick Water, reflecting water flow at Murray's Cauld, during the period of study in both Figure 3.6: Total number of days below Q95 flows for the smolt migration period 1 April to 30 May between 1962 and 2011 on the lower Yarrow Water at the Philiphaugh flow gauging station, lower Ettrick Water at the Lindean flow gauging Figure 3.7: The net ground speed (km h⁻¹) of migrating smolts in relation to the estimated mean flow conditions (m³s⁻¹) during the period of transit throughout the migratory route. Flows are based upon the nearest 15-minute gauged flow, at the Figure 4.1: Map of the Tweed catchment and sub-catchments. Red circles represent ALS positions, the black squares represent the capture/release sites, grey lines represent sub-catchment boundaries, dashed black line represents the Tweed & Eye Fishery District boundary.95 Figure 4.2: Mean monthly catch per unit effort (CPUE) for sea trout, Multi-Sea-Winter (MSW) salmon and grilse from Gardo netting station in the estuary of the Tweed in the period between 1981-2009. Months presented reflect the duration of the net season. Error bars represent the standard error. * CPUE calculated as monthly catch Figure 4.3: Mean monthly catch per unit effort (CPUE) for sea trout, Multi-Sea-Winter (MSW) salmon and grilse from Paxton netting station in the lower Tweed in the period between 1988-2009. Months presented reflect the duration of the net season. Error bars represent the standard error. * CPUE calculated as monthly catch per netsman. 97 Figure 4.4: Mean numbers of sea trout (2000-2009) and salmon (1997-2009) conventionally (external T-bar tags) tagged per month at Gardo and Paxton netting

Figure 4.5: Conventionally tagged sea trout (2000-2009) and Atlantic salmon (1997-2009) recapture proportions (proportion of tagged fish recaptured) in various reaches Figure 4.6: Proportion of tagged Atlantic salmon released at Paxton ceasing upstream migration at each site in the Tweed (for river section map locations see Table 4.4)..107 Figure 4.7: Proportion of tagged sea trout released at Paxton ceasing migration at each Figure 4.8: Proportion of tagged Atlantic salmon released at Gardo in 2010 ceasing upstream migration at each site in the Tweed (for river section map locations see Figure 4.9: The relationship between release date and the movement rates of adult Figure 4.10: The 2010 – 2011 movement rates of adult sea trout and Atlantic salmon combined in relation to river section in the study area, as denoted by acoustic receiver Figure 4.11: The 2010-2011 movement rates of adult sea trout and Atlantic salmon combined, in relation to position within the River Tweed catchment. Error bars display Figure 4.12: The combined movement rate of migrating sea trout and Atlantic salmon Figure 4.13: The mean migration timing of Atlantic salmon and sea trout in relation to dawn. Error bars display standard error of the mean, the dashed line represents dawn. Figure 4.14: Rose plots of sea trout (green) and Atlantic salmon (black) diel activity on a monthly basis during 2010-2011 combined......118 Figure 5.1: Map of the study river section. White circles denote the three release sites, black bars represent pass through PIT detection loops and the limits of the survey

Figure 5.2: River flow rate for August 2012 in the Blackadder water, at Mouthbridge. Figure 5.3: The length frequency distribution of salmon and trout captured in the study section. Panels display the length frequency of Atlantic salmon (a) and brown trout (b) caught in the capture section, Atlantic salmon (c) and brown trout (d) caught in the control section and Atlantic salmon (e) and brown trout (f) caught in the Figure 5.4: The length of Atlantic salmon caught in the three release sites. Black lines represent the median, white boxes represent the upper and lower quartiles, error bars represent the data range excluding outliers and white dots represent outliers Figure 5.5: The length of brown trout caught in the three release sites. Black lines represent the median, white boxes represent the upper and lower quartiles, error bars represent the data range excluding outliers and white dots represent outliers Figure 5.6: The proportion of upstream movement, downstream movement and no movement recorded daily on PIT loggers bounding the three release sites a) Treatment, b) Control and c) Capture. Upstream movement is represented by black hatches, downstream movement is represented by white and no movement is represented by grey......145 Figure 5.7: The speeds of brown trout moving upstream and downstream in relation to flow conditions......146 Figure 5.8: Diel timing of brown trout upstream and downstream movements from all three release groups combined based on detections from the PIT array. Dawn and Dusk are donated by the dotted vertical lines......146 Figure 5.9: The diel movements of fish from the treatment (top), control (middle) and capture (bottom) recorded on all PIT loops. Black dashed lines represent dawn and

Figure 5.10: The upstream PIT movement rates (body lengths per second) of fish released in the three separate release sites based on PIT loop detections measured over the period of study. Black lines represent the median, white boxes represent the upper and lower quartiles, error bars represent the data range and white dots represent outliers (Q3+1.5×IQR)......148 Figure 5.11: Distances moved from the treatment release site by doubly tagged brown trout based on combined PIT and radio tracking records. Distances moved upstream of the release point are positive and distances moved downstream are negative. Dashed lines represent the boundaries of the site where the brown trout were captured....150 Figure 5.12: Distances moved from the control release site by doubly tagged brown trout based on combined PIT and radio tracking records. Distances moved upstream of the release point are positive and distances moved downstream are negative. Dashed lines represent the boundaries of the site where the brown trout were captured....151 Figure 5.13: Distances moved from the capture release site by doubly tagged brown trout based on combined PIT and radio tracking records. Distances moved upstream of the release point are positive and distances moved downstream are negative. Dashed lines represent the boundaries of the site where the brown trout were captured....152 Figure 5.14: The percentage of each treatment group within the recaptured sample

Tables

Table 2.1: Summary of the various technologies used to study the spatial behaviour of
freshwater fishes with their associated strengths, weaknesses and common
applications. Reproduced from table in Cooke <i>et al.</i> (2013)
Table 3.1: Descriptions of in river structures along the studied smolt migratory route. st
Structure crosses river at an angle to the flow69
Table 3.2: Summary data for smolts acoustic tagged in 2010 and 2011. The release
sites are shown on Figure 3.171
Table 3.3: Delay and barrier passage efficiencies at ALS positions along the smolt
migration route through the river and estuary. Station 5 not listed due to insufficient
sample size recorded there77
Table 4.1: Summary of number of Atlantic salmon caught and tagged on each day of
netting at Gardo during 2010101
Table 4.2: Summary of number of fish caught and tagged on each day of netting at
Paxton during 2010 and 2011102
Table 4.3: Specifications of the acoustic transmitters used. 103
Table 4.4: Table of disambiguating terms used in Figure 4.1 with location names 106
Table 4.5: Candidate General Linear Mixed Models for the migration speeds of sea
trout and Atlantic salmon migrating through the lower half of the River Tweed. Table
displays all variables used in each model as well as summary data for each model,
factoral variables that have an effect on the model are represented by a "+" symbol.
Table 4.6: Candidate General Linear Mixed Models for the migration speeds of sea
trout and Atlantic salmon migrating through various river sections of the Tweed and
its tributaries. The Table displays all variables used in each model as well as summary
data for each model, factoral variables that have an effect on the model are
represented by a "+" symbol112
Table 4.7: The movement rates of sea trout and salmon moving through each
individual river section in the Tweed catchment in 2010-2011. Table denotes

movement rates converted between relative speeds (bl s⁻¹) and absolute speeds (m s⁻¹) ¹) as well as mean fish size and sample sizes of fish moving in each river section. 113 Table 4.8: Candidate General Linear Mixed Models for the migration speeds of sea trout and Atlantic salmon migrating through the reaches and tributaries of the Tweed. Table displays all variables used in each model as well as summary data for each model, factoral variables that have an effect on the model are represented by a "+" Table 4.9: The movement rates of sea trout and salmon moving through each reach of the Tweed catchment in 2010-2011. Table denotes movement rates converted between relative speeds (bl s⁻¹) and absolute speeds (m s⁻¹) as well as mean fish size and sample sizes of fish moving in each river section......114 Table 4.10: Candidate General Linear Models for the migration speeds of sea trout and Atlantic salmon migrating through the tributaries of the Tweed. Table displays all variables used in each model as well as summary data for each model, factoral Table 4.11: Table displaying model variables and model attributes for diel timing Table 5.2: Stream and habitat characteristics of the sections within the study river Table 5.3: Brown trout recaptures locations and position from last recorded location

Declaration

The work contained in this thesis has not been submitted elsewhere for any other degree or qualification and unless otherwise referenced is the author's own work.

The copyright of this thesis rests with the author. No quotation from it should be published without the author's prior written consent and information derived from it should be acknowledged.

Niall Roderick Gauld

Acknowledgements

This PhD would not have been possible without the help and support from a great many people. Firstly, I would like to thank my supervisors Martyn, Sean and Ronald. I have been very lucky to have been supervised by such great scientists. Through your time and effort I have grown as a scientist, be it the correct way to wire a PIT logging unit, how to distinguish trout from salmon or how to design an effective behavioural study. Further to this I also learned about the best place to buy crab in Berwick Upon Tweed, the best place to buy meat (near Berwick), the best place to buy freshly picked strawberries in the Borders, the cheapest way to buy a whole sea trout or salmon (again in Berwick), where a good Ford dealership in County Durham is, that no matter how early in the morning I get up I will never beat Martyn into the office and that a good reliable hat is important.

I was lucky to work on such a well funded PhD, many potential PhD students dream about receiving the kind of funding I received. As such, I would also like to thank my funders at the Living North Sea project as well as the Tweed Foundation particularly Nick Yonge and Fay Hieatt for coordinating the finances for the Tweed portion of the LNS project. Again I would like to thank Nick Yonge and Fay Hieatt for securing the funding from the River Tweed Commission to tag salmon, I would also like to thank the many Tweed Commissioners that funded this portion of the research and showed great interest in the project.

Carrying out a field based PhD is difficult in the best of times and as such I would like to thank all that were involved. Firstly, I would like to thank the Tweed landowners that let me set up equipment on their land. I would like to especially Peter Leggate at Greenlawdean and Mr Galt at Harewood Glen, knowing that landowners such as you are interested in work about fisheries science is heartening. Secondly, I would like to thank the Tweed ghillies, no one knows the Tweed Better than you and your help and advice was immeasurable. Thirdly, I would like to thank the netting teams at Gardo and Paxton, you make netting salmon and trout look like an art form and my PhD wouldn't have been possible without your skill and expertise. Fourthly, I would like to thank the staff at Tinnis and Torwoodlee fish farms, thank you for letting me capture and tag smolts on your land, you saved me evenings manning fyke nets in the Yarrow and Gala. And finally, I would like to thank Kenny Galt, Barry Wright and James Hunt at the Tweed Foundation as well as Alan Davidson, Kenny Graham, Tommy Heard and Eric Hastings at the River Tweed Commission for your help during fieldwork, thank you for the help and advice, I learned a lot more than I needed to from you.

Aside from my supervisors I was also privy to excellent advice from several people external to my PhD. Shane Richards, Ralf Ohlemüller and Steve Willis provided much needed advice and criticism during thesis committee meetings, I know they were mandatory for all of us but the extra input has helped a lot through the last 4 years. I would also like to thank Barry Bendall, Kim Aarestrup and members of the LNS sea trout migration group for help and advice during LNS meetings.

Moving to Durham during the start of third year was daunting, relocating to a new place and fitting in to a new workplace was a bit jarring but made much easier by the postgrad students and post-docs in the Ecology Adaptation and Environment group. Firstly, my current and former lab mates, Fiona Bracken, John Findlay, Mike Forty, Will Foulds, James Howard and Jeroen Trummers, you made the trek into the office each day a little more bearable. Secondly, Jamie Alison, Robi Bagchi, David Baker, Amy Bishop, Miranda Davis, Steve Hancock, Sam Hardman, Bethan Hindle, Christine Howard, Mike Harrap, Olly Kinsey, Andy Lloyd, Tom Mason, Naiara O'Mahony, Hagen O'Neill, Georgina Palmer, Emily Perrin and Alke Voskamp, you all helped keep me sane inside and outside the department with your numerous social events and epic games of Carcassonne (which George always seemed to win). I am fortunate to have excellent friends that have supported me and kept my mind off stressing about my PhD. I would like to thank Pete Tubbecke, Graeme Riley, Karen Cairney, Dan Blackadder, Bawer, Belo and Biffy for being great flatmates and friends during my time in Galashiels. Thanks also to Donald Reid, Andrew Aiton and Iain Ballantyne for keeping me entertained during my frequent visits up to Glasgow during 1st and 2nd year. I would also like to thank the "Cupar Crew"; Graeme Imrie, Kirsty Kirkhope, Mairi McKinnon, Nicole Johnston and Sarah Russell for the fun times even when I was poor and stressing about PhD write up.

Finally I would like to thank Gail and my family for always being there despite the financial difficulties and the stress and the woe. I truly love you and appreciate you looking after me when I needed it the most.

Dedication

In loving memory of Raymond Gauld (1931-2012)

Preface: The Living North Sea Project

Sections of the following thesis (Chapters 3 and 4) were completed as part of the Living North Sea (LNS) project. The LNS project was a European research project with the primary goal of promoting the free migration of diadromous fishes moving between the North Sea and the inland waters of countries bordering the North Sea, thus promoting *free migration from sea to source*. The project was a partnership between 15 separate research and management bodies from seven countries bordering the North Sea.

Why the North Sea?

"The North Sea was once a very fish rich sea fed by several large European rivers such as; the Rhine, Elbe and Thames, creating rich delta systems around the whole North Sea resulting in abundant fish populations.

As a result of a reduction in the fish spawning and breeding grounds, disruption of continuity within rivers and fifty years of intensive fisheries today we are left with a poorly populated North Sea. The LNS project was established with a focus on the reconnection between rivers and deltas and the North Sea so fish can once again reach their spawning and breeding grounds leading to healthy fish populations once more."

- Text adapted from http://www.living-north-sea.eu/north-sea/

Project aims

"The LNS projects over-arching aim is to promote free fish migration from sea to source and addresses three essential aspects about the management of migratory fish:

- Migration routes
- Threats such as man-made barriers and fish migration measures
- Influencing future policy at a regional, national and international level and informing the general public

The work on migratory routes focuses on sea trout, eel and salmon, but is applicable to many other species. The partnership will analyse and visualise migratory routes, populations and consequences of management actions. New communication and mapping tools for sharing data between partners will be explored.

In the North Sea Region some deltas and estuaries are closed to fish and many more have barriers such as dams and sluices throughout their system, meaning that many fish species like the eel, salmon and sea trout cannot reach their spawning grounds. The partnership focuses on the development of better and innovative migration measures, such as passages or sluice management and the implementation of these in demonstration projects.

The LNS project will emphasise the promotion and publicity of fish migration because the effect of barriers on fish populations is often not considered when dealing with flooding, drainage, or renewable power generation. Yet healthy fisheries are critical to sustainable development and good ecological status of rivers. Intensive communication actions intended to influence regional, national and European policies will be carried out. Creating new partnerships, sharing knowledge and achieving greater awareness and involvement are key elements in this project." Text adapted from http://www.living-north-sea.eu/

xxi

Chapter 1: The life history and ecology of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) & brown trout (*Salmo trutta*)

1.1 The taxonomy and worldwide distribution of salmonids

Salmon and trout belong to the order Salmoniformes, an order that has been traced back to the Upper Cretaceous (Nelson, 2006). It is strongly suggested by both cladistic and genetic analysis that the Salmoniformes have a freshwater origin (Stearley and Smith, 1993; Ishiguro et al., 2003; Ramsden et al., 2003). Salmon and trout belong to the family Salmonidae which contains three sub-families: Coregoninae, Thymallinae and Salmoninae (Nelson, 2006)(Figure 1.1). Mitochondrial genetic analysis suggests that Coregoninae branched earlier from Thymallinae and Salmoninae with Thymallinae and Salmoninae existing as sister groups (Yasuike et al., 2010). The sub-family Salmoninae includes five genera: Hucho, Brachymystax, Oncorhynchus, Salvelinus and Salmo (Nelson, 2006). Hucho contains freshwater and andromous (breed in freshwater but most growth occurs at sea) forms of huchen and taimen species which occur throughout Northern Asia and the Danube basin in Europe (Phillips et al., 2004). Brachymystax, lenok, are freshwater fish that are found in Siberia, Northern China and Korea (Xia et al., 2006). Oncorhynchus is the genus that comprises Pacific salmon and trouts and occurs throughout the North Pacific basin (Esteve and McLennan, 2007). Salvelinus, charr species, have a circumpolar distribution in the northern hemisphere and exist in freshwater as well as anadromous forms (Phillips et al., 1994). The genus Salmo contains salmon and trout species from the North Atlantic basin, species can be purely freshwater resident or contain anadromous forms (Stearley and Smith, 1993). Both brown trout and Atlantic salmon are members of this particular genus.



Figure 1.1: Sub-families and genera of the family Salmonidae as well as their nearest genetic neighbour order Esociformes (pike species). *represents extinct species. Reproduced from Ramsden *et al.* (2003).

1.2 Salmonid species in Europe

Members of the sub-family Salmoninae are some of the most notable migratory fish, especially those from the genus *Salmo* and *Oncoryhynchus* with many undergoing mass migrations (Lucas and Baras, 2001). The main anadromous salmonids endemic to Europe are *Salmo salar*, *Salmo trutta* and *Salvelinus alpinus* each capable of undertaking both freshwater and saltwater stages during their life history (Klemetsen *et al.*, 2003). European stocks of Atlantic salmon almost exclusively carry out an anadromous life cycle, with the juvenile stages occurring in freshwater and the adult stages occurring mostly at sea, only returning to freshwater to spawn (Figure 1.2) (Gross *et al.*, 1988). However, there are elements that do not carry out this whole life cycle such as precocious parr that sexually mature and spawn entirely in freshwater as well as relatively rare populations of landlocked salmon (Leyzerovich, 1973; Saunders *et al.*, 1982; Nilsen *et al.*, 2003). In contrast, brown trout are highly flexible and locally adaptable with regards to their freshwater and anadromous life histories within and between stocks (Figure 1.3) (Jonsson, 1989; Hindar *et al.*, 1991). The term 'sea trout' is commonly used to describe the anadromous form of *S. trutta*. At Northernmost latitudes *Salvelinus alpinus* are often anadromous, frequently mixing with freshwater residents. However, at lower latitudes Arctic charr are exclusively landlocked (Klemetsen *et al.*, 2003). For brevity, in the rest of this thesis *Salmo salar*, freshwater resident *Salmo trutta* and anadromous *Salmo trutta* will be referred to as Atlantic salmon, brown trout and sea trout respectively.



Figure 1.2: Diagram of the typical Atlantic salmon life cycle



Figure 1.3: Diagram of the brown trout life cycle

1.3 Brown trout life history variation and taxonomic controversies

Brown trout as a species have the capacity to undertake multiple life history strategies with lacustrine, fluvial as well as anadromous forms, or ecotypes, being identified. Often these forms can cohabit the same river systems but there is some evidence for spatial segregation due to barriers limiting river continuity (Kristensen *et al.*, 2011). Therefore, in a fisheries management context, there is a need to allow for free flowing river when anadromous forms are present in the population (Charles *et al.*, 2004).

It is noted that the progeny of sea trout can produce freshwater residents and vice versa (Northcote, 1978; Guyomard *et al.*, 1984; Wysujack *et al.*, 2009). This is supported by genetic evidence showing that there are no genetic differences between freshwater and anadromous forms of brown trout from the same population (Charles *et al.*, 2005; Charles *et al.*, 2006). However, there is evidence for reproductive segregation

between forms found in Scottish lochs and Irish loughs based on genetics, with large cannibalistic trout (ferox) being reproductively isolated from other freshwater forms (Ferguson, 1989; Duguid *et al.*, 2006; Ferguson, 2006).

Due to this variation within brown trout their precise taxonomy is still a cause for some debate. In the 10th edition of the Systema Naturae, the foundation of modern taxonomy, Linnaeus categorised brown trout into three separate species; steam trout (Salmo fario), river trout (Salmo trutta) and sea trout (Salmo eriox) (Linnaeus, 1758). It is estimated that there are 60 synonyms for brown trout within the scientific literature since the publication of the Systema Naturae (reviewed in Jonsson and Jonsson, 2011). However, modern taxonomy for the species places all forms under the singular species of *Salmo trutta*, although brown trout's current position within modern taxonomy is still a cause for wide debate (Kottelat and Freyhof, 2007; Webb et al., 2007; McKeown et al., 2010). Kottelat and Freyhof (2007) estimated that Salmo trutta, across its European distribution, actually consisted of 27 discrete trout species. Nelson (2006) on the other hand suggests there are three separate trout species within Europe and Webb (2007) maintained that there was only one trout species in Europe, Salmo trutta. Due to this taxonomic debate brown trout is now widely referred to as the Salmo trutta species complex (Bernatchez, 2001; Meraner et al., 2007; Schöffmann et al., 2007; Caputo et al., 2009). For the purposes of this thesis ecotypic forms of brown trout will be referred to as the singular species Salmo trutta.

1.4 Salmonid stocks of the Tweed

The River Tweed is home to a variety of discrete Atlantic salmon and sea trout stocks. Work carried out in the past 20 years by the Tweed Foundation has helped to greatly elucidate specific stocks.

1.4.1 Atlantic salmon stocks

Evidence gathered through scale collection from rod caught Atlantic salmon in various areas of the River Tweed suggests that there are considerable differences between the salmon stocks of the Tweed. It is observed that spring salmon, early running multi sea winter salmon, now relatively rare, are absent from scale records for the area of the Tweed above the confluence of the Ettrick Water but are fairly prevalent below the confluence, suggesting that spring salmon are endemic to the Ettrick Water and not the upper Tweed (Campbell, 2005). A later radio tracking study followed the progress of estuary tagged salmon and their migration within the Tweed system. It was observed that the greatest proportion of early running fish (fish tagged before the 1st of July) made their way up the Ettrick and Whiteadder tributaries, with the stocks of remaining tributaries largely being composed of summer and autumn running adults (Smith *et al.*, 1998; Campbell, 2005). These results are also confirmed by long term catch records for the Tweed, with the number of catches for early running fish declining past the mouth of the Ettrick Water (Campbell, 2005).

1.4.2 Sea trout stocks

The sea trout stocks of the Tweed are generally considered to be a polymorphic component of a larger brown trout population. However, recent studies of the brown trout population within the Tweed have shown that the juvenile populations of some tributaries within the Tweed are largely spawned by either resident brown trout or sea trout (Briers *et al.*, 2013). The sea trout of the College Burn a tributary of the Glen/Bowmont, the main tributary of the River Till contains an interesting sea trout sub-

population, which can be considered unique to the Tweed. Segregated by size, smaller single sea winter sea trout, locally referred to as whitling, are prevalent above a natural obstruction, whereas larger sea trout and salmon are only encountered below the obstruction (Campbell, 2005).

1.5 Smolt migration in river

The migration of juveniles from rivers to the sea is one of the milestones in the life cycle of anadromous Atlantic salmon and sea trout. On attaining a suitable length and energy store status, in relation to their developmental stage, the juveniles begin to smoltify and depart from their natal channels and descend the river towards the sea (Bohlin *et al.*, 1996; McCormick *et al.*, 1998). Smolting is a complicated process that is brought on by a suite of physiological, morphological and behavioural changes as well as environmental stimuli (Riley *et al.*, 2002).

1.5.1 Smoltification

During smoltification, juvenile salmonids undergo a variety of morphological, physiological and behavioural changes (Folmar and Dickhoff, 1980). Morphological changes observed during smoltification include loss of parr markings (dark banding on the flanks) due to development of the purines guanine and hypoxanthine resulting in the development of layers of silvery pigmentation in the skin and scales (Denton and Saunders, 1972; Folmar and Dickhoff, 1980). The change in body colouration is also coupled with a change in body shape. The body shapes of sea trout and Atlantic salmon smolts change to become more fusiform. Changes include a reduction in body depth, shortening of the head and a relative elongation of the caudal peduncle (Debowski *et al.*, 1999a; Debowski *et al.*, 1999b). The caudal and dorsal fins of salmon smolts are also observed to blacken due to deposition of melanin grains in the melanophores (Mizuno, 2004). Such changes in body shape and colour are assumed to aid swimming performance in pelagic environments as well as provide cryptic colouration in open water (Björnsson *et al.*, 2010).

Prior to smolting, juvenile stream dwelling Atlantic salmon and sea trout reside in benthic territories and exhibit positive rheotaxis in relation to river flow (Thorpe and Morgan, 1978). During the parr-smolt transformation juveniles abandon territoriality and aggressive behaviour toward conspecifics. The juveniles then leave the benthic habitat and form cohesive pelagic shoals before moving downriver towards the sea (McCormick *et al.*, 1998). Other behavioural changes exhibited by smolting juveniles include a shift in salinity preference, with smolts exhibiting an increased preference for salt water, preparing them for sea entry (Folmar and Dickhoff, 1980; Iwata, 1995).

During smoltification, juveniles undergo a variety of physiological changes that allow them to increase their hypoosomoregulatory ability thus allowing for successful transition from fresh to salt water. Movement from freshwater to saltwater requires smolts to change from net ion-influx to net ion-efflux, which is primarily controlled by the gills; although, the kidney, gut and urinary bladder also play a role (McCormick and Saunders, 1987). Growth hormone (GH) and cortisol are both greatly elevated during smoltification and stimulate the development of salt-water type chloride excretory cells in the gills as well as altering intestinal osmoregulatory function. These changes allow the fish to compensate for osmotic water loss through drinking salt water, with ions being excreted by the gills and kidney (McCormick et al., 2000; Björnsson et al., 2010). A resulting physiological cue of the formation of salt water chloride cells, understood to be an accurate indicator of smolting, is the elevation of gill Na⁺ K⁺- stimulated adenosinetriphosphatase (ATPase) activity (because salt excretion in these cells is an active process, using sodium-potassium pumps). Gill Na⁺ K⁺- ATPase activity in juveniles undergoing smoltification has been shown to be at levels twice that of parr with the activity in smolts entering saltwater being at levels up to seven times those seen in parr (Zaugg and Wagner, 1973; McCormick and Saunders, 1987; Ewing, 1998; Lysfjord and Staurnes, 1998).

1.5.2 Factors influencing smolting

Over the years various factors governing the onset of smolting have been postulated, these include; stream flow rate, water temperature, photoperiod, fish age and fish size have (Solomon, 1978b; a; Thorpe and Morgan, 1978; Thorpe et al., 1981; Metcalfe and Thorpe, 1990; Hembre et al., 2001; Katzman et al., 2010). It is now understood that it is body length and associated energy stores rather than age that determines smolting in juvenile salmonids (Økland et al., 1993; Bohlin et al., 1996). The decision to smolt is thought to be made in the preceding autumn (Wright *et al.*, 1990). Groups of parr have been shown to sort in to two distinct modal groups based on feeding and growth rates with the Upper Modal Group (UMG) making the seaward migration the following spring whilst the Lower Modal Group (LMG) are retained within the river for a subsequent year (Thorpe, 1977; Heggenes and Metcalfe, 1991). It has been observed in juvenile populations of sea trout that faster growing juveniles migrate at a smaller size than slower growing individuals that migrate years later. This may be due to the metabolic demands of increased growth rates requiring juveniles to transition to sea faster where feeding opportunities are more plentiful (Heggenes and Metcalfe, 1991). Økland et al. (1993) observed that age at smolting in Atlantic salmon and sea trout varied greatly between northern and southern Norwegian rivers with smolt size having an effect. Northern rivers produced Atlantic salmon and sea trout smolts at ages 3 to 5 and 3 to 6 years respectively whereas southern rivers produced Atlantic salmon and sea trout smolts at ages 2 to 4 and 2 to 3 years respectively. This variation is thought to be due to the effect of latitude on growth opportunities, an outcome supported by (L'Abee-Lund et al., 1989; Metcalfe and Thorpe, 1990). Differences in age at smolting between sea trout and Atlantic salmon were also observed, with Atlantic salmon smolting earlier than sea trout, this may be due to Atlantic salmon having greater osmoregulatory ability and growth rate in saltwater than sea trout and, therefore, standing to gain more by migrating to sea earlier (Økland *et al.*, 1993).

Increasingly, the consensus is that a combination of photoperiod and temperature are the principle factors regulating the timing of smolt migration (Jonsson and Jonsson,

2009b). Photoperiod is now considered the *zeitgeber* (time bringer or synchroniser) for smolt migration, with variations in day length providing indicators of season (Björnsson *et al.*, 1995). Experiments involving artificial alteration of photoperiod coupled with the intensive feeding of juvenile *S. salar* have been successful in producing 0+ smolts during periods where there is no natural smolt production (Handeland, 2001). Temperature on the other hand affects the rate of development exhibited in smolting juveniles, with high temperatures increasing salt-water readiness (Handeland, 2004), while low temperatures reduce the response to photoperiod (McCormick *et al.*, 2000). The periodicity of smolting has been shown to be affected by temperature with mild winters resulting in smolting beginning earlier and taking place over a shorter window (Zydlewski *et al.*, 2005; Jonsson and Jonsson, 2009b).

Variations in water temperature and flow are thought to be the primary factors controlling the migration of smolts (Jonsson and Jonsson, 2009b). Results have shown that, rather than a specific temperature or a set number of degree days (number of days × mean temperature [°C]), smolt movement is stimulated by a mixture of actual temperature and increases in temperature (Byrne, 2004; Orell *et al.*, 2007). Water flow has also been observed to play a role in smolt movement with increased river flow rate playing a role in migration rate and even route selection in salmonid smolts (Carlsen *et al.*, 2004; Michel *et al.*, 2013; Steel *et al.*, 2013).

1.5.3 Migratory behaviour

The diel pattern of smolt migration in Atlantic salmon and sea trout is now well documented with the majority of migration occurring during the night (Thorpe *et al.*, 1981; Lundqvist and Eriksson, 1985; Greenstreet, 1992; Moore and Potter, 1994; Moore *et al.*, 1995; Moore *et al.*, 1998a; Moore *et al.*, 1998b; Aarestrup *et al.*, 1999; Aarestrup *et al.*, 2002; Ibbotson *et al.*, 2006). However, there are recorded instances of smolts switching to a diurnal migration pattern later on in the migration period (Moore *et al.*, 1995; McCormick *et al.*, 1998). Davidsen *et al.* (2005) observed in a Norwegian river,

using video recordings, that the majority of smolts undertook diurnal migration early in the season with migration becoming increasingly nocturnal later in the season.

Solomon (1978b) observed, during the Atlantic salmon smolt run in an English chalk stream, that tagged smolts took an average of 121 hours to migrate down a 4 km stretch of river, which was considerably slower than the average current speed, indicating that smolt migration is an active rather than passive behaviour. A similar behaviour was noted in Loch Voil, Scotland where smolts migrated 3.7 times slower than the current (Thorpe et al., 1981). Observations from a video array showed the majority of smolts facing downstream and actively swimming, with the rest switching between tail first and active swimming in a head first orientation (Davidsen et al., 2005). These video observations are contrary to the observations made by Solomon (1978b) and Thorpe *et al.* (1981) as the fish would travel faster than the current if they mostly actively swim. However, the results observed by Davidsen et al. (2005) relate to only a specific site where fish were actively moving presumably migration through the whole river would be interspersed with areas where holding behaviours were more pronounced. Net ground speeds of migrating smolts have been shown to be highly variable with speeds ranging from 1 to 60 km d^{-1} in the River Lilleaa, Denmark (Aarestrup *et al.*, 2002). Mean ground speeds of 35 cm s⁻¹ and 14 cm s⁻¹ (Equivalent: 30.24 km d⁻¹ and 12 km d⁻¹ respectively) during the ebb and flood tides respectively were recorded in the estuary of the River Test, England which indicates active swimming during the transition to sea (Moore *et al.*, 1998b).

The position in the water column that smolts adopt during migration in the river has been shown to be the lower half of the column with smolts moving closer to the deeper quarter of the water column during periods of increased sunlight as a possible method to avoid visual predators (Davidsen *et al.*, 2005). It has also been shown in a Danish river that wild and hatchery reared Atlantic salmon and sea trout smolts differ in vertical stream positioning, wild migrants adopted a low vertical position in comparison to a random vertical position adopted by hatchery smolts (Svendsen *et al.*, 2007).

The onset of smolt movement in relation to physiological condition, specifically ATPase levels has been explored. The ATPase levels of early migrants has been shown to be much lower than later migrants (Strand *et al.*, 2011). An associated delay in saltwater entry has been observed in smolts with low ATPase levels resulting in early migrants adapting to saltwater in synchony with their later migrating cohorts (Strand *et al.*, 2011). The association between the urge to migrate and ATPase levels has also been examined in hatchery Atlantic salmon smolts (Spencer *et al.*, 2010). Whilst the increase of downstream migratory behaviour and ATPase concentration increased in line with expectations there was no clear relationship between the two (Spencer *et al.*, 2010). The peak in downstream migratory behaviour occurred after ATPase concentration peaked and had subsequently started to decline (Spencer *et al.*, 2010).

1.5.4 Smolt estuary and coastal movements

Preference in vertical positioning is thought to switch once smolts leave the lower river and enter the estuary. Smolts were also more likely to position themselves higher up in the water column and move out to sea during ebb tides resulting in more efficient passage out to sea (Moore *et al.*, 1992; Moore *et al.*, 1995; Moore *et al.*, 1998a; Moore *et al.*, 1998b). Smolt migration from estuary to sea is largely dependent on tidal currents with smolts showing a preference for transitioning during ebb tides and holding position during flood tides, showing selective tidal stream transport (Moore *et al.*, 1992; Moore *et al.*, 1995). Smolts also show a preference for nocturnal passage through estuaries, however the diel pattern of movement tends to be the primary factor controlling sea entry (Stasko, 1975; Potter *et al.*, 1992; Lacroix and McCurdy, 1996; Moore *et al.*, 1998a; Moore *et al.*, 1998b). During this period the ground speed of smolts has been shown to be greater than the speed of the current, showing that smolts undertake active swimming during this stage of the migration (Lacroix and McCurdy, 1996). Earlier migrant are also shown to spend a greater time in the river before transitioning into the sea than later migrants (Moore *et al.*, 1995). Despite this difference between early and

later migrants there appears to be no apparent transitioning period in smolts migrating from freshwater to saltwater (Moore *et al.*, 1995).

The transition between freshwater and saltwater is a particularly dangerous period of the Atlantic salmon and sea trout life cycle. Upon entry to the sea post-smolts are faced with a radically different physical environment and predators. These factors coupled with the stresses of adapting to the new osmotic environment can have a detrimental effect on post-smolt survival (Hvidsten and Lund, 1988; Jarvi, 1989; Handeland *et al.*, 1996; Dieperink *et al.*, 2001; Dieperink *et al.*, 2002). Another problem faced by post-smolts after entering the sea is acquiring food sources. In general coastal marine environments are more productive than most salmon and trout rivers. However, post-smolts must adapt to utilising a broader spectrum of prey items distributed in a greater volume of water (Hislop and Shelton, 1993).

In general, studies on post-smolt ecology are a relatively neglected area of salmonid research (Dutil and Coutou, 1988). Several problems exist with studying postsmolts: the fish are relatively scarce as the number of wild smolts entering the sea is relatively low in comparison to resident marine species. Considerable effort is therefore required to study the distribution and diet of post-smolts. Quantifying the predation of post-smolts is also technically demanding as post-smolts are available to a broad spectrum of predators (Hislop and Shelton, 1993).

Post smolts begin their feeding in the estuary as the majority of their stomach contents comprise winged terrestrial invertebrates that are confined to river and estuarine reaches (Dutil and Coutou, 1988). However, small fish have been found in stomachs of post-smolts in the Firth of Clyde (Morgan *et al.*, 1986; Hislop and Shelton, 1993). As the post-smolts grow they exploit more crustaceans and fish (Hislop and Shelton, 1993). Post-smolts in waters to the west of the UK largely feed on 0+ fish, particularly whiting (*Merlangius merlangus*), sand eels (*Ammodytes sp.*) and herring (*Clopea harengus*) (Haugland *et al.*, 2006). The adaptation to piscivory is an important change in life history as it is accompanied with rapid growth (Thurow, 1968; Hislop and Shelton, 1993).

Major predators of post-smolts in estuaries and coastal waters include cod (*Gadus morhua*), saithe (*Pollachius virens*), pollack (*Pollachius pollachius*), haddock (*Melanogrammus aeglefinus*), whiting, sea trout, herring gulls (*Larus argentatus*) and cormorants (*Phalacrocorax carbo*) (Hvidsten and Mokkelgjerd, 1987; Hvidsten and Lund, 1988; Dieperink *et al.*, 2002; Svenning *et al.*, 2005a). Cod in particular have been shown to cause high smolt mortality with smolt predation being as high as 24.8% in the estuary of the River Surna, Norway and 20% in the River Orkla, Norway (Hvidsten and Mokkelgjerd, 1987; Hvidsten and Lund, 1988).

1.5.5 Autumnal migration

In several UK salmonid populations a phenomenon where juvenile Atlantic salmon appear to undertake an autumnal downstream migration occurs (Youngson *et al.*, 1983; Riley *et al.*, 2002; Pinder *et al.*, 2007; Riley, 2007; Ibbotson *et al.*, 2013). In some rivers such as the Frome it is estimated that approximately a quarter of the population may migrate downstream during the autumn (Pinder *et al.*, 2007). Physiological metrics indicate that autumn migrants have higher plasma thyroxine (T₄) levels than resident parr, which suggests that they are undertaking a genuine migration (Riley *et al.*, 2008). Despite early movement downstream autumnal migrants do not appear capable of withstanding saltwater for prolonged periods and subsequently take up residency within the lower reaches of the river until spring (Riley *et al.*, 2008). Both autumn and spring migrants have been recorded returning as sea run adults in subsequent years (Riley *et al.*, 2009). Currently it is not known which strategy is the more successful in terms of survival and whether or not survival between the two migratory strategies fluctuates annually (Ibbotson *et al.*, 2013).

1.6 Adult biology at sea

There was very little information on the oceanic feeding of Atlantic salmon before fishermen discovered salmon distributed in vast areas of the North Atlantic. Salmon were recorded to the north of Norway and in greater densities north of the Faroe
Islands (Hansen, 1993). The exact routes that Atlantic salmon take to the feeding grounds is still of some debate with no current migration model being universally accepted (Dadswell *et al.*, 2010).

One model suggests that southern European Atlantic salmon populations migrate in a straight line from home rivers to the sea off of west Greenland (Went, 1973). It has been suggested that northern European populations migrate to the waters surrounding the Faroe Islands as well as the Norwegian and Barents seas (Hansen *et al.*, 1993; Jacobsen, 2001; Rikardsen *et al.*, 2008). North American Atlantic salmon are proposed to migrate from natal rivers to the sea off west Greenland and over-winter in the Labrador sea (Meister, 1984). Contrary to the above model is a second model that suggests that the surface currents of the north Atlantic sub-polar gyre are responsible for the movement of Atlantic salmon (Spares *et al.*, 2006; Dadswell *et al.*, 2010). It is proposed that North American and European stocks enter the north Atlantic sub-polar gyre at their respective areas of the ocean and follow the current in a counter-clockwise direction around the North Atlantic, feeding along the way. The fish then leave the current once it has taken them near their home waters, this model is called the 'Merry-Go-Round Hypothesis' (Reddin *et al.*, 1984).

During the period spent at sea, Atlantic salmon feeding areas cover large expanses of ocean, prey items therefore vary based on locality. North of the Faroes salmon have been known to feed mainly on small shoaling fishes such as barracudinas (*Notolepis, Paralepis* sp.), lantern fishes (Mytcophidae sp.) and blue whiting (*Micromesistius poutassou*) as well as crustaceans. In the seas surrounding the British Isles, clupeoids and sandeels are important prey items for migrating salmon (Hislop and Shelton, 1993). Data collected from long line fishermen suggests that Atlantic salmon nocturnally feed near the surface, however, deep water shrimp in stomach contents also suggest that they may feed as deep as 300 m (Hansen and Pethon, 2006). Despite feeding mainly on smaller fish Atlantic salmon can feed on a wide size range of fish.

Sea trout, in comparison to Atlantic salmon, tend to spend a shorter time at sea with many first time migrants undertaking migrations sea that only last, on average, 6-9

months, with subsequent migrations lasting up to 12 months (Jonsson and Jonsson, 2009a). This period spent out at sea is usually accompanied with rapid growth; growth in sea trout in the waters off the Netherlands has been estimated at between 21-26 cm for first year migrants (de Leeuw *et al.*, 2007). Unlike salmon that spend the winters at feeding grounds many first time migrant sea trout may leave the sea and over-winter in freshwater. These individuals migrate back to sea as veteran migrants, returning back to freshwater later in life to spawn (Jonsson and Jonsson, 2009a).

1.7 Adult oceanic homing migration

Adult Atlantic salmon migrate from the oceanic feeding grounds after spending a period of 1 – 4 years in the ocean (Hansen, 1993). The migration back to natal rivers appears to be a two stage process, with the primary stage navigating the fish to coastal and estuarine waters and a secondary stage, based on olfaction, allowing the fish to migrate in to home rivers (Hansen *et al.*, 1993). Until recently it was thought that migrating adults either used pheromones or natural stream odours as the basis for olfactory homing (Nordeng, 1971; Nordeng, 1977; Stabell, 1984; Døving, 1989).However, there is increasing evidence that dissolved free amino acids, which differ from river to river, play a key role in the homing migrations of salmonids (Shoji *et al.*, 2003; Ueda, 2011a; Yamamoto *et al.*, 2013).

The process of homing appears to be a mechanism that is learned during the seaward migration as smolts and then utilised when returning as spawning adults (Stabell, 1984; Dittman and Quinn, 1996). It has been observed that hatchery reared smolts migrate later in the season than wild fish when returning as adults (Jonsson *et al.*, 1990). The sequential learning hypothesis may explain the delay in return to home rivers by hatchery reared fish, as they have not experienced the complete set of olfactory cues leading to the spawning areas (Harden Jones, 1968). Hansen *et al.* (1993) also noted that fish tagged as smolts and then released to the oceanic feeding grounds failed to return to the rivers of their genetic origin.

1.8 In river movements and spawning migration

Migration in Scottish East coast salmon rivers appears to be a two stage process. In the primary stage salmon have been found to undergo a period of sustained upstream swimming when first entering a river, with differing flows and time of day not having an effect (Webb, 1990). The second stage of movement occurs after the fish first stops; subsequent movement appears to be restricted to crepuscular and nocturnal periods (Laughton, 1989; Webb, 1989; 1990; Bagliniere *et al.*, 1991).

Returning grilse (one sea winter fish) and salmon tagged on the River Spey, Scotland showed a difference between early and late season migrants, with earlier migrants moving further in to the river system than later migrating individuals (Laughton, 1989). Later work on the Rivers Tay, Spey and Dee, Scotland corroborates this, earlier grilse and salmon migrated further up stream than later migrating grilse (Laughton and Smith, 1992; Webb, 1992). It has also been shown that older sea age individuals migrate upstream earlier than younger sea age salmon (Laughton and Smith, 1992).

Successful tracking of salmon during the later stages of the spawning migration showed that the fish moved rapidly for a two day period post release, then reduced their movement rate nearer to the spawning period with fish eventually ceasing to move between spawning areas once spawning had commenced (Bagliniere *et al.*, 1990; Bagliniere *et al.*, 1991). Once in the spawning area male salmon have been observed moving between multiple females and some males showed a greater frequency of sexual activity than others (Webb and Hawkins, 1989). After spawning the majority of fish do not tend to leave the spawning area and many are found dead in the river or on the banks (Bagliniere *et al.*, 1990; Bagliniere *et al.*, 1991; Williams *et al.*, 2010). Low numbers (between 1.2-35 %) of kelts, post spawning downstream migrating adults, are recaptured alive moving downstream, although this figure varies considerably between river systems (Bagliniere *et al.*, 1991; Williams *et al.*, 2010).

Sea trout undergo a similar spawning migration to that seen in Atlantic salmon but they tend to make greater use of small spawning tributaries. Due to the relatively

small size of the rivers and streams that sea trout spawn in flow levels have a large effect on migration (Svendsen *et al.*, 2004). In small tributaries such as the Kirk Burn, a tributary of the River Tweed, Scotland, sea trout rely on a substantial increase in discharge in order to migrate (Campbell, 1977). Aarestrup and Jepsen (1998) found that migrating male sea trout spent a greater period in the spawning area than females, possibly due to spawning success being reliant on available ripe females. Due to the partially iteroparous nature of sea trout, post spawning, many individuals can then descend the river and spend a period of 3-5 months at sea before repeating the migration to spawn again (Bendall *et al.*, 2005).

1.9 In-stream structures and their impacts on migrant fishes

The fragmentation and loss of habitat are major concerns for both terrestrial and aquatic biodiversity (Andren, 1994; Larinier, 2001; Brinson and Malvárez, 2002; Fahrig, 2003). Due to a long history of river modification in many developed countries of the world there are estimated to be dams and weirs are present in half of the world's rivers (Dynesius and Nilsson, 1994; Nilsson et al., 2005). As a result of the linear nature of rivers, in-stream structures such as dams and weirs can act as barriers, severely limiting the transport of nutrients, the downstream flux of water and sediment and the movement of aquatic organisms (Dynesius and Nilsson, 1994; Jungwirth, 1998; Poff and Hart, 2002; Sheer and Steel, 2006; Fullerton et al., 2010; Kemp and O'Hanley, 2010). Instream structures can have major impacts on freshwater organisms by preventing or restricting movement to habitats required for essential stages of life history (Branco et al.; Lucas and Batley, 1996; Lucas and Baras, 2001; Lucas et al., 2009; Wollebaek et al., 2011). As such, there have been dramatic reductions in biodiversity for many freshwater taxa (Moyle and Leidy, 1992; Dudgeon et al., 2006). The effects of in stream structures on fishes depends on factors such as fish species; river hydrology and barrier type, with effects varying from short delays to complete blockages (Northcote, 1998; Kemp and O'Hanley, 2010).

Fish passage is currently covered by several pieces of legislation such as the Salmon and Freshwater Fisheries Act 1975 for England and Wales and the Salmon and Freshwater Fisheries (Consolidation) (Scotland) Act 2003 in the UK as well as the Water Framework Directive (WFD; 2000/60/EC) in Europe. There is a requirement for rivers to allow free passage for migratory fish travelling between areas of river essential for their life history, such as juvenile emigration from natal areas, and adult spawning migrations. Under the Water Framework Directive the failure of member states to comply can result in the river being assigned less than "Good ecological status" and may result in sanctions. Coupling this with the fact that it is estimated that freshwater organisms constitute one third of the world's vertebrates, despite freshwater ecosystems only constituting 0.8% of the world's surface, there is a clear biological and political imperative to conserve our freshwater ecosystems (Dudgeon *et al.*, 2006; Balian *et al.*, 2008; Strayer and Dudgeon, 2010).

1.9.1 Upstream migrants

There is limited knowledge on the impact of obstructions on the upstream migrations of fish and currently little is known about upstream migration in UK rivers despite the growing body of work (Hawkins and Smith, 1986; Laughton, 1989; Webb, 1989; Webb and Hawkins, 1989; Webb, 1990; Laughton, 1991; Laughton and Smith, 1992; Webb, 1992; Smith *et al.*, 1994; Aprahamian *et al.*, 1998; Gowans, 1999; Solomon *et al.*, 1999; Gowans *et al.*, 2003). Alleviation of passage difficulties has been carried out since the 20th century, with the installation of fish passes and fish ladders in otherwise impassable structures (Clay, 1995). However, even in cases where passage is assisted there are other prevalent negative effects such as migratory delay in many fishes (Haro and Kynard, 1997; Lucas and Frear, 1997; Moser *et al.*, 2000; Karppinen *et al.*, 2002; Moser *et al.*, 2002; Keefer *et al.*, 2004; Zigler *et al.*, 2004; Hasler *et al.*, 2011). Such delays have been shown to decrease passage success (Caudill *et al.*, 2007) and even when passage is successful there is evidence for an increase in mortality due to dam passage (Roscoe *et al.*, 2011). A recent meta-analysis of studies relating to fish passage showed upstream

passage efficiency of 41.7% for all fish species across a variety of passage facilities (Noonan *et al.*, 2012). When analysed separately, salmonids had a higher success rate than non-salmonids (61.7 vs. 21.1%), suggesting that passage interventions are more skewed towards the needs of salmonids compared to other fish species (Noonan *et al.*, 2012). This is supported by studies showing inefficiency of various passage facilities for several fish species of low socio-economic value that, in some cases, are still of high conservation value (Lucas and Frear, 1997; Moser *et al.*, 2002; Foulds and Lucas, 2013).

1.9.2 Downstream moving fishes

The ecological and hydrological effects of large dams in temperate river systems on downstream fish passage is generally well known, especially for economically valuable species such as salmonids. Downstream passage efficiency through bypass facilities is generally high for salmonid species with passage efficiency being estimated at 74.6% based on recent meta-analysis (Noonan *et al.*, 2012). However, smolts are still subject to mortalities due to both physical damage and predation at major impoundments and hydropower facilities (Raymond, 1979; Raymond, 1988; Aarestrup et al., 1999; Muir et al., 2001a; Muir et al., 2001b; Williams et al., 2001; Smith et al., 2002; Hockersmith et al., 2003; Smith et al., 2006; Keefer et al., 2012). Regulation in river reaches, resulting in low flows, also delays smolt emigration and results in increased duration of exposure to mortality risks (Aarestrup and Koed, 2003). Such delays can cause a mismatch in migration timing and in some areas results in smolts passing dams when lethal water temperatures are prevalent below the dam (Marschall et al., 2011). Excessive delays in freshwater with seasonally increasing temperature can also result in migrating smolts losing their smolt charcteristics, most notably their capability to osmoregulate in saltwater (Duston et al., 1991; Handeland, 2004). Therefore attempts to minimise delays experienced by smolts is of paramount concern to river managers.

There is a general assumption that downstream migrants such as wild surfaceoriented fishes including salmonid smolts are relatively unaffected by simple overflowing weirs and that they will pass unhindered under reasonably natural flow

regimes (Lucas and Baras, 2001). Studies on the passage of hatchery-reared smolts past small weirs, in particular that of Aarestrup and Koed (2003), strongly contradict this assumption. It was noted that mean delays at weirs ranging from 0 - 9 days for sea trout smolts and a mean delay of 7 days for Atlantic salmon smolts at a specific weir (Aarestrup and Koed, 2003). High mortality was also observed along with delay, with assumed mortality at weirs ranging from 15 to 65% (Aarestrup and Koed, 2003). Further down in river systems estuarine barrages are shown to affect smolt behaviour with smolts being delayed in the impounded stretch behind the barrage (Russell *et al.*, 1998). Smolts only appeared to move past the barrier when the tide overtops the barrage or by utilising a ship lock (Russell *et al.*, 1998). The presence of the barrage also disrupts the natural tidal cycle within the estuary which is important to smolt migration (Russell *et al.*, 1998; Section 1.5.4).

Increasing demand for renewable energy due to policy aimed at lowering carbon emissions has resulted in a rise in demand for hydropower (Paish, 2002; Kosnik, 2010). In Europe, due to the lower environmental impact than large scale hydropower, small scale hydropower schemes are favoured (Paish, 2002). The adoption of the "fish friendly" Archimedean Screw turbine is also responsible for the increase in hydropower development (Spah, 2001; Kibel and Coe, 2011). Archimedean Screw turbines are durable, low maintenance turbines that operate over a variety of flow regimes and can be fitted on pre-existing weirs (Spah, 2001). They are often termed as "fish friendly" when compared to conventional designs because of their lower slow rotational speed, pressure changes and shear forces compared with conventional turbines during operation (Spah, 2001).As a result the number of small scale hydropower schemes in Europe is rising rapidly (Paish, 2002). In England and Wales recent estimates suggest that there are 2,600 potential sites for small scale hydropower which if implemented could generate up to 1% of UK energy demands (Entec, 2010).

Despite this rise in small scale hydropower development relatively little is known on their long term impacts on fish communities, although there is a growing body of research on the topic. Prior research on fish passage through turbines suggests that

damage depends on numerous critera such as: turbine design and size, fish species, fish body size and behaviour, water velocity, roughness of materials, speed and magnitude of pressure fluctuations, direction of contact and force of impact with blades or other turbine components (Office Of Technology Assessment, 1995; Coutant and Whitney, 2000; Turnpenny et al., 2000; Cooke et al., 2011a; Bracken and Lucas, 2013). However, much of this research was based on older Kaplan turbines (Office Of Technology Assessment, 1995; Coutant and Whitney, 2000; Turnpenny et al., 2000), meaning that there are few peer reviewed studies on how fish are affected by Archimedean Screws (Bracken and Lucas, 2013). Research conducted on the impacts of Archimedean Screw turbines suggest that there are low incidences of injury during passage through the turbines (Spah, 2001; Kibel and Coe, 2011; Bracken and Lucas, 2013). However the effects of sublethal damage cannot be ignored. Descaling in anadromous fish, such as salmonid smolts, can reduce osmoregulatory performance when transitioningn into salt water environments (Gadomski et al., 1994; Zydlewski et al., 2010). In cases of extreme descaling the death of descaled smolts has been recorded after prolonged saltwater exposure(Bouck and Smith, 1979). Due to increasing stress on freshwater resources by mankind further understanding of the complex life history of salmonids is needed to reduce conflicts between the water requirements of humans and fishes.

1.10 Aims of thesis

The aims of this thesis are to investigate the migratory behaviour and survival of salmonids during various life history stages within the River Tweed, UK. Knowledge derived from this thesis will greatly aid the management and conservation of salmonid populations within the Tweed, specifically during periods of migration. Chapter 3 explores the role that environmental as well as anthropogenic factors play on the behaviour and survival of juvenile salmonids during emigration. The fundamental research question being; are sea trout smolts adversely affected by in river obstructions and are these effects exacerbated during periods of low flow? The behaviour, migration

rate and spawning destination of Atlantic salmon and sea trout were investigated in Chapter 4. Differences in how sea trout and Atlantic salmon exploited the Tweed catchment for spawning as well as any discrete behavioural differences during migration was of primary concern in this chapter. Unlike smolting juveniles and spawning adults freshwater resident brown trout do not undergo discrete mass migrations. That being said they are still capable of performing comparatively small migrations within freshwater. Chapter 5 sought to shed light on these small freshwater migrations by displacing territory holding brown trout and assessing whether territory availability at the site of displacement had an impact on behaviour and homing. Chapter 6 presents the synthesis of the knowledge gained from the thesis. The chapter also discusses the management implications of the findings as well as future avenues in research.

Chapter 2: Study site, biotelemetry and justification of field methods

2.1 The River Tweed

The River Tweed is the main river flowing through the Scottish Borders and for much of its lower reach forms a natural border between Scotland and England. The Tweed is the sixth largest river in mainland Britain and the second largest in Scotland and has some of the largest salmon and sea trout populations in the UK (Clayton, 1997; Elliott et al., 1997; Sheail, 1998). The Tweed rises at Tweed's Well near the boundary to Lanarkshire, close to where both the Clyde and the Annan rise. The mainstem of the Tweed flows for 156 km and its catchment drains 5000 km² of land with an estimated 2160 km of the main channel and tributaries accessible to fish (Gardiner, 1989; Currie, 1997). The Tweed valley floor is a drumlin field, a relic of the flow from a paleo-ice stream during the last period of glaciation (Everest *et al.*, 2005). The water quality of the river is very high, with there being very little pollution present (Currie, 1997). However, areas of the Tweed are subject to fluxes in inorganic nutrients due to intensive agriculture (Uncles et al., 2003). The Tweed was designated a Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) in 1976 by the Nature Conservancy Council and is an EU Special Area of Conservation principally for its high quality Atlantic salmon population and high habitat suitability for otters (Lutra lutra). It is also noted that the Tweed has high habitat suitability for threatened endemic lamprey species; sea lamrey (*Petromyzon marinus*), brook lamprey (*Lampetra* planeri) and river lamprey (Lampetra fluviatilis). The water temperature of the Tweed varies seasonally between lows of -1°C in the winter and highs of 20°C in the summer (Gauld, unpublished data). Given that the upper incipient lethal temperature for brown trout and Atlantic salmon is 24.7 and 27.8°C respectively the temperatures within the Tweed are non-limiting to brown trout and Atlantic salmon abundance (Garside, 1973; Elliott, 1991; Jonsson and Jonsson, 2009b).

The fisheries in the Tweed are of high socio-economic value to the Scottish Borders and areas of Northumberland. The most recent socio-economic evaluations suggest that salmon and sea trout angling in the Tweed adds £6.75 m to the local economy and supports 242 jobs in the area (Radford *et al.*, 2004). The cost of daily salmon and sea trout fishing leases can vary widely between individual fishing beats within the Tweed catchment and time within the season, with daily leases for Atlantic salmon costing as little as £20 off peak and as much as £650 at peak season (Fish Pal, 2014). Annual catches for Atlantic salmon and sea trout on the River Tweed are some of the highest in Scotland with an average of 19,828 Atlantic salmon (years: 2009-2013, range: 12,199-31,231) and 6,048 sea trout (years: 2009-2013, range: 3,314-10,039) being caught by both netting and rod a line (River Tweed Commission, 2009; 2010; 2011; 2012; 2013). A total of 14,794 Atlantic salmon and 1,451 sea trout being caught by rod and line in 2013 which is higher than catches in other fisheries such as those on the Tay (10,241 Atlantic salmon), Scotland's largest river (River Tweed Commission, 2013; Tay District Salmon Fisheries Board, 2013).

The Tweed is managed principally by three organisations, The River Tweed Commission (RTC), The Tweed Foundation (TF) and The Tweed Forum. Historically the Tweed has been managed since 1857 by the River Tweed Commissioners (now the RTC) and is subject to the following legislation; Tweed Fisheries Acts 1857, 1859, 1969 and The Scotland Act 1998 (River Tweed) Order 2006. The legislation charges the RTC with the general preservation and increase of salmon, sea trout, trout and other freshwater fish in the River Tweed and its tributaries, and in particular with the regulation of fisheries, the removal of nuisances and obstructions as well as the prevention of illegal fishing.

The Tweed Foundation is the scientific arm of the RTC and carries out much of the RTC's role in the preservation and enhancement of fish stocks. As an organisation the Tweed Foundation has been in operation since 1983 and is considered one of the oldest rivers trusts in the UK. The Tweed Foundation carries out a broad programme of research, fish stock monitoring and habitat enhancement with the aim of maintaining

the fish stocks of the Tweed as well as maximising the Tweed's natural productivity. The Tweed Foundation does this in accordance to their robust river management plan (Campbell, 2005).

The Tweed Forum was formed in 1991 with an aim "to promote the sustainable use of the whole of the Tweed catchment through holistic and integrated management and planning" (The Tweed Forum, 2003). The main responsibilities of the Tweed Forum are not directly related to fisheries management and principally pertain to; water quality, water resources, habitat and species, river works, flood management as well as tourism and recreation (The Tweed Forum, 2003).

As such, the River Tweed is a well managed river catchment with several organisations and stakeholders beyond governmental regulatory bodies such as; Scottish Natural Heritage (SNH), Scottish Environmental Protection Agency (SEPA), Natural England and The Environment Agency (EA) safeguarding biodiversity.



Figure 2.1: Map of the River Tweed catchment including tributaries. Dashed black lines represent the Tweed and Eye Fisheries District boundary, grey lines represent sub-catchment boundaries. Large blue text with guide lines denotes catchments and areas of the Tweed of interest in this thesis.

2.2 Use of telemetry in studying fish behaviour and migration

The advent of electronic tags has allowed important advances in the study of fish behaviour and migration (Priede and Swift, 1992). Electronic tags enable long running and long ranged studies of fish behaviour, often with high spatio-temporal resolution (Lucas and Baras, 2001).

There are four commonly used forms of wildlife telemetry used in freshwater today: passive integrated transponders (PIT), radio tags, acoustic tags and data storage tags. Each form of telemetry has specific advantages and technical limitations (reviewed in Lucas and Baras, 2000; 2001; Cooke *et al.*, 2013). However, there are also a number of other technologies that are used to study the movements of fish and aquatic animals(Table 2.1).

PIT tags are small in size (as small as 8 mm in length and 1 mm in diameter) and comprise of a copper coil and integrated circuit encased in a biocompatible cylinder. The tags are interrogated when the fish moves into the range of an inductive field, causing the tag to energise and transmit its code to reading equipment. PIT tags do not have an internal battery and therefore have a very long tag life. However, due to the reliance on an inductive field to energise the tag and transmit data, detection ranges are very short (20–100+ cm depending on tag size and antenna material) (Cooke *et al.*, 2013). Detection systems usually comprise of a logging unit connected via coaxial cable to a tuning box and attached multi-cored copper cable loop antenna (Castro-Santos et al., 1996). The copper cable loops that generate the inductive field are usually positioned within the water channel by running the lower half of the loop along the channel substrate with the upper half of the loop above the waters surface (Castro-Santos et al., 1996; Lucas, 2000). Flatbed antennas can be created as well as conventional loops which can aid in tracking in open environments as well as confined areas like fish passes (Armstrong et al., 1996; Armstrong et al., 1997; Lucas et al., 1999) Due to the small size of PIT tags and their relative low cost PIT telemetry can be used to rapidly assess the movements of a wide size range of fishes moving through shallow lotic systems as well

as through fish passage facilities (Castro-Santos et al., 1996; Lucas, 2000). There are many reasons why PIT tagged fish detection by automatic stations can be lower than 100%. The inductive field that detects tags relies on the tag coil to enter the field roughly at a perpendicular angle (Lucas and Baras, 2001). Therefore any PIT tags that are incorrectly aligned during tagging or shift in position during subsequent growth by the fish may result in reduced reading efficiency (Pirhonen, 1998; Baras et al., 2000). The passage of several tagged fish through the inductive field simultaneously may result in some fish not being detected (Lucas and Baras, 2001). Similarly a fish remaining stationary within the inductive field may also inhibit the detection of subsequent tagged fish moving into the inductive field (Lucas and Baras, 2001). The rapid movement of fish through the inductive field, approximately 5-7 m s⁻¹ through a 1 m long field, can result in the fish not being detected (Castro-Santos et al., 1996). The physical and technical constraints involved in setting up detection loops for PIT tracking limits the width and depth of river channels in which PIT can be deployed (Cooke et al., 2013) (Lucas and Baras, 2001). Therefore PIT tracking is best deployed in small streams and rivers. Disruption to the inductive field is observed when the stream height rises above the height of the loop, increasing hydraulic drag on the loop. In mild instances the loop may get shifted reducing detection efficiency until repositioned and in extreme instances the loop can be completely removed by high flows (*personal observations*).

Radio tags transmit VHF (30-300 MHz) radio signals that are received by underwater or aerial antennae making tracking of animals possible from boat, land and aircraft. The fixed position radio tracking receivers are commonly used to record fish movement within a zone of detection along side mobile manual tracking units (Lucas and Baras, 2001). Unlike PIT tags, radio tags require a battery, resulting in tags lives ranging from days to years, depending on tag type and setting (Lucas and Baras, 2001). Older technology radio tags required different frequencies or 'bleep' rates to be used, however modern radio tags use digital codes which allows multiple tags to be used on the same frequency (Cooke *et al.*, 2013; Lotek-Wireless, 2014). Radio tags designs usually have a trailing whip antenna but can also use an integrated antenna at the cost

of detection range (Lotek-Wireless, 2014). The whip antenna can either be contained within the body cavity or be trailed externally by threading the antenna through a small puncture in the body wall (Cooke and Bunt, 2001). However, the signal strength of radio tags with their antenna contained within the body cavity was lower than tags with their antenna trailed externally (Cooke and Bunt, 2001). VHF radio signals attenuate with increasing water conductivity and/or water depth (>20 m) resulting in poor transmission ranges in brackish waters as well as deeper waters (Lucas and Baras, 2001; Cooke *et al.*, 2013). Due to these limitations radio telemetry is reliable only in purely freshwater environments of limited depth making them ideal for tracking studies in small to large rivers centred around purely freshwater movements (Lucas and Baras, 2001; Cooke *et al.*, 2013). Stationary radio logging stations are comparatively more expensive than their acoustic counterparts (Lucas and Baras, 2001; Cooke *et al.*, 2013). It is also of note that stationary radio logging receivers are much more conspicuous than stationary acoustic receivers and may attract the attention of vandals (Cooke *et al.*, 2013).

Acoustic tags, much like radio tags, transmit signals to a receiver. However, acoustic tags transmit ultrasonic acoustic signals (typical range 30-300 kHz). These signals are then received by hydrophones inserted in to the water (Lucas and Baras, 2001). Signals in water can be markedly reduced by suspended solids, high levels of entrained air, strong flows (excessive hydraulic noise) and underwater vegetation, and signals are substantially weaker when transmitted through air resulting in near zero ranges (Lucas and Baras, 2001). Due to these limiting factors acoustic telemetry is best deployed in marine, lacustrine and large river environments where their impacts are mitigated or lessened (Lucas and Baras, 2001; Cooke *et al.*, 2013). As a result of the near zero read range in air there are difficulties attributing causes of tag loss with acoustic telemetry, especially when the fish are apparently removed by terrestrial predators. A potential way to mitigate this problem is by using sensor tags. An associated rise temperature recorded on temperature tags can be indicator of predation by an endothermic predator such as a seal (Bendall and Moore, 2008).

Acoustic telemetry is used frequently to quantify the movement and spatial behaviour of aquatic organisms. Acoustic telemetry has been used in the past to successfully study the movements of a variety of organism such as; estuarine crocodiles (*Crocodylus porosus*) (Campbell *et al.*, 2010), arrow squid (*Nototodarus gouldi*) (Stark *et al.*, 2005), sharks (Voegeli *et al.*, 2001), southern bluefin tuna (*Thunnus maccoyii*) (Fujioka *et al.*, 2010) and salmonids (Moore *et al.*, 1998a; Thorstad *et al.*, 2004; Bendall *et al.*, 2005; Finstad *et al.*, 2005b; Walker *et al.*, 2005; Davidsen *et al.*, 2008; Davidsen *et al.*, 2009). The advantage of acoustic telemetry over PIT telemetry is a detection range of hundreds of metres rather than centimetres. Acoustic telemetry also has advantages over radio telemetry due to its functionality in areas with high conductivity making acoustic telemetry the more favoured telemetry solution for diadromous fishes. Importantly, autonomous route-of-travel omnidirectional acoustic loggers may be operative for a year on a single battery and cost a fraction of the price of an equivalent radio-logger that would normally need battery maintenance every week or two. Table 2.1: Summary of the various technologies used to study the spatial behaviour of freshwater fishes with their associated strengths, weaknesses and common applications. Reproduced from table in Cooke *et al.* (2013).

Technology	Summary	Strengths	Weaknesses	Applications
Acoustic telemetry	Tags produce an acoustic signal via a transducer and tracked using a submerged hydrophone.	Deep water (>20m). Deployable in high conductivity as well as low conductivity environments.	Hydrophone must remain submerged to detect acoustic signals. Interference from aquatic plants and external noise sources.	Mostly used for fish but some uses with freshwater mammals
Manual tracking	Tracking usually carried out by boat using a submerged hydrophone.	Can provide detailed movement data dependent on conditions and tracking method.	Ineffective in shallow or turbulent water.	Some applications in freshwater, extensively used in marine environment
Fixed stations	Autonomous logging stations with attached hydrophone that logs time stamped data of animals entering field of reception	Can deployed in various forms of array for extended durations. Can provide precise two or three dimensional tracks of animals	Generates large datasets. Requires significant post- processing and analytical effort.	Widely used in freshwater and marine settings
Radio telemetry	Emit electromagnetic energy as VHF band radio frequency (between 30-300 MHz; 173 MHz in the UK)	Shallow water (<10m). Low-conductivity environments (500 μS/cm)	Deep water (>15 m)	Widespread use ir freshwater
Manual tracking	Signals detected by antennas and a receiver. Tracking can occur on foot, by boat or by air.	Relatively inexpensive. Functions in moving water and through ice as well as on land and in air.	High conductivity environments, Sensitive to interference.	Fish and other freshwater taxa such as amphibians and mammals
Fixed stations	Fixed stations detect and log tags when they enter detection area Commonly used in riverine studies to detect migration	Suitable for extended study durations.	Antennas often visible and can attract vandals/thieves. Not precise enough to give 2D positioning of tags.	Mostly used in studies relating to fish movement.
PIT telemetry	Integrated chip and antenna that transmit an ID code when interrogated by a low frequency radio signal.	No integrated battery in the tag, therefore tags are small and inexpensive with a long life.	Usually limited to shallow, restricted lotic environments due to small detection ranges (<1 m).	Widespread use ir freshwater studies.

Table 2.1: Summary of the various technologies used to study the spatial behaviour of freshwater fishes with their associated strengths, weaknesses and common

Technology	Summary	Strengths	Weaknesses	Applications
Manual tracking	Tags detected using a handheld, ofted backpack mounted unit with a wand waved over the the water's surface while wading. Boat mounted units also available.	Small tags allow for a greater size range of fish tagged compared to both radio and acoustic tags.	Detection range is dependent on tag orientation relative to the reader. PIT manual tracking much more laborious than radio and acoustic telemetry.	Mostly used in studies on small fishes, reptiles, amphibians and invertebrates.
Fixed stations	Antennas deployed in systems that log detected ID codes along with a time stamp. A variety of antenna designs used, mostly in small lotic environments and fishways	As above	Remote stations require power to function, either large leisure batteries or mains power. Certain loop designs vulnerable to sudden rises in water height.	Mostly used in studies on fish movement.
Low frequency	Similar in principle to	Effective in areas with	Site-specific	Limited use in
electromagnetic	PII tags but tags have	high background noise	detection only.	freshwater, few
Trail etc.)	Greater detection range than PIT, in the order of tens of meters.	radio telemetry may be inhibited.		in lowland rivers.
Combined acoustic radio transmitters (CART tags)	Both acoustic and radio output modules can either work simultaneously or switch dynamically based on environmental conditions such as depth and conductivity	Works in marine and freshwater environments. Works for animals that move between depths or move into high conductivity environments.	Large tags size. More expensive than either acoustic or radio tags.	Used in early studies involving large diadromous fishes as well as marine mammals that move between marine and freshwater
Archival tags	Biologging tags eg. data storage tags, time depth recorders, archival geolocation tags.	Continuous recording of desired parameter	No transmitting capability, therefore tag recovery required to retrieve recorded data	Some use in freshwater studies. Mostly used for logging environmental parameters but sometimes used to record

applications. (Continued)

biological data such as heart rate and acceleration. Table 2.1: Summary of the various technologies used to study the spatial behaviour of freshwater fishes with their associated strengths, weaknesses and common

Technology	Summary	Strengths	Weaknesses	Applications
Communicating histogram acoustic transponders	Hybrid loggers and transmitters, data first logged and stored before being transmitted to a receiver upon interrogation.	Useful for fish with wide ranges and are difficult to recapture but return to download areas.	Expensive tags that are relatively large in size.	Not currently used in freshwater studies but have marine applications.
Smart position only tag with real- time GPS	Argos satellites provide tag locations upon the tag breaching the waters surface. Some have archival capabilities.	Real time positioning. Provides broad scale movement data, such as ocean basin scale.	Expensive and limited to larger animals. Tagged individuals required to breach waters surface to transmit data	Mostly marine apllications, although used on large freshwater animals that frequently surface.
Archival pop up satellite transmitter tags	Tags pre- programmed to detach when a specific event is experienced, at which point they float to the surface and transmit data via satellite.	Provides broad scale movement data, such as ocean basin scale. Detailed logs of environmental variables experienced also transmitted.	Most release links based on corrosive links, switched on via applied voltage, requiring sea water to function. Limited to large animals. Relatively expensive	Mostly marine with most freshwater applications being based on diadromous fishes during freshwater phase before marine entry.

applications. (Continued)

2.2.1 Telemetry: early studies and modern advances

Early studies using acoustic telemetry on migratory salmonids encountered a suite of technical difficulties. Due to the large size of early acoustic tags tagging studies required the acoustic transponder to be wired to the dorsal musculature of smolts which resulted in fish suffering imbalance during the first weeks after tagging, and it is noted the battery life of the tags did not last much longer than this (Solomon, 1978b). Later pannier tags (Thorpe *et al.*, 1981) addressed this problem by evenly distributing the weight across both sides of the fish whilst wiring the tag to the dorsal fin (Thorpe *et al.*, 1981). Surgical implantation of tags in to the peritoneal cavity was usually only carried out on larger hatchery reared smolts due to the large diameter of tags at the time (Lacroix and McCurdy, 1996).

Combined acoustic radio tags (CARTs) were developed by CEFAS in the 1980s as way to mitigate the limitations of separate acoustic and radio telemetry systems (Solomon and Potter, 1988). Specifically the high power demands and specific hydrological requirements of acoustic tags as well as the rapid attenuation of radio signals in salt water were addressed by developing CARTs (Solomon and Potter, 1988). By limiting the period in which the acoustic component of the tag operated to between 9-19 days CARTs could operate up to 7 months (Solomon and Potter, 1988). CARTs led to studies that tracked fish moving from saltwater into freshwater over longer periods than previously possible with acoustic telemetry alone (Potter, 1988; Solomon and Potter, 1988; Potter *et al.*, 1992). Due to the hybrid nature of CARTs they are bulkier than their purely acoustic or radio counterparts, thus excluding them from use on smaller fish (Cooke *et al.*, 2013).

Technological progression has led to some key advances in aquatic telemetry. Smaller and more efficient electronics has allowed for the production of tags that are substantially smaller than their predecessors, which in turn allows for the study of a wider ranges of life history stages as well as species via telemetry (Cooke *et al.*, 2013). Such miniaturisation has allowed acoustic tags to be surgically implanted in to wild smolts, where in the past larger hatchery reared smolts were widely used (Voegeli *et al.*, 1998). Miniaturisation has also led to the increased functionality of larger tags sizes with tag life, effective range and sensor capability improving drastically (Cooke *et al.*, 2013). Currently tags are available that are as small as 5 mm in diameter and weigh 0.65g in air for acoustic, 10 mm long and 0.25g in air for radio tags and 1.4 mm in diameter and 0.027g in air for PIT tags.

The implementation of coded signals in telemetry tags was another stepping stone forward for aquatic telemetry. Prior to the implementation of coded signals transmitters were required to transmit on different frequencies and/or vary their signal pattern to distinguish individuals (Lucas and Baras, 2001). Such experimental limitations resulted in telemetry studies being carried out with limited numbers or within a restricted location (Solomon, 1978a; Thorpe *et al.*, 1981; Greenstreet, 1992). With the

addition of coded transmissions telemetry studies were able to support a far greater number of individuals that were uniquely identifiable (Stuehrenberg *et al.*, 1990). Also, with acoustic telemetry the implementation of techniques such as code division multiple access (CDMA) technology multiple tags could be tracked at once (Niezgoda *et al.*, 2002).

Using coded telemetry signals allowed for the more effective use of stationary automatic listening stations (ALS), where receivers are situated in a fixed location and record any tagged animals that pass within their detection area (Klimley et al., 1998). While used in the 1980s for Atlantic salmon (Hawkins and Smith, 1986)), large arrays of passive radio ALSs were first deployed to monitor the migration of Pacific salmon (Eiler, 1995). The first stationary acoustic ALSs were used in the marine environment (Hawkins et al., 1974; Voegeli et al., 1998). However, they are now routinely used for a number of species in freshwater environments such as large rivers, reservoirs and lakes (Lucas et al., 2009; Mathes et al., 2009). Advances in hydrophone design, signal coding and signal processing have meant that acoustic receivers can now be deployed in rivers systems that would be considered too noisy for previous iterations of acoustic receivers (Voegeli et al., 1998; Lacroix and Voegeli, 2000 (in Cooke et al., 2013); Melnychuk et al., 2007). As such, ALSs can now be used in a variety of arrays in both saltwater and freshwater environments allowing researchers to track fish transitioning between the sea and the river (or vice versa) without having to use CARTs, making acoustic telemetry ideal for research on diadromous fish movement (Cooke *et al.*, 2013). When this technology is combined with archival tags detailed records of both fluvial and marine migration can be recorded (Teo et al., 2011). Another advantage of acoustic ALS positions is that they can be deployed for extended periods underwater or even under ice and remain functional for over a year (dependent on memory capacity and no. of detections) (Klimley et al., 1998; Heupel et al., 2006). Recently the use of three of more synchronised ALS positions can produce highly accurate 2D positioning for fish by using time difference in signal arrival, and when used in conjunction with depth sensor tags precise 3D positioning of fish can be recorded (Hanson et al., 2007). Recently such a

system was used to differentiate the 3-D spatial niches and behaviour of Arctic charr niches in the remote high Arctic without human attendance for more than 11 months (Hawley, 2013).

As well as broadcasting the general position of tagged specimens, acoustic telemetry tags can be used to transmit various behavioural, physiological and environmental data. In the past external tags were successfully used to monitor the heart rate of pike (*Esox lucius*) by situating electrodes in the vicinity of the heart (Armstrong *et al.*, 1989). Similar designs were used for intragastric tags and used on Atlantic salmon (Lucas, 1992). Modern telemetry tags can be used to transmit such data as; temperature, dissolved oxygen, acceleration, depth, partial pressure and electrocardiography. Depth sensing tags have also been successfully used to track the behaviour of migrating smolts in relation to day light (Davidsen *et al.*, 2008).

2.3 Tagging procedures and fish health

Maintenance of the health of study specimens is a fundamental part of animal research and ensuring procedures do not severely affect the behaviour and physiology of the animal is paramount. Currently whether fish do or do not feel conscious pain (rather than nociception) is still debated; numerous studies show fish returning to normal activity and feeding straight after surgery, this poses an important question in regards to fish health (reviewed in Rose *et al.*, 2012). Methods of tag implantation into fishes are also equally debated, with surgical, materials anaesthesia and surgical practices still under scrutiny (Jepsen *et al.*, 2002; Cooke *et al.*, 2003; Cooke *et al.*, 2011b).

2.3.1 Anaesthesia

In the presence of harmful stimuli fish exhibit strong neuroendocrine and physiological stress responses (reviewed in Rose *et al.*, 2012). Many drugs used for anaesthesia, analgesia or sedation in other vertebrates can also reduce stress in fish by decreasing handling trauma, minimising movement during procedures and limit physiological changes due to nociception (Neiffer and Stamper, 2009). Currently a wide variety of

anaesthetic compounds are used for fish, most commonly; Tricaine Methanesulphonate (MS222), Benzocaine, Clove oil, AQUI-S R, Quinaldine and Quinaldine sulphate, 2-Phenoxyethanol, Metomidate and Etomidate (Ross *et al.*, 2008). Suitable doses of each anaesthetic also vary and each anaesthetic has distinct strengths and weaknesses, therefore selecting the correct anaesthetic and dose are very important (reviewed in Neiffer and Stamper, 2009). One such limitation of the anaesthetic MS222 is that it can impair the olfactory capabilities of salmonids (Yamamoto *et al.*, 2008).

2.3.2 Intragastric tagging

In the past 50 years the way in which transmitters have been attached to fish has changed greatly, the recent miniaturisation of acoustic tags has led to a reduced reliance on external and intragastric tagging with intraperitoneal tagging becoming much more favoured (Lucas and Baras, 2001). However, intragastric tagging is still used with some salmonids. Intragastic implantation is a rapid and relatively non-invasive procedure that places the transponder in the stomach of subject (Lucas and Johnstone, 1990). Early studies on juvenile Atlantic salmon had limited success using intragastric implantation with many transmitters being regurgitated, mortality in smaller subjects and a noticeable impact on feeding being observed (Armstrong and Rawlings, 1993). Work on cod (Gadus morhua) again showed high initial regurgitation but no impact on feeding in subjects that retained their transponder (Lucas and Johnstone, 1990; Armstrong and Rawlings, 1993). Successful studies using intragastric tagging have been carried out on returning adult Atlantic salmon, due to their large size and lack of feeding in fresh water (Bagliniere et al., 1990; Bagliniere et al., 1991). However, regurgitation of tags is still common with Smith et al (1998) estimating on average 14.8% of tags are shed by adult Atlantic salmon via regurgitation.

2.3.3 Surgical tagging

Surgical tagging procedures are much more invasive than intragastric implantation methods. Intraperitoneal implantation is a technique that has been used in North American studies since the 1960's (Henderson *et al.*, 1966; Lucas, 1989). However, it

was not until the passing of the Animals (Scientific Procedures) Act 1986 that the procedure could be formally licensed for use in the UK (Lucas, 1989). It has been suggested that early tagging methods were carried out with a much more "trial and error" approach than current surgical tagging methods (Cooke *et al.*, 2011b). However, there are several early studies that used empirical approaches to examine the effects of transmitter implantation on various aspects of fish health (Lucas, 1989; Moore *et al.*, 1990). Although in recent years there has been renewed focus on indentifying procedures and techniques to improve the outcome of surgical tagging as well as to indentify the impacts of tagging on study animals (Cooke *et al.*, 2011b).

The position of incision sites on the body wall as well as the closure of the incision via suture can have large effects on the wellbeing of fish post-procedure. Wagner and Stevens (2000) found that incision position, either ventral midline or ventral off midline, impacted fish behaviour post-procedure, with fish with off midline incisions showing higher swimming activity compared to on midline incision fish. Other studies showed that radio-tagging procedures performed either ventrally or from lateral incision had lower organ puncture risk and were easier to perform when carried out on the midline (Schramm JR and Black, 1984). Incision placement anterior or posterior to the pelvic girdle has also been addressed, with neither incision placement having an impact on wound healing and transmitter retention (Gosset and Rives, 2004).

Closing the incision has been equally researched with various suture types and material being examined. Wagner and Stevens (2000) and Cooke *et al.* (2003) examined the effect of suture composition and found no difference between braided silk and monofilament sutures. However, it was noted that multifilament sutures were found to be easier to work with than monofilament, reducing surgery time (Cooke *et al.*, 2003) but it was also noted that incision healing was faster with monofilament (Wagner and Stevens, 2000). Walsh *et al* (2000) compared sutures composed of absorbable materials versus non-absorbable materials and found that absorbable sutures were shed faster but persisted after wound closure, 50% absorbable sutures being shed at 30 days compared to 60 days for non-absorbable.

Sterilisation and antibiotic use during surgery has been relatively poorly investigated (Mulcahy, 2003). The use of povidone-iodine solution as a sterilisation treatment for incisions sites pre and post-surgery showed no effect on wound histology when compared to control groups (Wagner *et al.*, 1999). The use of antibiotics has been investigated in a limited capacity, and in hybrid striped bass (*Morone chrysops x Morone saxatilis*) intramuscular injections of 0.5 mg/kg gentamicin sulfate were shown to be effective at preventing post-surgical infection (Isely *et al.*, 2002). More recently the use of UV light as a surgical sterilising agent was trialled on chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*) and it was found that, although UV light did not compromise sutures, there was no difference in healing response between control and treatment groups (Walker *et al.*, 2013).

Natural responses of fish post-surgery are vital; affirmation that study fish are not adversely affected by the procedure and behave in a naturalistic fashion is paramount when inferring results in broader context. Estimations of survival postsurgery are a principal metric as they allow the researcher to disentangle natural mortality from any possible surgical effects. Survival post-surgery, monitored between immediate post-surgery mortality and mortality after days, was generally high in salmonids (Lucas, 1989; Moore *et al.*, 1990; Gries and Letcher, 2002; Bateman and Gresswell, 2006).

The effects of intraperitoneal tagging on the growth and feeding of fish has been extensively assessed (Lucas, 1989; Moore *et al.*, 1990; Martin *et al.*, 1995). Research showed no impact on rainbow trout (*Oncorynchus mykiss*) (Lucas, 1989; Martin *et al.*, 1995) and Atlantic salmon (Moore *et al.*, 1990) with no apparent effect on feeding behaviour and growth of subjects in comparison to controls. However, some studies showed differences in growth between treatment groups, with tagged fish growing slightly slower, a later repetition then observed no significant difference on growth (Welch *et al.*, 2007). It was also observed that dummy tagged individuals (non-functional transmitter inserted) initially halted growth before later resuming similar growth rates

to sham tagged (surgery performed but no transmitter inserted) controls (Lacroix *et al.,* 2004).

It is also important that fish return to natural behaviour patterns post-surgery, as behavioural modification can disrupt social status and predator avoidance. Studies to elucidate whether tagged individuals had compromised anti-predatory behaviour found that tagging did not increase susceptibility to predators (Adams *et al.*, 1998; Anglea *et al.*, 2004; Jepsen *et al.*, 2008). Jepsen *et al.* (2008) went as far to suggest that predator avoidance behaviour should be used as the metric to assess performance impairment in future tagging studies. Disruption of social hierarchies in salmonids due to tagging is also of concern. Evidence suggests that tagging has a limited effect on social dominance, with some fish losing their position (Connors *et al.*, 2002) and in other cases tagged fish retained their status (Swanberg and Geist, 1997).

2.4 Rationale for telemetry techniques used

Throughout this thesis multiple telemetry methods have been used. The decision to use a particular method for each chapter was determined by a combination of; fish species, fish life history stage, fish fork length, fish weight, stream width, river conductivity, water depth and stream turbulence (noise).

Chapter 3 focusses on the migration of juvenile sea trout migrating to sea. Sea trout smolts have to pass through freshwater into brackish and saltwater during their migration meaning that the selection of the correct telemetry method is vital. PIT telemetry can immediately be discarded as the river widths and depths throughout the study stretch are outwith the capability of PIT telemetry. The choice between acoustic telemetry and radio telemetry hinges on the fact that migrating smolts would be migrating into a high conductivity environment and reliable recording of smolts leaving the estuary were needed to assess survival. Due to the poor performance of radio telemetry in high conductivity it was therefore ruled out. CART tags where both radio and acoustic telemetry could be used, radio functioning in the shallow noisy river sections and acoustic functioning in the deep high conductivity river sections, was not

considered due to the unsuitable tag size for wild sea trout smolts, as well as modern acoustic telemetry performing adequately in relatively noisy environments. Acoustic telemetry was therefore used as the primary telemetry method during this research.

The core focus of Chapter 4 is the spawning movements of adult sea trout and Atlantic salmon returning from sea. This chapter has similar requirements as Chapter 3 except in reverse where the adults are moving from marine to freshwater environments. The recording of losses due to experimental fish "dropping out" and returning to sea from the river needs to be carried out via logging stations positioned in the estuary. As such, radio telemetry would be insufficient to reliably record fish leaving the estuary to the sea and just as in Chapter 3 PIT would be wholly unsuitable due to the hydromorphology of the proposed study sections in the river.

Chapter 5 has different requirements compared to Chapters 3 & 4. The homing migration of displaced brown trout in a small river is the Chapter's focus. The small river was unsuitable for acoustic telemetry since the stream depth was below one metre on average and was predominated by shallow riffles with high amounts of environmental noise. Due to environmental conditions, a combination of radio and PIT telemetry was deployed. The river in question was both shallow and had a relatively narrow stream width making the installation of pass through PIT detection loops possible. Also, the use of relatively small PIT tags meant that the size range of experimental fish was broadened. Radio was also used in a smaller capacity than PIT telemetry as way of quantifying small-scale movement patterns of larger displaced brown trout.

Published as: Gauld NR, Campbell RNB, Lucas MC (2013) Reduced flow impacts salmonid smolt emigration in a river with low-head weirs. Science of the Total Environment 458-460:435-443

Chapter 3: Reduced flow impacts salmonid smolt emigration in a river with low-head weirs (direct paper duplication)

3.1 Introduction

In many developed countries there is a long history of river modification and, as a result, in-river structures such as dams and weirs are present in half of the world's rivers (Dynesius and Nilsson, 1994; Nilsson et al., 2005). Such modification has been integral to human population growth through processes such as flood defence; power generation and farming in floodplains (Poff and Hart, 2002; Nilsson et al., 2005). However, in-river barriers such as dams and weirs have a major role in the fragmentation of fluvial ecosystems (Dynesius and Nilsson, 1994; Jungwirth, 1998; Fullerton et al., 2010; Kemp and O'Hanley, 2010). In-river barriers can have major impacts on fish populations by preventing or restricting movement to habitats required for essential stages of fish life history (Branco et al.; Lucas and Batley, 1996; Lucas and Baras, 2001; Lucas et al., 2009; Wollebaek et al., 2011). In-river barriers not only impact fish populations by restricting essential movement, there is also major impacts on fish habitat due to alteration of the downstream flux of water and sediment, nutrient movement, and water temperatures within rivers (Poff and Hart, 2002). The effects of migration obstacles depend on factors such as fish species; river hydrology and barrier type, with effects varying from short delays to complete blockage (Northcote, 1998; Kemp and O'Hanley, 2010). In Europe, legislation such as the Water Framework Directive (WFD; 2000/60/EC) requires free passage for migratory fish travelling between areas of river essential for their life history, such as juvenile emigration from natal areas and adult spawning migrations.

Failure to comply can result in the river being assigned less than "Good ecological status" and may result in sanctions.

The seaward migration of juvenile anadromous salmonids (smolts) is a crucial event in their life history. Smoltification is a period of great morphological, behavioural and physiological change when juvenile salmonids develop various adaptations that enable them to survive at sea (Denton and Saunders, 1972; Lysfjord and Staurnes, 1998; McCormick *et al.*, 1998; Debowski *et al.*, 1999a; Debowski *et al.*, 1999b). The smolt migratory period is precisely timed with photoperiod, river discharge and temperature playing determinate roles in its commencement (McCormick, 1994; Björnsson *et al.*, 1995; McCormick *et al.*, 2000; McCormick *et al.*, 2007; Björnsson *et al.*, 2010). Throughout migration smolts are subject to elevated predation risk from mammalian; avian and fish predators (Heggenes and Borgstrom, 1988; Carss *et al.*, 1990; Aarestrup *et al.*, 2003; Steinmetz *et al.*, 2003; Svenning *et al.*, 2005a; Svenning *et al.*, 2005b; Harris *et al.*, 2008; Wiese *et al.*, 2008). Delays at river obstructions during such a timing-specific and vulnerable life history stage can potentially have large impacts on the survival of smolts and the health of salmonid stocks as a whole.

The impacts of large dams on the hydrology and ecology of temperate river systems, including downstream fish passage, are relatively well known. Particularly so for economically important fish such as salmonid species (Noonan *et al.*, 2012). In general downstream salmonid passage efficiency past dams through bypass facilities is high (74.6%) based on recent quantitative assessment (Noonan *et al.*, 2012). However, high smolt mortalities due to both physical damage and predation have been observed at major impoundments and hydro-power facilities (Raymond, 1979; Raymond, 1988; Aarestrup *et al.*, 1999; Muir *et al.*, 2001a; Muir *et al.*, 2001b; Williams *et al.*, 2001; Smith *et al.*, 2002; Hockersmith *et al.*, 2003; Smith *et al.*, 2006; Keefer *et al.*, 2012). Low flows due to regulation in river reaches also cause delays in smolt emigration and result in increased duration of exposure to mortality risks (Aarestrup and Koed, 2003). However, the impacts of low-head structures, such as simple overflow weirs are poorly known for

downstream migrants (Lucas and Baras, 2001) with the exception of bottom-orientated freshwater eels (Acou *et al.*, 2008). While impacts of small weirs on upstream-migrating fish (Lucas and Frear, 1997; Ovidio and Philippart, 2002) have long been mitigated by fish ladders designed specifically to assist upstream passage (Clay, 1995), average passage efficiencies are relatively low (41.7%) (Noonan *et al.*, 2012) and presence of passage fascilities is not always guaranteed to mitigate passage concerns (Roscoe and Hinch, 2010). However, it is generally assumed that downstream migration of wild surface-oriented fishes such as salmonid smolts is relatively unaffected and that they will pass simple overflowing weirs unhindered under reasonably natural flow regimes (Lucas and Baras, 2001). Some studies on passage of hatchery-reared smolts past small weirs, in particular that of Aarestrup and Koed (2003), strongly contradict this. To test this assumption for wild fish, the effects of low-head weirs and the influence of natural variations in river flow on the migration behaviour and survival of anadromous brown trout (*Salmo trutta*) smolts were examined in the River Tweed, UK, a catchment with very strong wild migratory salmonid stocks.

3.1.1 Study areas

The study was carried out on the River Tweed in southern Scotland, which drains west to east and empties to the North Sea. The Tweed is the sixth largest river in mainland Britain and the second largest in Scotland and has some of the largest Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) and anadromous brown trout populations in the UK (Gardiner, 1989; Sheail, 1998). The Tweed catchment covers 5000 km² with an estimated 2160 kilometres of the main channel and tributaries accessible to fish (Gardiner, 1989). The water quality of the river is very high, with there being very little pollution present (Currie, 1997). The River Tweed is a designated Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) within the UK and is an EU Special Area of Conservation (SAC) for Atlantic salmon and lampreys. Compared to many rivers, there are relatively few anthropogenic impacts and the hydrology, although modified, retains high natural variability in discharge. Several low-head engineered structures occur within the River Tweed's main channel,

downstream of one of the key spawning tributaries, the Ettrick Water, as well as in the Ettrick itself (Figure 3.1). The Ettrick is a regulated river and its main tributary the Yarrow Water is also regulated at its outflow from St Marys Loch, 23 km upstream of its confluence with the Ettrick. The average annual flow on the Yarrow is 5.58 m³ s⁻¹, while on the Ettrick it is 15.1 m³ s⁻¹ and their combined catchment areas come to 501 km². The course of the river under investigation is characterised by multiple low-head structures which are remnants of light industry, most of which are now redundant (Figure 3.1, Table 3.1).



Figure 3.1: Map of the River Tweed showing all the major tributaries as well as the migration route downstream from the Yarrow Water. Grey boxes denote the release sites along with white circles denoting the ALS positions and white diamonds for SEPA flow gauging stations (FGS). Black bars indicate the sites of in-river structures.

		Year		Structure	Fish pass	Location (latitude,
Name of	Structure	structure	Structure	head-loss	present	longitude ,°)
structure	status	built	width (m)	(m)		
Murray Cauld	Intact	1847	65	3	Pool and spill	55.537667, -2.874796
		Not				55.602007, -2.726349
Melrose Cauld	Ruinous	known	102	1	None	
Mertoun		Rebuilt in				55.582512,-2.623382
Cauld	Cut	1990s	98	3	Pool and spill	
Rutherford		Not				55.57769, -2.550825
Cauld	Ruinous	known	153	1	None	
		Middle			Multiple pool	55.599875,-2.439349
Kelso Cauld	Cut	ages	300*	2	and spill	
Hendersyde		Not				55.624852, -2.382158
Cauld	Cut	known	230	2	Pool and spill	
The Lees		Not				55.642852, -2.250394
Cauld	Cut	known	100	ca. 1	None	
Coldstream						55.654607, -2.241373
bridge apron	Cut	1784	96	ca. 1	None	
Milne Graden		Not				55.691506, -2.195022
Cauld	Ruined	known	98	ca. 1	None	

Table 3.1: Descriptions of in river structures along the studied smolt migratory route. * Structure crosses river at an angle to the flow.

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 Smolt capture and tagging

Trout smolts were captured in a trap on the Yarrow between the 1st of April and the 1st of June in 2010 and 2011. The smolt trap consisted of a meshed box trap placed in the outwash of the smolt and debris screen of a fish farm. The smolts were removed from the trap and immediately placed in a holding tub filled with highly aerated river water. Individual fish likely to be large enough for tagging were placed in an induction tank and anaesthetised using Phenoxyethanol (0.3 ml l⁻¹), their fork length (mm) and weight (g) were recorded before those sufficiently large for tagging (over 145 mm in fork length) were placed on a V-shaped surgical table. An incision (12-14 mm) was made on the

ventral side of the fish anterior to the pelvic girdle. A miniature coded acoustic transmitter (either Model V7-2x, 7 mm diameter, 18 mm length, 1.4 g weight in air, Vemco Ltd, Nova Scotia, Canada or Model LP-7.3, 7.3 mm diameter, 18 mm length, 1.9 g weight in air, Thelma Biotel AS, Trondheim, Norway) was then implanted in to the body cavity through the incision. Tags were chosen to have code repeat periods of 20-60 seconds and estimated lives of 100 days. The incision was closed with three independent sutures (4-0 Vicryl Rapide, Ethicon Ltd, Livingston, UK). The gills were aspirated with a mixture of dilute Phenoxyethanol and river water during the early stages of the procedure before switching to 100% river water during the later stages of the procedure. All tagging was carried out under UK Home Office License and complied with the UK Animals (Scientific Procedures) Act 1986.

Once the procedures were complete the fish were returned to a recovery tub filled with highly aerated water. When recovered the fish were placed in a keep box in the intake channel overnight before release into the river; no mortalities occurred during these procedures. Details of the fish released in the two seasons are given in Table 3.2. There was no significant difference between the lengths of smolts acoustic tagged in 2010 and 2011 (Mann-Whitney U; n=103, Z=-0.445, p>0.05). Release was always in groups that included untagged fish (since smolts migrate in aggregations), within 24 hours of tagging, in to a section of the river 100 m below the point of capture. Due to high losses of tagged smolts within the upper study section in 2010, tagged smolts were released at two additional release sites, one 2 km below the point of capture and another 200 m downstream of the Murray Cauld as a way to test the impact of the weir on migration in 2011 (Table 3.2, Figure 3.1). The Murray Cauld is the only intact in-river structure on the migration route and so has only a fish pass as an alternative to passage over its crest. The lengths of smolts in the three release groups in 2011 were not significantly different (Kruskall-Wallis; n=60, $\chi^2=1.0892$, df=2, p>0.05).

Release site	Tagging	Number	Fork length [mean \pm SD	Weight [mean \pm SD	Tag/body weight ratio
	date	tagged	(range), mm]	(range), g]	[mean (range), %]*
Release site A	29/04/2010	14	163.2 ± 16.5 (145-190)	45.6 ± 15.2 (30-77)	4.5 (2.5 – 6.3)
Release site A	07/05/2010	20	161.5 ± 15.5 (140-202)	41.4 ± 13.4 (23-82)	5.0 (2.3 -8.3)
Release site A	13/05/2010	9	175.8 ± 18.3 (156-200)	54.6 ± 18.6 (29-81)	3.9 (2.3 – 6.6)
2010	Total	43	165 ± 17 (140-202)	45.5 ± 15.7 (23-82)	4.6 (2.3 – 8.3)
Release site A	21/04/2011	3	155 ± 8.7 (150-165)	38 ± 9.5 (32-49)	5.2 (3.9 – 5.9)
Release site A	22/04/2011	6	164.3 ± 19.5 (142-199)	45.7 ± 16.7 (31-77)	4.5 (2.5 – 6.1)
Release site A	26/04/2011	4	182.2 ± 17 (159-198)	59.3 ± 17.5 (35-76)	3.5 (2.5 – 5.4)
Release site A	04/05/2011	7	165 ± 33.9 (140-220)	50.4 ± 32.6 (23-97)	5.1 (2.0 – 8.3)
Release site A	Total	20	166.7 ± 24.3 (140-220)	48.9 ± 22.6 (23-97)	4.6 (2.0 – 8.3)
Release site B	21/04/2011	3	160 ± 15 (145-175)	44 ± 11.5 (31-53)	4.6 (3.6 – 6.1)
Release site B	22/04/2011	6	161.5 ± 20.3 (147-197)	41.8 ± 12.5 (32-62)	4.8 (3.1 – 5.9)
Release site B	26/04/2011	4	161.5 ± 7.3 (154-171)	42±7 (33-49)	4.6 (3.9 – 5.8)
Release site B	04/05/2011	7	170.3 ± 16.9 (154-202)	50.3 ± 17.7 (34-86)	4.1 (2.2 – 5.6)
Release site B	Total	20	164.4 ± 15.9 (145-202)	45.2 ± 13.3 (31-86)	4.5 (2.2 -6.1)
Release site C	21/04/2011	3	163.3 ± 20.2 (140-175)	43.3±13.9 (28-55)	4.8 (3.5 -6.8)
Release site C	22/04/2011	6	171.7 ± 8.1 (160-182)	50.5 ± 8.3 (40-62)	3.8 (3.1 – 4.8)
Release site C	26/04/2011	4	173.8 ± 21.6 (142-190)	58.5 ± 19.7 (31-78)	3.7 (2.4 – 6.1)
Release site C	04/05/2011	7	167.4 ± 20.7 (145-205)	46.9 ± 20.5 (20-85)	4.8 (2.2 – 9.5)
Release site C	Total	20	169.4 ± 16.8 (142-205)	49.8 ± 16.1 (28-85)	4.3 (2.2 – 9.5)
2011	Total	60	166.8 ± 19.2 (140-220)	47.9 ± 17.6 (23-97)	4.5 (2.0 – 9.5)

Table 3.2: Summary data for smolts acoustic tagged in 2010 and 2011. The release sites are shown on Figure 3.1.

* Tag to body weight ratio is calculated from masses in air.

3.2.2 Acoustic tracking

Acoustic tracking was carried out via a combination of fixed ALS positions and manual tracking at 69 KHz to track fish survival to sea. Fixed ALS positions (Models VR2 & VR2W, Vemco Ltd, Nova Scotia, Canada) were set approximately 11 km apart along the migration route. Sites were chosen to detect fish as they approached cross-river weirs or other features of interest, with acoustic loggers located in calm water to give reliable recording of tags, based upon field tests. Positioning of loggers at some sites was limited by the availability of calm, deep water as well as site access. Logging stations at weirs were located 50-100 m upstream of obstructions. In the estuary multiple stations were placed in both the inner and outer estuary to give effective coverage. ALS positions were
downloaded on a weekly basis during the study period, these data allowed for the locations of each fish to be estimated and help determine areas to target for manual tracking. Average detection efficiencies for the ALS positions were 89% in 2010 (100% excluding station 5) and 91% in 2011.

Manual tracking was carried out on foot by wading in shallow stretches and by boat in the deeper sections using a Vemco VR100 (Vemco Ltd, Nova Scotia, Canada) with a VH110 Directional Hydrophone attached (Vemco Ltd, Nova Scotia, Canada). The hydrophone was placed in the calmest water locally available and slowly rotated. Range testing was conducted by placing a test tag in a known position and then measuring the distance at which the test tag became undetectable on manual tracking equipment, this was repeated in several different river sections with varying hydromorphological conditions. In field tracking conditions, with the hydrophone kept fully submerged, the range varied between 100 m in deep pools to less than 10 m in fast flowing riffles; thus repeated scans were made at distances of equating to the effective range. Fish locations were recorded by the VR100 inbuilt GPS unit and later stored in a GIS database. Blind operator training was also used to ensure manual trackers could detect tags in various river sections, enabling maximum confidence that tags were not missed during manual tracking. In 2011 additional PIT tracking of smolts was carried out to determine the effects of acoustic tagging on migration rate and behaviour in comparison to PIT tagging, results suggest acoustic tags pose no higher impact on movement rate of smolts than PIT tagging (Appendix I).

In 2010, 10 tags were deployed in mesh bags in the river to estimate tag failure rate. As a further control, 10 tags were deployed loose on the river bed to determine whether, and under what circumstances, tags lost by fish, or following predation and subsequent tag egestion, were moved passively by flows and what their detectability was.

3.2.3 Environmental data

River flow is recorded along the smolt migration route at the Philiphaugh gauging station of the Scottish Environment Protection Agency (SEPA) on the lower Yarrow and also at their Lindean (Ettrick), Boleside and Sprouston (Both Tweed) and at the Norham gauging station of the Environment Agency of England and Wales (EA)(Figure 3.1). Historic flow records for these stations were obtained from the Centre for Ecology and Hydrology (CEH) National River Flow Archive (NRFA).

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Inter-annual variations in successful migration out to sea and passage efficiencies at weirs

Through the combined use of stationary ALS positions and manual tracking, survival estimates were calculated for the 43 tagged smolts released in 2010 and the 60 released in 2011. The approximate distance travelled by each smolt was measured from its last known location. For the purpose of the study tags that were either missing after repeated manual tracking trips or repeatedly found at the same site, without any movement on successive manual tracking trips were assumed to be smolt mortalities. However, on top of predation risk there is the possibility that non-detection of tags could be the result of tag failure, range limits, or missed detections due to fast movement.

In total, seven fish (16%) in 2010 and three fish in 2011 (5%) were assumed to be dead in the river after repeatedly being found in the same location in the river. Conversely, 28 tagged fish (65%) in 2010 and 30 tagged fish (50%) in 2011 were assumed to have been removed from the system by terrestrial predators after a cessation in logged movements and not being detected after several manual tracking trips. All of the tags deployed in the river as controls in retrievable mesh bags operated

for their expected durations and 90% of the tags deployed loose on the river bed could be detected over their study period, none moving more than 1 m.

In 2010 only 19% of the 43 released smolts were detected leaving the river on the outer estuary logger whereas 45% of the 60 released smolts reached there in 2011. One notable difference between years was the variation in smolt loss around the Murray Cauld; in 2010 a 44% decline in survival was observed there compared to a 9% decline in 2011 (Figure 3.2). There was a slight variation in successful migration out to sea for release sites A and B (above the Murray Cauld) and C (below it) in 2011, which had relatively normal flow, with 40%; 55% and 40% migratory success being observed respectively (Figure 3.2). In 2010 there was a significant difference in smolt length between successful migrants and unsuccessful migrants, with successful smolts being larger (Mann-Whitney U; n=43, Z=-2.07, p=0.044). This trend may be a result of the low number of successful smolts compared to the much larger number of unsuccessful and unsuccessful migrants (Mann-Whitney U; n=60, Z =-0.647, p>0.05).

For both years a significant negative relationship between distance travelled from release site and cohort migratory success was recorded (2010: linear regression; n=23, $R^2 = 0.495$, df=21, F=12.064, p=0.005; Figure 3.2, 2011: linear regression; n=23, $R^2=0.84$, df=21, F=84.731, p<0.001; Figure 3.2). For all three release sites in 2011 there were significant negative relationships between the distance travelled from release sites and cohort migratory success (release site A: linear regression; n=23, $R^2=0.52$, df=21, F=15.263, p=0.002; Figure 3.2, release site B: linear regression; n=19, df=17, $R^2=0.72$, F=37.305, p<0.001; Figure 3.2, release site C: linear regression; n=14, $R^2=0.73$, df=12, F=25.536, p=0.001; Figure 3.2). Subsequently, two of the smolts tagged in 2011 were detected 20 km up the estuary of the River Tees on an ALS array associated with a separate study. The Tees estuary is approximately 144 km south of the Tweed estuary, along the North Sea coast, and the tags were detected for periods of 4.3 and 60.4 hours, after respective periods of 20 and 10 days following escapement from the Tweed estuary. These detections fit in with prior Carlin tag data from the Tweed that shows

smolts moving down the UK coastline close to shore and in neighbouring estuaries (R. Campbell, *unpublished data*).

The passage efficiencies at the weirs with ALS positions immediately above them differed between years, at Murray Cauld passage efficiency differed markedly between years with 46% and 100% passage efficiency being observed in 2010 and 2011 respectively. Differences in passage efficiency between 2010 and 2011 were also observed on both Melrose Cauld and Mertoun Cauld but were not as pronounced (Table 3.3). What is important to note is that weir design differs between all three weirs and Murray Cauld is the only fully intact weir.



Figure 3.2: Cumulative survival of acoustically tagged brown trout smolts migrating out to sea in 2010 and for three separate release groups in 2011. Black vertical bar represent weirs along the migration route. * Measured from the furthest upstream release point down to the estuary.

3.3.2 The delay of smolts during seaward migration in 2010 and 2011 and its impact on smolt movement rate

When comparing the mean ground speeds of migrating smolts in 2010 and 2011, using the first detection of each smolt on each ALS position along the migration route and factoring in each river section in to the analysis, a significant difference was observed (ANOVA; n=213, df=1, F=43.29, p<0.001; Figure 3.4) with smolts in 2011 moving significantly faster along the migration route. Ground speed data for 2011 in the river sections between release site B and logging station 1 as well as release site C and logging station 2 were not included in the analysis due to the stated release sites not being used in 2010.

Records of the migration delays, reflected through residence times experienced by smolts at logger localities in both 2010 and 2011 were retrieved from stationary ALS positions. Delay was quantified by the duration of time between the first recording and the last recording on an ALS for each tagged smolt. Data from station 5 were not included, since this logger was inefficient due to noise resulting from its suboptimal location. In general, smolts experienced more delay in 2010 than 2011. Smolts were more significantly delayed in 2010 compared to 2011 on all freshwater ALS positions; station 1 (Mann-Whitney U; n=54, Z=-5.0, p<0.001; Table 3.3), station 2 (Mann-Whitney U; n=47, Z=-2.33, p=0.02; Table 3), station 3 (Mann-Whitney U; n=32, Z=-2.712, p=0.011; Table 3.3), station 4 (Mann-Whitney U; n=19, Z=-2.966, p=0.002; Table 3), station 6 (Mann-Whitney U; n=23, Z=-3.244, p=0.001; Table 3.3) and station 7 (Mann-Whitney U; n=34, Z=-2.315, p=0.02; Table 3.3). However, there was no significant difference in delay in the Tweed estuary between 2010 and 2011 (Mann-Whitney U; n=33, Z=-0.336, p>0.05; Table 3.3), suggesting that either the factors influencing delay within the river were not present or were of less importance within the estuary or that a different set of factors govern estuarine movements. Regrouping the ALS delay data into two groups; "obstructed" where the ALS positions are within 100 m of an in river structure (stations 1; 2; 3) and "unobstructed" where the ALS positions are in a free flowing section of river (stations 4; 6; 7) it is observed that delay was significantly higher

at obstructed sections compared to unobstructed sections in 2010 (Mann-Whitney U; median obstructed= 108.9, median unobstructed=4.7, n=80, Z=-2.865, p=0.004; Figure 3.3). Conversely, there was a lack of significant difference in delay duration between obstructed and unobstructed river sections in 2011 (Mann-Whitney U; median obstructed= 1.49, median unobstructed=0.97, n=129, Z=-1.767, p=0.077; Figure 3.3).

Table 3.3: Delay and barrier passage efficiencies at ALS positions along the smolt migration route through the river and estuary. Station 5 not listed due to insufficient sample size recorded there.

ALS	Immediately	In-river	2010 Delay	2011 Delay	2010	2011
Position	Upstream of	structure	(median($Q_1 - Q_3$),	(median($Q_1 - Q_3$),	Passage	Passage
	in-river	characteristics	minutes)	minutes)	efficiency	efficiency
	structure				(%)	(%)
1	Yes	Intact	4497.3 (109.9-	5.8 (2.7-26.4)	46	100
			25029.4)			
2	Yes	Ruinous	7.1 (1.8-18.8)	2.1 (0.9-4.6)	76	92
3	Yes	Cut	1.11 (0.2- 2.7)	0.1 (0.1-0.5)	90	94
4	No	-	2.5 (1.3-81.6)	0.6 (0.1-0.8)	-	-
6	No	-	5 (3.1-18.9)	0.9 (0.1-1.1)	-	-
7	No	-	4.7 (2.7-11.7)	1.7 (0.9-2.7)	-	-
8	No	-	460 (61.8-1244.8)	314.3 (4.6-1719.9)	-	-



Figure 3.3: Time spent by individual smolts at ALS positions (delay) that were within the impoundment zones of in river structures (obstructed) compared with those that were not (unobstructed). Data are presented as box plots, showing median, upper and lower quartiles, upper and lower 5 percentiles, mild outliers (circles; Q3 +1.5 ×IQR) and extreme outliers (asterisks; Q3 + 3 × IQR). In the 2010 panel medians are obscured by other lines. Data do not include records from station 5 due to insufficient sample size.



Figure 3.4: Box plot displaying the median net ground speeds of tagged trout smolts moving through each river section in both 2010 and 2011. Boxes represent upper and lower quartiles and T-bars represent the upper and lower 5 percentiles and round dots signify outliers. *Section of river between ALS positions, station 5 removed from analysis due to insufficient sample size.

3.3.3 Variation in flow conditions between 2010 and 2011 and its influence on smolt ground speed

Using mean daily flow data retrieved from SEPA and the EA and flow duration curves from the CEH NRFA, the flow conditions along the migration route during the typical smolt migration period (1 April to 30 June) in 2010 and 2011 were analysed. The Lindean SEPA gauging station was used as a proxy for the flow at the Murray Cauld as it is approximately 6 km downstream from the weir and there are no large tributaries joining the Ettrick in this section of river. The two years' flows at Lindean, during the key migration period, differed markedly, with mean daily flows declining below the Q95 flow for 18 days in 2010 and not at all in 2011. There were several high flow events in 2011 whereas the only flow increases in 2010 were the results of artificial weekly freshets from St Mary's Loch on the Yarrow system (Figure 3.5).

Using historical flow records from the CEH NRFA for Lindean extending back to 1962 the prevalence of daily flows under Q95 was calculated for each year in the 49 year period. Days where flow was low there during the migration period were not uncommon (Figure 3.6). Short periods of flow restriction occurred frequently and periods where at least 15 days out of the 90 day period were below Q95 daily flows occurred at least once a decade (Figure 3.6). There have therefore been periods of flow restriction similar to that experienced in 2010 previously and they are likely to reoccur. The influence of flow conditions on smolt migration rate was calculated from the net ground speed of individual smolts between two successive ALS positions using the first record of each smolt at each ALS as it moved downstream and then matching the ground speed to the mean flow conditions during the period of transit using 15-minute gauged flows from the nearest SEPA flow gauging stations to the fixed ALS positions. This was carried out for all sequential pairs of ALSs. For both years a positive relationship between elevated flow $(m^3 s^{-1})$ and increased net ground speed (km h^{-1}) was observed; 2010 (Regression; n=88, R=0.719, p<0.001; Figure 7), 2011 (Regression; n=218, R=0.579, p<0.001; Figure 3.7). However, when the relationships between net ground speed and mean flow were compared between years using an ANCOVA there was a highly significant difference in slope (n=306, df=1, F=147.73, p<0.001). These results suggest that smolts released in 2010 undertook increasingly more active swimming within the flows in which they exhibited downstream migration than the smolts released in 2011.



Figure 3.5: Mean daily flows at the flow gauging station at Lindean on the Ettrick Water, reflecting water flow at Murray's Cauld, during the period of study in both 2010 and 2011 as well as the Q95 and Q10 flows for the Lindean station.



Figure 3.6: Total number of days below Q95 flows for the smolt migration period 1 April to 30 May between 1962 and 2011 on the lower Yarrow Water at the Philiphaugh flow gauging station, lower Ettrick Water at the Lindean flow gauging station and the upper Tweed at the Boleside flow gauging station.



Figure 3.7: The net ground speed (km h^{-1}) of migrating smolts in relation to the estimated mean flow conditions (m^3s^{-1}) during the period of transit throughout the migratory route. Flows are based upon the nearest 15-minute gauged flow, at the closest gauging station.

3.4 Discussion

This study shows, for the first time, that surface-orientated wild fishes, migrating downstream, can be markedly impeded by small overflowing weirs, and that the effects of this are dramatically increased during low-flow conditions. These delays are associated with losses of migrating fishes, again substantially elevated during low-flow conditions. While these effects are known for salmonids at large impoundments, especially hydroelectric dams, with or without surface bypasses (Raymond, 1979; Raymond, 1988; Muir *et al.*, 2001a; Muir *et al.*, 2001b; Williams *et al.*, 2001; Hockersmith *et al.*, 2003; Smith *et al.*, 2006), and also for benthically orientated eels (Gosset *et al.*, 2005; Boubée and Williams, 2006; Acou *et al.*, 2008), they have not been recorded for wild juvenile salmonids in relatively natural river systems. However, manipulative studies with Atlantic salmon smolts have shown that modified surface bypasses reduce the delay in passing weirs compared to conventional bypasses (Haro *et*

al., 1998). These results strongly suggest that small obstructions can have much larger than expected impacts on seaward escapement of anadromous brown trout smolts and given the observation that low flows dramatically exacerbate these problems, any climate scenario (such as UKCIP02 and UKCP09 A1B) that results in increased frequency of low river flows during spring and early summer is a very real concern (Arnell, 2004; Marsh, 2004; Wilby and Harris, 2006; Christierson *et al.*, 2012). However, it is possible that climate change may bring an increase in water availability for the UK in some scenarios (IPCC SRES A2 and B2) (Xenopoulos *et al.*, 2005).

The results from the automated acoustic tracking of the smolts migrating to the sea in 2010 and 2011 clearly showed a disparity in the degree to which they were delayed in different river sections between the two seasons. These also showed that obstructions in river sections, such as weirs, also exacerbate delays during periods of reduced river flow. In general very little work has been conducted to link overflowing barriers to the passage and behaviour of freshwater fish during downstream movement. In Australian studies Murray cod (Maccullochella peelii) and golden perch (Macquaria ambigua) displaced above weirs displayed a reluctance to move past low-head weirs when attempting to home downstream (O'Connor et al., 2006). Negative impacts of weirs were also observed in hatchery reared Atlantic salmon and anadromous brown trout smolts released in small Danish rivers where they suffered from increased delay and mortality in proximity to small fish farm weirs (Aarestrup and Koed, 2003). The estuarine passage of Atlantic salmon smolts in relation to a barrage showed that smolts were delayed within the impounded section of water upstream from the barrage (Russell et al., 1998). Successful migrants passed the barrage either through a ship lock or by passing the barrage when it was submerged during high tides (Russell et al., 1998). Low flows spread across the breadth of obstructions such as overflowing weirs spanning whole channels, give depths over their crests that are very shallow, which may reduce the behavioural stimuli (one or more combinations of velocity, depth, velocity gradient, turbulence) needed to get fish to continue past the barrier. Haro *et al.* (1998) found American shad (Alosa sapidissima) to be unwilling to approach the small surface water

bypasses that would allow them to move downstream at large barriers, while Enders *et al.* (2009) demonstrated a similar unwillingness for salmonid smolts under experimental conditions, showing that hydraulic changes at surface bypasses do not necessarily promote effective downstream passage of surface-orientated fishes.

In the current study it was inferred that acoustic tag loss was very likely due to removal of tagged fish from the river by terrestrial predators because; 1) transmitters were lost well within the quoted lifetime of the tags; 2) control transmitters deployed in the river showed zero failure rate within the quoted life; 3) loose control tags on the river bed could be reliably detected by tracking gear and moved little and, 4) predation by aquatic predators (in this study area, large brown trout), would have resulted in acoustic tags being retained in the aquatic environment and detectable. In 2010 seven fish (16%) were repeatedly confirmed as stationary within the river and 28 (65%) were assumed as removed from the system due to repeated null detections. Likewise in 2011 three fish (5%) were repeatedly confirmed as stationary whilst 30 tags (50%) were apparently removed from the river system after repeated null detections. The most common avian predators on the Tweed are goosander (*Mergus merganser*) and grey heron (Ardea cinerea), the former occurs in large numbers during the smolt migration season when they can form large feeding aggregations. Their diet on the Tweed has been investigated by Marquiss *et al.* (1998), who estimated their consumption of smoltsized salmonids could be up to 4.79 per goosander per day in March and April and up to 1.8 per day in May. The survival of smolts during migration was radically different between the two seasons studied, that of 2010 (19%) being below half that of 2011 (45%). These levels can be compared with those of conventionally tagged anadromous brown trout smolts in Norway which were estimated to have a survival rate of 24% for their first seaward migration (Berg and Berg, 1987) and with the survival of chinook salmon (Oncorhynchus tshawytscha) smolts migrating down the Snake and Columbia rivers where survival to the sea was estimated to be around 27.5% (Welch et al., 2008). However, the Columbia River system is of much greater size and has much larger impoundments than the Tweed catchment.

The mortality of Atlantic salmon smolts during in-river migration has been estimated for several different rivers in previous studies. Overall mortality, calculated on a kilometre by kilometre basis ranged from 0.3 to 5% per kilometre (Moore *et al.*, 1998b; Dieperink *et al.*, 2002; Koed *et al.*, 2002; Koed *et al.*, 2006; Davidsen *et al.*, 2009; Martin *et al.*, 2009; Thorstad *et al.*, 2012a; Thorstad *et al.*, 2012b). In comparison anadromous brown trout smolts tracked in the Tweed in 2010 and 2011 suffered 0.88% and 0.55% mortality per km respectively, well within the range of mortality observed for salmon. It is important to note that these studies only included the lower reaches and estuary of their rivers where predation is expected to be more intense while the present study examined migration over 100.29 km of river and estuary.

Mortality at individual weirs during migration varied within and between years, with mortality ranging between 2-44% per cohort of fish arriving at each weir with an ALS near it (the Murray Cauld, Melrose Cauld and Mertoun Cauld) in 2010 and 5-9% in 2011. In comparison, stocked brown trout smolt mortality at various fish farm weirs in Denmark varied between 15-64%, although it is important to note that piscivorous predators such pike (Esox lucius) and zander (Sander lucioperca) are present in Danish rivers (Aarestrup and Koed, 2003) but are absent in the studied section of the River Tweed. Passage efficiencies at these weirs also varied between 46-90% in 2010 and 92-100% in 2011. Murrays Cauld was particularly inefficient in 2010 with downstream passage efficiency being only 46%, well below the average downstream passage efficiency of 68.5% seen in Noonan *et al.* (2012). This low efficiency during low flow periods is most probably the consequence of Murray Cauld being the only fully intact weir along the migration route, with other weirs either being in a ruinous state or cut. The flow conditions in the period of study were markedly different between years. The April to June water levels of 2010 were characterised by low flows that dipped below Q95 for a total of 18 days whilst the 2011 flows for the same period exceeded Q10 flows for two consecutive days during the largest spate and had other elevated periods. From a historical perspective, low flows similar to those that were prevalent in 2010 for the study period have been recorded regularly on the Ettrick between 1962 and 2011. The

use of Q95 flows as an estimation of low flows is now widely practised in Europe (Gustard *et al.*, 1992; Smakhtin, 2001; Laaha and Blöschl, 2007). Studies into the migration of chinook salmon on rivers with large barriers have shown a positive relationship between increased river flow and increased smolt survival during migration (Connor *et al.*, 2003; Smith *et al.*, 2003). While the Tweed is a much smaller river, with small barriers, the same pattern is apparent – higher smolt mortality in seasons with low flows and *vice-versa*.

Smolt net ground speed increased in relation to flow in both years of the study. However, smolts in 2010 showed a steeper relationship of ground speed to river discharge than smolts in 2011. This may be a consequence of the overall lower flow conditions in the river in 2010 compared to 2011 possibly meaning that smolts moving downstream in 2010 did so more actively than smolts released in 2011. Conversely, smolts in 2011 displayed more active swimming behaviour at lower flow levels than smolts in 2010, this is possibly due to smolts in 2011 not suffering the same flow restriction as smolts in 2010 and therefore movement may not be as impeded by in river structures. Similarly, previous research into anadromous brown trout and Atlantic salmon smolt migration has also found a correlation between river discharge and smolt net ground speeds (Aarestrup *et al.*, 2002; Martin *et al.*, 2009). Smolt ground speeds were low in sections from release to detections upstream of Philiphaugh weir in both 2010 and 2011, but these low speeds include periods during which smolts may have been preparing to emigrate and exhibited holding behaviour.

The conclusion of this study is that passage of downstream-migrating salmonid smolts is not only impacted by the large dams with which river managers are familiar, but probably also by much smaller low head weirs that Lucas *et al.* (2009) report as being much more abundant and which impound water and create zones of reduced flow rate. Current passage provision for downstream-migrating salmonid smolts is probably inadequate at many weirs and periodic low flows during the smolt migratory period should be a management concern. Especially so for rivers systems where salmonid stocks are a highly prized economic asset. Most fish passage facilities, such as technical

fish ladders, are designed for upstream migrants and while downstream fish bypasses exist, they have been little used on low-head overflowing weirs and have rarely been evaluated for their efficiency (Haro et al., 1998; Scruton et al., 2002; Scruton et al., 2007). In the face of climate change and uncertain variability in river flows, where lowhead structures are no longer needed, removal should be strongly considered along with the construction of bypasses for reducing emigration delays and mortality in salmonid smolts (Arnell, 2004; Marsh, 2004; Xenopoulos et al., 2005; Wilby and Harris, 2006; Garcia de Leaniz, 2008; Kemp and O'Hanley, 2010; Christierson et al., 2012). Further to this, river managers should prioritise the removal or modification of overflowing weirs situated within tributaries (such as Murray Cauld) or far into the river system. Proximate causes of delay and mortality during the early stages of smolt migration should be mitigated or nullified completely if at all possible. The structure of the weir should also be taken into account when structures are being prioritised for removal or passage provision. Weirs such as Murrays Cauld with completely uniform weir faces being prioritised over cut (Mertoun Cauld) and ruinous (Melrose Cauld) weirs due to higher delays associated with uniform weir faces. To ultimately test the impact of weirs future studies should consider a Before-After Control-Impact (BACI) design, where tenable, using multiple years worth of smolt migration data for each treatment. Further to this, more detailed information on smolts lost while migrating downstream would also be very useful for management purposes: unless definite causes can be assigned for losses it is difficult to take measures against them.

Chapter 4: The migration of spawning sea trout (*Salmo trutta*) and Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) in the River Tweed, Scotland.

4.1 Introduction

The occurrence of pronounced spawning migrations, where these occur, is a reflection of the restricted spatial and temporal distribution of reproduction for fish populations (Lucas and Baras, 2001). Anadromous fishes may migrate varying distances from saltwater into freshwater to spawn, dependent on the location of habitats for reproduction, be it into the lower sections of a river such as for European smelt (*Osmerus eperlanus*) or further up the main channel and tributaries like salmon and trout species (Lyle and Maitland, 1997; Finstad *et al.*, 2005a; Östergren *et al.*, 2011).

Like all anadromous fish, Atlantic salmon spend a considerable portion of their life in saltwater and only migrate back to their home rivers to reproduce after spending one to four years in the North Atlantic feeding (Hansen, 1993; Sections 1.6-1.8). The factors influencing the homeward migration in Atlantic salmon are not currently known, although sexual maturation depends on a combination of genetics and growing conditions at sea (Hansen and Quinn, 1998). Similarly, sea trout also spend a great deal of their life in saltwater but the extent of their migration is much more variable than Atlantic salmon (Pratten and Shearer, 1983; Berg and Berg, 1987). Sea trout either remain within the coastal area near their home river or undertake migrations that can be thousands of kilometres long (Pratten and Shearer, 1983; Berg and Berg, 1987).

Atlantic salmon are highly variable in the timing of their return run towards coastal home waters and rivers with timing varying at an intra-population as well as inter-population level (Fleming, 1996; Klemetsen *et al.*, 2003). It is also suggested that Atlantic salmon can arrive at coastal and home rivers many months before spawning occurs (Fleming, 1996; Klemetsen *et al.*, 2003). The return migration is period involving active swimming, with fish often migrating with as well as against oceanic currents

(Hansen and Quinn, 1998). During this period Atlantic salmon can move at great speed, estimated groundspeeds range between 50-100 km day⁻¹ (Hansen and Quinn, 1998). The saltwater migration of salmonids back to the mouth and estuary of home rivers appears to be a two part process (Hansen *et al.*, 1993). Fish navigate from oceanic feeding areas to coastal waters in the primary stage and then migrate from coastal waters and estuaries into their specific home rivers using olfaction in the secondary stage (Hansen *et al.*, 1993; Davidsen *et al.*, 2013).

Atlantic salmon move from coastal waters through the estuary and into freshwater rapidly (Thorstad et al., 1998; Solomon and Sambrook, 2004). Once initiated river entry only takes hours, suggesting that there is no physiological adaptation period required when moving from saltwater to freshwater (Hogasen, 1998; Thorstad et al., 1998; Solomon and Sambrook, 2004). An important proximate factor influencing river entry from coastal waters appears to be Increases in river discharge and is usually associated with other factors such as river temperature, tides, light and water chemistry(Banks, 1969). However, subsequent up river movement by Atlantic salmon and sea trout in the River Tyne, UK was not solely governed by river discharge (Bendall et al., 2012). It was noted that increased discharge from fishes' natal tributaries provoked upstream movement whereas increased discharge from other tributaries did not (Bendall et al., 2012). Annual timing of river entry plays a role in the migration and spawning position of Atlantic salmon within a catchment (Laughton and Smith, 1992). Atlantic salmon tagged in Scottish East-coast rivers showed distinct differences between early and late migrants, as earlier migrants moved further in to the river system than later migrating individuals (Laughton, 1989; Laughton and Smith, 1992; Webb, 1992). Several factors have been associated with run timing in Atlantic salmon including; temperature regime, hydrological conditions, length and difficulty of migration as well as sea age at maturation (Laughton and Smith, 1992; Fleming, 1996; Klemetsen et al., 2003).

Atlantic salmon and sea trout migration after river entry appears to be formed of separate behavioural stages; the migration stage, the searching stage and the holding

stage (Hawkins and Smith, 1986; Bagliniere et al., 1990; Økland et al., 2001). The initial migration stage is when the majority of the salmon and sea trout migration is undertaken and can last between a week to over a month, with the length of the stage depending on migration distance (Økland et al., 2001; Finstad et al., 2005a). During this stage fish sustain their upstream movement rate, with differing flows and time of day not having an effect. Stepwise upstream movements then begin after the fish first stops, after which movement appear to be restricted to crepuscular and nocturnal periods (Laughton, 1989; Webb, 1989; 1990; Bagliniere et al., 1991). Salmon often stop in river for resting periods, the number of these stops tend to increase with migration distance (Økland et al., 2001). The length of these resting periods can last months for early migrants, with fish leaving holding pools and moving upsteam to spawning areas in the autumn (Webb and Hawkins, 1989; Solomon et al., 1999). Despite being a period of mainly nocturnal movement it can be noted that salmon actively pass obstructions such as fish passes and waterfalls during daylight in the migration stage (Neave, 1943; Kennedy et al., 2013). Upstream movements past obstructions can extend to twilight and night periods as well (Dunkley and Shearer, 1982). After completing the migratory stage salmon can enter a residence period that can last several months until spawning (Thorstad *et al.*, 2008).

The second stage is often called the searching stage, where fish make erratic movements often moving above and below their eventual spawning location, or the spawning tributary (Økland *et al.*, 2001; Finstad *et al.*, 2005a). The search phase may be an important stage where salmon select spawning area, look for mates or look for potential holding areas prior to spawning (Thorstad *et al.*, 2011b). The third stage is the holding phase (also known as 'staging') where sea trout and salmon appear to undergo very little movement prior to spawning (Økland *et al.*, 2001; Finstad *et al.*, 2005a). Studies tracking Atlantic salmon during the later stages of the spawning migration observed that the fish moved rapidly for a two day period post release, and that they reduced their movement rate nearer to the spawning period with fish eventually ceasing to move between spawning areas once spawning had commenced (Bagliniere *et*

al., 1990; Bagliniere *et al.*, 1991). Once in the spawning area male salmon adopt spawning territories and have also been observed moving between multiple females and it has been observed that certain males showed a greater frequency of sexual activity than other males by moving between more females (Webb and Hawkins, 1989; Foote, 1990). After spawning the fish do not tend to leave the spawning area and many are found dead (Williams *et al.*, 2010). Some adults do survive as kelts after spawning and make their way back to sea to recover (Bendall *et al.*, 2005, section 1.8)

Sea trout undergo a similar spawning migration to that seen in Atlantic salmon, although sea trout make much wider use of smaller tributaries for spawning. However, some populations are known to favour the mainstem rather than tributaries for spawning (Östergren *et al.*, 2011). Due to the relatively small size of the rivers and streams that some populations of sea trout spawn in, flow levels have a large effect on migration (Campbell, 1977; Svendsen *et al.*, 2004). Aarrestrup and Jepsen (1998) found that male sea trout spent a greater period in the spawning area than females, possibly due to spawning success being reliant on available ripe females. Due to the partially iteroparous nature of sea trout, post spawning, many individuals can then descend the river and spend a period of 3-5 months at sea before repeating the migration to spawn again the following year (Bendall *et al.*, 2005).

Management of fish populations in a large Scottish river are dependent on indepth knowledge of their migratory patterns, especially sub-population specific run timing and specific responses to environmental variables. This is especially important when salmonid populations within the river are an important commercial and recreational commodity, with high socio-economic value to the area. Of specific interests is how sea trout and Atlantic salmon differentially utilise the Tweed catchment for spawning as well as any variations in migration rate between species. Such information can be used to greatly enhance the protection and management of these species during an invaluable period of their life history.

4.1.1 Study area

The River Tweed supports some of the highest Atlantic salmon and sea trout populations in the UK and is used extensively for sport fishing as well as commercial net fisheries (Elliott *et al.*, 1997). Other aspects of the Tweed's biology are covered in Chapter 2. The Tweed's sea trout and Atlantic salmon populations appear to contain several discrete sub-populations. For example, rod catch records show that within the Tweed, Spring salmon sustain an early fishery downstream of the confluence with the Ettrick Water but are seldom caught upstream, in the Upper Tweed (Campbell, 2005). The sea trout stocks of the Tweed are generally considered a polymorphic component of the general trout population (Campbell, 2005). However, recent stable isotope analysis suggests that differing ecotypes predominate within separate sub-populations of the Tweed (Briers *et al.*, 2013). Also, the genetic profile of some sea trout sub-populations, such as the College Burn, are distinguishable from other Tweed sea trout subpopulations (Bekkevold *personal communication*).

Scottish East Coast salmon are genetically distinguishable from other regions in the UK (Coulson *et al.*, 2013). Genetic variation between the salmon of different zones of the Tweed catchment is apparent (Coulson *et al.*, 2013). However, no significant difference between individual tributaries has been found so far. The Tweed catchment sea trout population is genetically distinguishable from other populations within east coast Scotland as well as the major east coast rivers in Northern England such as the Tyne, Wear and Yorkshire Esk (Bekkevold *personal communication*). However, Tweed sea trout are genetically similar to the sea trout populations of minor Northumberland rivers such as the Aln and the Coquet on the genetic markers used so far(Coulson *et al.*, 2013).

Catch data are available for the two remaining fish netting stations on the Tweed: Gardo netting station in the Tweed estuary and Paxton netting station close to the upper tidal influence limit of the Tweed (netting season May-September). This data shows that sea trout and salmon catches peak at different times in the year, with the sea trout run peaking in June and salmon catches peaking toward the autumn (Figure

4.2, Figure 4.3; data from Marine Scotland, analysed and presented by N. Gauld). Tagging totals show that more salmon are floy tagged than sea trout annually (Figure 4.4; data from the Tweed Foundation, analysed and presented by N. Gauld). From the percentage of floy tagged fish recaptured by Tweed anglers it is shown that relatively more salmon than sea trout are caught by anglers in the lower river (Figure 4.5), suggesting that sea trout are fished for by anglers less in the lower river than salmon, or spend considerably less time in the lower river than salmon reducing likelihood of being caught by anglers, or are simply less susceptible to angling capture. It is also possible that the lower rate of recapture of tagged sea trout is due to significant numbers returning to the sea after tagging and so being unavailable to anglers on the River Tweed.



Figure 4.1: Map of the Tweed catchment and sub-catchments. Red circles represent ALS positions, the black squares represent the capture/release sites, grey lines represent sub-catchment boundaries, dashed black line represents the Tweed & Eye Fishery District boundary.



Figure 4.2: Mean monthly catch per unit effort (CPUE) for sea trout, Multi-Sea-Winter (MSW) salmon and grilse from Gardo netting station in the estuary of the Tweed in the period between 1981-2009. Months presented reflect the duration of the net season. Error bars represent the standard error. * CPUE calculated as monthly catch per netsman.



Figure 4.3: Mean monthly catch per unit effort (CPUE) for sea trout, Multi-Sea-Winter (MSW) salmon and grilse from Paxton netting station in the lower Tweed in the period between 1988-2009. Months presented reflect the duration of the net season. Error bars represent the standard error. * CPUE calculated as monthly catch per netsman.



Figure 4.4: Mean numbers of sea trout (2000-2009) and salmon (1997-2009) conventionally (external T-bar tags) tagged per month at Gardo and Paxton netting stations.



Figure 4.5: Conventionally tagged sea trout (2000-2009) and Atlantic salmon (1997-2009) recapture proportions (proportion of tagged fish recaptured) in various reaches of the Tweed.

4.2 Methods

In order to fulfil the project goals of monitoring the migration pattern of adult sea trout and Atlantic salmon within the River Tweed acoustic tracking was carried out using fish tagged in the lower reaches of the river. Full justification of telemetry methods employed can be found in Section 2.4.

4.2.1 Acoustic ALS locations

Automatic listening stations were positioned along the River Tweed and its estuary. Two automatic listening stations were placed in the estuary to cover both the inner estuary and outer estuary so that tagged fish dropping out back to sea could be recorded. Main stem ALS positions were placed approximately every 11 km along the River Tweed upstream from the estuary until the final main stem ALS in the upper Tweed at Fairnilee (Figure 4.1). Further to the main stem ALSs, tributary ALSs were placed in the major tributaries of the Tweed; Whiteadder Water, River Till, River Teviot, Leader Water, Gala Water and Ettrick Water (Figure 4.1). Tributary ALSs were placed in the most suitable section of river for acoustic loggers (deep and quiet river) and before any branching sub tributaries. Most ALS units were deployed in free flowing sections of river, although four ALSs were deployed in the impounded water behind weirs (Ettrick ALS, Gala ALS, Mainstem ALS 7, Mainstem ALS 6; Figure 4.1). The area of tidal influence within the Tweed is relatively short at 12.5 km from the estuary mouth, as such all ALSs apart from the estuary ALSs were in freshwater and not tidally influenced.

ALSs were deployed from the bankside on multi-braided rope tied to strong bankside trees or stakes with an attached anchor weight. Bankside deployment was favoured as to not disrupt local angling activities. Small floats were attached to the top of the ALS units to ensure that the ALSs remained upright during deployment. ALS units were attached to the rope in such a manner that they were positioned as close to the middle of the water column during average flows with allowances made to ensure functionality during lower than average flows. Estuary ALSs were deployed during low tide to ensure that ALS hydrophones were fully submerged at all points of the tidal cycle. All ALSs were range tested in the same manner as in section 3.2.2.

4.2.2 Adult fish capture

Fish were captured at various dates between July and October at Gardo in the estuary in 2010 (Table 4.1) and Paxton House (Table 4.2) in the tidal zone in 2010 and 2011. Netting was usually carried out at approximately the time of the head of the flood tide on each date. Fish were netted using the "net and coble" technique where one end of the net remains held on the bank while the other is rowed out and round to make a semi-circle before being brought in to the bank and both ends being pulled together. As soon as the net was brought in, any captured untagged fish were transferred to aerated holding tubs. Due to the nature of the capture method a small number fish become trapped in the nets resulting in excessive net marking and scale loss. Only fish that showed minimal net marking were tagged. Only a small proportion of fish captured were telemetry tagged; many others were conventionally tagged, in studies not by the author. Netting dates were determined by the availability of the commercial netting

teams as the netting time needed to be bought and usable dates were limited. Netting dates were, therefore, spread to maximise the range of months in which fish were tagged but did not result in fish being tagged across all months due to limited netting seasons as well as a moratorium on netting during spring. However, fish were netted in October after the commercial netting season ended under scientific license.

4.2.3 Atlantic salmon intragastric tagging procedure

Atlantic salmon were anaesthetised by transferring them to a container containing 2-Phenoxyethanol (0.3 ml L⁻¹) and river water until they became unresponsive to external stimuli, lost equilibrium and their ventilation rate reduced. Once a fish was anaesthetised it was transferred to a measuring board where the fork length (mm) was measured and a scale sample taken. A uniquely numbered floy T-bar anchor tag was inserted in to the musculature below the dorsal fin for external identification of the fish. The fish was then intragastrically tagged, since this method is regarded as suitable for adult salmon, which do not feed, after return to rivers and, for which, regurgitation rates are normally low (Smith et al., 1998). An acrylic tube with smoothly rounded end was carefully inserted down the oesophagus, an acoustic tag (Models LP-7.3, LP-9, LP-13, Thelma Biotel AS, Trondheim, Norway) was then placed in the tube and inserted into the stomach by carefully pushing it down the oesophagus with a plunger. The plunger was slowly removed from the oesophagus and the mouth and oesophagus were inspected to confirm tag retention. After the procedure the fish was placed in a container filled with highly oxygenated water for recovery. Once the fish displayed normal swimming behaviour and reacted to external stimuli it was then released back in to the river. The gastric tagging procedure from administration of anaesthetic to rerelease in the river typically took five minutes to complete. Gastric tagging procedures were carried out by R. Campbell under the husbandry and management exclusion clause of the Animals (Scientific Procedures) Act 1986.

4.2.4 Sea trout intraperitoneal tagging procedure

Surgical tagging was opted for in sea trout due to high tag regurgitation rates in prior studies (Gerlier and Roche, 1998). The same anaesthesia technique used for Atlantic salmon was also applied to sea trout. The fork length measurement (mm) was taken on a measuring board before the fish was placed on a V-shaped surgical table. A tube was then inserted in to their mouth and a dilute concentration of phenoxyethanol (0.15 ml L⁻ ¹) was then run over the gills for the first period of the procedure before the supply was changed to 100% river water near completion of the procedure. An incision was made on the ventral side of the fish anterior to the pelvic girdle before a disinfected (immersed in 90% ethanol, then allowed to dry in a sterile environment) acoustic transmitter (Models LP-7.3, LP-9, LP-13, Thelma Biotel AS, Trondheim, Norway) was inserted in to the body cavity. The incision was then closed with between three to five independent absorbable sutures (3-0 Vicryl rapide, Ethicon Ltd, Livingston, UK) dependent on incision size. After the procedure was completed the fish was placed in a recovery tub filled with highly oxygenated water and the fish was released once it demonstrated swimming behaviour and reacted to external stimuli. All procedures were carried out by M.C Lucas and N.R Gauld under UK Home Office License.

Species	Tagging	Number	Fork Length [mean ± SD	Weight [mean ± SD	Tag to body weight ratio
	date	tagged	(range), mm]	(range), kg]*	[mean (range), %]
Atlantic salmon	02/06/2010	2	690	3.2	1.7×10 ⁻³ (5.9×10 ⁻⁴ – 2.8×10 ⁻³)
Atlantic salmon	03/06/2010	4	708.3 ± 17.6 (690–725)	3.5 ± 0.26 (3.2–3.7)	2.6×10 ⁻³ (2.4×10 ⁻³ – 2.8×10 ⁻³)
Atlantic salmon	08/06/2010	3	793.3 ± 112.5 (680–905)	5.3 ± 2.4 (3.1– 7.8)	1.9×10 ⁻³ (1.1×10 ⁻³ – 2.9×10 ⁻³)
Atlantic salmon	09/06/2010	2	722.5 ± 31.8 (700–745)	3.7 ± 0.52 (3.3–4.1)	2.5×10 ⁻³ (2.2×10 ⁻³ − 2.7×10 ⁻³)
Atlantic salmon	10/06/2010	1	800	5.2	1.7×10 ⁻³
Atlantic salmon	11/06/2010	2	682.5 ± 53 (645–720)	3.1 ± 0.7 (2.6–3.6)	2.9×10 ⁻³ (2.5×10 ⁻³ − 3.4×10 ⁻³)
Atlantic salmon	17/06/2010	1	600	2.2	4×10 ⁻³
Atlantic salmon	25/06/2010	1	685	3.1	2.9×10 ⁻³
Atlantic salmon	29/06/2010	3	655 ± 164.6 (465–755)	3.4 ± 1.2 (1.9 – 4.2)	3×10 ⁻³ (2.1×10 ⁻³ – 4.7×10 ⁻³)
Atlantic salmon	Total 2010	19	708 ± 89.8 (465–905)	3.7 ± 1.3 (1.9–7.8	$2.5 \times 10^{-3} (5.9 \times 10^{-4} - 4.6 \times 10^{-3})$

Table 4.1: Summary of number of Atlantic salmon caught and tagged on each day of netting at Gardo during 2010.

*Weight (lb) estimated from length (cm) using the local Tweed salmonid length to weight calculation ($y = 0.008x^2 - 0.7991x + 24.09, R^2 = 0.98716$) and then converted into kilograms.

Species	Tagging date	Number tagged	Fork Length [mean ± SD (range), mm]	Weight [mean ± SD (range), kg]*	Tag to body weight ratio [mean (range), %]
Atlantic salmon	12/06/2010	1	695.0	3.2	2.7×10 ⁻⁴
Atlantic salmon	10/07/2010	3	546.7 ± 47.3 (510–600)	2 ± 0.2 (1.8–2.2)	4.5×10 ⁻⁴ (4×10 ⁻⁴ -4.7×10 ⁻⁴)
Atlantic salmon	24/07/2010	2	602.5 ± 17.7 (590–615)	2.2 ± 0.13 (2.2–2.4)	3.9×10 ⁻⁴ (3.8×10 ⁻⁴ –4.1×10 ⁻⁴)
Atlantic salmon	14/08/2010	4	553.8 ± 44.2 (500–590)	2 ± 0.16 (1.9–2.2)	4.4×10 ⁻⁴ (4.1×10 ⁻⁴ –4.8×10 ⁻⁴)
Atlantic salmon	28/08/2010	10	599.0 ± 101.3 (500–850)	2.6 ± 1.35 (1.9–6.3)	3.9×10 ⁻⁴ (1.4×10 ⁻⁴ –4.8×10 ⁻⁴)
Atlantic salmon	06/09/2010	3	660.0 ± 224.7 (475–910)	4 ± 3.43 (1.9–7.9)	3.3×10 ⁻⁴ (1.1×10 ⁻⁴ -4.7×10 ⁻⁴)
Atlantic salmon	27/09/2010	10	732.0 ± 102.7 (595–940)	4.2 ± 2 (2–8.9)	2.5×10 ⁻⁴ (1×10 ⁻⁴ -4.1×10 ⁻⁴)
Atlantic salmon	28/09/2010	7	705.0 ± 63.7 (605–785)	3.5 ± 0.92 (2.3–4.8)	2.7×10 ⁻⁴ (1.9×10 ⁻⁴ –4×10 ⁻⁴)
Atlantic salmon	29/09/2010	6	863.3 ± 133.4 (625–990)	7.2 ± 3 (2.4–10.6)	1.6×10 ⁻⁴ (8×10 ⁻⁵ –3.8×10 ⁻⁴)
Atlantic salmon	07/10/2010	5	567.0 ± 44.5 (500–610)	2.1 ± 0.18 (1.9–2.3)	4.3×10 ⁻⁴ (3.9×10 ⁻⁴ –4.8×10 ⁻⁴)
Atlantic salmon	Total 2010	51	666.6 ± 134.5 (475–990)	3.5 ± 2.24 (1.9–10.6)	3.3×10 ⁻⁴ (8×10 ⁻⁵ –4.8×10 ⁻⁴)
Sea trout	26/06/2010	3	525.0 ± 13.2 (510–535)	1.9 ± 0.02 (1.8–1.9)	4.7×10 ⁻⁴ (4.7×10 ⁻⁴ –4.8×10 ⁻⁴)
Sea trout	10/07/2010	4	536.3 ± 22.5 (510–555)	1.9 ± 0.05 (1.8–1.9)	4.6×10 ⁻⁴ (4.5×10 ⁻⁴ –4.8×10 ⁻⁴)
Sea trout	24/07/2010	6	541.7 ± 24 (510–570)	1.9 ± 0.07 (1.8–2)	4.6×10 ⁻⁴ (4.4×10 ⁻⁴ -4.8×10 ⁻⁴)
Sea trout	14/08/2010	3	495.0 ± 72.6 (420–565)	2 ± 0.11 (1.8–2.1)	4.5×10 ⁻⁴ (4.3×10 ⁻⁴ –4.8×10 ⁻⁴)
Sea trout	28/08/2010	1	470	1.9	4.7×10 ⁻⁴
Sea trout	27/09/2010	10	577.0 ± 40 (520–660)	2.1 ± 0.27 (1.8–2.8)	4.2×10 ⁻⁴ (3.2×10 ⁻⁴ -4.7×10 ⁻⁴)
Sea trout	28/09/2010	3	546.7 ± 46.2 (520–600)	2 ± 0.2 (1.8–2.2)	4.5×10 ⁻⁴ (4×10 ⁻⁴ –4.8×10 ⁻⁴)
Sea trout	29/09/2010	3	576.7 ± 25.2 (550–600)	2.1 ± 0.13 (1.9–2.2)	4.3×10 ⁻⁴ (4×10 ⁻⁴ –4.6×10 ⁻⁴)
Sea trout	Total 2010	33	547.4 ± 44.4 (420–600)	2 ± 0.18 (1.8–2.8)	04.5×10 ⁻⁴ (3.2×10 ⁻⁴ –4.8×10 ⁻⁴)
Atlantic salmon	15/09/2011	1	540	1.9	4.7×10 ⁻⁴
Atlantic salmon	16/09/2011	9	663.9 ± 93.7 (490–765)	3.1 ± 0.98 (1.8–4.4)	3.1×10 ⁻⁴ (2×10 ⁻⁴ –4.8×10 ⁻⁴)
Atlantic salmon	26/09/2011	4	527.5 ± 56.2 (455–585)	1.9 ± 0.1 (1.9–2.1)	4.5×10 ⁻⁴ (4.2×10 ⁻⁴ –4.7×10 ⁻⁴)
Atlantic salmon	27/09/2011	10	712.0 ± 110.9 (520–880)	3.9 ± 1.5 (1.9–7.1)	2.8×10 ⁻⁴ (1.3×10 ⁻⁴ –4.8×10 ⁻⁴)
Atlantic salmon	28/09/2011	3	736.7 ± 161.7 (550–830)	4.5 ± 2.24 (1.9–5.8)	2.6×10 ⁻⁴ (1.5×10 ⁻⁴ –4.6×10 ⁻⁴)
Atlantic salmon	29/09/2011	1	500	1.9	4.8×10 ⁻⁴
Atlantic salmon	Total 2011	28	659.1 ± 121.4 (455–880)	3.3 ± 1.48 (1.9–7.1	3.2×10 ⁻⁴ (1.3×10 ⁻⁴ –4.8×10 ⁻⁴)
Sea trout	27/08/2011	1	550	1.9	4.6×10 ⁻⁴
Sea trout	15/09/2011	6	535.0 ± 33.3 (500–580)	1.9 ± 0.09 (1.9–2.1)	4.6×10 ⁻⁴ (4.3×10 ⁻⁴ –4.8×10 ⁻⁴)
Sea trout	16/09/2011	8	621.3 ± 61.7 (560–760)	2.5 ± 0.75 (2–4.3)	3.7×10 ⁻⁴ (2×10 ⁻⁴ –4.5×10 ⁻⁴)
Sea trout	27/09/2011	8	593.8 ± 60.1 (535–700)	2.3 ± 0.54 (1.9–3.3)	4×10 ⁻⁴ (2.7×10 ⁻⁴ –4.7×10 ⁻⁴)
Sea trout	28/09/2011	3	513.3 ± 41.6 (480–560)	1.9 ± 0.07 (1.9–2)	4.7×10 ⁻⁴ (4.5×10 ⁻⁴ –4.8×10 ⁻⁴)
Sea trout	29/09/2011	6	569.2 ± 97.2 (495–730)	2.3 ± 0.78 (1.9–3.8)	4.1×10 ⁻⁴ (2.4×10 ⁻⁴ –4.8×10 ⁻⁴)
Sea trout	Total 2011	32	576.1 ± 69.6 (480–760)	2.3 ± 0.59 (1.9–4.3)	4.2×10 ⁻⁴ (2×10 ⁻⁴ -4.8×10 ⁻⁴)

Table 4.2: Summary of number of fish caught and tagged on each day of netting at Paxton during 2010 and 2011.

*Weight (lb) estimated from length (cm) using the local Tweed salmonid length to weight calculation ($y = 0.008x^2 - 0.7991x + 24.09$, $R^2 = 0.98716$) and then converted into kilograms.

Tag Model	Coding map	Frequency (kHz)	Mass in air (g)	Mass in water (g)	Length (mm)	Diameter (mm)	Guaranteed tag life (days)	Estimated tag life (days)
LP-7.3	1206	69	1.9	1.2	18	7.3	100	165
LP-9	1206	69	4	2.5	23	9	317	528
LP-13	1206	69	9	5.6	26	13	486	807

Table 4.3: Specifications of the acoustic transmitters used.

4.2.5 Manual tracking

The section of river between the first river acoustic listening station (Tweed ALS 1; Figure 4.1) and the estuary listening station array was tracked by boat (with an outboard motor) using a mobile acoustic receiver and directional hydrophone VR100 Acoustic tracking receiver and VH110 directional hydrophone; Vemco, Bedford, Nova Scotia, Canada) on several occasions per year during the study periods (June to November). The boat was launched just below the ALS and driven at low throttle down the river at a speed less than 100 m per minute to ensure low acoustic noise and that no acoustic tags were missed by moving through their reception zone too fast. The directional hydrophone was slowly articulated from the front of the boat allowing the operator to sweep across the river, checking for tags. As soon as the first pings from an acoustic tag coding sequence were detected the boat's engine was stopped and the hydrophone was manoeuvred until the tag sequence was detected again. Once the full tag sequence was detected and logged on the tracking unit the boat engine was restarted and movement down river was recommenced. Additional manual tracking by foot was carried out using the protocol described in Section 3.2.2.

4.2.6 ALS data retrieval

Data retrieval and maintenance was carried out on a weekly basis for loggers in the mainstem of the River Tweed. Data retrieval from tributary loggers was carried out on a fortnightly basis due to their positions within the tributary where they were expected to fill with data less quickly. Maintenance and data retrieval on the four estuary loggers was carried on a monthly basis due to the requirement of a boat and assistance from a River Tweed Commission water bailiff.

4.2.7 External data retrieval

Data for the volumetric flow of the River Tweed at; Boleside, Sprouston, and Norham as well as the Scottish tributaries; Ettrick Water (at Lindean), Gala Water (at Galashiels), Leader Water (at Earlston), Teviot Water (at Ormiston Mill) and Whiteadder Water (at Hutton Castle) was received from SEPA and flow data for the River Till (at Wooler) was provided by the EA. Catch records for the Gardo netting station between 1981-2009 and the Paxton netting station between 1988-2009 were provided by Marine Scotland. The Tweed Foundation provided external tagging and mark-recapture data for sea trout and salmon in the Tweed catchment.

4.2.8 Statistical analysis

The net movement rates for migrating adult sea trout and salmon were calculated using logged AMR data, whereby time delay and distance between stations were used to calculate groundspeed. Groundspeed was calculated as body lengths per second rather than kilometres per hour to compensate for variation in fish body length within the sample groups. Flow data during migration was calculated for each fish by calculating the mean flow during the period between each pair of AMR positions using 15 minutely flow records collated by SEPA. General Linear Mixed effects Models (GLMM) were used to analyse the variation in groundspeeds. Models included various biological variables pertinent to each individual research question. Fish ID was used as a random factor to account for any effects of pseudo-replication caused using multiple records of the same fish. A base model that included all variables was initially created. Multiple variants of the base model were run with individual or multiple variables exluded. The GLMMs were calculated in the statistical package R (R Core Team, 2012) using the lme4 R package (Bates et al., 2013). Model assumptions were met as there were linear relationships between predictors and responses, residuals were normal and displayed homoscedasticity.

Model selection was based on the Akaike Information Criterion (AIC), which is an estimator of the trade-off between the goodness of fit of a model and the complexity of a model (Akaike, 1998). The model with the lowest AIC score was initially selected as the candidate model. However, model selection was expanded using the criteria described by Richards (2008), whereby all simpler variants of the candidate model with an AIC Δ -value lower than 6 were also considered. Ultimately the model retained as the final model was the model with the fewest variables. The final models were then analysed using the pvals.fnc command in the languageR package (Baayen, 2011) to calculate *p*-values based on Markov chain Monte Carlo samples.

4.3 Results

In total, 79 Atlantic salmon (51 in 2010, 28 in 2011) and 65 sea trout (33 in 2010, 32 in 2011) were tagged at Paxton and a further 19 Atlantic salmon were tagged at Gardo during 2010. During both study seasons there were high rates of fish detection after release with 88% and 79% of tagged Atlantic salmon and sea trout respectively being detected up to 14 weeks after tagging ceased in 2010. Rates of detection were also high in 2011 with 82% of Atlantic salmon and 100% of sea trout being detected after tagging and release with detections continuing for up to 16 weeks after tagging ceased. As well as pre-spawning sea trout migration, post spawning sea trout kelt migration was also recorded in 2010- 2011. One (3%) and seven (21.8%) of the tagged adults were recorded moving downstream post-spawning in 2010 and 2011 respectively. This movement occurred as early as November 18th 2011 and as late as January 29th 2012. Based on sexing during tagging there was a 43:57 male to female sex ratio among sea trout kelts.

4.3.1 Sea trout and Atlantic salmon migration destinations 2010-2011

The estimated end point for each migrant was determined through a combination of fixed ALS records as well as manual tracking. Any fish that entered the Tweed, but then quickly descended the river and left estuary was defined as a 'dropout'. Any fish ascending a tributary in late summer-early autumn before rapidly descending it (within a week) and moving elsewhere in the catchment was discounted as a stray fish. Locations

of acoustically tagged Atlantic salmon were shown to predominate in the lower river in both years with a smaller number moving into the middle and upper Tweed as well as tributaries (Figure 4.6). Tagged sea trout displayed a different pattern to salmon with sea trout moving into and occurring in more tributaries as well moving further up the Tweed system (Figure 4.7). Of the Atlantic salmon tagged at Gardo in 2010, 83% were recorded as leaving the estuary and entering the sea (dropout) immediately after tagging while the remaining fish either halted movements at Ladykirk (6%) or Cornhill (11%) (Figure 4.8).

Figure 4.1 location	Location name
Whiteadder	Whiteadder
1	Ladykirk
Till	Till
2	Cornhill
3	Sprouston
4	Sprouston
Teviot	Teviot
5	Trows
6	Mertoun
Leader	Leader
7	Melrose
Gala	Gala
Ettrick	Ettrick
Upper Tweed	Upper Tweed

Table 4.4: Table of disambiguating terms used in Figure 4.1 with location names.



Figure 4.6: Proportion of tagged Atlantic salmon released at Paxton ceasing upstream migration at each site in the Tweed (for river section map locations see Table 4.4).


Figure 4.7: Proportion of tagged sea trout released at Paxton ceasing migration at each site in the Tweed (for river section map locations see Table 4.4).



Figure 4.8: Proportion of tagged Atlantic salmon released at Gardo in 2010 ceasing upstream migration at each site in the Tweed (for river section map locations see Table 4.4)

4.3.2 Adult sea trout and salmon migration speed through the lower half of the Tweed.

To assess sea trout and Atlantic salmon migration rates in the lower half of the Tweed (usingALS records from Ladykirk to Sprouston) various GLMMs were constructed using the following variables: volumetric flow, species, year, river section, release date, the interaction between flow and river section, the interaction between flow and species and the interaction between release date and species. Using the model selection criteria two models were retained (Table 4), model 21 having the lowest AIC score and model 5 being a simpler variant of model 21 whilst still being within 6 delta values of model 21. The selected model (model 5) suggests that there was a relationship between release date and the groundspeed of salmon and sea trout. The groundspeeds of salmon and sea trout migrating earlier in the season tended to be lower than the groundspeeds observed in later migrants (General Linear Mixed effects Model: n=223, df=5, p<0.0001; Figure 4.9). The inclusion of species as a variable in half the retained models (Table 4.5) suggests that species may also influence groundspeed.

Table 4.5: Candidate General Linear Mixed Models for the migration speeds of sea trout and Atlantic salmon migrating through the lower half of the River Tweed. Table displays all variables used in each model as well as summary data for each model, factoral variables that have an effect on the model are represented by a "+" symbol.

Model	Intercept	Year	Flow	Release date	River Section	Species	Flow : River section	Flow : Species	df	AIC	Delta (Δ)
21	-7.928			0.02719		+			5	723.3	0
5*	-7.219			0.02566					4	728	4.73
* Selected model.											



Figure 4.9: The relationship between release date and the movement rates of adult Atlantic salmon and sea trout.

4.3.3 Variation in adult sea trout and salmon migration throughout the River Tweed catchment.

The movement rates of salmon and sea trout throughout the Tweed catchment were analysed using models that included a combination of the following variables: log volumetric flow, species, river section, year, release date, interaction terms for flow and species, interaction terms for flow and year, as well as fish ID as a random effect. Four models fitted the initial model selection criteria (Table 4.6); model 8 had the lowest AIC score but model 3 was the simplest variant. The candidate model showed that river section was the most important variable in relation to fish speed. The relationship between river section and fish movement rate illustrates that adults migrated at a high rate during migration in the main Tweed and migration rate slowed when moving into tributaries (General Linear Mixed effects Model: n=345, df= 6, p<0.005; Figure 4.10, Table 4.7, Table 4.8). Although not included in the selected model; fish species and release date were important variables as they were included in 50% of the initially selected models (Table 4.6).

Due to the low variability in speed between river sections in the main stem and an apparent slowing of fish when entering individual tributaries a separate analysis was conducted on a broader spatial scale, with river reach rather than the individual river sections used in the models. The main stem was separated into three groups based on location within the study area: lower (Release - Tweed 1 and Tweed 1 - Tweed 2), middle (Tweed 2 - Tweed 3, Tweed 3 – Tweed 4 and Tweed 4 – Tweed 5) and upper (Tweed 5 - Tweed 6 and Tweed 6 - Tweed 7) (Figure 4.1). All the tributaries studied were combined in an effort to maximise sample size. The relationship between river reach and fish movement rate illustrates that adults migrated at a lower rate the further into the main river and tributaries they migrated (General Linear Mixed effects Model: n=345, df=16, p<0.0001; Figure 4.11, Table 4.7, Table 4.9). Based on all four models meeting initial selection criteria (Table 4.8) river reach was the most important variable, as it was included in 100% of the models. Other variables such as release date and

species were also important as they both appeared in 50% of the initially selected models.

Table 4.6: Candidate General Linear Mixed Models for the migration speeds of sea trout and Atlantic salmon migrating through various river sections of the Tweed and its tributaries. The Table displays all variables used in each model as well as summary data for each model, factoral variables that have an effect on the model are represented by a "+" symbol.

Model	Intercept	Release	River	Species	Year	log flow	Species :	Year :	df	AIC	Delta
		date	section				Flow	Flow			(Δ)
8	-5.858	0.01865	+	+					18	1290.5	0
4	-5.147	0.01713	+						17	1294.1	3.63
7	-0.8786		+	+					17	1294.1	3.63
3*	-0.6341		+						16	1294.8	4.37

*Model selected.



Figure 4.10: The 2010 – 2011 movement rates of adult sea trout and Atlantic salmon combined in relation to river section in the study area, as denoted by acoustic receiver pairs. Error bars display the standard error of the mean.

Table 4.7: The movement rates of sea trout and salmon moving through each individual river section in the Tweed catchment in 2010-2011. Table denotes movement rates converted between relative speeds (bl s⁻¹) and absolute speeds (m s⁻¹) as well as mean fish size and sample sizes of fish moving in each river section.

River section	Net speed (log bl s^{-1}) + SE	Net speed (bl s^{-1}) + SE	Net speed (m s ⁻¹) + SE	Mean length (mm) ± SE	Sample size
Deleges Whiteedden	0 7 = 0 =			() = 02	4
Release - Whiteadder	-2.55 ± 0.37	0.09 ± 0.03	0.012 ± 0.003	580 ± 53.1	4
Release - Tweed 1	$\textbf{-0.34} \pm \textbf{0.13}$	$\textbf{1.23}\pm\textbf{0.09}$	$\textbf{0.145} \pm \textbf{0.01}$	618.6 ± 11.6	104
Tweed 1 - Till	$\textbf{-1.78} \pm \textbf{0.62}$	$\textbf{0.33} \pm \textbf{0.18}$	$\textbf{0.039} \pm \textbf{0.018}$	575 ± 41.2	5
Tweed 1 - Tweed 2	$\textbf{-0.57} \pm \textbf{0.15}$	$\textbf{0.93} \pm \textbf{0.1}$	$\textbf{0.117} \pm \textbf{0.012}$	610.4 ± 13.1	66
Tweed 2 - Tweed 3	$\textbf{-0.57} \pm \textbf{0.17}$	$\textbf{0.93} \pm \textbf{0.1}$	$\textbf{0.121} \pm \textbf{0.014}$	593.3 ± 11	53
Tweed 3 - Tweed 4	$\textbf{-1.02}\pm0.2$	$\textbf{0.74} \pm \textbf{0.1}$	0.097 ± 0.013	595.7 ± 11.6	51
Tweed 4 - Teviot	$\textbf{-1.37}\pm0.3$	$\textbf{0.49} \pm \textbf{0.11}$	$\textbf{0.068} \pm \textbf{0.014}$	$\textbf{574} \pm \textbf{13.7}$	21
Tweed 4 - Tweed 5	$\textbf{-0.67} \pm 0.25$	$\textbf{0.9}\pm\textbf{0.24}$	$\textbf{0.113} \pm \textbf{0.027}$	607.3 ± 20.5	21
Tweed 5 - Tweed 6	$\textbf{-1.18} \pm \textbf{0.2}$	$\textbf{0.48} \pm \textbf{0.08}$	0.062 ± 0.011	606.3 ± 18.3	28
Tweed 6 - Leader	$\textbf{-1.72} \pm \textbf{1.02}$	$\textbf{0.46} \pm \textbf{0.38}$	0.061 ± 0.051	583.3 ± 20.3	3
Tweed 6 - Tweed 7	$\textbf{-1.05}\pm0.22$	$\textbf{0.52} \pm \textbf{0.08}$	$\textbf{0.065} \pm \textbf{0.011}$	609.3 ± 19.5	22
Tweed 7 - Gala	-1.95	0.14	0.022	500	1
Tweed 7 - Ettrick	$\textbf{-1.65} \pm \textbf{0.35}$	$\textbf{0.23} \pm \textbf{0.08}$	$\textbf{0.031} \pm \textbf{0.01}$	580 ± 4.1	4
Tweed 7 - Upper Tweed	$\textbf{-0.8} \pm \textbf{0.35}$	$\textbf{0.69} \pm \textbf{0.21}$	0.083 ± 0.025	636.1 ± 39	9

Table 4.8: Candidate General Linear Mixed Models for the migration speeds of sea trout and Atlantic salmon migrating through the reaches and tributaries of the Tweed. Table displays all variables used in each model as well as summary data for each model, factoral variables that have an effect on the model are represented by a "+" symbol.

Model	Intercept	River	Release	Species	Year	Flow	Species :	Year :	df	AIC	delta
		reach	date				Flow	Flow			(Δ)
8	-5.555	+	0.01852	+					8	1283.5	0
4	-5.008	+	0.01737						7	1286.4	2.92
6	-0.6483	+		+					7	1288	4.53
2*	-0.4518	+							6	1288.3	4.88

*Candidate model



Figure 4.11: The 2010-2011 movement rates of adult sea trout and Atlantic salmon combined, in relation to position within the River Tweed catchment. Error bars display the standard error of the mean.

Table 4.9: The movement rates of sea trout and salmon moving through each reach of the Tweed catchment in 2010-2011. Table denotes movement rates converted between relative speeds (bl s⁻¹) and absolute speeds (m s⁻¹) as well as mean fish size and sample sizes of fish moving in each river section.

River reach	Net speed (log bl s^{-1}) ± SE	Net speed (bl s ⁻¹) \pm SE	Net speed (m s ⁻¹) \pm SE	Mean length (mm) \pm SE	Sample size
Lower	$\textbf{-0.42}\pm0.09$	1.11 ± 0.07	0.134 ± 0.007	615.41 ± 8.69	170
Middle	$\textbf{-0.77} \pm \textbf{0.11}$	$\textbf{0.84} \pm \textbf{0.07}$	$\textbf{0.109} \pm \textbf{0.009}$	596.64 ± 7.44	125
Upper	$\textbf{-1.07} \pm 0.13$	$\textbf{0.45} \pm \textbf{0.05}$	0.066 ± 0.007	611.94 ± 12.63	59
Tributaries	$\textbf{-1.62}\pm0.2$	$\textbf{0.39} \pm \textbf{0.07}$	0.052 ± 0.009	574 ± 10.52	38

4.3.4 The role of river flow on adult migration within tributaries

General Linear Models (GLM) were used to study the impact of biological and environmental variables on the ground speed of sea trout and salmon migrating from the mainstem into the tributaries of the Tweed. Model variables included: date of release, species, year and volumetric flow. General linear models were used instead of GLMMs since the sample data only included single records for each unique fish and therefore pseudo-replication was not an issue. Out of the two selected models model 2 was selected as the candidate model based on AIC score and model complexity (Table 4.10). Candidate model results suggest that the groundspeed of adult salmonid migrants (adult sea trout and salmon combined) moving from the main Tweed into the spawning tributaries was influenced by the flow rate of the tributaries. Adults migrated at higher speeds when volumetric flow in the tributaries increased (Linear regression: n=39, df=3, F=5.545, p<0.05; Figure 4.12). However, the null model (a model with no explanatory variables) was also included within the initially selected models (Table 4.10) suggesting that variation explained by the model is relatively weak.

Table 4.10: Candidate General Linear Models for the migration speeds of sea trout and Atlantic salmon migrating through the tributaries of the Tweed. Table displays all variables used in each model as well as summary data for each model, factoral variables that have an effect on the model are represented by a "+" symbol.

		Release							
Model	Intercept	date	Species	Year	Flow	df		AICc	Delta (∆)
9*	-2.221				0.2977	7	3	155.8	0
1†	-1.464						2	159	3.18

*Candidate model, + null model



Figure 4.12: The combined movement rate of migrating sea trout and Atlantic salmon in the tributaries of the Tweed.

4.3.5 Interspecific differences in diel migration timing between Atlantic salmon and sea trout.

To explore the relationship between diel timing of migration, time of day models were built relating movements relative to dawn to various biological and environmental factors. Time of movement in relation to dawn was chosen as a way to remove any temporal autocorrelation caused by decreasing day length in the Autumn and Winter. The base model included variables for; river reach, species, year, fish speed, release date and flow. Using the model selection criteria 2 models were initially selected (Table 4.11). However, the inclusion of the null model (model 1) within the initially selected models suggests that evidence provided by the models is weak. Model 3 was selected as the candidate model as it was the simplest model (aside from the null model). Model 3 shows that there is a near-significant difference in migratory timing between sea trout and Atlantic salmon, with sea trout moving during hours of darkness and Atlantic salmon moving diffusely around dawn (General Linear Mixed effects Model: *n*=392, *df*=4, *p*>0.05; Figure 4.13). However, migratory adults predominantly migrated during darkness regardless of species (Pearson's Chi-squared Goodness of Fit: n= 392, χ^2 =9.8, df=1, *p*<0.005; Figure 4.14). Movements in earlier months in the tagging period up until September show a predominance of night-time movement, although from October onwards both sea trout and Atlantic salmon seem to move at all hours of the day (Figure 4.14).

Table 4.11: Table displaying model variables and model attributes for diel timing GLMMs.

Model	Intercept	River reach	Release date	Species	Year	Swimming speed (bl s ⁻¹)	Flow	df	AICc	Delta (∆)
5*	0.0931			+				4	2598.1	0
1†	-0.6232							3	2599.4	1.25

*Selected model, + Null model



Figure 4.13: The mean migration timing of Atlantic salmon and sea trout in relation to dawn. Error bars display standard error of the mean, the dashed line represents dawn.



Figure 4.14: Rose plots of sea trout (green) and Atlantic salmon (black) diel activity on a monthly basis during 2010-2011 combined.

4.4 Discussion

This study shows explicit differences in the use of areas of the River Tweed for spawning by Atlantic salmon and sea trout (particularly later running sea trout), assuming that the track locations at spawning term indicate the spawning locations for tracked fish, an assumption made in most tracking studies (Aarestrup and Jepsen, 1998; Finstad et al., 2005a). The current study found that Atlantic salmon of the runs tagged predominantly used the lower to middle sections of the main Tweed with the sea trout widely using tributaries and upper sections of the river (Figures 4.6 & 4.7). However, the sample of salmon tagged excluded spring running salmon that are expected to spawn further into the river system. Also the earlier running salmon tagged at Gardo appeared to drop out of the river system, otherwise they would be expected to migrate further into the river than their Paxton counterparts that were tagged later in the year (Unpublished data, see Campbell (2005)). The high dropout rate of the Gardo fish is of management interest as it shows that tagging there for exploitation rate work would be very vulnerable to bias due to this. However, it has been shown that fish tend to leave estuaries during periods of low flows and high temperature, like those experienced in the summer of 2010 so this may also need to be considered (Solomon and Sambrook, 2004). An alternative explanation to this may be that the fish netted in Gardo were stray fish of non-Tweed origin. It is suggested that as much as 3-6% of mature salmon return to rivers other than their natal river(Stabell, 1984; Jonsson et al., 2003). Hence, salmonids entering the Tweed estuary of non-Tweed origin may leave the Tweed system to return to their home river.

Migratory fish seemed to be influenced by volumetric flow when migrating through tributaries. It was also observed that migration rate through through the lower half of the river varied in relation to date of release. As such, earlier migrants for both sea trout and salmon tended to migrate through the lower river slower than later released fish. Migration rates throughout the entire river system were at their highest in the main Tweed with speeds in river sections in the main river being consistently higher than in tributaries. When split by river reach instead of river section it was observed that

migration speeds for sea trout and salmon combined were fastest in the in the lower river with a gradual decline when moving through the middle and upper river with fish moving at their slowest when moving between the main river and tributaries. There was a near significant difference between species' diel migration patterns, with sea trout migrating more during darkness and salmon migrating near to dawn, with both species most active in the hours around dawn, suggesting crepuscular migration. However, when species was not taken into consideration the overall data indicated fish tended to migrate during periods of darkness, although there was some suggestion of a shift from nocturnal to all day movement between September and October. While the results presented mirror results from past research this study is one of few that investigates the migratory behaviour of both Atlantic salmon and sea trout tagged within the same time periods in relation to environmental variables as well as their spawning positions within a large catchment (Bagliniere *et al.*, 1990; Bagliniere *et al.*, 1991; Aarestrup and Jepsen, 1998; Svendsen *et al.*, 2004; Finstad *et al.*, 2005a; Östergren *et al.*, 2011).

In the current study the spawning position of Atlantic salmon and sea trout varied considerably, however Finstad *et al* (2005a) found that Atlantic salmon and sea trout spawned within the same general area. It was also noted that fish tended to only migrate between 2-24 km to spawning locations. However, It is noted that the Tweed catchment is considerably larger than the River Lærdalselva, and the Tweed is not subject to severe winter icing which can restrict early and late runs by sea trout and salmon. Since the majority of Atlantic salmon were tagged within the peak salmon run during August-September in both years samples for earlier running fish were low. Evidence suggests that earlier running salmon migrate further into the river system, which may explain why salmon tagged in the current study predominated within the lower-mid Tweed (Laughton, 1989; Laughton and Smith, 1992; Webb, 1992). Sea trout in the Tweed predominantly spawned within Tributaries or the upper main channel (60-77%), studies in Swedish rivers found that spawning position varied between rivers with fish spawning in the main channel in some rivers whilst high numbers of fish spawned within tributaries (70%) in other rivers (Östergren *et al.*, 2011).

In the current study 82-88% of Atlantic and 79-100% of sea trout were successfully tracked after being released. With intragastric tagging in Atlantic salmon there is an inherent risk of tag regurgitation. Prior research on the Tweed has suggested regurgitation rates are on average 14.8% (12.5-16.7%) which may explain a proportion of those salmon tagged for which no detections were made in the current study (Smith et al. 1998). However, in this study, in 2010 one salmon was recaptured by an angler which retained the tag within its stomach, while no salmon were recaptured without a transmitter in their stomach, so suspected regurgitation rates in the current study are based entirely on fish found repeatedly to be stationary during manual tracking. In Section 3.2.2 using the same transmitter series it was found that the transmitters had a low failure rate, operating well beyond their specified guaranteed lifetime and when transmitters were randomly placed on the bed of a tributary 90% of transmitters were detectable. However, this control measure was carried out on a relatively shallow, slow flowing tributary so these results may not emulate the main channel of the Tweed effectively which may mean that regurgitated tags were possibly not detected as effectively.

Modelling the movement of both sea trout and salmon throughout the Tweed catchment showed that migration speed slowed as fish migrated further into the river system with fish migrating at their slowest when entering tributaries. These gross movements based on detections from the ALS network roughly coincide with movement patterns seen in prior studies into sea trout and Atlantic salmon spawning migration with associated slowing in speed being due to switching between migration phases (Økland *et al.*, 2001; Finstad *et al.*, 2005a). The number of rest stops required by migrating fish also increases with migration distance, suggesting that the observed slowing of fish as they moved further into the river system is tied to the increasing requirement to rest (Økland *et al.*, 2001)The markedly reduced migration rate moving into tributaries may also suggest why earlier migrants penetrate further into catchments (Östergren et al. 2011).

Flow models suggest that salmon and sea trout migration rate is influenced by increasing discharge when moving through into tributaries from the mainstem. In general this pattern is in keeping with past research where salmon and sea trout movement has been linked with discharge (Smith *et al.*, 1994; Thorstad and Heggberget, 1998; Svendsen *et al.*, 2004). However, Jonsson and Jonsson (2002) found a negative relationship between river discharge and number of sea trout ascending into fish traps, with most fish ascending during flows between 7.5-10 m³ s⁻¹, compared to the lower Tweed where the range of flows that fish ascended varied between 10-160 m³ s⁻¹. The observed increase in migration rate into tributaries from the mainstem in relation to rising tributary flow may be explained by an increase in olfactory stimuli for the migrating fish. Bendall *et al.* (2012) observed that migrating adult salmonids only migrated past a barrier when the flow from their natal tributary increased, with no response being elicited by flow increases in other neighbouring rivers.

Net catches within the estuary and tidal area of the River Tweed show that sea trout and Atlantic salmon enter the river over a large timescale (February-September) similarly broad timescales for river entry are observed in other rivers (Jonsson and Jonsson, 2002; Bij de Vaate *et al.*, 2003). However, recent river entry data is limited on the Tweed due to restrictions in netting during late autumn-spring. The peak migration timing of the sea trout is within June and July in the Tweed, this is also observed within the Rhine Delta, although migration peaks during August-October in higher latitude Norwegian Rivers (Jonsson and Jonsson, 2002; Bij de Vaate *et al.*, 2003). Sea trout tagging dates ranged between July-September in 2010 and August to September in 2011 with the bulk of tagging occurring in September both years meaning that tagged sea trout would be predominantly composed of late run fish in each year. The tagged fish being later running fish may explain why the River Teviot is the primarily used tributary as the River Till has a highly evident early and mid-summer run. Due to this, future research in the River Tweed should aim to tag sea trout over a greater time period to better represent early and peak running sea trout within samples.

Results from diel migration models suggest that diel migration timing was not affected by study year, position within catchment (reach), fish movement rate or river discharge. Diel timing was not affected by species either but the results were approaching significance. However, migration timing on its own appeared to be predominately carried out at night by both sea trout and Atlantic salmon. This is supported by prior research that suggests that most migration is carried out by night and during spates when the water is turbid (Hawkins and Smith, 1986; Laughton, 1991; Solomon *et al.*, 1999). It is thought that such nocturnal movement is an anti-predatory tactic (Banks, 1969). However, it is noted that the fish were first caught during the day, suggesting that river entry and initial river migration was not explicitly nocturnal or diurnal, consistent with prior research (Davidsen *et al.*, 2013).

The conclusion of this study is that the Tweed catchment is utilised differently by Atlantic salmon and sea trout for spawning. The current study suggests that the majority of the main stem and tributaries are utilised by salmonids for spawning (Figure 4.6, Figure 4.7). With the high water quality of the Tweed catchment and 2160 kilometers of river accessible to fish, proactive management of water resources is required to maintain the already high habitat suitability for salmonids (Gardiner, 1989; Currie, 1997). The declining migration rate of migrating salmonids as they migrate further into the catchment (Figure 4.11) suggests that any modification to the river that is likely detrimental to fish passage should be avoided in tributaries and sections of river far into the river system. An example would be the construction of run of the river hydropower such as Archimedean screws type turbines as tailrace attraction may result in delayed migration. The impact of flow on migration rate into the tributaries (Figure 4.12) should also highlight the use for careful water management during adult migration. Specifically, abstraction of water from tributaries for agriculture use during the summer and autumn should be better monitored due to the peak sea trout run happening in summer (Figure 4.2). As such over abstraction of water during this time period may adversely impact tributary flows. To ultimately test the migration of sea trout and salmon within the Tweed the period of tagging should be broadened to include the peak sea trout runs in

June-July as well as include the summer salmon runs as a way to account for subpopulation specific run timing.

Chapter 5: The homing migration of territorial brown trout (*Salmo trutta*) after displacement in the Blackadder Water, Scotland.

5.1 Introduction

In British rivers two forms of *Salmo trutta* predominate, resident brown trout that complete their lifecycle in freshwater and sea trout that emigrate to sea as juveniles to feed before returning to freshwater to spawn. Freshwater resident brown trout usually remain within deep pools and are capable of performing migrations in freshwater between spawning, nursery and feeding areas (Jonsson, 1989). As such, during their residency in freshwater, brown trout are subjected to a restricted use of habitat and often adopt restricted home ranges as well as acquiring a territory (Jonsson, 1989). A more in depth review of brown trout distribution, evolutionary origins, taxonomy and life history is covered in Chapter 1.

The use of a home range has been recognised in many animals and has been succinctly described by Hayne (1949) as "the area over which the animal normally travels" (Burt, 1943; Gerking, 1953). A territory, in contrast to a home range, can be described as an area acquired and defended by an individual with the express intent of excluding other individuals (both intra-specific and inter-specific) from utilising the resources within (Maher and Lott, 2000). As such, territory holders potentially experience a slew of benefits such as: lower predation risk, better access to mating territories or leks, access to desirable microhabitat and greater foraging opportunities; all of which can increase the survival chances and potential reproductive success of the territory holder (Brattstrom, 1974; Sargent, 1982; Stamps, 1983; Grant, 1997; Kim *et al.*, 2011). These advantages are especially pronounced in fish, where growth rates and metabolism can be highly variable and fitness is often associated with size (Metcalfe *et al.*, 1995; Johnsson *et al.*, 1999; Reid *et al.*, 2012).

Territoriality in salmonids is prevalent during freshwater dwelling life stages, with territories being adopted early in the life history, often soon after emergence from redds (Keenleyside and Yamamoto, 1962; Elliott, 1990). Territorial behaviour in salmonids has also been shown to be largely an innate behaviour (Sundström *et al.*, 2003). In small streams trout can often come into sympatric competition with juvenile salmon which share many habitat preferences, although trout are shown to be more aggressive than similar sized Atlantic salmon when in competition (Heggenes *et al.*, 1999; Harwood *et al.*, 2002). Brown trout in streams are subject to varying degrees of territorial competition with conspecifics, the outcome of which is usually skewed in favour of the territory holder. This is a paradigm in behavioural ecology with the territory occupier often winning territorial conflicts (Davies 1978; Krebs 1982; Alcock & Bailey 1997).

Adult brown trout that hold territories in a river tend to retain their territories when subject to an increase in population density due to artificial over stocking (Heggenes, 1988). The length of time a brown trout holds a territory influences the successful outcome of conflicts as well as the length and aggression of the territorial conflicts (Johnsson and Forser, 2002). Aggression and success during territorial conflicts have also been linked to habitat preferences, with defenders in preferred habitats winning more conflicts and showing higher levels of aggression than defenders with less preferred habitat (Johnsson *et al.*, 2000).

Homing refers to the ability of an organism to return to a previously known spatially restricted area (Papi, 1992). As a behavioural phenomenon homing has been described in a wide array of animal species (Cook, 1969; Madison, 1969; Alyan and Jander, 1994; Luschi *et al.*, 1996; Shen *et al.*, 1998; Cannicci *et al.*, 2000; Benhamou *et al.*, 2003). Homing can occur over a variety of spatial scales from the relatively shortrange movements of pulmonate limpets (*Siphonaria normalis*) within intertidal ranges (Cook, 1969) toward homing after thousand kilometre foraging trips in white-chinned petrels (*Procellaria aequinoctialis*) (Benhamou *et al.*, 2003). Homing is employed by many fish species in freshwater (Lamothe *et al.*, 2000; Keskinen *et al.*, 2005; Gatz, 2007).

However, homing is perhaps most widely recognised and researched in salmonids where migration often encompasses many different phases (Miller, 1954; Saunders and Gee, 1964; Stabell, 1984; Dittman and Quinn, 1996; Ueda, 2011b). Like many salmonids brown trout have the ability to return to their home ranges with a high degree of accuracy (Stuart, 1957). This has been demonstrated in various studies where brown trout have been experimentally relocated and have subsequently returned to the original home range, although the proportion of translocated fish homing is rarely 100% (Harcup *et al.*, 1984; Halvorsen and Stabell, 1990; Armstrong and Herbert, 1997; Nordeng and Bratland, 2006). However, failure to home cannot, in itself, be seen as an outright failure, as in some cases straying can be adaptive mechanism to increase fitness, especially in areas where rivers may be open to colonisation (Leider, 1989; McDowall, 1996; Ayllon *et al.*, 2006).

Homing in fish is carried out using a suite of sensory mechanisms such as magnetic field reception (Dittman and Quinn 1996; Eder 2012), olfaction (Halvorsen and Stabell 1990; Nordeng and Bratland, 2006) as well as visual/spatial mapping (Neville, 2006; de Perrera, 2008). However, evidence suggests that homing in brown trout is largely olfaction based, with experimental fish responding to odorants of their home population (Halvorsen and Stabell, 1990) and apparently losing the ability to home after becoming anosmic (Nordeng and Bratland, 2006).

Homing is especially important considering that certain environmental conditions can lead to the displacement of fish from their home ranges. Events such as severe flooding can transport young fish away from their home range (Ottaway and Clarke, 1981; Harvey, 1987). Contrary to this, fish, especially juveniles, in small streams may also be subject to displacement due to falling water levels (Huntingford 1999, 1998). As well as river level fluctuations, fluctuations in dissolved oxygen (DO) can also lead to the displacement of fish, with falling DO leading to fish moving away from the site, returning when DO levels increase (Gent *et al.*, 1995). Other anthropogenic causes for displacement of fish could be directly tied to river management. Stocking of fish reared within the river catchment in a hatchery using abstracted river water could

potentially artificially increase competition at the site of stocking (Kaspersson *et al.,* 2013). Fish rescues are a common management practice where works on the river could potentially lead to mass fish kills. Usually rescued fish are then displaced to a safe area of river.

Since territories are of high value and brown trout are capable of accurately homing; do displaced brown trout home to their previously held territories when offered empty territories at their site of displacement? Or is homing a continuum, with an active trade off occurring within displaced fish, with fish choosing to abandon previously held territories in favour of emigration to novel but resource abundant environments with greater growth potential? And, how does this integrate with the known life history of the brown trout species complex, where individuals often sacrifice territories in favour of life within larger, deeper river or even the sea (Ovidio *et al.*, 1998; Crisp, 2008; Wysujack *et al.*, 2009)?

5.1.1 Study area

The Blackadder Water is a tributary of the Whiteadder Water in the River Tweed catchment. The Blackadder Water rises in headstreams in the Lammermuir Hills and runs for 10 km before joining with the Whiteadder Water at Allanton in the Scottish Borders. The Blackadder Water has a catchment area of 159 km² which includes the tributaries; Wedderlie, Edgar, Fangrist and Langton Burns (Figure 5.1).

The geology of the Blackadder catchment is mostly comprised of old red sand stone and calciferous sand stone overlain by boulder clay, with 65% of the catchment consisting of highly permeable bedrock. Land cover in the catchment is mainly comprised of grassland and grazing (49.6%) mainly in the hills, arable and horticultural land (28.3%) on lower land; light forestation (10.5%) and heath (10.4%) in higher altitude hilly areas (Centre for Ecology and Hydrology, 2013). The hydrology of the Blackadder water itself is natural with no in river structures or flow regulation; mean flows are 1.86 m³ s⁻¹ at the lower extent of the cathment Q95 are below 0.27 m³ s⁻¹ and Q10 flows occurring above 3.76 m³ s⁻¹ (Centre for Ecology and Hydrology, 2013).



Figure 5.1: Map of the study river section. White circles denote the three release sites, black bars represent pass through PIT detection loops and the limits of the survey sections

5.2 Methods

5.2.1 Experimental rationale

For the purposes of this experiment captured fish were separated into three experimental groups of fish: capture, treatment and control, with the latter two groups being displaced outside their assumed home range. As such the study river section was separated into three release sections; capture section, control section and treatment section (Figure 5.1). In the displaced groups the treatment group are released in an area that has had its local salmonid population depleted, meaning there should be abundant free territories. However, the control group are released into a zone with a natural salmonid population, which is presumed to be near to carrying capacity. The capture group forms another control as they were not moved from their site of origin.

The study section of the Blackadder water was chosen due to its healthy population of brown trout along with its relatively narrow and shallow stream size, allowing for PIT telemetry to be a viable fish tracking technique. The study section of river was approximately 570 m long and its stream dimensions of the study river section averaged at 9.3 m (Range: 6 m – 17.6 m) in width and approximate section lengths for each experimental release section was 85 m. The intermediate section, the river in between the upstream extent of the control section and the downstream extent of the capture site was 300 m in length. The treatment section was below the control site, reasoning for this being that to prevent control fish moving through a treatment section (low salmonid population density) and being exposed to the treatment conditions during upstream homing movements. However, any treatment fish moving upstream are treated to (presumably) fully populated sections of river throughout their homing movement. Ideally the home ranges of individual fishes in the capture, control and treatment sections would be studied before the initiation of the displacement study, this was not feasible due to time and land access constraints. However, brown trout are thought to be relatively stationary when living in streams, although more mobile components of populations are known to exist (Solomon and Templeton, 1976; Harcup

et al., 1984; Höjesjö *et al.*, 2007). With this in mind, the intermediate section was kept relatively short (under 300 m). This allowed for the displaced brown trout to be outwith their (presumed) core home range but still within a section of river in which they could have developed a spatial map for during excursive/exploratory trips during their lifetime.

Due to the proposed aims and methodology where the proportion of fish in each group returning back to their previously held territory, the degree to which handling might disturb normal homing behaviour in brown trout (which could also be modified by depletion of fish from the capture zone – something that could not be controlled for) and the upstream movement rate and behaviour of displaced homing brown trout were recorded. As such, methods required marking of fish and ideally relocating them telemetrically.

The prediction is that, assuming trout can identify and compare habitat suitability along competitive encounters from their past experience in home territory, control fish should be much more likely to return home than treatment fish. This is by virtue of the high competitive encounters and low territory availability for fish released in the control zone, compared to those released in treatment zone.

5.2.2 Experimental fish capture

Experimental fish were captured via electro-fishing from the capture site on the 10th of August 2012. Stop nets were placed at either end of the 80 m river section to be fished and the section was fished upstream using a pulsed DC bank-side electro-fishing unit (Electracatch WFC4, Wolverhampton, England powered by 1KVA Honda generator). As well as the anode operator there were two assistants flanking the operator. Upon a salmonid fish > 10 cm nearing the anode the assistants used hand nets to capture the stunned fish, which was placed in a bucket partially filled with fresh water (to prevent fish from jumping out of the bucket). Brown trout smaller than 10 cm were ignored and left to safely drift pass the anode after being stunned, as they were too small for PIT

tagging. After 10 m of electro-fishing the captured fish were placed in a covered holding tub. Fishing was resumed for another 10 m and the captured fish were emptied into another holding tub at 20 m. This was repeated for the full 80-m river section. The river section was re-fished once to increase the number of fish captures. Experimental fish were split by 10-m section so that experimental fish point of capture could be estimated to within 10 m.

5.2.3 Radio and PIT tagging procedure

Salmonids captured consisted of trout and salmon. Only trout larger than 15 cm were selected for tagging, as these were large enough for tagging with 23 mm PIT tags and/or radio tags, enabling their remote location. Remaining salmonids from the Capture Zone were measured and returned to their site of capture. Captured trout for tagging were either tagged solely with an HDX PIT or a combination of PIT and VHF radio (tag type PIP, 173 MHz, $19 \times 9 \times 6$ mm, potted in medical grade silicone, 1.2 g weight in air, with a 12 cm-long, 0.1 mm diameter whip antenna; Biotrack Ltd., Wareham, UK¹) this was dependent on fish size with fish over 150 mm being tagged with both radio and PIT tags. Fish were retained within the eight separate capture tubs, which were aerated, prior to tagging. Fish were removed from the holding tubs and put into a separate induction tank for anaesthesia (tricaine methanesulphonate, MS-222 0.1 g L⁻¹). Further procedures used for fish anaesthesia prior and during surgery as well as pre-surgical fish processing can be found in Chapter 3: Section 3.2.1.

An incision was made on the ventral surface anterior to the pelvic girdle; incision length for PIT tag insertion was 5 mm and 15 mm for radio tag insertion. Tags were then placed in to the body cavity. For fish that were radio tagged the whip antenna was placed to trail externally from the abdomen, posterior to the pelvic fin insertion, using the shielded needle technique (Ross and Kleiner, 1982; Lucas and Baras, 2000). The Incision made for radio tag insertion was closed by 3-4 interrupted absorbable sutures

¹ Tags re-batteried and re-potted by author

(4-0 Vicryl Rapide, Ethicon Ltd, Livingston, UK). The incision for PIT tag placement was not sutured as studies indicate this to be unnecessary (Jepsen *et al.*, 2002; Bolland *et al.*, 2009). Post-procedure the fish were placed into a recovery tub filled with highly aerated water. Once the fish responded to external stimuli and were able to retain their equilibrium they were removed from the recovery tank and retained within a keep net until release.

Release site	Tag	Number tagged	Fork length [Mean ± SD (range), mm]	Weight [mean ± SD (range), g]	Tag/body weight ratio [mean (range), %]*
Capture	Radio + PIT	5	229.6 ± 8.5 (210 - 260)	145.2 ± 13.6 (116 - 197)	1.56 (1.1 - 1.9)
Control	Radio + PIT	5	278 ± 33 (240 - 410)	287.8 ± 96.4 (161 - 668)	1 (0.32 - 1.37)
Treatment	Radio + PIT	5	259.8 ± 34.4 (189 - 370)	204.2 ± 58.9 (80 - 369)	1.59 (0.59 - 2.75)
Capture	PIT	10	199.2 ± 16.1 (135 – 280)	107.1 ± 24.3 (25 - 252)	0.95 (0.23 – 2.4)
Control	PIT	10	195.6 ± 17.2 (134 – 298)	100.1 ± 28.9 (24 – 319)	1.05 (0.18 – 2.5)
Treatment	PIT	10	211 ± 28.6 (142 - 454)	95.5 ± 23.8 (29 - 279)	0.94 (0.22 – 2.07)

Table 5.1: Summary data for tagged brown trout released at each site.

*Tag to body weight ratio calculated from mass in air.

5.2.4 Release sites

Tagged fish were released into one of three separate release sites at random: capture, control or treatment (Figure 5.1, Table 5.1). Fish released at the capture release site were placed back into the river section where the fish were initially captured; this was to record the baseline movements of fish after a period of disturbance such as electrofishing and tagging. The control site was a section of river 300-390 m below the capture site where the salmonid populations were not interfered with, this treatment was to investigate the baseline movements of fish displaced into a river section with no available territories. The treatment site was a release site 390-470 m below the capture site, the salmonid population within the treatment site was artificially depleted by two passes of electrofishing. Stop nets were placed at either end of the treatment site and the river section was extensively electrofished for two passes. The fish removed during

the period of depletion were then placed back into the catchment separated from the treatment site and connected river by an impassable barrier.

The control section and treatment section were different lengths, 95 m and 80 m respectively. However, the total surface area of each section was similar (Table 5.2). In terms of hydrology the two sections were both predominated by glides broken up by a small number of riffles, each section had a limited area of back eddy and pool habitat as well. The sections also had similar bank side vegetation, long grass with small patches of rushes frequently occurring, with no overhanging shade from trees. The capture section on the other hand was a similar length to the control area, however it was generally wider and had a larger surface area than both downstream release sites. The increase in width meant that there were several shallow riffles as well as deeper glides. The capture site was also disrupted by several large islands meaning several small back eddies were present as well as deeper pool areas in places. The capture area was somewhat larger, out of necessity, to allow for a greater number of brown trout to be electrofished, elevating study sample size.

Site	Mean width (± SE; [m])	Water surface area (m ²)	Total length (m)	Riffle (%)	Glide (%)	Pool (%)	Eddy (%)	Bankside vegetation	Tree cover?
Treatment section	8.75 ± 0.14	678.2	80	29	66	2	3	Grass	No
Control section	7.35 ± 0.16	665.05	95	28	65	4	3	Grass	No
Capture section	10 ± 0.36	842.425	82.5	23	66	11	0	Grass	No
Intermediate section	9.8 ± 0.16	2768.45	280	35	57	7	1	Grass	Partial

Table 5.2: Stream and habitat characteristics of the sections within the study river section.

5.2.5 Population estimation calculations

Population estimation calculations for the three release sites were carried out using the fish captured by electrofishing on the 10th and 23rd of August. The control section fishing was not carried out on 10th August but was carried out on the 23rd August to avoid disturbing territory holding fishes unnecessarily. As such, the control section was

not a true control as the fish in the section were not exposed to the same fishing disturbance as the neighbouring treatment however the author felt that it was more important to ensure that on the experiment initiation day the control section was undisturbed and therefore was inhabited by brown trout in territories without any prior disturbance and hence in best position to defend their territories at time of the introduction of displaced fish moved from the capture section.

The *k*-pass removal method was used to calculate the number of fish within the treatment section in order to determine the degree to which it was experimentally depleted of salmonids. In this method, for each electrofishing pass, the number of fish captured was recorded, and the captured fish were physically removed from the population. The overall population size can then be estimated from the number of fish successively removed with each pass. Under the assumptions that the population is closed (except for the removal of animals at each pass) and that the probability of capture for an animal is constant for all animals and from sample to sample, then the likelihood function for the vector of successive catches is computed. Using the Zippin (Zippin, 1956) and Carle Strub (Carle and Strub, 1978) methods the population size of the three release sites was calculated using the FSA R package (Derek Ogle, Northland College, 2013).

5.2.6 Radio tracking

The radio tagged fish were tracked twice daily, once within 2 h of dawn and once 2 h preceding dusk, beginning the morning after release, for a week. Fish were tracked on foot by two independent radio-tracking operators using mobile radio receiving units (SIKA Radio Tracking Receiver, Biotrack Ltd., Wareham, UK) with attached three element Yagi antennas. Operators slowly walked upstream, starting 200 m below the start of the study area, with the tracking receiver on a high gain frequency scan with a 4 second interval between frequencies. When a radio frequency was detected the frequency scanning was halted and the individual frequency was entered on the tracking receiver.

The gain was slowly lowered to narrow down the probable location of the radio tagged fish, frequent "null testing" was carried out by pointing the Yagi antenna away from the river to ensure that the frequency was not being detected out of the water. Once the operators were confident that the detected frequency was detected to within 5 m of river section a GPS fix of the location was taken (MotionX-GPS, Fullpower Technologies Inc., Santa Cruz, USA), the position was marked on a field map and notes were taken. Once the frequency was noted the frequency scan and upstream walk were resumed, with any further detected frequencies being scanned and recorded in the same manner. The upstream walk was concluded when the operators had passed 200 m beyond the upstream limit of the study area. Location fixes, field maps and notes were compared between operators at the end of the tracking session to ensure accuracy. To test for fish that had disappeared after tagging or were otherwise undetectable by radio tracking within the area of frequent tracking the tracking area was broadened to 1 km above and below the study river section on two separate occasions within the week of tracking.

5.2.7 PIT detection array set up and maintenance

The PIT detection array was set up using three separate HDX PIT reader and datalogging boxes, each with two PIT readers per box running in a master and slave arrangement (described in (Castro-Santos *et al.*, 1996). This arrangement allowed for two PIT loops (scanning 8 times per second) per reader box to be set up without the need for multiplexing. Two deep cycle 110 Ah leisure batteries run in parallel powered each dual loop data logger.

The pass through loops were constructed out of 4 mm square high grade oxygen free multi-core copper cabling (Twin OFC loudspeaker cable, RS components, Corby, UK). Wooden stakes were secured into the bankside on opposing sides of the river and a length of 6 mm diameter cord was stretched taught between the two stakes approximately one metre above the streambed. The cabling was run along the bed of the stream perpendicular to the riverbank and then up the bank to the taught cord, along the cord, secured by cable ties, to form a single coil. The bottoms of the loops

were secured to the streambed by partially burying the loop under gravel and large stones from the streambed. The completed loop was then wired into a PIT tuning box (RFID Tuner, Texas Instruments, Dallas, USA), which was then connected to the datalogging box with shielded coaxial cable. The loops were set up at points in the stream with widths varying between 6.6 m and 8.5 m; the height of the loops ranged between 80 cm and 100 cm. Detection range from the loops was estimated to be 0.54 m from the loop.

After initial set up the loops were then tuned to ensure maximal detection range and detection efficiency. Detection range from the loop was calculated by holding the tag to the loop and then slowly withdrawing the tag from the loop until detections ceased the distance being recorded, this was done multiple times along the width of the loop. Areas of non-detection within the loops field were searched for by placing tags within the loop and moving the tag between the top to the bottom of the loop and any areas where tags were not recorded was noted, this process was repeated along the entire width of the loop. Detection efficiency of the loops was tested using two methods, one method was to passively drift the test tag through the loop and check for detection of the tag as it passed through. The other method was "dart" testing, where the tag was thrust through the loop at high velocity by the operator in a manner imitating a darting fish with the presence/absence of detections being noted.

The loops were distributed in the study river section in a manner where the downstream extent of the study river section was covered by two loops (Figure 5.1), allowing for an increased ability to detect fish leaving the study area in a downstream direction. The second pair of loops, in an upstream direction, were deployed ~100 m apart from one another, with the downstream loop forming the upstream limit of the treatment river section and the downstream limit of the control section. The upstream loop then formed the upstream limit of the control section (Figure 5.1). The third pair of loops delimited the downstream extent of the capture site and the upstream extent of the capture site.

Data from the readers were collected every 3 days and the batteries were changed to reduce the chance of data loss as well as to prevent brown outs on the PIT detection array due to battery drain.

5.2.8 Electrofishing recaptures

Two weeks after the fish were released the entire study section, including a section from the downstream treatment limit to 200 m below the study section were sampled using double pass electro-fishing using the same methods as during fish capture, except no stop nets were deployed. During this period fish caught in each of the release sections was measured and returned into the river section.

The original capture site was fished first to determine how many of the displaced fish had homed back, followed by the intermediate stretch of river between the capture site and control site. The control and treatment site were subsequently sampled. The 200 m section of river immediately below the was study river section was also sampled due to the presence of several radio tagged fish occurring within it during the radio tracking period. When a tagged fish was recaptured (evident from post-surgical wound healing on ventral surface) it was scanned with a mobile PIT scanner to determine its ID and its location was noted by GPS and field notes, the fish was then immediately placed in a bucket full of fresh river water until the river section was completely electro-fished before being returned.

5.2.9 Environmental data

Water temperature, conductivity and pH for the study site were recorded daily on hand held multi-probes (pHep 4 & HI 9033, Hanna Instruments, Leighton Buzzard, UK). Due to the low population density, low farming intensity and high degree of air entrainment; it was assumed that oxygen levels were close to 100% saturation throughout the study period. River flow data for the Blackadder Water was provided by SEPA from the Mouthbridge flow gauging station 20 km below the study river section. The Mouthbridge flow record was deemed to be representative of the study section as only

one small burn flows into the Blackadder Water in the river length between the gauging station and the study area.

5.3 Results

5.3.1 Environmental conditions

During the study period the water temperature, pH and conductivity of the study site varied between 14-14.3 °C, pH 8.8-9 and 325-378 μ S cm⁻¹ respectively. The flow during the early period of study remained relatively constant but two large spates occurred during the middle-end of the study period (Figure 5.2).



Figure 5.2: River flow rate for August 2012 in the Blackadder water, at Mouthbridge. The dashed vertical lines represent the start and end of the study period.

5.3.2 Release site population densities

Length frequency distribution of salmon parr and brown trout within the three release sites showed that the populations varied between the three sites. The capture site was dominated by larger brown trout with a relatively small Atlantic salmon population (Figure 5.3). Conversely, the control site (**Error! Reference source not found.**) and treatment site (Error! Reference source not found.) were dominated by salmon parr, with a smaller trout trout population composed of parr as well as small adults.

When compared by average length it was observed that there was little variation in the size of the salmon within the three release sites (Kruskal-Wallis: $\chi^2 = 0.1055$, df = 2, *p*>0.05; Figure 5.4). However, when comparing the length of brown trout it was observed that brown trout within the capture site were significantly larger (Kruskal-Wallis: $\chi^2 = 25.5423$, df = 2, *p*<0.0001; Figure 5.5).

Using Zippin's removal method for population estimates it was estimated that there were $184 (\pm 74)$ salmonids > 10 cm within the treatment zone. Separated by species it was estimated that 85 (±50) brown trout and 87 (±37) Atlantic salmon were resident in the treatment zone. Based on the number of fish removed from the depletion zone it is estimated that between 0-145 salmonids remained within the depletion zone of which, 0-135 were brown trout and 0-64 were Atlantic salmon. It is estimated that 51-61% of the brown trout and 58-65% of the Atlantic salmon were removed. In comparison it was estimated that the post-study population density of the control site was 181 (\pm 19) salmonids; 114 (\pm 10) salmon and 168 (\pm 203) trout. This appears to be a similar proportion of salmon to trout as in the pre-study treatment zone, although overall salmonid population densities appear to be slightly lower in the treatment zone than the capture zone. The capture zone was similar in salmonid population density to both displacement release sites with an estimated $191 (\pm 78)$ salmonids in the capture area, although the population of trout (107 ± 62) was larger than salmon (73 ± 31). Further detail on population calculations can be found in Appendix II.



Figure 5.3: The length frequency distribution of salmon and trout captured in the study section. Panels display the length frequency of Atlantic salmon (a) and brown trout (b) caught in the capture section, Atlantic salmon (c) and brown trout (d) caught in the control section and Atlantic salmon (e) and brown trout (f) caught in the treatment section.



Figure 5.4: The length of Atlantic salmon caught in the three release sites. Black lines represent the median, white boxes represent the upper and lower quartiles, error bars represent the data range excluding outliers and white dots represent outliers (Q3+1.5×IQR).



Figure 5.5: The length of brown trout caught in the three release sites. Black lines represent the median, white boxes represent the upper and lower quartiles, error bars represent the data range excluding outliers and white dots represent outliers (Q3+1.5×IQR).

5.3.3 Post-displacement PIT tagged trout movements

The post displacement movements of brown trout were interpreted from recorded data on the fixed PIT array and movements of PIT tagged trout (solely PIT tagged fish as well as PIT & radio tagged fish) were related to flow on the Blackadder Water from the SEPA Mouthbridge gauging station. However, between the 16th and 19th of August a series of large spates (Figure 5.2) disrupted the PIT loops resulting in reduced detection efficiency, and in some cases complete removal of the loop from the study section halting PIT records past the 16th.

The movement of fish from each of the three release groups within their respective release section was recorded on the PIT loops bounding their release section. The data from the PIT loops suggests that there were relatively high number of movements, both upstream and downstream, at the start of the study which is suggestive of exploratory behaviour post release (Figure 5.6). Capture site fish then displayed no further movement on the capture zone PIT loops after day two. The displaced fish groups however showed a limited number of upstream movements within their zones after a period of 4-5 days, suggestive of limited homing behaviour. Unfortunately due to the partial failure of the PIT loops after day 6 of the study any further movements of fish were not reliably recorded.

Fish movement rates were calculated as travel speeds converted to body lengths per second from detections at one loop to another. The movements of treatment and control fish were combined as a way to increase sample size as only 18 records of movement were recorded for control fish. Movements did not vary in relation to flow as both downstream (Linear regression: n=21, $R^2=0.031$, df=19, F=0.6202, p>0.05; Figure 5.7) and upstream (Linear regression: n=50, $R^2=0.002$, df=48, F=0.1001, p>0.05; Figure 5.7) did not show significant relationships to flow. However, the interaction between movement direction and flow showed significant variation (ANCOVA: n=84, df=67, F=5.09, p<0.05), with upstream movements rates responding negatively with increased flow and downstream movement rates increasing with flow. Fish in the capture zone also did not show any relationship between upstream movement rate (Linear regression: n=8, $R^2=0.35$, df=6, F=3.35, p>0.05) and downstream movement rate (Linear regression: n=6, $R^2=0.47$, df=4, F=3.58, p>0.05) in relation to flow.

Both upstream and downstream movements of all groups of PIT tagged fish occurred predominantly at night (χ^2 test: *n*=94, χ^2 =15.73, *p*<0.0001; Figure 5.8).
However, when split by release site it was shown that upstream and downstream movements for both capture (χ^2 test: n=18, $\chi^2=2.92$, p>0.05) and treatment groups (χ^2 test: n=44, $\chi^2=2.77$, p>0.05) were not significantly affected by time of day (Figure 5.9). On the other hand the control group movements were significantly related to time of day (χ^2 test: n=34, $\chi^2=16.86$, p<0.0001), with most movements occurring at night.

The upstream movements of brown trout released in the three release groups were significantly different with fish from the treatment group moving the fastest of all the groups (Kruskal-Wallis: n=58, $\chi^2 = 10.9328$, df = 2, p<0.05; Figure 5.10).



Figure 5.6: The proportion of upstream movement, downstream movement and no movement recorded daily on PIT loggers bounding the three release sites a) Treatment, b) Control and c) Capture. Upstream movement is represented by black hatches, downstream movement is represented by white and no movement is represented by grey.



Figure 5.7: The speeds of brown trout moving upstream and downstream in relation to flow conditions.



Figure 5.8: Diel timing of brown trout upstream and downstream movements from all three release groups combined based on detections from the PIT array. Dawn and Dusk are donated by the dotted vertical lines.



Figure 5.9: The diel movements of fish from the treatment (top), control (middle) and capture (bottom) recorded on all PIT loops. Black dashed lines represent dawn and dusk.



Figure 5.10: The upstream PIT movement rates (body lengths per second) of fish released in the three separate release sites based on PIT loop detections measured over the period of study. Black lines represent the median, white boxes represent the upper and lower quartiles, error bars represent the data range and white dots represent outliers (Q3+1.5×IQR).

5.3.4 Post-displacement movements of radio tagged brown trout

The post displacement movements of doubly tagged brown trout were recorded using a combination of PIT and radio telemetry. The PIT data was retrieved from a stationary PIT array and the radio tracking locations were collected from twice daily radio tracking. The movements of the treatment brown trout showed that four out of five tagged fish showed apparent directed movement upstream and quickly homed to the capture site within a day of release (Figure 5.11). The remaining fish rapidly dropped out of the study area and was repeatedly found within deep pools 200 m below the treatment release site. Patterns of movement group (Figure 5.12). Four out of the five tracked fish showed an apparent rapid dropping out from the study area, two of which were never recorded within the study river section again, whereas the remaining two commenced upstream

movement after 3-4 days. One fish did eventually return to the capture site 4 days postrelease.

Like the other two release groups the capture group's movements were highly variable among individuals (Figure 5.13). Certain individuals within the capture release group showed a similar tendency to drop out of the study area as for both the control and treatment individuals, with two of the capture release group being detected in the same pool habitat being used by the control and treatment dropouts. Out of these two, one did eventually home back to the capture site by the end of the radio tracking study. The remaining three individuals did not appear to leave the capture site but they apparently moved close to the capture site boundaries.



Figure 5.11: Distances moved from the treatment release site by doubly tagged brown trout based on combined PIT and radio tracking records. Distances moved upstream of the release point are positive and distances moved downstream are negative. Dashed lines represent the boundaries of the site where the brown trout were captured.



Figure 5.12: Distances moved from the control release site by doubly tagged brown trout based on combined PIT and radio tracking records. Distances moved upstream of the release point are positive and distances moved downstream are negative. Dashed lines represent the boundaries of the site where the brown trout were captured.



Figure 5.13: Distances moved from the capture release site by doubly tagged brown trout based on combined PIT and radio tracking records. Distances moved upstream of the release point are positive and distances moved downstream are negative. Dashed lines represent the boundaries of the site where the brown trout were captured.

5.3.5 Electro-fishing recaptures

The study river section was extensively electro-fished one week after the conclusion of the radio-tracking project to sample the locations of fish within the study. During the electro-fishing recaptures 17 (34%) tagged fish were recaptured, 14 (82%) of which were within the original capture area. The highest proportion of fish caught within the original capture area. The highest proportion of fish caught within the original capture area was from the control release group (42.8%), followed by the capture release group (35.7%) and lastly the treatment group (21.4%; Figure 5.14). The remaining recaptured fish were caught in the intermediately section (1 fish) and in a large area of pool habitat 100 m downstream from the study river section (2 fish). No fish were recaptured from within either the control or treatment sections of river.

The majority of recaptures were also within 100 m of their last recorded position showing that fish movements were fairly stable 1-2 weeks after displacement (Table 5.3). However, one fish did move 667 m downstream in the week interval between the end of PIT and radio tracking and the recapture event.



Figure 5.14: The percentage of each treatment group within the recaptured sample from the capture site.

Fish PIT ID	Release site	Distance from last recorded location (m)	Capture location
427	Capture	677.6	Out of study area
430	Capture	8.3	Capture section
441	Capture	2.7	Capture section
442	Capture	2.6	Capture section
443	Capture	7.1	Capture section
444	Capture	26	Capture section
450	Control	5	Capture section
453	Control	5.7	Capture section
454	Control	2.9	Out of study area
455	Control	14.8	Capture section
457	Control	37.2	Capture section
460	Control	24	Capture section
462	Control	100	Intermediate
468	Control	53.7	Capture section
467	Treatment	344.9	Capture section
456	Treatment	41	Capture section
446	Treatment	3.2	Capture section

Table 5.3: Brown trout recaptures locations and position from last recorded location

5.4 Discussion

The results of this study show a lack of variation in homing migration in groups of fish displaced from their core home range into sections of river with variable population densities. Through a combination of radio and PIT telemetry a great deal of variation in homing migration occurred, with the opposite pattern of movement to the original hypothesis being observed. Treatment fish released into a section of river with abundant free territories were more likely to rapidly home than control fish released into a fully populated section of river. In fact the control fish were observed to drop out of the study section of river. As a control to assess handling/tagging effects, a cohort of trout were released back into the capture section after radio tagging and the same high variability in post-release movement behaviour was observed. In general this suggests that the process of electrofishing and surgically radio tagging the fish strongly altered the behaviour of the experimental fish in the period immediately after release. Seeking an alternative, less invasive method of radio tag attachment for such short-term studies is desirable. For short term highly localised tracking studies gastric insertion of tags has

been successful, with the short study period meaning few tags were lost due to tag regurgitation (Armstrong and Herbert, 1997). Another attachment possibility would be external attachment on the dorsal musculature, which has been successfully used on sea trout (Aarestrup and Jepsen, 1998).

During radio tracking, a high proportion of fish from all three release groups made their way to a deep section of river 100-200 m below the study river section and appeared to remain relatively stationary within this pool area for periods of days. Movement to this section outside the study river section appeared to be highly directed downstream movement, which in itself suggests that the fish had prior experience of this section of river. The fish within the pool possibly used the comparatively deeper pool as a post-handling refuge site.

This is reinforced by data from the PIT tracking, as it was shown that in all three release groups there were an initial high number of both upstream and downstream movements being recorded within each release zone. However, initial high movement after release in the two displacement release sites could be interpreted as exploratory movements. Movements were of a similar pattern to displaced rockfish (*Sebastes sp.*) which moved both upstream and downstream in the water current after release in searching behaviour and resumed faster directed movements once in familiar areas (Mitamura *et al.*, 2012). However, fish released straight back into the capture site showed the same high degree of initial upstream and downstream movement searching behaviour.

After a short period of no detection there were limited numbers of upstream movements 3-5 days post release from the two displacement sites, which suggests some homing-directed behaviour occurred. This suggests that the immediacy of homing in some individuals might have been curtailed by initial disturbance. In accordance with there results, tagging and release procedures will need to be streamlined in future experiments to reduce handling and disturbance, hopefully leading to a higher number of fish exhibiting naturalistic behaviour immediately post-release.

In general PIT movements appeared to be nocturnal/crepuscular in nature with the majority of movements occurring at night or within dawn hours. However, Control fish were the only group to move mainly at night whereas Capture and Treatment fish appeared to move mainly at dawn with limited diurnal movements. Upstream and downstream movements of fish displaced downstream were also not affected by flow, with no apparent relationship being observed.

The recapture rate of experimental fish was quite low, however the majority of recaptures were within the initial capture zone, with one other fish being caught in the section of river between the Control and Capture zones and two being caught outwith the study river section. Surprisingly no fish were caught within the two displacement release sites, suggesting that the propensity to home or to leave the study area completely was higher than staying in the site of displacement, low density or not. Out of the fish re-caught within the Capture section, surprisingly the majority were from the control group, which is contrary to the data recorded in the initial radio tracking. Since there was a week's gap between the end of the radio tracking and the electrofishing recapture event, one would assume that upstream fish movements continued in the intervening week when telemetry equipment was removed due to flood damage.

Out of all 45 experimental fish, 14 were recaptured in the initial capture area, and out of those 14, nine were displaced fish (3 Treatment, 6 Control) suggesting that there was a 30% homing success rate after displacement for both displacement groups combined together. However, the recapture rate of fish returned to the capture site was only slightly higher (33%) than the displacement groups (30%), suggesting that either recapture efficiency was low or fish from all sites had left the study area. The recorded homing success is substantially lower than the homing success in other studies. Home success has previously been recorded as 85% in radio tracked fish displaced downstream (75% success) and upstream (100% success) of the capture point (Armstrong and Herbert, 1997), however this study used gastric implanted radio tags (less invasive) and the radio tags remained functional for 20+ days. More direct homing comparisons can be made with other electrofishing mark recapture studies due to the

failure of telemetric data during the course of the study. In fish displaced 200 m upstream and downstream of the capture point there was a recorded 40% return rate, compared to 30% in the current study (Halvorsen and Stabell, 1990).

For fish caught and then returned to the point of capture only five (33%) were re-caught in the capture zone, suggesting that either fish returned to the point of capture moved out of the capture area or there was low recapture efficiency. A further fish was also recaptured 677 m downstream from its last known position within the capture zone. These apparent high movements away from the capture zone are inconsistent with prior studies into the movements and home ranges of brown trout. In fish caught and marked and then returned into the river at point of capture, 85-89% of brown trout were recaptured, most trout moved less than 150 m post release (Hesthagen, 1988). Again, long movement distances were not apparent in marked brown trout, although there was an apparent split between stationary population members and more mobile population members (Harcup et al., 1984). These results suggest that either the initial disturbance at the start of the current study altered the behaviour of the trout, creating a highly mobile population component within the river or that the trout within the Blackadder Water are highly mobile naturally. As such a form of pre-trial control could be used to assess the home ranges and general population structure within the study section of river. By using a less invasive marking technique such as visible elastomer tagging (VIE) the population within the study river section as well as fish above and below the section (nominally 200 m) could be electrofished, marked and then returned to the river at the point of capture. The fish would then be allowed to settle for a period of weeks (1-2 weeks) before beginning the main trial. By doing this the movements and home range attachment of fish after disturbance can be quantified during the electrofishing for experimental fish and stock depletion electrofishing. In the past it has been shown that out of fish that are exposed to displacement it is the fish with greater site attachment that are more likely to return (Huntingford *et al.*, 1998). The initial VIE marking would also allow for the response to large scale reductions in population within the treatment site to be measured and any

movements into the treatment section by other non-telemetry tagged (solely VIE tagged) population members to be quantified.

The capture, treatment and control sections used in the study differed with each section varying in average width, water surface area and total length. However, stream habitat types were broadly similar across the three sections with all three sites being mostly riffle and glide habitat although there was a moderately more pool habitat in the capture site. The study generated only one replicate out of a series of three replicates that were to be conducted in the Blackadder Water, which were discontinued due to a combination of equipment failure and poor site access. Due to the field basis for the study experimental zones were difficult to set up with entirely matching habitat parameters. As such, the use of artificial streams may be of use in further research but are usually limited by stream length, width and depth.

The results of the study were compounded by a series of technical faults. Firstly the failure rate of radio tags was high with 7 tags (47%) failing within a day of release. Due to budgetary constraints radio tags were reconditioned in house by the author, which included re-batterying the tags with 1.5 V silver oxide button batteries and then re-potting the tags in biocompatible silicone. Tags were extensively tested in water before deployment and their precise radio frequency was noted down to kHz changes in frequency. However, due to a technical oversight the original whip antennae, which appeared to be in good condition, were not replaced, as is common practice in tag reconditioning. When radio tagged fish were recaught at the end of the study it was noted that a large number of radio tagged fish had lost their whip antennas, which were left visibly trailing after tagging. It is suggested that antenna loss was the main cause of tag failure. If such a study were to be repeated in future professional tag reconditioning or purchase of entirely new radio tags would be advisable, if project budget allows for it.

During day seven of the study (17th of August 2012) the Blackadder water was subject to a series of large spates, well above the ambient flow experienced during the earlier period of the study. The PIT loops were adversely affected by large increases in river height. Originally PIT loops were deployed with a loop height of ~1 m, this was

usually 0.5-0.7 m above ambient river level for August. Some variation in river height was to be expected, however, the spates experienced in the period between the 17th - 19th of August were between 19-20 m³ s⁻¹, well above the 3.76 m³ s⁻¹ Q10 flows of the Blackadder Water.

The conclusion of this research is that there was no clear effect of population density at site of displacement on the homing of displaced brown trout. All three treatment groups responded similarly after tagging suggesting that disturbance may have interfered with behaviour. Suggestions for future research include using a less invasive tagging procedure, using non-invasive marking techniques examine and compare general population movements of the three treatment groups over a longer time scale and to include multiple replicates in different sites within the Blackaddder Water as an attempt to counter habitat variability.

Chapter 6: General discussion

6.1 Summary

The broad aim of this thesis was to investigate the migratory behaviour and survival of salmonids during various life history stages. This comprised two chapters exploring the anadromous stages of salmonid life history, particularly juvenile sea trout emigration (Chapter 3) and the reproductive migration of adult sea trout and Atlantic salmon (Chapter 4). The purely freshwater movement of brown trout homing after displacement was conducted (Chapter 5). When combined, these approaches can provide insight into various environmental and anthropological impacts on salmonids during freshwater migration and thus aid their conservation and management.

The seaward migration of salmonid smolts is a crucial event in their life history that is precisely timed (McCormick et al., 1998) and subject to elevated predation risk (Heggenes and Borgstrom, 1988; Carss et al., 1990; Aarestrup et al., 1999; Dieperink et al., 2001; Dieperink et al., 2002; Koed et al., 2002; Aarestrup et al., 2003; Steinmetz et al., 2003; Svenning et al., 2005a; Svenning et al., 2005b; Harris et al., 2008; Wiese et al., 2008). As such any form of delay during this life history stage can have potentially damaging consequences to the health of salmonid populations. Little work had been done on the effect of small barriers such as weirs on smolt migration before (Russell et al., 1998; Aarestrup and Koed, 2003) with most research being directed towards larger barriers such as dams (reviewed in Noonan et al., 2012) despite small obstructions being much more common place (Lucas et al., 2009). Due to this gap in the knowledge base an assessment of the effects of small barriers on smolt emigration was conducted (Chapter 3, Gauld et al., 2013). Weirs negatively affected the downstream migration of sea trout smolts during a spring emigration period with predominantly low flows, by increasing residence time at the weirs, whereas they had no apparent effect on residence time in years with normal flow conditions. It was also noted that weirs with intact crests

delayed smolts for longer than ruined weirs or weirs with cuts in their weir face. The application of these results are considered in section 6.3.

The migration of adults returning from the seas and oceans to spawn is another important life history stage for salmonids and imposes its own set of challenges. The spawning migration of Atlantic salmon and, to a degree, sea trout is a highly researched phenomenon with various anthropological (Russell et al., 1998; Thorstad and Heggberget, 1998; Gowans, 1999; Gowans et al., 2003; Thorstad et al., 2007), environmental (Smith and Smith, 1997; Orell et al., 2007; Bendall et al., 2012; Moore et al., 2012) and behavioural (Bagliniere et al., 1990; Bagliniere et al., 1991; Östergren et al., 2011) effects being noted. Despite prior research broadly illuminating the migration of sea trout and Atlantic salmon detailed local knowledge of salmonid populations is still desirable for management purposes. This is especially true when salmonids are subject to exploitation from commercial as well as sport fisheries. Chapter 4 sought to elucidate the spawning migration of salmon and sea trout within the River Tweed, as monitoring of species exploitation had highlighted differences in exploitation rate across the Tweed catchment. Results from acoustic tracking suggest that movement rates vary within the river system with salmonids moving at a slower rate the further into the river system they travel, moving fastest in the lower reaches and slowest when moving into tributaries. Results also suggest that initial movement speed within the river is related to release date, with earlier migrant moving slower than later migrants. Salmon and sea trout also utilised different areas of the river system, with salmon mostly using the lower half of the main channel and sea trout using the upper reaches of the Tweed as well as tributaries more.

Unlike their anadromous counterparts, freshwater resident brown trout do not have as pronounced migratory periods. Instead, they more likely adopt stepwise downstream movement from natal river sections to deeper more food rich river sections (Crisp, 2008). Despite this lack of pronounced migration brown trout are capable of homing migration when removed from their home range (Harcup *et al.*, 1984; Halvorsen and Stabell, 1990; Armstrong and Herbert, 1997; Nordeng and

Bratland, 2006). However, the prior examples did not offer their displaced trout an alternative to homing, such as an empty territory to exploit, as such it could be assumed that trout home to a prior held territory since they may be competitively excluded from territories at the site of displacement by resident territory holders. Considering this, Chapter 5 aimed to assess the motivations to home by offering displaced trout an area of river with multiple empty territories open to exploitation. The results from the chapter showed that there is apparently no difference in homing behaviour between fish placed in areas of river with free territories compared to control groups either displaced into fully populated sections of river or fish placed back into the area of capture.

6.2 Justification of methodology and possible limitations

Different experimental approaches were utilised to study the migration patterns of salmonids in relation to the thesis aims (Chapter 1: section 1.10). In all data chapters the use of telemetry was essential as a non-disruptive (beyond initial tagging and release) and long-range method for quantifying the migratory movements of experimental fish, as more traditional marking techniques such as Carlin tagging do not allow for the high spatial resolution and "recapture" frequency that telemetry affords (Lucas and Baras, 2001; Cooke *et al.*, 2013). The rationale for the telemetry method employed in each data chapter can be found in Chapter 2: section 2.4.

In Chapter 3 the migration of wild smolts was studied. Prior investigation into the role obstructions such as weirs play on smolt migration had previously only been studied with hatchery reared smolts (Aarestrup and Koed, 2003). The use of hatchery reared smolts in research was a necessity in many cases due to the bulky size of older tag models; much too large to implant in most wild smolts without compromising fish health leaving only larger hatchery reared smolts viable candidates. The use of wild rather than hatchery reared smolts is desirable since hatchery smolts have been shown to have lower swimming performance than wild smolts (Pedersen *et al.*, 2008) and are noted to have low survivorship during seaward emigration (Thorstad *et al.*, 2011a). However, recent advances in telemetry technology has resulted in tag miniaturisation which allows for the tagging of wild smolts (Cooke *et al.*, 2013). Modern tags can now come in diameters as small as 5 mm (6 mm at the time of study) but these small tags come with the drawback that they operate on a higher frequency (180 kHz) compared to their larger counterparts (69 kHz) meaning that 69kHz stationary ALS units (Models VR2 & VR2W – 69 kHz, Vemco Ltd, Nova Scotia, Canada) cannot detect the 180 kHz tags. They also have reduced range and life compared to 7 mm diameter, 69kHz tags. An option here would have been to buy 180 kHz ALS units (VR2W – 180 kHz, Vemco Ltd, Nova Scotia, Canada), although this would be prohibitively costly since the ALS array was intended to suit both adult and juvenile tracking. As a compromise comparatively larger 69 kHz tag models were used, either 7 mm (Model V7-2x, Vemco Ltd, Nova Scotia, Canada) or 7.3 mm (Model LP-7.3, Thelma Biotel AS, Trondheim, Norway) tags.

The disadvantage to using larger tags on smolts was that it limited that size range which could be tagged, with the 7-7.3 mm mm tags only smolts of 140 mm and upwards were tagged. This size limit was introduced to try and conserve naturalistic behaviour post tagging as over burdening experimental fish with tags can alter swimming behaviour (Jepsen et al., 2002; Cooke et al., 2011b). However, the tag to body weight ratio of the experimental smolts in Chapter 3 varied between 2 - 9.5 percent of bodyweight in the two years of study, well above the "2% rule" often adhered to in tagging studies (Winter, 1996; Peake *et al.*, 1997). Although the 2% rule can be contested, with some studies showing no impact on swimming behaviour in fish with tag burdens as high as 12% of body weight (Brown *et al.*, 1999) high tag burdens (4.5-15.7%) have been shown to adversely affect growth and survival in small (80-109 mm) Chinook salmon (Oncorynchus tshawyscha) smolts (Brown et al., 2010). In Chapter 3 fish appeared to behave normally despite high tag burdens, with all recorded fish resuming downstream movement after release. In 2011 acoustic tagged fish movement rates were not any lower than PIT tagged fish during initial migration in the Yarrow Water, suggesting that tag burden and surgery procedure did not adversely impact initial migration rate (Appendix I). Of course future research should consider adopting smaller,

lighter tags even if this does require updating ALS equipment to 180 kHz compatible units as a measure to minimise any effects of tag burden as well as to broaden the hypothetical size range of experimental fish.

Chapter 4 focused on the migratory behaviour of adult sea trout and salmon returning to spawn. The method used to capture fish was the net and cobble technique. This method was favoured as it allowed the capture of experimental fish in larger quantities than rod caught fish, despite evidence suggesting that netting has a greater adverse affect on post-release behaviour than rod capture (Mäkinen et al., 2000). By using pre-existing commercial netting stations the net was handled by skilled netsmen and also allowed comparison of yearly catches at each netting station. With the two netting stations being located within the estuary and the area of tidal influence, this allowed capture fish that had recently entered the river. However, in 2010 high numbers of fish caught at Gardo in the estuary dropped out the river system, leaving the estuary and never returning. It is noted that this happened during a warm summer when river levels were low, which prior research has shown increases the likelihood of fish leaving the estuary and returning to the sea (Solomon and Sambrook, 2004). There is also the possibility that the Tweed estuary is subject to high numbers of visits from straying fish, with the Eye Water, River Aln, River Coquet and even the River Tyne within relatively short distances from the Tweed estuary. Whatever the cause of the high number of dropouts in the Tweed estuary it merits further investigation.

The capture timing of the experimental fish in Chapter 4 was restricted by several factors. Firstly, the netting season in the Tweed has been restricted to between June and September as a measure to conserve spring salmon stocks. This means that there was no way to capture early running fish in the season. Secondly, the netting rights for a day were bought off the netting team, this was done as a way of compensating the commercial netsmen for a day's lost revenue and paying them for their labour. As a result,days when the netting had to be bought speculatively for when the highest number of running fish were expected, as means to reduce project costs. Lastly, the netting stations are within the estuary and area of tidal influence meaning

that environmental variables such as river height, tide and tidal height are important factors to consider. Netting usually took place during flood tide, when most fish were expected to enter the estuary and river. However adverse conditions such as high river flows meant that netting would be cancelled.

The way in which adults were tagged was limited by a number of factors. The number of fish caught in each shot of the net meant that large numbers of taggable fish were brought in at frequent intervals. Although fish were kept in aerated tanks prior to tagging the length of time the fish were kept in the tanks was limited to lower stress on the fish, opting for fish to be tagged and released back into the river as quickly as possible. To this extent, fish needed to be processed and tagged rapidly and with only one UK Home Office Licensed tagging team available during netting meant that only sea trout were surgically tagged. Salmon were instead intragastrically tagged under the Animals (Scientific Procedures) Act 1986 husbandry and management exclusion clause by Tweed Foundation staff. Therefore, there was a variation in tagging procedure between species, with sea trout subject to a more invasive procedure than salmon, although this does not appear to have impacted results in Chapter 4 since most statistical models did not find a difference in migration rate between species. The intragastric tagging introduced the possibility of tags being regurgitated, which has the possibility to undermine results if regurgitated tags are not detected. On average there is a 14.8% likelihood that an intragastrically tagged salmon will regurgitate their tags in the Tweed (Smith *et al.*, 1998). In future for full parity between species as well as eliminating the possibility of tag regurgitation all fish should be surgically tagged.

There were several technical challenges and difficulties during fieldwork for Chapter 5. The main technical challenge was executing a telemetry based project on a small budget. The initial way round performing radio telemetry on a small budget was re-conditioning radio tags that had been used in previous research. This involved the researcher reconditioning the tags with new batteries and recoating the tags. The main issue with this as addressed in Chapter 5 itself was the high tag failure rate due to degraded antennas. Higher tag failure was likely with in-house reconditioned tags,

considering this future research should have tags reconditioned professionally but this is entirely budget dependant as professionally reconditioned tags can cost as much as 80% of the cost of new tags.

Initially Chapter 5 was proposed to be one of three replicates within the Blackadder Water however technical difficulties cause the other two replicates to be cancelled. The replication was initially meant to be a measure to counteract discrete differences between capture, control and treatment sites used in the study as well as provide a large sample size, therefore the results in Chapter 5 are of a much lower sample size than originally intended.

6.3 Implications and management applications

The outcomes of this research highlight several implications for management that cannot be ignored. The principle outcome from Chapter 3 suggests that small in-stream structures such as weirs have detrimental effects on smolt emigration during years with low flows. The largest detrimental effects observed were increased delay and decreased migratory success, with both effects being intrinsically linked. The increased delay can be associated with desmoltification(Stefansson *et al.*, 1998) and increased susceptibility to terrestrial predators (Harris *et al.*, 2008), both of which can reduce overall migratory success. Historically weirs have been indentified as a problem for upstream migrants, which has often been alleviated by installing fish passes (Clay, 1995). However, smolt migration is often disregarded at low-head structures with physical screening, angled bar racks and surface bypasses being reserved for dams (Larinier, 2001). Compounding this, the research agenda on upstream and downstream weir and dam passage tends to be skewed towards salmonids (Noonan *et al.*, 2012) with non-salmonids being relatively neglected (Lucas and Batley, 1996; Lucas and Frear, 1997; Lucas *et al.*, 2009; Foulds and Lucas, 2013).

In many cases weir removal is a viable option and should be actively considered (Garcia de Leaniz, 2008; Kemp and O'Hanley, 2010). Bearing in mind that weirs disrupt juvenile fish movement, sediment and nutrient transport, downstream water flux and

natural river temperature, issues that cannot simply be resolved by installing fish passage facilities (Poff and Hart, 2002). This option should be highly considered within tributaries since delays in migration at barriers (such as Murrays Cauld) within tributaries can massively impact migratory success a short distance into migration. At the very least river managers and regulatory bodies should provide downstream bypass facilities as part of any future river engineering project as a measure to reduce potential delay at weirs.

In contrast, there are reasons to keep weirs in place such as the rising need for renewable energy, including small-scale hydropower (Paish, 2002; Kosnik, 2010). Despite modern Archimedean screw turbines being classified as "fish friendly" future implementation of hydropower on weirs should be carefully considered with necessary bypass facilities in place (Larinier, 2008) and the impact on non-salmonid species monitored (Bracken and Lucas, 2013). As Bracken and Lucas (2013) noted, despite sublethal damage being observed at Archimedean screws there is a very real possibility of cumulative damage as fish pass multiple hydropower schemes. This is particularly important with salmonid smolts where descaling injury (potentially from blade strikes) can reduce osmotic performance in saline environments (Zydlewski *et al.*, 2010). As such river managers should restrict the number of hydropower schemes fish can potentially encounter along a migratory corridor.

The differences in migratory destination between salmon and sea trout in Chapter 4 show that late running sea trout and salmon use different sections of the river. The sea trout tracking highlighted that the majority of sea trout in each year were derived from the Teviot Water, with other large sea trout populations such as the River Till being relatively under represented. This may be due to the Till sea trout run mainly occurring during the mid summer and therefore under represented in catches from the late summer and autumn (R Campbell *personal communication*). What this ultimately suggests is that any excessive fishing effort and over-exploitation in June-July could negatively impair certain Tweed sea trout sub-populations. Considering this, further research into the annual variation of sub-populations run timing would be of great use.

The restriction of salmon to the lower Tweed is possibly a result of the date of tagging being late Summer to Autumn, with prior research suggesting earlier running salmon move further into river catchments (Laughton, 1989; Laughton and Smith, 1992; Webb, 1992). Therefore managers should consider tagging salmon caught in the river at a much wider range of dates. Hopefully this way a much broader use of river catchment by salmon will be recorded.

The migration rate of adult salmonids moving from the mainstem into tributaries was positively related to flow within tributaries. Prior research shows that migrating adult salmonids respond positively to increased flows from their natal rivers, possibly due to increased olfactory response (Bendall *et al.*, 2012). Hence, any artificial manipulation in flow from tributaries could either impair or enhance migration into tributaries. Areas further down the Tweed catchment such as the Whiteadder and the Till are less dominated by upland areas and much more readily used for agriculture. As a result there is potential pressure put on those tributaries by water abstraction for agriculture. Managers should attempt to quantify and assess abstraction within important tributaries for salmonids given that increased tributary flow is important for migrants. Contrary to this, freshet releases by water companies within the catchment should be analysed and modified freshet programmes where more water is released in spring for smolts and autumn for adults could be assessed.

6.4 Future research

Further to expanding management applications of research continued further research is also desirable. Salmonid migration is generally a widely researched field, however there is still great scope for future research. Chapter 3 (Gauld *et al.*, 2013) largely covered the migration of smolts and the impacts of low flows in the presence of barriers. As the research base stands this is only one of three peer reviewed papers that investigate the passage problems that low head structures such as weirs impose on emigrating smolts (Russell *et al.*, 1998; Aarestrup and Koed, 2003; Gauld *et al.*, 2013). By utilising a before-after control-impact (BACI) style methodology the effects of weirs on

smolt emigration could be better and more robustly elucidated. Using multiple years with the weir in place and multiple years with the weir removed the passage efficiency and survival of smolts could be quantified with a weir both present and absent. There is also the potential for future research to compare the patterns of migration of fish from different tributaries. In this thesis the smolt migration from one tributary was studied. Broadening the research to include smolt runs from multiple tributaries within the same river system may highlight specific issues experienced by certain sub-populations in a catchment. Combining this with research into earlier autumn juvenile movements would be beneficial, as there is growing evidence that a portion of juvenile populations move downstream to lower river reaches during autumn as pre-smolts despite being physiologically incapable of entering salt water during this time of year (Youngson et al., 1983; Riley et al., 2002; Pinder et al., 2007; Riley, 2007; Ibbotson et al., 2013). This apparent life history trade off suggests that pre-smolts minimise spring migration distance at the cost of greater predator susceptibility (Ibbotson *et al.*, 2013). Undertaking these further approaches would greatly benefit the management of rivers by expanding the knowledge base on juvenile river requirements, helping to improve the health of fish stocks within a catchment.

The study of adult migration within large catchments such as the Tweed could be augmented by utilising several complimentary techniques. Microchemistry can be used to extract stable isotope information from fish scales and used to assign fish to a home river or even a tributary within a river system with high accuracy (Wells *et al.*, 2003; Adey *et al.*, 2009; Torniainen *et al.*, 2014). Future research could use this technique in combination with telemetry as a way to account for and quantify straying and possibly even to work out the prior spatial history of the fish at sea. Genetic analysis is another important tool that can greatly enhance the study of migratory fish. Current tools allow researchers to discriminate stocks of salmonids within mixed stock rivers (Ackerman *et al.*, 2011; Hess *et al.*, 2011) and investigate the genetic structure of populations within a catchment (Ellis *et al.*, 2011). Genetic analysis also allows the river of origin for straying fish recolonizing a river with an extirpated salmonid population to be determined (Ellis

et al., 2011). This is especially important in the management of rivers recovering from industrialisation and past pollution. Such tools are already being applied to the Tweed catchment and early results suggest that populations within major tributaries are genetically distinguishable from each other (Coulson *et al.*, 2013). Coupling future telemetry studies with river of origin analysis could potentially inform river managers of the degree of mixing that occurs amongst catchment subpopulations as well as pin point any discreet run timing differences amongst sub-populations.

One of the limitations in Chapter 4 was that it only included two years worth of tracking over relatively short periods of the year. Future research would greatly benefit from taking a multi year approach to telemetry studies with a large sample size of fish tagged within each month when fish capture is viable. This would allow researchers to identify stable trends in intra and inter-specific run timing and migratory behaviour, as the current data set was too small to find inter-specific as well as inter-annual differences in migratory behaviour.

Future research into the behaviour of displaced brown trout could be improved by utilising artificial streams to assess the short scale homing movements of displaced territory holders. The controlled environment would mean that multiple replicates could be performed using the same stream section with different fish. Future research could also incorporate individual variation such as behavioural syndromes to assess whether bold or shy individuals perform better post-displacement (Sih *et al.*, 2004; Höjesjö *et al.*, 2007; Adriaenssens and Johnsson, 2010; Adriaenssens and Johnsson, 2011; Höjesjö *et al.*, 2011). However, there is also scope for future field studies of displaced trout. Chapter 5 focused on very small scale displacements with brown trout being displaced under 1 km from their previously held territory, increasing the spatial scale of displacement could be a potential avenue for research. Brown trout leaving their territories in small streams, such as the Blackadder Water, and moving to deeper channels in the main river is a relatively common behaviour (Crisp, 2008). By varying the spatial scale of displacement over a variety of distances could potentially highlight a

threshold limit where the motivation for brown trout to home becomes less prevalent than the adoption of a new territory.

Appendix I: Chapter 3 supplementary material

PIT tracking sea trout and salmon in the Yarrow Water

I.I Methods

In 2011 cohorts of trout and salmon smolts were tagged with PIT tags for a smaller scale migration study within the Yarrow Water using PIT telemetry. The rationale for this was to help assess whether initial mortality of acoustic tagged smolts in 2010 was a byproduct of the tagging procedure, therefore utilising a less invasive tagging procedure was desirable as a control. The anaesthesia and pre-tagging procedure used for the acoustic tagged smolts in Chapter 3: section 3.2.1 was also used for the PIT tagged fish. Salmon and trout smolts sufficiently large for PIT tagging (over 120 mm in fork length) were placed on a V-shaped surgical table; an incision (4-5 mm) was made on the ventral side of the fish anterior to the pelvic girdle. A 23 mm HDX PIT tag was then implanted in to the body cavity through the incision. PIT tagged smolts were released at the same release sites as the acoustic tagged smolts in Chapter 3: section 3.2.1, except smolts were not released at site C due to the inability to install a PIT loop in that section of river. The length of PIT tagged trout did not differ between release sites A and B (Mann-Whitney U test: n=17, W=31, p>0.05; Table I.I). However, the length of PIT tagged trout was significantly smaller than acoustic tagged trout (Mann-Whitney U Test: n=40, W=185, p<0.001), which is likely a consequence of higher length requirements to acoustically tag trout compared to PIT tags. The number of trout smolts tagged was so low due to priority being given to acoustic tagging trout smolts rather than PIT tagging. PIT tagged salmon also did not differ in length between release sites (Mann-Whitney U Test: *n*=101, *W*=1441, *p*>0.05; Table I.I).

0						
Release site	Species	Tagging date	Number tagged	Length [mean ± SD (range), mm]	Weight [Mean ± SD (range), g]	Tag/body weight ratio [mean (range), %]*
Release site A	-	Total release site A	56	132.1 ± 9.1 (120 -155)	22.8 ± 4.8 (16 – 38)	2.7 (1.6 – 3.8)
Release site A	salmon	Total salmon	49	131.3 ± 9 (120 -155)	22.5 ± 4.8 (16-38)	2.8 (1.6 – 3.8)
Release site A	salmon	22/04/2011	16	132.8 ± 9.3 (120 -155)	22.9 ± 5.2 (17 – 38)	2.7 (1.6 – 3.5)
Release site A	salmon	24/04/2011	9	134.9 ± 6.1 (125 -146)	24.3 ± 2.3 (21 – 28)	2.5 (2.1 – 2.9)
Release site A	salmon	25/04/2011	9	125.1 ± 6.6 (120 -140)	19.9 ± 3.4 (17 – 28)	3.1 (2.1 – 3.5)
Release site A	salmon	26/04/2011	11	131.6 ± 10.8 (120 -154)	23.0 ± 6.5 (16-37)	2.8 (1.6 – 3.8)
Release site A	salmon	27/04/2011	4	129.8 ± 8.7 (123 -142)	20.8 ± 3.8 (18-26)	3.0 (2.3 – 3.3)
Release site A	Trout	Total trout	7	137.7 ± 8.5 (125 -150)	25.3 ± 4.4 (21 – 33)	2.4 (1.8 – 2.9)
Release site A	Trout	22/04/2011	2	137.5 ± 17.7 (125 -150)	27.5 ± 7.8 (22 – 33)	2.3 (1.8 – 2.7)
Release site A	Trout	04/05/2011	5	137.8 ± 5.4 (132 -146)	24.4 ± 3.2 (21 – 29)	2.5 (2.1 – 2.9)
Release site B	-	Total release site B	62	131.0 ± 9.4 (120 -166)	22.4 ± 5.2 (13 – 47)	2.8 (1.3 – 4.6)
Release site B	salmon	Total salmon	52	129.1 ± 7.5 (120 -149)	21.4 ± 3.9 (13 – 31)	2.9 (1.9 – 4.6)
Release site B	salmon	22/04/2011	18	127.2 ± 7.9 (120 -145)	19.9 ± 2.7 (16 – 25)	3.1 (2.4 – 3.8)
Release site B	salmon	24/04/2011	8	128.3 ± 6 (120 -137)	21.5 ± 3.6 (18 – 28)	2.9 (2.1 – 3.3)
Release site B	salmon	25/04/2011	8	130.3 ± 5.5 (120 -138)	23.3 ± 3.2 (18 – 29)	2.6 (2.1 – 3.3)
Release site B	salmon	26/04/2011	14	131.1 ± 7.4 (120 – 145)	22.9 ± 3.8 (17 – 31)	2.7 (1.9 – 3.5)
Release site B	salmon	27/04/2011	4	129.5 ± 13.1 (121-149)	18.3 ± 7.5 (13 – 29)	3.7 (2.1 – 4.6)
Release site B	trout	Total trout	10	141.3 ± 11.6 (127-166)	27.7 ± 7.8 (20 – 47)	2.3 (1.3 – 3)
Release site B	trout	24/04/2011	1	135	27	2.2
Release site B	trout	25/04/2011	1	127	20	3.0
Release site B	trout	26/04/2011	1	131	23	2.6
Release site B	trout	27/04/2011	1	140	21	2.9
Release site B	trout	04/05/2011	6	146.7 ± 11.7 (135-166)	31 ± 8.4 (24 – 47)	2.0 (1.3 – 2.5)

Table I.I: Summary data for smolts PIT tagged in 2011. The release sites are shown on Figure 3.1.

* Tag to body weight ratio is calculated from masses in air.

The PIT detection loop set up and testing was the similar to the described setup in section 5.2.7. Unlike in section 5.2.7 the loops were constructed in a figure of eight arrangement to boost the inductive field range. The loops were placed at two sites, Foulshiels 1.39 km below release site B and Philiphaugh 4.65 km below release site B. The two sites differed in loop width with Philliphaugh being 22.6 m wide and Foulshiels 20.6 m wide, the loop heights were similar with both loops being approximately 0.9 m high at their highest point. Both sites varied in depth across the stream width with Philiphaugh being 0.62 m at its deepest point during base flow and Foulshiels being 0.56 m at its deepest point during base flow. Data from the readers were collected every 2 days and the batteries were changed to reduce the chance of data loss as well as to prevent brown outs on the PIT detection array due to battery drain. A further two acoustic ALS positions were placed in the Yarrow Water within 100 m of the PIT two detection loops in an effort to provide as close a match as possible when comparing emigration speeds of acoustic and PIT tagged smolts within the Yarrow Water.

I.II Results

The emigration speeds of smolts tagged with acoustic tags versus smolts tagged with PIT tags was compared using data from the PIT loops and the Yarrow ALS positions. There was no apparent difference in emigration rate (Mann-Whitney U Test: n=40 W = 146, p>0.05; Figure I.I), although this may be a consequence of low sample sizes of PIT tagged trout. When the downstream movement rate of salmon (PIT only) and trout (Acoustic and PIT records) was compared there was a significant difference, with trout emigrating at a much higher rate than salmon (Mann-Whitney U Test: n=87, W=557, p< 0.001). It is however important to note that these results were compounded by the disruption of the PIT detection loops caused by spates during 5th - 10th of May and 21st -25th of May, meaning that the data has several gaps.



Figure I.I: Box plot of the movement rates (body lengths per second) of sea trout moving in the Yarrow Water between release and the Philiphaugh PIT loops/ALS position. Data are presented as box plots, showing median, upper and lower quartiles, whiskers represent the data range.



Figure I.II: Box plot of the movement rates (body lengths per second) of sea trout and salmon moving in the Yarrow Water between release and the Philiphaugh PIT loops/ALS position. Data are presented as box plots, showing median, upper and lower quartiles, whiskers represent the data range.

I.III Discussion

The emigration rate of sea trout smolts tagged with either acoustic transmitters or PIT tags in the Yarrow Water was not significantly different suggesting that the tag implantation procedure was not detrimental to the initial swimming ability and behaviour of acoustic tagged smolts. Previous research on North American salmonid species has found that acoustic tagging has no apparent impact the swimming speed of fish passing through surface bypass channels (Steig *et al.*, 2005). However, it has been noted in hatchery reared chinook salmon smolts that migration speed and survival was lower in radio tagged smolts compared to PIT tagged smolts (Hockersmith *et al.*, 2003). Trout appear to migrate at a much higher rate than salmon this might be a consequence of trout being generally larger than salmon, although this should have been accounted for by using relative rates rather than absolute speeds. The current study was hampered by interference from high river flows which resulted in the PIT loops being partially displaced numerous times, reducing detection efficiency drastically. Therefore the possibility of PIT tagged fish moving past the PIT loops without being detected existed, meaning that any comparison of initial survival between PIT and acoustic tagged smolts was not possible.

Science of the Total Environment 428,460 (2013) 435,442



Contents lists available at SciVerse ScienceDirect.





journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/scitotenv

Reduced flow impacts salmonid smolt emigration in a river with low-head weirs

N.R. Gauki ^{a,b,*}, R.N.B. Campbell ^b, M.C. Lucas ^a

⁵ School of Holegani and Prometical Sciences Dischart Charactery Study Reput Perform USA JH, UK, ¹ The Present Feature Sciences of Sciences (Charactery Sciences), NY

ніснісяних

· Trist evidence of impacts of small weits on wild salmonid small emigration

- Weirs delayed trout spoir in gration, especially at low river flows
- · Enfortation success was reduced in a low-flow season compared to a normal flow season
- Weir passage ethnications differed with weir design.
- Small organization response to daily flow differed between high and low flow years.

ARTICLE INFO

Antida habirga

Kowyords:

Low Brea

Solawi terah

Study migration Tabliat fogneristion Rive to betructions

Available online secon

ABSTRACT

The impacts of large dams on the hydrology and ecology of riversystems are well understood, you the impacts of Roce vod 20 January 2013 low head structures are poorly known. While impacts of small weirs on upstream migrating fish have long been Received in reviser, form 19 April 2013 Anne avid 20 April 2015 Ector: C.E.W. Steinberg

mitigated by fish ladders. It is assumed that downstreamining after of surface-oriented lishes is unalticated under natural flow regimes. Fo test thus, the effects of low head were and the influence of their flow on the migration of brown front (Solwo traffect shocks in the River Tweed, UK, were examined. Movements of accessic lagged smalls were quantified in 2010 and 2011 using arromatic listering stations and manual tracting throughout the inigitation route in both years, succits eshibited indications in a state to the state of the state of the interview of the state o (20% of study period) compared to 2011 when more twocal flows predominated (0% of study period below Q95). Smolts experience significantly longer delays at weirs during 2010 than 2011, associated with the differenc hydrographs during emigration as well as well design. Flow compensions within the study periods and historical records show that low flows experienced in 2010 were not incusted. The sydmology behaviour o 'smotist in relation to 'key conditions differest between years, with smotistic 2010 increasing their rate of most ment in relation to increasing flow at a faster rate than smolts in 2011. This is the first study to demonstrate river flow, impacts on the mieration success of wild samonic's poins at small wells. Botal st small we is are common in overs and because soring summer low. Tow periods may become more frequent with climate charge (based on UKOP09 models) and allenul river hydrology further research and improved management is needed to reduce the impacts of low over flows in combination with low head weirs on salmentd small migration.

© 2013 Elsevie, B.V. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

In many developed comunies, there is a long history of river madification, and as a result, in-river structures such as clams and weirs are present in half of the world's rivers (Dynesics and Nilsson, 1994; Nilsson et al. 2005). Such modification has been integral to human population growth through processes such as flood deleane, power concration and farming in floodplains (Nilsson et al., 2005) Poff and Hart, 2002). However, in river barriers such as doms and weirs have a

major role in the fragmentation of flevial coosystems (Dynesius and Nilsson, 1994; Fullerton et al., 2010; Jungwirth, 1998; Kemp and D'Hanley, 2010), In-river barriers can have major impacts on fish populations by preventing or restricting movement to habitats required for essential stages of fish life history (Branm et al., 2012; Lucas and Baras, 2001; Eucas and Batley, 1986; Eucas et al., 2009; Wollebaek et al., 2011). In river barriers not only impact fish populations by restricting essential movement, there is also major impacts on fish habitation after ation of the downstream thosof water and sediment, nument movement and water temperatures within rivers (Peff and Hart, 2002). The effects of migration obstacles depend on factors suchas fish species, river bydrology and barner type, with effects varying from short delays to complete blockage (Kemp and O'Hanley, 2010;

 $^{^{-1}}$ Corresponding authorian School of Sio agical and Biomedical Sciences, Durbam University, S with Sciences to a courts SQL08 , S10 \pm 440 SC15 3525

⁸⁻no@udirese (...,as., hf3du hamacuk (N.S. Ga.)d)

^{0048-9607/8 -} scentorit matter & 2013 Elsevier E.V. All rights reserved. http://da.doi.org/10.1016@iscitoters/2010.04.06/

Northcore, 1998). In Europe, legislations such as the Water Framework Direction (WTD; 2000/00/FC) require free passage for migratory fish travelling between areas of river essential for their life history, such as juvenile emigration from matal creak and adult spuxoning migrations. Falue to comply can result in the river being assigned less than "Good ecologica, status" and may result in sanctions.

the seaward migration of juvenile anadromous salmonids (amoits) is a crucial event in their life history. Smolulication is a period of great morphological behavioural and physiological change when juvenile salmonids develop various adaptations that enable them to survive ar sea (Dehowski et al., 1999a, 1999b); Dentor, and Saunders, 1972; Lysford and Staumes, 1998; McCormick et al., 1998). The smolt migratory period is precisely timed with photoperiod, river discharge, and temperature playing determinate roles in its commencement (Björnsson e. al. 1995; Björnsson et al. 2010; McConnick, 1994; McConnick et al. 2000, 2007, 2002). Throughout migration, smoles are subject to elevated predation risk from manmatian, avian and fishpredators (Aarestrup et al., 1999); Aarestrup and Roed, 2003; Caras, et al. 1930; Dieperink et al., 2002, 2001; Flamis et al. 2008; Heggenev and Borgstrom, 1988; Koed et al., 2002; Steinmetz et al., 2005; Svenning et al., 2005a, 2005b; Wiese et al., 2008). Delays at river obstructions during such a timing-specific and volnerable life history stage can potentially have large impacts on the survival of smolts and. the health of salmonid stocks as a whole.

The impacts of large dams on the hydrology and ecology of temperiod river systems, including downstream lish passage, especially of economically important salmonids, are relatively well known in general, downstream salmonid passage efficiency past dams through bypass facilities is high (74.6.8) based on recent quantitative assessment: (Norman et al. 2012). However, high smalt mortalities due to both physical damage and predation have been observed at major impoundments and hydro-power lacilities (Aarestrup et al., 1959) Hockersmith et al., 2005; Keefer et al., 2012; Muir et al., 2001a, 2001b; Baymoné 1979, 1988: Smith et al. 2006, 2002; Williams et al. 2001). Low Hows due to regulation in river reaches also cause delays in smolt emigration. and result in increased duration of exposure to mortality risks (Aarestrup and Koed, 2003; Keeler et al., 2012). However, the impacts of low-head structures, such as simple overflow wears, are poorly lanuwn for downstream migrants (Encas and Baras, 2001) with the execution of bottom-prientated freshwater cels (Acou et al., 2003). While impacts of small weirs on invitesmi migrating fish (lamas and Frear, 1997: Ovidio and Philippart 2002) have long been mitigated by fish ladders designed specifically to assist upstream passage (Clay, 1695), average passage efficiencies are relatively low (41.7%) (Noonanet al. 2012), and the prevence of passage facilities is not always guaranteed to mitigate bassage concerns (Rescoe and Hinch, 20/0) However, it is generally assumed that downstream migration of wild. surface-oriented fishes such as salmonic smolts is relatively unaffected and that they will pass simple overflowing wours unhundered under reasonably natural flow regimes (Lucas and Baras, 2001). Some studies on passage of hardbery-reared smolts past small weirs, in particular that of Aanestrup and Roed (2003), strongly contradict this. To test this assumption for wild fish, the effects of low-head weirs and the influence of natural variations in river flow on the migration behaviour and survival of anadromous brown trout (Solmo truth) smolts were examined in the River Tweed, UK, a catchment with very strong wild. migratory salmonid stocks.

2. Study areas

The study was carried out on the River Tweed in southern Scotland, which drains west to east and empties to the North Sal. The Tweed is the sixth largest river in mainland finitain and the servind largest in Scotland and has some of the largest Atlantic salaring Salaro solaring, and anatomnous brown throat produktions in the UK (Cardinet, 1989; Sheail, 1998). The Tweed catchment covers 5000 km² with an

estimated 2160 kilometres of the main channel and tributanes accessible to lish (Cardiner, 1989). The water quality of the river is very highwith there being very little pollution present (Cenrie, 1997). The River Tweed is a designated Site of Special Scientific Interest (5551) within the UK and is an EU Special Area of Conservation (SAC) for Atlantic salmon and lampreys. Compared to many rivers, there are relatively few archropogenic impacts, and the hydrology, although modified, retains high natural variability in discharge. Several low-head engineered structures occur within the River Tweed's main channel, downstream of one of the key spawning tributanes, the Ettrick Water, as well as in the Ettrick itself (Fig. 1). The Ettrick is a regulated river, and its main tributary the Yarrow Water is also regulated at its outflow from St. Marys. Loch, 20 km upstream of its confluence with the Pitrick. The overage annual flow on the Yarrow is 5.58 $m^2\,s^-$, while on the Ettrick, it is 15.1 m² s $^{-1}$, and their combined rate linent areas come to 501 km². The course of the river under investigation is characterised by multiple low head structures, which are termants of light industry, must of which are now redundant (Fig. 1, Table 1),

3. Methods

3.1. Smolt conture and tagging

Front smolts were captured in a trap on the Variaw between the 1st of April and the 1st of June in 2010 and 2011. The smolt usp consisted of a meaned box trap placed in the outwash of the smolt and debits screen of a lish fare.

the statelts were removed from the trap and immediately placed in a holding tub filled with highly aerated river water, individual fish likely to be large enough for tagging were placed in an induction. tank and anaesthetised using Phenoxyethanol (0.3 mH1⁻¹), and their fork length (mm) and weight (g) were recorded before those sufficiently large for tagging (over 145 mm in fork length) were placed. on a V-shaped surgical table. An incision (12-14 mm) was made on the ventral side of the fish anterior to the pelvic girale. A miniature coded acoustic transmitter (either Model V7-2x, 7 num diameter, 18 mm length, 1/4 e weight in air. Vemce Ltd. Nova Scotia, Canada; or Model 1P 7.3, 7.3 num diameter, 18 num length, 1.9 g weight in air. Theima Biotel AS. Trendheim, Nerway) was then implanted in to the peritoneal ravity through the incision. Tags were chosen to have code repeat periods of 20-60 s and estimated lives of 100 days. The incision was closed with three independent sutures (4.0 Vicryl Rapide Ethicon Ltd. Livingston, U.K.). The gills were aspirated with a mixture of dilute Phenoxyethanol and river water during the early stages of the proce done before switching to 1008 river water during the later stages of the procedure. All tagging was carried out under UK Home Office License and complied with the UK Animals (Scientific Procedures) Act 1988.

Once the procedure was complete, the fish were returned to a recovery tub filled with highly aerated water. When recovered, the fish were placed in a keep hox in the intake channel overnight before release into the over; no mortalities occurred during these procedures. Details of the fish released in the two seasons are given in Table 2. there was no significant difference between the lengths of smolts tagged in 2010 and 2011 (Mann Whitney 0; n = 103, Z = -0.445,p > 0.05). Release was always in groups that included untagged fish (since smolts migrate in aggregations), within 24 h of tagging, in to a section of the river 100 m below the point of capture. Due to high losses of tagged smalts within the upper study section in 2010, tagged smalts were released at two additional release sites: 2 km below the point of capture and 200 m downstream of the Murray Cauld as a way to test the impact of the weinon migration in 2011 (Table 2, E_{Z} , 1). The Morray Cauld is the only infact in-river structure on the interation route and sohas only a fish rows as an alternative to haveage over its creat. The lengths of smolts in the three release groups in 2011 were not


Fig. 1. Map of the Bive "Twood showing as the major mixture is well as the migration much downar namine in the Yanow Wate a Gravit-base denote the tabase sine along with white downar down in the Yanow Wate a Gravit-base sine along with white downar downar downar and white downards for SEW down gauging stations (10.5). Black base indicate the site, which ever sources.

significantly different (Knoskal Wallis: $n=60,\,\chi^2=1.0892,\,df=2,\,p>0.05).$

3.2. Accustic tracking

Accustic tracking was carried out via a combination of fixed automatic listening stations (ALS) and manual tracking at 69 KHz to track fish survival to ea, Fixed ALS positions (Models VR2 & VR2W, Vernet Ed, Nova Scotia, Canada) were set approximately 11 km apart along the migration roots. Sites were chosen to detect lish as they approached cross-fiver werts or other features of interest, with acoustic toggers located in calm water to give reliable recording of tags, based upon field base. Positioning of Leggers at some acts was limited by the availability of calm, deep water as well as the access. Togging stations an weirs were located 50–100 m upstream of obstructions. In the estuary, multiple stations were placed in hoft the inner and outer estuary to may effective coverage. ALS stations were downloaded on a weekly basis during the study period; these data allowed for the locations of each fish to be estimated and help determine areas to target for manual tracking. Average detection efficiencies for the ALSs were 89% in 2010. (100% excluding station 5) and 90% in 2011.

Manual tracking was corried out on foot by evading in shellow stortches and by boat in the deeper sectors using a Vernee VR100 (Verneo Lid, Kova Sodia, Granta) with a VII110 Directional Hydro phone attached (Verneo Lid, Neva Sodia, Lanada). The hydrophene was planed in the calmest water locally available and slowly rotated. Range testing was conducted by placing a cost tag in a known position and then measuring the distance at which the test tag became undetectable on manual tracking equipment, this was repeated in several different river sections with varying hydromecphological conditions. In field tracking conditions, with the hydrophene kept fully submerged, the range varied between 100 m in deep poors to less than 10 m in fast flowing riffles; this expected as were reached distances of equating to the effective range. Fish locations were recorded

Table I

Name of structure	st ur lute statts	Year shortore b, ilt	50. cuire Wieth (in:	Sur euro head loss (m)	Tish pass present.	toest on ('alited a longituda')
Minnay Guild	In.act	1847	65	3	Dool and spill	55.537667. 2.874706
Melmee Crold	Rumons	No, Lrown	10.4	1	Acus	55.3(P307, - 2726349
Martual Cardd	C	Erfault in 1900s	98	3	Dod and split	55,5525, 2, 2,67,3352
Rutherlood Caud	Rithous	Not known	153	L	None	55.577392.555020
Kelso Callil	C	Middle ages	30.24	>	Millight pool and qu'il	55,598,025,2,4363-8
Hendersyse Caulo	C	Not known	230	2	Popi And spill	55,624332. 2,332138
the likes tould	÷	No, known	10.7	6.1	Acus	55.54 ¹⁹ 52, - 2.250.354
Coldstream bridge ap.mn	C	1784	96	GL 1	None	55,634907. 2,241373
Milbe Gruden Caulo	Rannec.	No. known	S6	G. 1	Neue	55.391505 2195022

Structure crosses over at an angle to the flow.

Si mutayahara Bulsun	lis tagyol in 2010 and 20	gyd ir 2010 and 2011. The release sites are known ordrig 1					
Belease site	Tagis'ng cate	Nu nite tagged	Fork length [mean — SD (range), mm]	Weigh ±ean			
Release site A	29/04/2010	11	$16k2 \pm 10.1 \ (145 \ 190)$	40.0 ±			
Befrase si cuè	07/05/20 0	20	$61.5 \pm 15.5 (140 - 302)$	41.4 =			
Release site A	13:05/2018	9	$175.9 \pm 18.3 \; (106 \; 209)$	$54.0 \pm$			
21.0	leta'	41	$165 \pm 17 (140 - 903)$	$455 \pm$			
Release site A	21.04/2011	3	135 - 3.7 (150-103)	33			
Be ease site A	22,5:462311	5	$164.5 \pm 18.5 (142-189)$	$45.4 \pm$			

Release site A	29/04/2010	11	$165.2 \pm 10.1 \ (145 \ 190)$	$40.0 \pm 15.2 \; (50.77)$	4.0 (25°C.9)
Beferater vice A	07/05/20 0	20	$61.5 \pm 15.5 (140 - 302)$	$41.4 \pm 13.4 (23-6^{\circ})$	5.0 (23-8.3)
Release site A	13:05/2018	9	$175.8 \pm 18.3 \ (106 \ 200)$	$54.0 \pm 18.0 (29/80)$	3.9 (2.3, 6.3)
2110	leta'	41	$165 \pm 17 (140 - 203)$	45.5 ± 15.2 (20-62)	4.5 (2.3-8.5)
Release site A	21.04/2011	3	135 - 3.7 (150-103)	33 0.5 (32 48)	3.2 (3.9, 3.9;
De ease site A	22,5462011	5	$104.0 \pm 18.0 (142-189)$	$45.7 \pm 10.2 \ (0.1-62)$	4.c (25-c.1)
Belease site A	26,04/20 1	<u> </u>	82.2 17 (139-198)	59.5 I7.3 (33-76)	3.3 (2.5-6.4)
Release site A	01/05/2001	7	$105\pm50.9~(140,220)$	$50.1 \pm 32.6 (27.97)$	0.1 (20, 0.3)
Belevate si cuò	Tetal	20	65.7 ± 34.3 (140–120)	$48.0 \pm 12.4 (23-97)$	4.6 (2.0-8.3)
Release site B	21.04/2011	1	$169 \pm 13 (145 \ 175)$	$44 \pm 11.2 (31, 53)$	4.6 (3.6 - 6.1)
Brinawi vi o B	23/54/20 1	5	61.5 ± 20.3 (147–197)	41.6 ± 12.5 (32–62)	4.5 (31-5.9)
Release site B	25:04/2011	÷	161.5 - 7.3 (154-171)	42 7 (35-49)	4.6 (3.9 - 5.5)
Belease site II	042,6220-1		$73.5 \pm 10.5(1.54 \pm 30.2)$	50.5 ± 12.2 (34–65)	4. (22-5.5)
Beleake site B	Total	20	.64.4 (± 15.0 (145-302)	45.2 13.3 (386)	43 (22 -6.1
Recease site C	21.5452001	2	263.0 ± 20.2 (100–175)	43.3 ± 10.9 (28–55)	1.5 (05 - 0.8)
Beirawi si a C	23,64,20 (5	71.7 ± 6.1 ; $60-152$)	$53.5 \pm 5.3 (40{-}62)$	3.5 (31-4.5)
Release site C	23:04/2001	4	$173.8 \pm 23.6 \ (142 \ 190)$	55.5 ± 19.5 (3), 755	2.7 (2.4, 6.1)
Brinser vite L	04/6220-1	,	67.1 ± 2000 (145–205)	$45.9 \pm 40.5 \ (2.465)$	4.2 (2.2-5.5)
Release site C	lota.	20	$169.4 \pm 16.8 \ (142 \ 205)$	49.8 - 16.1 (28/85)	42 (22 6.5)
201	lela -	60	$163.6 \pm 18.2 \ (140 - 220)$	$44.9 \pm 17/5 (21 - 92)$	4.7(20-8.7)

* Tag to body weight ratio is calculated from masses in air.

by the VR100 inbuilt GP5 unit and later stored in a GIS database. Blind operator training was also used to ensure manual trackers could deten. tags in various river sections, enabling maximum confidence that tags were not missed during namual tracking.

In 2010, 10 tags were deployed in mesh bags in the river to estimate tag fuilure rate. As a further control, 10 tags were deployed know on the river bed to determine whether, and under what circumstances, tags last by Lsh, or following predation and subsequent tag egestion, were moved passively by flows and what their detectability was,

3.3. Environmental data

River flow is recorded along the smolt migration route at the Philiphaugh gauging station of the Scattish Environment Protection Agency (SFPA) on the lower Yarrow and also at their Lindean. (Burick), Boleside and Sprouston (Both Tweed) and at the Norham gauging station of the Environment Agency of England and Wales (EA)(Fig. 1). Historic flow records for these stations were obtained from the Centre for Ecology and Hydrology (CEH) National River. Flow Archive (NRFA).

4. Results

4.1. Inter-annual variations in survival out to sea and passage efficiencies al wairy

Through the combined use of stationary ALS receivers and margaltracking survival estimates were calculated for the 43 tagged smolts. released in 20-0 and the 60 released in 2011. The approximate distance. travelled by each smelt was measured from its last known location. Lags that were either missing alter repeated manual tracking trips or repeat. edly found at the same site, without any movement on successive manual tracking trips, were assumed to be smolt mortalities. In total, (even fish (168) in 2010 and three fish in 2011 (58) were assumed to be dead in the river after repeatedly being found in the same location in the river. Conversely, 23 tagged lish (SSS) in 2010 and 30 tagged lish (50%) in 2011 were assumed to have been removed from the system by remestrial predators after a cessation in logged movements and not being detected after several manual macking trips. All of the tags deployed in the river as controls in retrievable mesh bass operated for their expected durations and SUS of the tags deployed loose on the over bed could be detected over their study period, none maying more than 1 m.

+ SD (cruge), pl

Teshody weight raik.

mean (range), S[*

In 2010, only 15% of the 43 released smolts were detected leaving the river on the outer estrucy logger, whereas 45% of the 60 released stucits reached there in 2011. One notable difference between years was the variation in mortality around the Murray Cauld: in 2010, a 44% decline in survival was observed there compared to a 9% decline in 2011 (Fig. 2). There was a slight variation in survival out to sea for release sites A and B (above the Murray Cauld) and U (below it) in 2011, which had relatively normal flow, with 40%; 55% and 40% survival being observed, respectively (Fig. 2). In 2010, there was a significant difference in smolt length between successful migrants and unsuccessfol migrants, with successful smalls being larger (Mran Whitney Q; n = 43, Z = -2.07, p = 0.044). This trend, may be a result of the low number of successful shoils compared to the much larger number of unsuccessful smalts. However, in 2011 there was no difference in



Fig. 2. Consider versus visable 'accustically targed binow much small singly the out to $ssam \geq 0.0$ and for three separate release g to ps in 2011, Plack we find that represent veries along the origination policy. (Measured from the furthest optics) — clease ps int down to the eduary.

438 Table 2 length between successful and unsuccessful migrants (Mann-Whitney $D_i u = 60, Z = -0.647, \mu > 0.05$).

For both years, a significant negative relationship between distance travelled from release site and cohort survival was recorded (2010: linear regression: n = 43, $g^2 = 0.405$, F = 12.064, p = 0.005. Fig. 2: 2011: linear regression: n = 60, $R^2 = 0.84$, F = 84.731, p < 0.001, Fig. 2). For all three release sites in 2011, there were significant negative relationships between the distance travelled from release sites and robert survival (release vite A: linear regression; $n=20, R^2=0.52,$ f = 15.263, p = 0.002; Fig. 2. release size B: linear regression; n = 20, $R^2 = 0.72$, F = 37.305, p < 0.001; Fig. 2, relevise site C: linear regression; n = 20, $R^2 = 0.73$, F = 25.538, $\rho = 0.001$; Fig. 2). Subsetquently, two of the smolts tagged in 2011 were detected 20 km up the estuary of the River Tees on an acoustic array associated with a separate study. The Tees estuary is approximately 144 km south of the Tweed estuary, along the North Sea coast, and the tags were detected for periods of 4.3 and 60.4 h, after respective periods of 20 and 10 days following escapement from the Tweed estuary. These detections fit in with prior Carlin tag data from the Tweed that shows smalts moving down the UK coastline close to shore and in neighbouring estuaries (Campbell, araptialished data).

The passage efficiencies at the weirs with AIS positions immediactly above them different between years, at Muraw Caula passage efficiency differed markedly herween years with 468 and 1008 passage efficiency being observed in 2010 and 2011, respectively. Differences in passage efficiency between 2010 and 2011, respectively. Differences in passage efficiency between 2010 and 2011, were also observed on both Melrose Cauld and Mertourn Cauld but were not as pronuctioned (Table 3). What is important to more is that we'r design differs between all three weirs and Murray Cauld is the only fully future we'r.

1.2. The delay of samits during seaward migration in 2019 and 2011 and its impact on small movement rate.

When comparing the mean ground speeds of migrating smolts in 2010 and 2011, using the first detection of each smolt on each ALS position along the migration route and factoring in each river section to be analysis, a significant difference was observer. (ANOW: v = 2.05, E = 5.573, p < 0.001; Fig. 4) with smalls in 2011 maying significantly factor along the migration route. Ground speed data for 2011 in the river sections between release the B and logging cation 1 as well as release site C and logging station 2010.

Records of the migration delays, reflected through residence times experienced, by smalls at logger localities in both 2010 and 2011, were retrieved from stationary ALS receivers. Belay was quantified by the dutation of time between the first recording and the last recording on an ALS for each tagged strolt. But form station by were not included, since this logger was inefficient due to noise resulting from its suboptimal location. In general, smalls, experienced more delay in 2010 toma 2011. Smolts were more again call includes, since the 2011 Smolts were more again and the layed in 2010 tomation in all freehwater ALS values, sation 1 (Mann-Wilthere 0, n = 54, Z = -50, p < 0.001; Table 3), station 2



Bg 3, time spend by relational sensits of Ale posture (delay) that were within the imput dimention sense of it time statistics (delay) that were within the imput dimension set of the sense as beep out showing median upper that every postflax and near (5,p) coulds, but have been upper dimension of the sense and the sense of the sense set of the set of the set of the sense set of the set of

(Mann Waitney 6: n = 47, Z = -2.33, p = 0.02; Table 3), station 3 (Mznn–Whitney II ; $\sigma=-32, Z$ 2.712, n = 0.011; Tzhle 3), station 4 (Mann–Witiney 0; $n=15, Z=-2.965, \rho=0.002;$ Table 3), station -6 (Mann–Whitey 1); $\nu=20, \ Z=-3.244, \ \eta=0.001;$ Table 3) and station 7 (Mann-Whitney D: n = 24, 2 = -2.315, p=0.02; Table 3). However, there was no significant difference in delay in the tweed estuary between 2010 and 2011 (Mann-Whitney $U_{1}^{*}n = .13, Z = -0.136, p > 0.05$; Table 3), suggesting that either the factors influencing delay within the river were not present or were of less importance within the estuary or that a different set of lactors govern estuarine movements. Regrouping the ALS delay data into two groups, "obstructed" where the ALS stations are within 100 m of an in river structure (stations 1-2 and 3) and "unobstructed" where the ALS stations are in a tree flowing section of river (stations 4, $\ddot{\mathbf{u}}$ and 7), it is observed that delay was significantly higher at observed. sections compared to unobstructed sections in 2010 (Mann-Whitney U; median obstructed = 108.9, median mobstructed = 4.7, n = 80, 2.865, $\rho = 0.004$; Fig. 3). Conversely, there was a lack of signifi-Z = rant difference in delay duration between obstructed and coolistructed. river sections in 2011 (Mann-Whitney U: median obstructed = 1.48,

Table Y

Delex and har for passage efficiencies at MS positions along the sholl migration more duragh the river and estimate (station 5 was not listed due to its efficient sample day recorded there;

MS statio -	1 - modiats ly opsidearn of in civer structure	hoorise: structure characteristics	3010 Delay modian (Q_1, Q_2) (min)	20-1 Defay, and an (Q, Q, () (mm)	2010 Passager ethniency (K)	2011 Passage efficiency (5)
1	Yes	Intact	4497.8 (106.9 22029.4)	3.8~(2.7,26.4)	46	100
2	76-<	Rui cus	7.1 (1.8–18.9)	2.1(0.9-0.5)	76	35
3	Yes	Cut	1.11 (0.2 - 2.7)	C.1 (0.1, 0.3)	CD	94
1	N0	-	$\sim r (1.i \text{-} s 1 x)$	0.5 (0.1 - 0.2)	-	-
6	50	-	3(3.18.0)	C.O. (0.1 – 1.1)	-	-
7	30		4.7(2.7,11.7)	10(0.9,2.7)		
6	Nu	-	460 (61.6-1244.8)	3143 (46- 7162)	-	-

median unobstructed = 0.97, n = 129, Z = -1.767, p = 0.077; Egs. 1 and 4).

4.3. Variation in flow conditions between 2016 and 2011 and its influence on smolt ground speed.

Using mean daily flow data retrieved from SEPA and the FA and flow duration curves from the CEH NRFA, the flow conditions aking the migration reute during the typical smalt migration period (1 April to 30 June) in 2010 and 2011 were analysed. The Indean SEPA gauging station was used as a proxy for the flow at the Murray Cauld as it is approximately 6 km downstream from the worr, and there are no large urbataries joining the Tutick in this section of rises. The two years' flows at Lindean during the Key negration period. Effect, markrelly, with mean daily flows declining below the Q95 flow for 18 days in 2010 and not at all in 2011. There were several high-flow events in 2011 whereas the only flow increases in 2010 were the results of additional methy freshets from Sc. Marg's Loch on the Vernow system (Fig. 5).

Using historical flow becaude from the CDT NRFA for Lindsan extending back to 1962, the prevalence of daily flows under QSS was calculated for each year in the 49 year period. Days where flow was low there during the migration period were not uncommon (Fig. 6). Short periods of flow restriction occurred frequently, and periods where at least 15 days out of the 90-day period were below QSS (zily flows eccurred at least once a docate (Fig. 6). There have therefore been periods of flow restriction in iter to that experienced in 2010 previously and they are likely to reoccur.

The influence of flow conditions on small migration speed was calculated from the ner evolution speed of individual smalls between two successive ALS positions using the first record of each rules as it moved downstream and then matching the speed to the mean flow conditions during the period of transit using 15-min gauged flows from the nearest SP28 flow gauging stations to the fixed ALS positions. This was consider our for all sequential pairs of ALSs. For high speed, the part, a positive relationship herewer elevated flow ($m^{-1}s^{-1}$), and interased net ground speed (km h⁻¹) was observed: 2010



Fig.4.11 sight displaying hit tay' at in 1 ground speeds of legged nontisend sumaing through tas't liver assistent in both 20-0 and 20-1. Sover represent upper and lower quarties are 1-bors represent the upper are taxen a presentie and cound duis signify and the 35 attinue from the taxen. Alf solations station does not set if an a signify the tamathemismath sector.



Fig. 5. Xean daily focus at the How gauging station at Endean on the Brotck Water in Brotog exact flow a Managy Canid, doing the partial of surgein here. "Official 20-1 waveflow the Q05 and Q, 0 flows for the kineten station."

(Regression: n = 83, R = 0.719, p < 0.001; Fig. 7), 2011 (Regression; v = 219, R = 0.579, p < 0.001; Fig. 7). However, when the relation ships between net groundspeed and mean flow were compared between years using an ANCOVA, there was a highly significant difference in slope (n = 306, F = 1477/3, p < 0.001). These results suggest that smosts released in 2010 uncertook increasingly more acrive swimming within the flows in which they exhibited downstream migration that the smosts released in 2011.

5. Discussion

This study shows, for the first time, that surface-orientated wild. fishes, migrating downstream, can be markedly impeded by small overflowing weirs, and that the effects of this are cramatically increased during low flow conditions. These delays are associated with losses of migrating fishes, again substantially elevated during low how conditions. While these effects are known for salmonids at large impoundments, especially hydroelectric dams, with or without surface byposses (Hockersmith et al., 2003; Moir et al., 2001a, 2001b; Raymond, 1979, 1988: Smith et al., 2006: Williams et al., 2001), and also for benchically orientated eels (Acou et al., 2008, Boubée and Williams, 2006; Gosset et al., 2006), they have not been recorded for wild juvenile salmonids in relatively natural river systems. However, manipulative studies with Adaptic salmon smalls have shown that modified surface bypasses reduce the delay in passing weirs compared. to conventional bypasses (Harry et al., 1998). These results strongly suggest that small obstructions can have much larger than expected. impacts on seaward exagement of anadromous brown mone smalls. and given the observation that low flows dramatically exacerbate these problems, any climate scenario (such as UKCIP02 and UKCP09. A1B) that results in increased frequency of low river flows during spring. and early summer is a very real concern (Amell, 2004; Christierson et al., 2012; Marsh, 2004; Wilby and Harris, 2006), However, it is possible that climate change may bring an increase in water availability for the LIK in some scenarios (IPCU SRES A2 and B2) (Xeropoolos et zl., 20051.

The results from the automated accurstic tracking of the samplis magnating to the sea in 2010 and 2011 clearly showed a disparity in the degree in which they were delayed in different riser sections between the two seasons. These also showed that obstructions in

440



Fig. 6. Total number of days below GBC flows for the smole migration benoe. I April to 30 May between 1952 and 2011 on the lower Yartow Water at the Philipping show tanging stores in lower Hinds. Materia, the findeen flow gauging stores and the upper tweed at the Robeide flow gauging stores.

river sections, such as weirs, also exacerbate delays during periods of reduced river flow. In general, very little work has been conducted to Enforcembowing harriers to the passage and behaviour of freshwater fish during downstream movement. In Australian studies, Murray cod (Montallachella post9) and golden perch (Mangaaria aarbigaar) displaced above weirs displayed a reluctance to move past low-head weirs when attempting to home downstream (O'Connor et al., 2006). Negative impacts of weirs were also observed in hatchery reared Atlantic salmen and chadromous brown trout smolts released in small Danish rivers where they suffered from increased delay and mortality in proximity to small fish farm weits (Aarestrup and Koed, 2003). Low Lowe spread across the breadth of obstructions such as overflowing weirs spanning whole channels and give depths over their crests that are very shallow, which may reduce the behavioural stimuli (one or more combinations of velocity, depth, velocity gradient, turbulence) needed to get fish to continue past the barrier. Haro et al. (1998) found American shad (Alesa sapidissima) to be unwilling to approach the small surface water bypasses that would allow them to move downstream at large barriers, while Enders et al. (2009) demonstrated a similar



Fig. 2. The tension speed from $h^{-3}(x)$ important statistic fields to the estimated mean low readilets (xx^{-1}) diving the price of heavy throughout the important statistic functions of upon the means in Section 2000 divines at the shows groups strate.

unwillingness for salmonic smoles under experimental conditions, showing that hydraulic changes at surface bypasses do not necessarily promote effective downstream passage of surface-orientated fiches.

In the current study, it was inferred that acoustic tag loss was very likely due to removal of tagged lish from the river by terrestrial predators because (1) transmitters were lost well within the quoted lifetime. of the tags (2) control transmitters deployed in the river showed zero. failure rate within the quoted life, (3) loose control tags on the over bed could be reliably detected by tracking gear and moved little and (4) predation by aquatic predators (in this study area, large brown trout) would have resulted in acoustic tags being retained in the aquatic environment and detectable. In 2010, seven fish (16%) were repeatedly confirmed as stationary within the river, and 28 (65%) were assumed as removed from the system due to repeated null detections. Likewise in 2011, three rish (5%) were repeatedly confirmed as stationary whilst 30 rags (50%) were apparently removed from the river system after repeated null detections. The most common avian predators on the Tweed are goosander (Magas merganaer) and grey beron (Aralea cinerea): the former occurs in large numbers during the smalt nugration. sector when they can form large feeding aggregations. Their diet on the Tweed has been investigated by Marquiss et al. (1998), who estimated their consumption of small sized salmonids could be up to 4.79 per goosander per day in March and April and up to 1.8 per day in May, The survival of stricts during migration was radically different between the two seasons studied, that of 2010 (19%) being below half that of 2011 (45%). These levels can be compared with those of conventionally tagged anadromous brown trout smalts in Norway, which were estimated to have a survival rate of 24% for their first seaward migration (Berg and Berg, 1987) and with the survival of chinook salmon-(Onconhynchus tshowytscho) smolts migrating down the Snake and Columbia rivers where survival to the sea way estimated to be around 27.5% (Welch et al., 2008). However, the Columbia River system is of much greater size and has much larger impoundments than the Tweed catchiment.

The mortality of Atlantic salmon smolts curing in-river migration has been estimated for several different rivers in previous atodies. Overall mortality, calculated on a kilometric by kilometric basis, ranged from 0.3% to uS per kilometric (Bavidsen et al., 2005) Diepennik et al., 2002; Kaed et al., 2002, 2006; Martin et al., 2005; Morec et al., 1968; Thronad et al., 2012a, 2013b). In comparison, anadromous brown trout amolts tracked in the Eweed in 2010 and 2011 suffered 0.88% and 0.55% monality per kilometre, respectively. well within the range of mortality observed for salmon. It is imporunit to note that these studies only included the lower reaches and estuary of their rivers where predation is expected to be more intense. while the present study examined ntigration over 100.29 km of river and estuary,

Mortality at individual weirs during migration varied within and hetween years, with mortality ranging between 2% and 44% per cohort of fish arriving at each weir with an ALS near it (the Muniay Cauld, Melmas Cauld and Mertourn Cauld') in 2010 and 5%-9% in 2011 In comparison, stocked brown trout small mortality at various rish. farm weits in Denmark varied between 15% and 64%, although it is important to note that piscivorous predators such pike (Esox hieres). and zander (Soudia badojacco) are present in Bauish rivers (Accestrup and Koed, 2003) but are absent in the studied section of the River Tweed, Passage efficiencies at these weirs also varied between $46\!\!\!\%$ and 90% in 2010 and between 27% and 100% in 2011. Murrays Cauld was particularly inellicient in 2010 with downstream passage efficiency being only 46%, well below the average downstream passage efficiency. of 68.5% seen in Noonan et al. (2012). This low efficiency during low-flow periods is most probably the consequence of Murray Cauld being the only fully intact weir along the migration route, with other weirs either being in a ruinous state on ort

The flow conditions in the period of study were markedly different. between years. The April to June water levels of 20.0 were characterised by low flows that dipped below Q90 for a total of 18 days, whilst the 2011 flows for the same period exceeded Q10. flows for two consecutive days during the largest spate and had other elevated periods. From a historical perspective, low flows similar to chose that were prevalent in 2010 for the study period have been recorded regularly on the Ethick between 1982 and 2011. The use of (95) flows as an estimation of low flows is now widely practised in Europe (Gustard et al., 1992; Laaha and Blöschl, 2007; Smakhtin, 2001). Studies into the migration of chinock salmen on rivers with large barriers have shown a positive relationship between increased river flow and increased smolt survival during migration (Corner et al. 2003; Smith et al., 3003). While the Tweed is a much smaller river, with small harriers, the same patient is apparent higher sholt mortality in seasons with low flows and vice versu.

Small swimming speed increased in relation to flow in both years of the study. However, smelts in 2010 showed a storber relationship of ground speed to river discharge than smalls in 2011. This may be a consequence of the overall lower flow conditions in the river in 2010 compared to 2011 possibly meaning that smolts moving downstream in 2010 did so more actively than smalls released in 2011. Conversely smolts in 2011 displayed more active swimming behaviour at lower flow levels than smalls in 2010; this is possibly due to smalls in 2011. not suffering the same flow restriction as smolls in 2010 and therefore. movement may not be as impeded by in river structures. Similarly, previous research into anadromous brown trout and Atlantic salmon. smolt migration has also found a correlation between river discharge and smalt net ground speeds (Aarestrup et al., 3002; Martin et al., 2005). Smolt ground speeds were low in sections from release to detections upstream of Philiphaugh weir in both 2010 and 2011, but these low speeds include periods during which smalls may have been preparing to emigrate and exhibited holding behaviour.

The conclusion of this study is that the passage of downstream. migrating salmonid smolts is not only impacted by the large dams with which river managers are familiar, but probably also by much smaller low head weirs that Lucay er al. (2004) reported as being much more abundant and which impound water and create zones of reduced flow rate. Current passage provision for downs rearr inigrating. salmonid smolts is probably inadequate at many weirs and benedic low flows during the smolt migratory period should be a management concern, especially for areas where salmond stocks are a highly prized

economic asset. Most fish passage facilities, such as technical fish. ladders, are designed for upstream inigrants, and while downstream fish bypasses exist, they have been little used on low-head overflowing. weirs and have rarely been evaluated for their efficiency (Haro et al. 1998: Scruton et al., 2002, 2007). In the face of climate change and uncertain variability in river Lows, where low-field structures are no fonger needed removal should be strongly considered along with the construction of bypasses for reducing emigration delays and mortality in salmonid smolls (Arnell, 2004; Christierson et al., 2012; Carela de Leaniz, 2008; Kemp and O'Hanley, 2010; Marsh, 2004; Wilby and Harris, 2006; Xeroponks et al., 2005). To ultimately test the impact of weits, luture studies should consider a tenable before-after control impart (BACI) design, using multiple years worth of small migration data. for each treatment. Further to this, more detailed information on smolts. lost while migrating downstream worklials the very useful for manage ment purposes, unless definite causes can be assigned for losses it is difficult to take measures against them.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by the fiving North Sea project and the Interreg IVB North Sea Region Programme. The authors would like tothank the landowners, river boatmen and angling clubs involved in the work for allowing us to place logging equipment in their waters as well as their help and advice. The authors would also like to thank River Tweed Commission Bailiffs Alan Davidson, Enc Hastings and Kenny Graham for help retrieving logging equipment from the estuary. The authors would also like to further thank Nick Yonge. Fay Hizatt, James Hunt and Kenny Galt at the Tweed foundation for their help. and support during the period of work.

References

- Aarestaun K. Koed A. Sulvival of migrating sea trout (Sabus statta) and Atlantic salmo-(Value of a code of a vorter ingenancy as in small, Danish inversi Bool Freshwiller (Value adde) smalls negotiating wers in small Danish inversi Bool Freshwiller 2003;12:107–73. Aarestrup K. Jepsen N. Kazmussen G. Movements of two straues of ratio tagged Alamon.
- silinen. Entis silar L. amous through a reserver. Has Manas Bool 1699:307–107 extrap X. Melsen C. Kood A. Net ground speed of new stream migrating radio lagged Anamic salmon. (Solare rader 1) and brown from (Solare mass L) smells:
- in relation to environmental factors. Hydrobiologia 2002;480:95-102.
- Acou, A. Chilatte A. Legrath A. Jennikovi, E. Migradov, Source of Silver ed. (Argania erginita L.) in an obstructed over system. Eco. Product Network 1980;2000(1990);24-2 Annell NVV, Chinate, change improvision river flows in Unitari: the UKUPO2 scenarios.
- BL Dev. Additional and the indexed on the resource of the second seco
- Wher Broten J 2001 19:112 A. Beguilk Beguilk Beguilk Strategies and Schwarzson I, from the Varthest identification Notway, High Bed 1957(5):112 (21). Björnsson B, Scharsson S, Broser L. Borgering regulation of phone grawth humane even string pressnotti transformation of attact estimation implications for hypersensity. Just y while your graw hower complications the spectrum. American Schurzson Market Schurzson Schurzson (2010) 19:55 (2010) 1
- 7.-67. Björnssen III, Stefenssen 90, McCormick Sty Privirenmental endoor rokegy of solution

- Optimisen III, McDussin DJ, Welformick SJ, Franconnend Lencor, rokigg of schure-sin all Carlis Cone (1) pp1-data and 2005 (2) e29 (6).
 Unible J, Williams K, Lever SJ cam passage: Color roks and carling hydrodynemic failing Fish Manag Stat 2006 (3): 65–26.
 Baran J, Say Lakie P, Sauthurg JM, Fishelmer P, Davina W, Hillesskong J, diadram reviewing has an D, Say Lakie P. Sauthurg JM, Fishelmer P. Davina W. 111 exchange diadram reviewing has an D, Say Lakie P. Sauthurg JM, Fishelmer P. Davina State Line Schurz, Sawa Li, hydrodyn JM, Sawa JJ, Say Lin Say, Chin J, Weith J, Weither D, Saya Say, Saya M, Saraka S, Jian M, Saya S, Saya S,
- (1) The Comparison of the C
- 1205
- Control WF. Buger FT. Yearsley JR. Biorini TC. Influence of Flow and Temperature of Survival or Wile Suppearling Fail Chindow Salmon in the State Siver. N Am 1 Fail Marrag 2005.23:362-75.
- Curity Data in Sec. 70.
 Curity Data in Sec. 70.
 Curity Definition Sec. 70.
 For the Revealed Sec. 70.
- Migratory behaviour and survival rates of wild normern Atlantic salmon Sabiesaidt post stricits: effects of environmental ractors." Rish Riol 2009 75:1700-15.
- Debowski P. Dobosz S, Robak S. Estimation of smollineation or happnery trout (Salare matte morpha trana L.) based on body merchology. Arch Vel Pad 19995(7:217-06)

- Debowski P., Googowski J. Foliak S. Tolizovs S. Smoll illustion of liate burst-maned A. Jantie adminer (födara valar h.)-i ellars and the body of estimation. Alch. Fol. Fish, 1999 x7:287-70.
- 1630 A7.287-75. Den nr. Ef Feldera M. An International Statistics of States and the Alministic America States see, its unity and till administic of the regeneration of the science summer alam and light regional is not. The Bold Syster 115, 073-02.894-78. Directific K. D. Peckersen S. Dofferson M. States is a state of a more failer and doministic again while a direct science science and the science science of the science of the science science of the science of the science science of the scienc
- Diebe inis C. Bak ED. Delta sen LE Forbasen ML Peder sen S. Discation on Atlantic selmon
- and see nor during their Hist cays as postsmets. [Perb Sid 2020;61:843-52. Dynesius M, Nisson C, Fagmentation and How regulation of Sver systems in the northern third of the veric. Science 1904;208:758-62.
- Enders BC, Gersel MH, Willichts JC, Development or successful fait pestage tructures for downttream imgrants requires thowledge of their behaviours response to accelerating flow. Carl J Hiss Access Sci 2019 06:2109–17.
- Pullemon AH, Burnett KM, Steel EA, Fatcroft RJ, Pess GR, Feist BE et al. Hydrological Construction of the set of the interaction of the set of the set of the interaction consecutive of the set of the Preshw Biol 2010/00/2215-17.
 Carona de Lerana C. Weir removal in samurad sites must implicational while appear and
- practicalities, Hydrobiologia 2008;609;83, 96
- Cardiner II. Invest provide almost not food studies in: Mills Di editor. Event reveal cowards aCUU Materia: The Veet Loundation (1959, to 105-14 Cosset C Dravacy F, Sunt C Boyer, Luire P, Tests of two types to bypass or downstream
- inigration of eels in a small hydroelectric power plant. Eaver Res Apol 2005 21: 1085-10
- 10.35–117. Orstand A. tulback A. Jisam, M. Luw Townest matern in the United Kingdom, Beson, Na. 100. Wallingfard; Institute of High stagg; 1584.
 Hank A. Mehl V. Bureck J. Cet us Stantish, Differ of waller and the anti-mundatum steps in imgating belaw many concerns with the first end material provide the formation of the start of th

- analysi control provided a 1 strategized (4). Harkers and E., Main WC, S. (1) "IS Souther allocation with WC datasets (5), et al. Compar-ison of a gravity rate and survival larger and initial age of and DT-stage of any ana-youth of the state software in the strate and Columbia dataset. N Ann T fish Marage. 2003-23:424-12
- JUST STREAM TO Jurgwith M. Riser to utinum is 'nd Bill indynation's spirge beams, the languinding riser to risk of in understanding storages index jurg in the jurger risk Michael S, Weiss S, resistors Fish M gration and Fish Rypasses. Owner: Fishing News B eds. 1998. 12-32
- (c) 1996. Keeler ML, Taylor DA, Carletts DF, Helms CK, Gaudtier CA, Pierse TM, et al. Reservoir unt spinistra and dam passage inortality of juves lie Officiological monitor for Vidde Pode Willamete River. Bool Freshw Pish 2012;21:822–34.
- Keimp PS, O Hanley JR. Procedures for evaluating and o to fidsing the removal of tish passage barriers: a cynthesis. Pist Xanag Eocl 2010;627–322. Kood A, Jepsen N. Aarestup K. Nie sen C. Initial mortality of racio taggio. Atlantic salmen.
- (Stime salar L) smoke following release downstream of a hydropower station. Fighterious, and CO2(480:01.7).
 Kood A, Balttoli H, Bak BD, Causes of montality of Atlantic salmon (Some solery) and
- brown trout (Shimo Shimo) smalls in a restured rived and its estuary. River Res Appl 2006;22:09–78. na U. (Edseli, G. A national low flow estimation represives for Austria, Hydrol Sci J
- 20 2007:17 CL Lucas MC Bacas E Migration of Freshwater Johns, Backwell Science Gacara: Valord:
- Milden, MA 2001.
 Milden, MA 2001.
 WG, Kalley Loss sund increments and sectarious of acuti torse increase data Sociality (sector).
- a rivering cycline. Isin implications for river management . Appl Eccl 1966: 1345-55
- 1145-55, Loo WK, man PA Eff ets of a flow-garging weith on the migratury for axion of adult burnet, a reserve expended (1056-601/9902-00; x2-56) Loo WK: Build DT, Jung M-1, DLN, Massens (55-693/4/dilig) of a diavesses or ritio di hold its in might a diavesse office and Constant for measurements of languages Desites third & OSpecific 2 57
- Deschar fill A (A Q-statz = -Y lgsdum) S, Sammes M, Gill Nu + -K = -Al'Dase at isity and type as unergoble by dif-ling of second migrating sum is of anothermore shifts the solution (Salina state), as a first (Colore Strandy at the single of a (Salest in subjects) in the Balantza, nor the m Narawy, Agnoralium (BA) 68 (200-88). Mart, its M. Carso (S), Arms and (D), Salina R. Fishes at g binds at the formula fir formland. Evidence (BA) 68 (200-88). Mart in the Carso (S), Arms and (D), Salina R. Fishes at itg binds at the formula fir formland. Evidence (BA) 68 (200-88). Mart in F, H. Juper BD. Da be eff. Forms at its 1, Karim 3, Ga at 12, and the 2004(50,224–33). Martin F, H. Juper BD. Da be eff. Forms at its 1, Karim 3, Ga at 12, and Rabar state (S) and d Like could get the state me imposition in a Valid Al-antic solution (Sinsen Scan L') soudt. Evider Keiteks Fish 2002(18):-664–7. McCor track SD, Orossene and evolution of stall file (Searang In a carso from statematics).

- Bodi Frether Fish 2000;18:-064-7.
 McGernick KD, Orosgen v and evolution of stall risy tokerance in a neuro metal stallmentke: hormones and isoteracheony Exclusions (2006);7:25-23.
 McGernick SD, Nicker JD, Quinn TT, Samder SV, McKennint, min, et Kn. and Samilling or Admite sation (result) stall. Can IFER Aquarks: 1008;65:177-32.
 McGernick SD, Micker A, Stall Stall, Can IFER Aquarks: 1008;65:177-32.
 McGernick SD, Micker A, Stall Stall Stall Can IFER Aquarks: 1008;65:177-32.
 McGernick SD, Micker A, Stall Stall Stall Can IFER Aquarks: 1008;65:177-32.
 McGernick SD, Micker A, Stall Stall Stall Can IFER Aquarks: 1008;65:177-32.
 McGernick SD, Micker A, Ball S, B
- McCormics SD. Scrimoton JM. Monyama S. Sjörnsson BT. Effects of an advanced term persture cycle on smoot development and endocrinology inducte that temperature is not a zerozeper for smooting in Atlantic salmon, 1 acts Bio, 2002(2003)533-60.

- McGamida (D. Smingster JM. Moriyama A, Bjorsson RT. Differential from and
- Moore A
- Schnick (D. Shrimpton JM. Muriyama (, Sjin soci, RT. Mitter (M. Sarans), and ensisting of all of a solar error and sumitation increased deplong on a preside divery provided basis. As colling, opposite error assists of world Mitter's solar on the solar basis (N. Colling, Opposite), a 2007;273:337–44, and A. Sarans Schultz, Statis E. F. entrigetons error asists of world Mitter's solar on the solar solar (J., collis, in the Niever Test and Schultz error Ward, solar error (Schultz, Schultz, Sch
- Risson C. C. Ke & dy, Dynosite M. Kevenga C. Fragmentian and new regulation of the world history everytems. Sector 2000;2003:3405–81.
- has had 2014 10:050-06. Northcore TC, Microsory Excaviour of his and its significance to movement through oversite his passage inclusion. In Jungworth AC Schmidt S, Wess S, eccurs Josh Migration and Path Dypasses, Okronic John Wiley & Sons 1998, p. 8-18.
- O Contor JA, O'Mahony DJ, O'Mahony DJ, Glenore TJ, Some Impath of key and medium heat wears of dwandlerum fish movement in the Minara Tanting Basin in contributern Architelity and Leesuw Tise 2006(1):419–27.
- Ovice Sc Thapport FC the impact of strait paysock obtaines on operand move-ments of six spaces of first, Exhibit 2007 2007 2007 2007 Not Number 2010 Annual strain why in motions for the energy og science of dom neuropal Dispatence 2007 252 2509 05
- Roymond ID. C'erte of dame and important errors on migrations of interview characteristic states and see these from the particle River, 1906 to 1876, Trans Am Tsin Soc. 1876(1006)(5-9)

- BART 100-MAN 9
 BART 100-MAN 9
- Frind Charles and Astronomics and the second sec
- E-mode, Typ. (2014), a 2022-082 (05-69). Sheall, The Tweed right estimation of the spectra of the theory of 1028/210400 (22, Sindshin VII, Low How hydrology: a twitter, J Hydrol 2001 240, 147-86 Smith 30, Mult VD, Williams JG, Skacki JR, Forters associated with envel time and
- Su vival of inflatant yearling changes rainon and stabilized in the lower Stake River, NAm J Hah Manag 2002;22:385–406.
 Smith SG, Muir WD, Hodder that SE Kabel KW, Graves R, Ross EV, et al. Influence of
- river conditions on survival and mayel time of Snake Rover subvearing rail. Changes salmon, N Am J Han Manag (2000):28:509 (C. Smith SG, Muir WD, Marsh DM, Williams G, Scolsko JR, Survival estimates for the
- passage of spring migrating revenue samonics through Stake and Colombia River dama and reservoirs, 2000, Report to the National Marine Robertes Service to the Usingeville Power Mitzinistration, Portanti, Oregon 2006. Steinmetz 1 Echler S., Scluk IV. Birds are sverlocket, top pretators in acyanic food
- webs. Brology 2005;54:1524-8.
- Symming M. Dogshon R. Dehlin, Scien G. Brineltik, Pedersen F. et al. The import of more with typed concernent data continuo sometic (grine wheth in the transient sy-North Netway, in: the presence of an alternative page based sandled (Annualities manage). Itel Res. Alternative A.

- Therefore, a the presentent with memory Action Sector Matters (1999) 51(19)
 Stanning Miller and Lig product the Action Action With Methods. In an Action Sector 1990 51(19)
 Stanning Miller and Lig product times of an Attentic estimate state the baser bunches y in efficient. This and Schlein and Heidper 2004. Sector 1990 51(19)
 Thermal FR 19(10): If fine and Schlein and Heidper 2004. Sector 1990 51(19)
 Thermal FR 19(10): If fine and Schlein and Heidper 2004. Sector 1990 51(19)
 Thermal FR 19(10): If fine and Schlein and Heidper 2004. Sector 1990 51(19)
 Thermal FR With the Schlein and Thermal Action 1990 51(19). The Action 1990 51(19)
 Thermal FR With the Schlein Action Action 1990 51(19). The Action 1990 51(19)
 Thermal FR With the Schlein Action 1990 51(19) 51(19)
 Thermal FR With the Schlein Action 1990 51(19) 51(19)
 Thermal FR With the Schlein Action 1990 51(19) 51(19)
 Thermal FR With the Schlein Action 1990 51(19) 51(19)
 Thermal FR With the Schlein Action 1990 51(19) 51(19)
 Thermal FR With the Schlein Action 1990 51(19) 51(19)
 Thermal FR With the Schlein Action 1990 51(19) 51(19)
 Thermal FR With the Schlein Action 1990 51(19)
 Thermal FR With the Schlein Action 2000 51(19)
 Thermal FR With the Schlein Action 2000 51(19)
 Thermal FR With the Schlein Action 2000 51(19)
 Thermal Action

- 551–700. Where R. A non-event to cases inglunder stinds in climate change impacts: low flow sciencies for the Kiver Thomas U.K. Water Resnull Res 2006;42, [W52415]. Williams [5, Smith 55, Mar WD, Sandred Lotinates for document earlining on the science of the topologic flow flow can and Comba these strenge topologic flow flow can also and Comba these strenge topologic flow flow. Food state and Comba these strenge topologic flow flow can be change 2001;21:310–7. Wellsbest [Leegenes], Kood Ka. Poodistion connectivity data megation indications and contemporary for the delity in a context and the Well Red 2011;71. Keeppologic MA, looge UM, Alexand J, Martin S, Schulze K, Van Vaaren DS, Schultz K, Van Vaaren DS, Schultz K, Van Vaaren DS, Schultz K, Van Vaaren DB, Schultz K, Van Vaare
- Control and the excitotions from climate change and water withdrawa. Glob Chang Biol 2005;11:1527–64.

Appendix II: Chapter 5 supplementary material.

Species	Estimated	95% Lower	95% Upper	Standard	Estimation	River
	population	confidence	confidence	error	method	section
A + + +	size	interval	interval	24.44	71	Calation
Atlantic salmon	/3	11.95	134.048	31.14	Zippin	Capture
Brown trout	107	-15.16	229.16	62.331	Zippin	Capture
Total	191	38.036	343.963	78.044	Zippin	Capture
Atlantic salmon	66	22.158	109.841	22.368	Carle Strub	Capture
Brown trout	90	16.53	163.464	37	Carle Strub	Capture
Total	171	60.491	281.508	56.38	Carle Strub	Capture
Atlantic salmon	114	93.81	134.189	10.301	Zippin	Control
Brown trout	168	-230.366	566.366	203.252	Zippin	Control
Total	181	143.991	218.008	18.882	Zippin	Control
Atlantic salmon	113	93.724	132.275	9.834	Carle Strub	Control
Brown trout	107	-17.816	231.816	63.68	Carle Strub	Control
Total	180	143.887	216.112	18.425	Carle Strub	Control
Atlantic salmon	87	15.13	158.86	36.66	Zippin	Treatment
Brown trout	85	-13.07	183.07	50.04	Zippin	Treatment
Total	184	39.76	328.23	73.59	Zippin	Treatment
Atlantic salmon	78	27.46	128.53	25.78	Carle Strub	Treatment
Brown trout	71	14.06	127.93	29.05	Carle Strub	Treatment
Total	166	59.66	272.33	54.255	Carle Strub	Treatment

Table III.I: Population estimates for each site using Zippin and Carle Strub population estimation calculations.

References

- Aarestrup, K. & Jepsen, N. (1998). Spawning migration of sea trout (*Salmo trutta* (L)) in a Danish river. *Hydrobiologia* **371**, 275-281.
- Aarestrup, K., Jepsen, N. & Rasmussen, G. (1999). Movements of two strains of radio tagged Altlantic salmon, Salmo salar L., smolts through a reservoir. Fisheries Management and Ecology 6, 97-107.
- Aarestrup, K. & Koed, A. (2003). Survival of migrating sea trout (Salmo trutta) and Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) smolts negotiating weirs in small Danish rivers. Ecology of Freshwater Fish 12, 169-176.
- Aarestrup, K., Lucas, M. & Hansen, J. (2003). Efficiency of a nature-like bypass channel for sea trout (*Salmo trutta*) ascending a small Danish stream studied by PIT telemetry. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish* **12**, 160-168.
- Aarestrup, K., Nielsen, C. & Koed, A. (2002). Net ground speed of downstream migrating radio-tagged Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) and brown trout (*Salmo trutta* L.) smolts in relation to environmental factors. *Hydrobiologia* **483**, 95-102.
- Ackerman, M. W., Habicht, C. & Seeb, L. W. (2011). Single-Nucleotide Polymorphisms (SNPs) under Diversifying Selection Provide Increased Accuracy and Precision in Mixed-Stock Analyses of Sockeye Salmon from the Copper River, Alaska. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* 140, 865-881.
- Acou, A., Laffaille, P., Legault, A. & Feunteun, E. (2008). Migration pattern of silver eel (*Anguilla anguilla*, L.) in an obstructed river system. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish* 17, 432-442.
- Adams, N. S., Rondorf, D. W., Evans, S. D., Kelly, J. E. & Perry, R. W. (1998). Effects of surgically and gastrically implanted radio transmitters on swimming performance and predator avoidance of juvenile chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*). *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 55, 781-787.
- Adey, E. A., Black, K. D., Sawyer, T., Shimmield, T. M. & Trueman, C. N. (2009). Scale microchemistry as a tool to investigate the origin of wild and farmed Salmo salar. Marine Ecology Progress Series **390**, 225-235.
- Adriaenssens, B. & Johnsson, J. I. (2010). Shy trout grow faster: exploring links between personality and fitness-related traits in the wild. *Behavioral Ecology* **22**, 135-143.
- Adriaenssens, B. & Johnsson, J. I. (2011). Learning and context-specific exploration behaviour in hatchery and wild brown trout. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science* 132, 90-99.
- Alyan, S. & Jander, R. (1994). Short-range homing in the house mouse, *Mus musculus*: stages in the learning of directions. *Animal Behaviour* **48**, 285-298.
- Andren, H. (1994). Effects of habitat fragmentation on birds and mammals in landscapes with different proportions of suitable habitat: a review. *Oikos*, 355-366.
- Anglea, S. M., Geist, D. R., Brown, R. S., Deters, K. A. & McDonald, R. D. (2004). Effects of acoustic transmitters on swimming performance and predator avoidance of juvenile Chinook salmon. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management* 24, 162-170.

Aprahamian, M. W., Jones, G. O. & Gough, P. J. (1998). Movement of adult Atlantic salmon in the Usk estuary, Wales. *Journal of Fish Biology* **53**, 221-225.

- Armstrong, J. & Herbert, N. (1997). Homing movements of displaced stream-dwelling brown trout. *Journal of Fish Biology* **50**, 445-449.
- Armstrong, J., Lucas, M., Priede, I. & De Vera, L. (1989). An acoustic telemetry system for monitoring the heart rate of pike, *Esox lucius* L., and other fish in their natural environment. *Journal of Experimental Biology* **143**, 549-552.
- Armstrong, J. D., Braithwaite, V. A. & Huntingford, F. A. (1997). Spatial strategies of wild Atlantic salmon parr: Exploration and settlement in unfamiliar areas. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 66, 203-211.
- Armstrong, J. D., Braithwaite, V. A. & Rycroft, P. (1996). A flat-bed passive integrated transponder antenna array for monitoring behaviour of Atlantic salmon parr and other fish. *Journal of Fish Biology* **48**, 539-541.
- Armstrong, J. D. & Rawlings, C. E. (1993). The effect of intragastric transmitters on feeding behaviour of Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar*, parr during autumn. *Journal* of Fish Biology **43**, 646-648.
- Arnell, N. W. (2004). Climate-change impacts on river flows in Britain: the UKCIPO2 scenarios. *Water and Environment Journal* **18**, 112-117.
- Ayllon, F., Moran, P. & Garcia-Vazquez, E. (2006). Maintenance of a small anadromous subpopulation of brown trout (*Salmo trutta* L.) by straying. *Freshwater Biology* 51, 351-358.
- Baayen, R. H. (2011), languageR: Data sets and functions with "Analyzing Linguistic Data: A practical introduction to statistics. <u>http://CRAN.R-</u> project.org/package=languageR
- Bagliniere, J., Maisse, G. & Nihouarn, A. (1991). Radio-tracking of male adult Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar* L., during the last phase of spawning migration in a spawning stream (Brittany, France). *Aquatic Living Resources* **4**, 161-167.
- Bagliniere, J. L., Maisse, G. & Nihouarn, a. (1990). Migratory and reproductive behaviour of female adult Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar* L., in a spawning stream. *Journal of Fish Biology* **36**, 511-520.
- Balian, E., Segers, H., Martens, K. & Lévêque, C. (2008). An introduction to the freshwater animal diversity assessment (FADA) project. In *Freshwater Animal Diversity Assessment*, pp. 3-8: Springer.
- Banks, J. W. (1969). A Review of the Literature on the Upstream Migration of Adult Salmonids. *Journal of Fish Biology* **1**, 85-136.
- Baras, E., Malbrouck, C., Houbart, M., Kestemont, P. & Mélard, C. (2000). The effect of PIT tags on growth and physiology of age-0 cultured Eurasian perch Perca fluviatilis of variable size. *Aquaculture* **185**, 159-173.
- Bateman, D. S. & Gresswell, R. E. (2006). Survival and growth of age-0 steelhead after surgical implantation of 23-mm passive integrated transponders. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 26, 545-550.
- Bates, D., Maechler, M. & Bolker, B. (2013), Ime4: Linear mixed-effects models using S4 classes. <u>http://CRAN.R-project.org/package=Ime4</u>

Bendall, B. & Moore, A. (2008). Temperature-sensing telemetry - possibilities for assessing the feeding ecology of marine mammals and their potential impacts on returning salmonid populations. *Fisheries Management and Ecology* **15**, 339-345.

- Bendall, B., Moore, A., Maxwell, D., Davison, P., Edmonds, N., Archer, D., Solomon, D., Greest, V., Wyatt, R. & Broad, K. (2012). Modelling the migratory behaviour of salmonids in relation to environmental and physiological parameters using telemetry data. *Fisheries Management and Ecology* **19**, 475-483.
- Bendall, B., Moore, A. & Quayle, V. (2005). The post-spawning movements of migratory brown trout *Salmo trutta* L. *Journal of Fish Biology* **67**, 809-822.
- Benhamou, S., Bonadonna, F. & Jouventin, P. (2003). Successful homing of magnetcarrying white-chinned petrels released in the open sea. *Animal Behaviour* **65**, 729-734.
- Berg, O. K. & Berg, M. (1987). Migrations of sea trout, Salmo trutta L., from the Vardnes river in northern Norway. *Journal of Fish Biology* **31**, 113-121.
- Bernatchez, L. (2001). The evolutionary history of brown trout (*Salmo trutta* L.) inferred from phylogeographic, nested clade, and mismatch analyses of mitochondrial DNA variation. *Evolution* **55**, 351-379.
- Bij de Vaate, a., Breukelaar, a. W., Vriese, T., De Laak, G. & Dijkers, C. (2003). Sea trout migration in the Rhine delta. *Journal of Fish Biology* **63**, 892-908.
- Björnsson, B., Stefansson, S. & Hansen, T. (1995). Photoperiod regulation of plasma growth hormone levels during parr-smolt transformation of Atlantic salmon: implications for hypoosmoregulatory ability and growth. *General and Comparative Endocrinology* **100**, 73-82.
- Björnsson, B. T., Stefansson, S. O. & McCormick, S. D. (2010). Environmental endocrinology of salmon smoltification. *General and Comparative Endocrinology* 170, 290-298.
- Bohlin, T., Dellefors, C. & Faremo, U. (1996). Date of smolt migration depends on bodysize but not age in wild sea-run brown trout. *Journal of Fish Biology* **49**, 157-164.
- Bolland, J. D., Cowx, I. G. & Lucas, M. C. (2009). Evaluation of VIE and PIT tagging methods for juvenile cyprinid fishes. *Journal of Applied Ichthyology* **25**, 381-386.
- Boubée, J. A. T. & Williams, E. K. (2006). Downstream passage of silver eels at a small hydroelectric facility. *Fisheries Management and Ecology* **13**, 165-176.
- Bouck, G. R. & Smith, S. D. (1979). Mortality of Experimentally Descaled Smolts of Coho Salmon (Oncorhynchus kisutch) in Fresh and Salt Water. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* **108**, 67-69.
- Bracken, F. S. A. & Lucas, M. C. (2013). Potential impacts of small-scale hydroelectric power generation on downstream moving lampreys. *River Research and Applications* 29, 1073-1081.
- Branco, P., Segurado, P., Santos, J., Pinheiro, P. & Ferreira, M. Does longitudinal connectivity loss affect the distribution of freshwater fish? *Ecological Engineering*.
- Brattstrom, B. H. (1974). The evolution of reptilian social behavior. *American Zoologist* **14**, 35-49.

- Briers, R. A., Waterman, J. O., Galt, K. & Campbell, R. N. B. (2013). Population differentiation and temporal changes of carotenoid pigments and stable isotope ratios in the offspring of anadromous and non-anadromous trout Salmo trutta. Ecology of Freshwater Fish 22, 137-144.
- Brinson, M. M. & Malvárez, A. I. (2002). Temperate freshwater wetlands: types, status, and threats. *Environmental Conservation* **29**, 115-133.
- Brown, R. S., Cooke, S. J., Anderson, W. G. & McKinley, R. S. (1999). Evidence to challenge the "2% rule" for biotelemetry. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management* **19**, 867-871.
- Brown, R. S., Harnish, R. A., Carter, K. M., Boyd, J. W., Deters, K. A. & Eppard, M. B. (2010). An evaluation of the maximum tag burden for implantation of acoustic transmitters in juvenile Chinook salmon. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management* **30**, 499-505.
- Burt, W. H. (1943). Territoriality and home range concepts as applied to mammals. *Journal of Mammalogy* **24**, 346-352.
- Byrne, C. (2004). Temporal and environmental influences on the variation in sea trout (*Salmo trutta* L.) smolt migration in the Burrishoole system in the west of Ireland from 1971 to 2000. *Fisheries Research* **66**, 85-94.
- Campbell, H. A., Watts, M. E., Sullivan, S., Read, M. A., Choukroun, S., Irwin, S. R. & Franklin, C. E. (2010). Estuarine crocodiles ride surface currents to facilitate longdistance travel. *The Journal of animal ecology*, 955-964.
- Campbell, J. S. (1977). Spawning characteristics of brown trout and sea trout *Salmo trutta* L. in Kirk Burn, River Tweed, Scotland. *Journal of Fish Biology* **11**, 217-229.
- Campbell, R. N. B. (2005). Tweed & Eye fisheries district Fisheries Management Plan 4th Edition. Melrose: The Tweed Foundation.
- Cannicci, S., Barelli, C. & Vannini, M. (2000). Homing in the swimming crab *Thalamita crenata*: a mechanism based on underwater landmark memory. *Animal Behaviour* **60**, 203-210.
- Caputo, V., Giovannotti, M., Nisi Cerioni, P., Splendiani, A. & Olmo, E. (2009).
 Chromosomal study of native and hatchery trouts from Italy (*Salmo trutta* complex, Salmonidae): conventional and FISH analysis. *Cytogenetic and Genome Research* 124, 51-62.
- Carle, F. L. & Strub, M. R. (1978). A new method for estimating population size from removal data. *Biometrics*, 621-630.
- Carlsen, K. T., Berg, O. K., Finstad, B. & Heggberget, T. G. (2004). Diel periodicity and environmental influence on the smolt migration of Arctic charr, Salvelinus alpinus, Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar, and brown trout, Salmo trutta, in Northern Norway. Environmental Biology of Fishes **70**, 403-413.
- Carss, D. N., Kruuk, H. & Conroy, J. W. H. (1990). Predation on adult Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar L., by otters, Lutra lutra (L.), within the River Dee system, Aberdeenshire, Scotland. Journal of Fish Biology **37**, 935-944.
- Castro-Santos, T., Haro, A. & Walk, S. (1996). A passive integrated transponder (PIT) tag system for monitoring fishways. *Fisheries Research* **28**, 253-261.

- Caudill, C. C., Daigle, W. R., Keefer, M. L., Boggs, C. T., Jepson, M. A., Burke, B. J., Zabel, R. W., Bjornn, T. C. & Peery, C. A. (2007). Slow dam passage in adult Columbia River salmonids associated with unsuccessful migration: delayed negative effects of passage obstacles or condition-dependent mortality? *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 64, 979-995.
- Centre for Ecology and Hydrology (2013). National River Flow Archive. <u>http://www.ceh.ac.uk/data/nrfa/data/station.html?21027</u>. 25/10/2013.
- Charles, K., Guyomard, R., Hoyheim, B. r., Ombredane, D. & Baglinière, J.-L. (2005). Lack of genetic differentiation between anadromous and resident sympatric brown trout (*Salmo trutta*) in a Normandy population. *Aquatic Living Resources* 18, 65-69.
- Charles, K., Roussel, J. & Cunjak, R. A. (2004). Estimating the contribution of sympatric anadromous and freshwater resident brown trout to juvenile production. *Marine and Freshwater Research* **55**, 185-191.
- Charles, K., Roussel, J. M., Lebel, J. M., Baglinière, J. L. & Ombredane, D. (2006). Genetic differentiation between anadromous and freshwater resident brown trout (Salmo trutta L.): insights obtained from stable isotope analysis. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish* **15**, 255-263.
- Christierson, B. V., Vidal, J.-P. & Wade, S. D. (2012). Using UKCP09 probabilistic climate information for UK water resource planning. *Journal of Hydrology* **424–425**, 48-67.
- Clay, C. H. (1995). *Design of fishways and other fish facilities*. Boca Raton: Lewis Publishers.
- Clayton, J. W. (1997). The biology of the River Tweed. *Science of the Total Environment* **194**, 155-162.
- Connor, W. P., Burge, H. L., Yearsley, J. R. & Bjornn, T. C. (2003). Influence of flow and temperature on survival of wild subyearling fall Chinook salmon in the Snake River. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management* **23**, 362-375.
- Connors, K., Scruton, D., Brown, J. & McKinley, R. (2002). The effects of surgicallyimplanted dummy radio transmitters on the behaviour of wild Atlantic salmon smolts. *Hydrobiologia* **483**, 231-237.
- Cook, S. B. (1969). Experiments on homing in the limpet *Siphonaria normalis*. *Animal Behaviour* **17**, 679-682.
- Cooke, S. J. & Bunt, C. M. (2001). Assessment of internal and external antenna configurations of radio transmitters implanted in smallmouth bass. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management* **21**, 236-241.
- Cooke, S. J., Graeb, B. D. S., Suski, C. D. & Ostrand, K. G. (2003). Effects of suture material on incision healing, growth and survival of juvenile largemouth bass implanted with miniature radio transmitters: case study of a novice and experienced fish surgeon. *Journal of Fish Biology* **62**, 1366-1380.
- Cooke, S. J., Hatry, C., Hasler, C. T. & Smokorowski, K. E. (2011a). Literature Review, Synthesis and proposed guidelines related to the biological evaluation of" fish

Friendly" very low head turbine technology in Canada. *Canadian Technical Report of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* **2391**, 1-33.

- Cooke, S. J., Midwood, J. D., Thiem, J. D., Klimley, P., Lucas, M. C., Thorstad, E. B., Eiler, J., Holbrook, C. & Ebner, B. C. (2013). Tracking animals in freshwater with electronic tags: past, present and future. *Animal Biotelemetry* **1**, 5.
- Cooke, S. J., Woodley, C. M., Eppard, M. B., Brown, R. S. & Nielsen, J. L. (2011b).
 Advancing the surgical implantation of electronic tags in fish: a gap analysis and research agenda based on a review of trends in intracoelomic tagging effects studies. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries* 21, 127-151.
- Coulson, M. W., Webster, L. M. I., Campbell, R., Armstrong, A., Cauwelier, E., Stradmeyer, L., Gilbey, J., Sinclair, C. & Verspoor, E. (2013). An Overview of Population Genetic Structuring in the River Tweed. In *Marine Scotland Science Report 02/13*.
- Coutant, C. C. & Whitney, R. R. (2000). Fish Behavior in Relation to Passage through Hydropower Turbines: A Review. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* **129**, 351-380.
- Crisp, T. (2008). *Trout & Salmon: Ecology, Conservation and Rehabilitation*: John Wiley & Sons.
- Currie, J. (1997). Pollution prevention on the River Tweed: past, present and future. *Science of the Total Environment* **194-195**, 147-154.
- Dadswell, M. J., Spares, A. D., Reader, J. M. & Stokesbury, M. J. W. (2010). The North Atlantic subpolar gyre and the marine migration of Atlantic salmon *Salmo salar*: the 'Merry-Go-Round' hypothesis. *Journal of Fish Biology* **77**, 435-467.
- Davidsen, J., Svenning, M., Orell, P., Yoccoz, N., Dempson, J. B., Niemela, E., Klemetsen,
 A., Lamberg, A. & Erkinaro, J. (2005). Spatial and temporal migration of wild
 Atlantic salmon smolts determined from a video camera array in the sub-Arctic
 River Tana. Fisheries Research 74, 210-222.
- Davidsen, J. G., Manel-la, N. P., Økland, F., Diserud, O. H., Thorstad, E. B., Finstad, B., Sivertsgård, R., McKinley, R. S. & Rikardsen, A. H. (2008). Changes in swimming depths of Atlantic salmon *Salmo salar* post-smolts relative to light intensity. *Journal of Fish Biology* **73**, 1065-1074.
- Davidsen, J. G., Rikardsen, A. H., Halttunen, E., Thorstad, E. B., Økland, F., Letcher, B. H., Skarðhamar, J. & Næsje, T. F. (2009). Migratory behaviour and survival rates of wild northern Atlantic salmon Salmo salar post-smolts: effects of environmental factors. Journal of Fish Biology 75, 1700-1718.
- Davidsen, J. G., Rikardsen, A. H., Thorstad, E. B., Halttunen, E., Mitamura, H., Præbel, K., Skarðhamar, J. & Næsje, T. F. (2013). Homing behaviour of Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) during final phase of marine migration and river entry. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* **70**, 794-802.
- de Leeuw, J. J., Terhofstede, R. & Winter, H. V. (2007). Sea growth of anadromous brown trout (*Salmo trutta*). *Journal of Sea Research* **58**, 163-165.

- Debowski, P., Dobosz, S. & Robak, S. (1999a). Estimation of smoltification of hatcheryreared sea trout (*Salmo trutta morpha trutta* L.) based on body morphology. *Archives of Polish Fisheries* **7**, 257-266.
- Debowski, P., Glogowski, J., Robak, S. & Dobosz, S. (1999b). Smoltification of hatcheryreared Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.)-indices and methods of estimation. *Archives of Polish Fisheries* **7**, 267-279.
- Denton, E. J. & Saunders, R. L. (1972). On the organization of silvery layers in the skin of the Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) during smoltification and on the regeneration of these layers under abnormal lighting conditions. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the UK* 52, 889-898.
- Dieperink, C., Bak, B. D., Pedersen, L. F., Pedersen, M. I. & Pedersen, S. (2002). Predation on Atlantic salmon and sea trout during their first days as postsmolts. *Journal of Fish Biology* **61**, 848-852.
- Dieperink, C., Pedersen, S. & Pedersen, M. I. (2001). Estuarine predation on radiotagged wild and domesticated sea trout (*Salmo trutta* L.) smolts. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish* **10**, 177-183.
- Dittman, A. & Quinn, T. (1996). Homing in Pacific salmon: mechanisms and ecological basis. *Journal of Experimental Biology* **199**, 83-91.
- Døving, K. B. (1989). Molecular cues in salmonid migration. In *Molecules in physics, chemistry, and biology*, pp. 299-329: Springer.
- Dudgeon, D., Arthington, A. H., Gessner, M. O., Kawabata, Z. Ä., Knowler, D. J.,
 Lév√™que, C., Naiman, R. J., Prieur,ÄêRichard, A. Ä. I. n., Soto, D. & Stiassny, M.
 L. (2006). Freshwater biodiversity: importance, threats, status and conservation challenges. *Biological Reviews* 81, 163-182.
- Duguid, R. A., Ferguson, A. & Prodöhl, P. (2006). Reproductive isolation and genetic differentiation of ferox trout from sympatric brown trout in Loch Awe and Loch Laggan, Scotland. *Journal of Fish Biology* **69**, 89-114.
- Dunkley, D. A. & Shearer, W. M. (1982). An assessment of the performance of a resistivity fish counter. *Journal of Fish Biology* **20**, 717-737.
- Duston, J., Saunders, R. L. & Knox, D. E. (1991). Effects of Increases in Freshwater Temperature on Loss of Smolt Characteristics in Atlantic Salmon (Salmo salar). *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* **48**, 164-169.
- Dutil, J.-D. & Coutou, J.-M. (1988). Early marine life of Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar*, postsmolts in the northern Gulf of St. Lawrence. *Fishery Bulletin* **86**, 197-212.
- Dynesius, M. & Nilsson, C. (1994). Fragmentation and flow regulation of river systems in the northern third of the world. *Science* **266**, 753-753.
- Eiler, J. H. (1995). A remote satellite-linked tracking system for studying Pacific salmon with radio telemetry. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* **124**, 184-193.
- Elliott, J. (1990). Mechanisms responsible for population regulation in young migratory trout, *Salmo trutta*. III. The role of territorial behaviour. *The Journal of animal ecology* **59**, 803-818.

- Elliott, J. M. (1991). Tolerance and resistance to thermal stress in juvenile Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar. *Freshwater Biology* **25**, 61-70.
- Elliott, J. M., Lyle, A. A. & Campbell, R. N. B. (1997). A preliminary evaluation of migratory salmonids as vectors of organic carbon between marine and freshwater environments. *The Science of the Total Environment* **195**, 219-223.
- Ellis, J. S., Sumner, K. J., Griffiths, A. M., Bright, D. I. & Stevens, J. R. (2011). Population genetic structure of Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar L., in the River Tamar, southwest England. *Fisheries Management and Ecology* **18**, 233-245.
- Enders, E. C., Gessel, M. H. & Williams, J. G. (2009). Development of successful fish passage structures for downstream migrants requires knowledge of their behavioural response to accelerating flow. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 66, 2109-2117.
- Entec (2010). Opportunity and environmental mapping sensitivity for hydropower in England and Wales. Bristol: Environment Agency.
- Esteve, M. & McLennan, D. A. (2007). The phylogeny of *Oncorhynchus* (Euteleostei: Salmonidae) based on behavioral and life history characters. *Journal Information* **2007**.
- Everest, J., Bradwell, T. & Golledge, N. (2005). Subglacial landforms of the tweed palaeoice stream. *The Scottish Geographical Magazine* **121**, 163-173.
- Ewing, R. (1998). Changes in physiological indices of smolting during seaward migration of wild coho salmon, *Oncorhynchus kisutch*. *Aquaculture* **168**, 69-83.
- Fahrig, L. (2003). Effects of habitat fragmentation on biodiversity. Annual review of ecology, evolution, and systematics, 487-515.
- Ferguson, A. (1989). Genetic differences among brown trout, Salmo trutta, stocks and their importance for the conservation and management of the species. *Freshwater Biology* **21**, 35-46.
- Ferguson, A. (2006). Genetics of sea trout, with particular reference to Britain and Ireland. In Sea Trout: Biology, Conservation and Management (Harris, G. & Milner, N., eds.), pp. 157-182. Oxford: Blackwell.
- Finstad, A., Økland, F., Thorstad, E. & Heggberget, T. (2005a). Comparing upriver spawning migration of Atlantic salmon Salmo salar and sea trout Salmo trutta. Journal of Fish Biology 67, 919-930.
- Finstad, B., Okland, F., Thorstad, E. B., Bjorn, P. A. & McKinley, R. S. (2005b). Migration of hatchery-reared Atlantic salmon and wild anadromous brown trout postsmolts in a Norwegian fjord system. *Journal of Fish Biology* 66, 86-96.
- Fish Pal (2014). <u>http://www.fishpal.com/Scotland/Tweed/FindFishing.asp?dom=Pal</u>. 10/04/2014.
- Fleming, I. A. (1996). Reproductive strategies of Atlantic salmon: Ecology and evolution. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries* **6**, 379-416.
- Folmar, L. & Dickhoff, W. (1980). The parr-smolt transformation (smoltification) and seawater adaptation in salmonids: A review of selected literature. *Aquaculture* 21, 1-37.

- Foote, C. J. (1990). An Experimental Comparison of Male and Female Spawning Territoriality in a Pacific Salmon. *Behaviour* **115**, 283-314.
- Foulds, W. L. & Lucas, M. C. (2013). Extreme inefficiency of two conventional, technical fishways used by European river lamprey (Lampetra fluviatilis). *Ecological Engineering* 58, 423-433.
- Fujioka, K., Kawabe, R., Hobday, A. J., Takao, Y., Miyashita, K., Sakai, O. & Itoh, T. (2010). Spatial and temporal variation in the distribution of juvenile southern bluefin tuna *Thunnus maccoyii*: implication for precise estimation of recruitment abundance indices. *Fisheries Science* **76**, 403-410.
- Fullerton, A. H., Burnett, K. M., Steel, E. A., Flitcroft, R. L., Pess, G. R., Feist, B. E., Torgersen, C. E., Miller, D. J. & Sanderson, B. L. (2010). Hydrological connectivity for riverine fish: measurement challenges and research opportunities. *Freshwater Biology* 55, 2215-2237.
- Gadomski, D. M., Mesa, M. G. & Olson, T. M. (1994). Vulnerability to predation and physiological stress responses of experimentally descaled juvenile Chinook salmon, Oncorhynchus tshawytscha. Environmental Biology of Fishes 39, 191-199.
- Garcia de Leaniz, C. (2008). Weir removal in salmonid streams: implications, challenges and practicalities. *Hydrobiologia* **609**, 83-96.
- Gardiner, R. (1989). Tweed Juvenile Salmon and Trout Stocks. In *Tweed towards 2000* (Mills, D., ed.), pp. 105-114. Melrose: The Tweed Foundation.
- Garside, E. T. (1973). Ultimate upper lethal temperature of Atlantic salmon Salmo salar L. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* **51**, 898-900.
- Gatz, A. J. (2007). Homing Ability of Displaced Stream-Dwelling Green Sunfish. *Journal of Freshwater Ecology* **22**, 403-409.
- Gauld, N. R., Campbell, R. N. B. & Lucas, M. C. (2013). Reduced flow impacts salmonid smolt emigration in a river with low-head weirs. *Science of the Total Environment* 458–460, 435-443.
- Gent, R., Pitlo Jr, J. & Boland, T. (1995). Largemouth bass response to habitat and water quality rehabilitation in a backwater of the upper Mississippi River. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management* **15**, 784-793.
- Gerking, S. D. (1953). Evidence for the concepts of home range and territory in stream fishes. *Ecology* **34**, 347-365.
- Gerlier, M. & Roche, P. (1998). A radio telemetry study of the migration of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) and sea trout (*Salmo trutta trutta* L.) in the upper Rhine. *Hydrobiologia* **371**, 283-293.
- Gosset, C. & Rives, J. (2004). Anesthésie et procédures chirurgicales pour l'implantation de radio e'metteurs dans la cavité ventrale de truites communes adultes (*Salmo trutta*). Bulletin Frant/βais de la PV™che et de la Pisciculture, 21-34.
- Gosset, C., Travade, F., Durif, C., Rives, J. & Elie, P. (2005). Tests of two types of bypass for downstream migration of eels at a small hydroelectric power plant. *River Research and Applications* 21, 1095-1105.

- Gowans, A. (1999). Movements of adult Atlantic salmon in relation to a hydroelectric dam and fish ladder. *Journal of Fish Biology* **54**, 713-726.
- Gowans, A., Armstrong, J., Priede, I. & Mckelvey, S. (2003). Movements of Atlantic salmon migrating upstream through a fish-pass complex in Scotland. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish* **12**, 177-189.
- Grant, J. A. (1997). Territoriality. In *Behavioural ecology of teleost fishes* (Godin, J.-G. J., ed.). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Greenstreet, S. P. R. (1992). Migration of hatchery reared juvenile Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar L., smolts down a release ladder. 1. Environmental effects on migratory activity. Journal of Fish Biology 40, 655-666.
- Gries, G. & Letcher, B. (2002). Tag retention and survival of age-0 Atlantic salmon following surgical implantation with passive integrated transponder tags. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management* **22**, 219-222.
- Gross, M. R., Coleman, R. M. & McDowall, R. M. (1988). Aquatic productivity and the evolution of diadromous fish migration. *Science* **239**, 1291-1293.
- Gustard, A., Bullock, A. & Dixon, J. (1992). Low flow estimation in the United Kingdom. Wallingford: Institute of Hydrology.
- Guyomard, R., GrV©visse, C., Oury, F. & Davaine, P. (1984). Evolution de la variabilit√© gén√©tique inter et intra-populations de populations de Salmonid√©s issues de mêmes pools g√©niques. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* **41**, 1024-1029.
- Halvorsen, M. & Stabell, O. B. (1990). Homing behaviour of displaced stream-dwelling brown trout. *Animal Behaviour* **39**, 1089-1097.
- Handeland, S. (2001). Photoperiod control and influence of body size on off-season parr–smolt transformation and post-smolt growth. *Aquaculture* **192**, 291-307.
- Handeland, S. (2004). Temperature influence on the development and loss of seawater tolerance in two fast-growing strains of Atlantic salmon. *Aquaculture* **233**, 513-529.
- Handeland, S. O., Järvi, T., Fernö, a. & Stefansson, S. O. (1996). Osmotic stress, antipredatory behaviour, and mortality of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) smolts. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 53, 2673-2680.
- Hansen, L., Jonsson, N. & Jonsson, B. (1993). Oceanic migration in homing Atlantic salmon. *Animal Behaviour* **45**, 927-941.
- Hansen, L. P. (1993). Movement and migration of salmon at sea. In *Salmon in the sea* and new enhancement strategies (Mills, D., ed.), pp. 26-39. Oxford: Fishing News Books.
- Hansen, L. P. & Pethon, P. (2006). The food of Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar* L., caught by long–line in northern Norwegian waters. *Journal of Fish Biology* **26**, 553-562.
- Hansen, L. P. & Quinn, T. R. (1998). The marine phase of the Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) life cycle, with comparisons to Pacific salmon. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 55, 104-118.
- Hanson, K., Cooke, S., Suski, C., Niezgoda, G., Phelan, F., Tinline, R. & Philipp, D. (2007). Assessment of largemouth bass (Micropterus salmoides) behaviour and activity

at multiple spatial and temporal scales utilizing a whole-lake telemetry array. In *Developments in Fish Telemetry*, pp. 243-256: Springer.

- Harcup, M., Williams, R. & Ellis, D. (1984). Movements of brown trout, Salmo trutta L., in the River Gwyddon, South Wales. *Journal of Fish Biology* **24**, 415-426.
- Harden Jones, F. R. (1968). Fish migration. London: Edward Arnold Press.
- Haro, A. & Kynard, B. (1997). Video Evaluation of Passage Efficiency of American Shad and Sea Lamprey in a Modified Ice Harbor Fishway. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 17, 981-987.
- Haro, A., Odeh, M., Noreika, J. & Castro-Santos, T. (1998). Effect of water acceleration on downstream migratory behavior and passage of Atlantic salmon smolts and juvenile American shad at surface bypasses. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* **127**, 118-127.
- Harris, C. M., Calladine, J. R., Wernham, C. V. & Park, K. J. (2008). Impacts of piscivorous birds on salmonid populations and game fisheries in Scotland: a review. *Wildlife Biology* 14, 395-411.
- Harvey, B. C. (1987). Susceptibility of young-of-the-year fishes to downstream displacement by flooding. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* **116**, 851-855.
- Harwood, A. J., Armstrong, J. D., Griffiths, S. W. & Metcalfe, N. B. (2002). Sympatric association influences within-species dominance relations among juvenile Atlantic salmon and brown trout. *Animal Behaviour* **64**, 85-95.
- Hasler, C. T., Donaldson, M. R., Sunder, R. P., Guimond, E., Patterson, D. A., Mossop, B., Hinch, S. G. & Cooke, S. J. (2011). Osmoregulatory, metabolic, and nutritional condition of summer-run male Chinook salmon in relation to their fate and migratory behavior in a regulated river. *Endangered Species Research* 14, 79-89.
- Haugland, M., Holst, J., Holm, M. & Hansen, L. (2006). Feeding of Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) post-smolts in the Northeast Atlantic. ICES Journal of Marine Science 63, 1488-1500.
- Hawkins, A., MacLennan, D., Urquhart, G. & Robb, C. (1974). Tracking cod Gadus morhua L. in a Scottish sea loch. *Journal of Fish Biology* **6**, 225-236.

Hawkins, A. D. & Smith, G. W. (1986). Radio-tracking observations on Atlantic salmon ascending the Aberdeenshire Dee. *Scottish fisheries research report* **36**, 1-24.

- Hawley, K. (2013). Overwintering ecology of high-latitude Arctic charr populations. In *Biological and Biomedical Sciences*: Durham.
- Hayne, D. W. (1949). Calculation of size of home range. *Journal of Mammalogy* **30**, 1-18.

Heggenes, J. (1988). Effect of Experimentally Increased Intraspecific Competition on Sedentary Adult Brown Trout (Salmo trutta) Movement and Stream Habitat Choice. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* **45**, 1163-1172.

Heggenes, J., Baglinière, J. L. & Cunjak, R. A. (1999). Spatial niche variability for young Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) and brown trout (S. trutta) in heterogeneous streams. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish* **8**, 1-21.

- Heggenes, J. & Borgstrom, R. (1988). Effect of mink, *Mustela vison* Schreber, predation on cohorts of juvenile Atlantic salmon, *Salmo safar* L., and brown trout, *S. trutta* L., in three small streams. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 885-894.
- Heggenes, J. & Metcalfe, N. (1991). Bimodal size distributions in wild juvenile Atlantic salmon populations and their relationship with age at smolt migration. *Journal of Fish Biology* **39**, 905-907.
- Hembre, B., Arnekleiv, J. V. & L'Abee-Lund, J. H. (2001). Effects of water discharge and temperature on the seaward migration of anadromous brown trout, *Salmo trutta*, smolts. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish* **10**, 61-64.
- Henderson, H. F., Hasler, A. D. & Chipman, G. G. (1966). An ultrasonic transmitter for use in studies of movements of fishes. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* 95, 350-356.
- Hess, J. E., Matala, A. P. & Narum, S. R. (2011). Comparison of SNPs and microsatellites for fine-scale application of genetic stock identification of Chinook salmon in the Columbia River Basin. *Molecular Ecology Resources* **11**, 137-149.
- Hesthagen, T. (1988). Movements of brown trout, Salmo trutta, and juvenile Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar, in a coastal stream in northern Norway. *Journal of Fish Biology* **32**, 639-653.
- Heupel, M., Semmens, J. & Hobday, A. (2006). Automated acoustic tracking of aquatic animals: scales, design and deployment of listening station arrays. *Marine and Freshwater Research* 57, 1-13.
- Hindar, K., Jonsson, B., Ryman, N. & Ståhl, G. (1991). Genetic relationships among landlocked, resident, and anadromous Brown Trout, *Salmo trutta* L. *Heredity* **66**, 83-91.
- Hislop, J. R. G. & Shelton, R. G. J. (1993). Marine predators and prey of Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.). In *Salmon in the sea and new enhancement strategies* (Mills, D., ed.), pp. 104-118. Oxford: Fishing News Books.
- Hockersmith, E. E., Muir, W. D., Smith, S. G., Sandford, B. P., Perry, R. W., Adams, N. S. & Rondorf, D. W. (2003). Comparison of migration rate and survival between radio-tagged and PIT-tagged migrant yearling chinook salmon in the snake and Columbia rivers. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 23, 404-413.
- Hogasen, H. R. (1998). Physiological changes associated with the diadromous migration of salmonids. *Canadian Special Publication of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* **127**, i-viii, 1-128.
- Höjesjö, J., Adriaenssens, B., Bohlin, T., Jönsson, C., Hellström, I. & Johnsson, J. I. (2011).
 Behavioural syndromes in juvenile brown trout (Salmo trutta); life history, family variation and performance in the wild. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology*, 1801-1810.
- Höjesjö, J., Økland, F., Sundström, L. F., Pettersson, J. & Johnsson, J. (2007). Movement and home range in relation to dominance; a telemetry study on brown trout Salmo trutta. *Journal of Fish Biology* **70**, 257-268.
- Huntingford, F. A., Braithwaite, V. A., Armstrong, J. D., Aird, D. & Joiner, P. (1998). Homing in juvenile salmon in response to imposed and spontaneous

displacement: experiments in an artificial stream. *Journal of Fish Biology* **53**, 847-852.

- Hvidsten, N. A. & Lund, R. A. (1988). Predation on hatchery-reared and wild smolts of Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar L., in the estuary of River Orkla, Norway. Journal of Fish Biology 33, 121-126.
- Hvidsten, N. A. & Mokkelgjerd, P. I. (1987). Predation on salmon smolts, *Salmo salar* L., in the estuary of the River Surna, Norway. *Journal of Fish Biology* **30**, 273-280.
- Ibbotson, A. T., Beaumont, W. R. C., Pinder, A., Welton, S. & Ladle, M. (2006). Diel migration patterns of Atlantic salmon smolts with particular reference to the absence of crepuscular migration. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish* **15**, 544-551.
- Ibbotson, A. T., Riley, W. D., Beaumont, W. R., Cook, A. C., Ives, M. J., Pinder, A. C. & Scott, L. J. (2013). The source of autumn and spring downstream migrating juvenile Atlantic salmon in a small lowland river. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish* 22, 73-81.
- Isely, J. J., Young, S. P., Jones, T. A. & Schaffler, J. J. (2002). Effects of antenna placement and antibiotic treatment on loss of simulated transmitters and mortality in hybrid striped bass. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 22, 204-207.
- Ishiguro, N. B., Miya, M. & Nishida, M. (2003). Basal euteleostean relationships: a mitogenomic perspective on the phylogenetic reality of the ,ÄúProtacanthopterygii,Äù. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution* 27, 476-488.
- Iwata, M. (1995). Downstream migratory behavior of salmonids and its relationship with cortisol and thyroid hormones: A review. *Aquaculture* **135**, 131-139.
- Jacobsen, J. (2001). Seasonal differences in the origin of Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) in the Norwegian Sea based on estimates from age structures and tag recaptures. *Fisheries Research* **52**, 169-177.
- Jarvi, T. (1989). Synergistic effect on mortality in Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar*, smolt caused by osmotic stress and presence of predators. *Environmental Biology of Fishes* **26**, 149-152.
- Jepsen, N., Koed, A., Thorstad, E. B. & Baras, E. (2002). Surgical implantation of telemetry transmitters in fish: how much have we learned? *Hydrobiologia* 483, 239-248.
- Jepsen, N., Mikkelsen, J. S. & Koed, A. (2008). Effects of tag and suture type on survival and growth of brown trout with surgically implanted telemetry tags in the wild. *Journal of Fish Biology* **72**, 594-602.
- Johnsson, J. I., Carlsson, M. & SundstrV∂m, L. F. (2000). Habitat preference increases territorial defence in brown trout (Salmo trutta). *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* **48**, 373-377.
- Johnsson, J. I., Nöbbelin, F. & Bohlin, T. (1999). Territorial competition among wild brown trout fry : effects of ownership and body size. *Journal of Fish Biology* **54**, 469-472.

- Johnsson, J. r. & Forser, A. (2002). Residence duration influences the outcome of territorial conflicts in brown trout (Salmo trutta). *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 51, 282-286.
- Jonsson, B. (1989). Life history and habitat use of Norwegian brown trout (*Salmo trutta*). *Freshwater biology. Oxford* **21**, 71-86.
- Jonsson, B. & Jonsson, N. (2009a). Migratory timing, marine survival and growth of anadromous brown trout *Salmo trutta* in the River Imsa, Norway. *Journal of Fish Biology* **74**, 621-638.
- Jonsson, B. & Jonsson, N. (2009b). A review of the likely effects of climate change on anadromous Atlantic salmon *Salmo salar* and brown trout *Salmo trutta*, with particular reference to water temperature and flow. *Journal of Fish Biology* **75**, 2381-2447.

Jonsson, B. & Jonsson, N. (2011). Ecology of Atlantic salmon and brown trout: Springer.

- Jonsson, B., Jonsson, N. & Hansen, L. (1990). Does juvenile experience affect migration and spawning of adult Atlantic salmon? *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 26, 225-230.
- Jonsson, B., Jonsson, N. & Hansen, L. P. (2003). Atlantic salmon straying from the River Imsa. *Journal of Fish Biology* **62**, 641-657.
- Jonsson, N. & Jonsson, B. (2002). Migration of anadromous brown trout *Salmo trutta* in a Norwegian river. *Freshwater Biology* **47**, 1391-1401.
- Jungwirth, M. (1998). River continuum and fish migration- going beyond the longitudinal river corridor in understanding ecological integrity. In Fish Migration and Fish Bypasses. (Jungwirth, M., Schmutz, S. & Weiss, S., eds.), pp. 19-32. Oxford: Fishing News Books.
- Karppinen, P., MV§kinen, T. S., Erkinaro, J., Kostin, V. V., Sadkovskij, R. V., Lupandin, A. I.
 & Kaukoranta, M. (2002). Migratory and route-seeking behaviour of ascending Atlantic salmon in the regulated River Tuloma. *Hydrobiologia* 483, 23-30.
- Kaspersson, R., Sundstrom, F., Bohlin, T. & Johnsson, J. I. (2013). Modes of Competition: Adding and Removing Brown Trout in the Wild to Understand the Mechanisms of Density-Dependence. *PLoS ONE* 8.
- Katzman, S. M., Greathouse, J., Roessig, J. M., Graham, J., Cocherell, D. E. & Cech, J. J. (2010). Water velocity preferences of Coho salmon during the parr-smolt transformation. *Environmental Biology of Fishes* 88, 79-84.
- Keefer, M. L., Peery, C. A., Bjornn, T. C., Jepson, M. A. & Stuehrenberg, L. C. (2004). Hydrosystem, dam, and reservoir passage rates of adult Chinook salmon and steelhead in the Columbia and Snake rivers. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* **133**, 1413-1439.
- Keefer, M. L., Taylor, G. A., Garletts, D. F., Helms, C. K., Gauthier, G. A., Pierce, T. M. & Caudill, C. C. (2012). Reservoir entrapment and dam passage mortality of juvenile Chinook salmon in the Middle Fork Willamette River. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish* 21, 222-234.
- Keenleyside, M. H. & Yamamoto, F. T. (1962). Territorial behaviour of juvenile Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.). *Behaviour*, 139-169.

- Kemp, P. S. & O'Hanley, J. R. (2010). Procedures for evaluating and prioritising the removal of fish passage barriers: a synthesis. *Fisheries Management and Ecology*, 297-322.
- Kennedy, R. J., Moffett, I., Allen, M. M. & Dawson, S. M. (2013). Upstream migratory behaviour of wild and ranched Atlantic salmon Salmo salar at a natural obstacle in a coastal spate river. *Journal of Fish Biology* 83, 515-530.
- Keskinen, T., Pääkkönen, J.-P. J., Lilja, J., Marjomäki, T. J. & Karjalainen, J. (2005). Homing behaviour of pikeperch (Sander lucioperca) following experimental transplantation. *Boreal Environ. Res* **10**, 119-124.
- Kibel, P. & Coe, T. (2011). Archimedean Screw risk assessment: strike and delay porbabilities. Dartington, UK: Fishtek Consulting.
- Kim, J. W., Wood, J. L. A., Grant, J. W. A. & Brown, G. E. (2011). Acute and chronic increases in predation risk affect the territorial behaviour of juvenile Atlantic salmon in the wild. *Animal Behaviour* 81, 93-99.
- Klemetsen, A., Amundsen, P.-A., Dempson, J. B., Jonsson, B., Jonsson, N., O'Connell, M.
 F. & Mortensen, E. (2003). Atlantic salmon Salmo salar L., brown trout Salmo trutta L. and Arctic charr Salvelinus alpinus (L.): a review of aspects of their life histories. Ecology of Freshwater Fish 12, 1-59.
- Klimley, A. P., Voegeli, F., Beavers, S. & Le Boeuf, B. (1998). Automated listening stations for tagged marine fishes. *Marine Technology Society Journal* **32**, 94-101.
- Koed, A., Baktoft, H. & Bak, B. D. (2006). Causes of mortality of Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) and brown trout (Salmo trutta) smolts in a restored river and its estuary. *River Research and Applications* 22, 69-78.
- Koed, A., Jepsen, N., Aarestrup, K. & Nielsen, C. (2002). Initial mortality of radio-tagged Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L .) smolts following release downstream of a hydropower station. *Hydrobiologia* **483**, 31-37.
- Kosnik, L. (2010). The potential for small scale hydropower development in the US. *Energy Policy* **38**, 5512-5519.
- Kottelat, M. & Freyhof, J. (2007). Handbook of European freshwater fishes. Gland: IUCN.
- Kristensen, E. A., Closs, G. P., Olley, R., Kim, J., Reid, M. & Stirling, C. (2011). Determining the spatial distribution of spawning by anadromous and resident brown trout Salmo trutta L using strontium content of eggs collected from redds. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish* **20**, 377-383.
- L'Abee-Lund, J. H., Jonsson, B., Jensen, A. J., Saettem, L. M., Heggberget, T. G., Johnsen,
 B. O. & Naesje, T. F. (1989). Latitudinal variation in life-history characteristics of sea-run migrant brown trout *Salmo trutta*. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 58, 525-542.
- Laaha, G. & Blöschl, G. (2007). A national low flow estimation procedure for Austria. *Hydrological Sciences Journal* **52**, 625-644.
- Lacroix, G. & Voegeli, F. (2000). Development of automated monitoring systems for ultrasonic transmitters. In *Advances in Fish Telemetry* (Russell, A., ed.), pp. 37-50. Lowestoft, UK: CEFAS.

- Lacroix, G. L., Knox, D. & McCurdy, P. (2004). Effects of implanted dummy acoustic transmitters on juvenile Atlantic salmon. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* **133**, 211-220.
- Lacroix, G. L. & McCurdy, P. (1996). Migratory behaviour of post-smolt Atlantic salmon during initial stages of seaward migration. *Journal of Fish Biology* **49**, 1086-1101.
- Lamothe, P., Gallagher, M., Chivers, D. & Moring, J. (2000). Homing and Movement of Yellow-phase American Eels in Freshwater Ponds. *Environmental Biology of Fishes* **58**, 393-399.
- Larinier, M. (2001). Environmental issues, dams and fish migration. In *Dams, fish and fisheries: Opportunities, challenges and conflict resolution* (Marmulla, G., ed.), pp. 45-90. Rome: FAO.
- Larinier, M. (2008). Fish passage experience at small-scale hydro-electric power plants in France. *Hydrobiologia* **609**, 97-108.
- Laughton, R. (1989). The Movements of Adult Salmon within the River Spey. *Scottish fisheries research report* **41**.
- Laughton, R. (1991). The Movements of Adult Atlantic Salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) in the River Spey as Determined by Radio Telemetry During 1988 and 1989. *Scottish fisheries research report* **50**.
- Laughton, R. & Smith, G. W. (1992). The relationship between the date of river entry and the estimated spawning position of adult Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) in two major Scottish east coast rivers. In *Wildlife Telemetry* (Priede, I. G. & Swift, S. M., eds.), pp. 423-433. New York: Ellis Horwood.
- Leider, S. A. (1989). Increased straying by adult steelhead trout, Salmo gairdneri, following the 1980 eruption of Mount St. Helens. *Environmental Biology of Fishes* 24, 219-229.
- Leyzerovich, K. A. (1973). Dwarf males in hatchery propagation of the Atlantic salmon *Salmo salar. Journal of Ichthyology* **13**, 382-392.
- Linnaeus, C. (1758). Systema naturae per regna tria naturae, secundum classes, ordines, genera, species, cum characteribus, differentiis, synonymis, locis.

Lotek-Wireless (2014). Radio telemetry. http://www.lotek.com/radio.htm. 01/05/2014.

- Lucas, M. C. (1989). Effects of implanted dummy transmitters on mortality, growth and tissue reaction in rainbow trout, *Salmo gairdneri* Richardson. *Journal of Fish Biology* **35**, 577-587.
- Lucas, M. C. (1992). An electrode design for use with intragastric heart rate transmitters in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) and other fish. In *Wildlife Telemetry* (Priede, I. G. & Swift, S. M., eds.), pp. 128-130. New York: Ellis Horwood.
- Lucas, M. C. (2000). The influence of environmental factors on movements of lowlandriver fish in the Yorkshire Ouse system. *The Science of the total environment* 251-252, 223-232.
- Lucas, M. C. & Baras, E. (2000). Methods for studying spatial behaviour of freshwater fishes in the natural environment. *Fish and Fisheries* **1**, 283-316.
- Lucas, M. C. & Baras, E. (2001). *Migration of Freshwater Fishes*. Oxford; Malden, MA: Blackwell Science Oxford.

- Lucas, M. C. & Batley, E. (1996). Seasonal movements and behaviour of adult barbel *Barbus barbus*, a riverine cyprinid fish: implications for river management. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 1345-1358.
- Lucas, M. C., Bubb, D. H., JANG, M. Ä., Ha, K. & Masters, J. E. (2009). Availability of and access to critical habitats in regulated rivers: effects of low-head barriers on threatened lampreys. *Freshwater Biology* **54**, 621-634.
- Lucas, M. C. & Frear, P. A. (1997). Effects of a flow-gauging weir on the migratory behaviour of adult barbel, a riverine cyprinid. *Journal of Fish Biology* **50**, 382-396.
- Lucas, M. C. & Johnstone, D. F. (1990). Observations on the retention of intragastric transmitters, and their effects on food consumption, in cod, *Gadus morhua* L. *Journal of Fish Biology* **37**, 647-649.
- Lucas, M. C., Mercer, T., Armstrong, J. D., McGinty, S. & Rycroft, P. (1999). Use of a flatbed passive integrated transponder antenna array to study the migration and behaviour of lowland river fishes at a fish pass. *Fisheries Research* **44**, 183-191.
- Lundqvist, H. & Eriksson, L.-O. (1985). Annual rhythms of swimming behaviour and seawater adaptation in young baltic salmon, Salmo salar, associated with smolting. *Environmental Biology of Fishes* **14**, 259-267.
- Luschi, P., Papi, F., Liew, H. C., Chan, E. H. & Bonadonna, F. (1996). Long-distance migration and homing after displacement in the green turtle (Chelonia mydas): a satellite tracking study. *Journal of Comparative Physiology A* **178**, 447-452.
- Lyle, A. A. & Maitland, P. S. (1997). The spawning migration and conservation of smelt Osmerus eperlanus in the River Cree, southwest Scotland. *Biological Conservation* **80**, 303-311.
- Lysfjord, G. & Staurnes, M. (1998). Gill Na+ –K+ -ATPase activity and hypoosmoregulatory ability of seaward migrating smolts of anadromous Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*), sea trout (*Salmo trutta*) and Arctic char (*Salvelinus alpinus*) in the Hals river, northern Norway. *Aquaculture* **168**, 279-288.
- Madison, D. M. (1969). Homing behaviour of the red-cheeked salamander,< i> Plethodon jordani</i>. Animal Behaviour **17**, 25-39.
- Maher, C. R. & Lott, D. F. (2000). A Review of Ecological Determinants of Territoriality within Vertebrate Species. *The American Midland Naturalist* **143**, 1-29.
- Mäkinen, T. S., Niemelä, E., Moen, K. & Lindström, R. (2000). Behaviour of gill-net and rod-captured Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) during upstream migration and following radio tagging. *Fisheries Research* **45**, 117-127.
- Marquiss, M., Gardiner, R., Carss, D. & Armstrong, J. (1998). *Fish-eating birds and salmonids in Scotland*: Scottish Office: Agriculture and Fisheries Department.
- Marschall, E. A., Mather, M. E., Parrish, D. L., Allison, G. W. & McMenemy, J. R. (2011). Migration delays caused by anthropogenic barriers: modeling dams, temperature, and success of migrating salmon smolts. *Ecological Applications* 21, 3014-3031.
- Marsh, T. J. (2004). The UK drought of 2003: A hydrological review. *Weather* **59**, 224-230.

- Martin, F., Hedger, R. D., Dodson, J. J., Fernandes, L., Hatin, D., Caron, F. & Whoriskey, F.
 G. (2009). Behavioural transition during the estuarine migration of wild Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) smolt. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish* 18, 406-417.
- Martin, S. W., Long, J. A. & Pearsons, T. N. (1995). Comparison of survival, gonad development, and growth between rainbow trout with and without surgically implanted dummy radio transmitters. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 15, 494-498.
- Mathes, M. T., Hinch, S. G., Cooke, S. J., Crossin, G. T., Patterson, D. A., Lotto, A. G. & Farrell, A. P. (2009). Effect of water temperature, timing, physiological condition, and lake thermal refugia on migrating adult Weaver Creek sockeye salmon (Oncorhynchus nerka). *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 67, 70-84.
- McCormick, S. & Saunders, R. (1987). Preparatory physiological adaptations for marine life of salmonids: osmoregulation, growth, and metabolism. *American Fisheries Society Symposium* **1**, 211-229.
- McCormick, S. D. (1994). Ontogeny and evolution of salinity tolerance in anadromous salmonids: hormones and heterochrony. *Estuaries* **17**, 26-33.
- McCormick, S. D., Hansen, L. P., Quinn, T. P. & Saunders, R. L. (1998). Movement, migration, and smolting of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* **55**, 77-92.
- McCormick, S. D., Moriyama, S. & Björnsson, B. T. (2000). Low temperature limits photoperiod control of smolting in atlantic salmon through endocrine mechanisms. *American Journal of Physiology. Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology* **278**, R1352-1361.
- McCormick, S. D., Shrimpton, J. M., Moriyama, S. & Bjornsson, B. T. (2007). Differential hormonal responses of Atlantic salmon parr and smolt to increased daylength: a possible developmental basis for smolting. *Aquaculture* **273**, 337-344.
- McCormick, S. D., Shrimpton, J. M., Moriyama, S. & Björnsson, B. T. (2002). Effects of an advanced temperature cycle on smolt development and endocrinology indicate that temperature is not a zeitgeber for smolting in Atlantic salmon. *Journal of Experimental Biology* **205**, 3553-3560.
- McDowall, R. M. (1996). Volcanism and freshwater fish biogeography in the northeastern North Island of New Zealand. *Journal of Biogeography* **23**, 139-148.
- McKeown, N. J., Hynes, R. A., Duguid, R. A., Ferguson, A. & Prodöhl, P. A. (2010).
 Phylogeographic structure of brown trout Salmo trutta in Britain and Ireland: glacial refugia, postglacial colonization and origins of sympatric populations. *Journal of Fish Biology* **76**, 319-347.
- Meister, A. L. (1984). The marine migration of tagged Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) of USA origin. International Council for the Exploration of the Sea C.M. 1984/M:27, 28pp.
- Melnychuk, M. C., Welch, D. W., Walters, C. J. & Christensen, V. (2007). Riverine and early ocean migration and mortality patterns of juvenile steelhead trout

(Oncorhynchus mykiss) from the Cheakamus River, British Columbia. *Hydrobiologia* **582**, 55-65.

- Meraner, A., Baric, S., Pelster, B. & Dalla Via, J. (2007). Trout (Salmo trutta) mitochondrial DNA polymorphism in the centre of the marble trout distribution area. *Hydrobiologia* **579**, 337-349.
- Metcalfe, N. B., Taylor, A. C. & Thorpe, J. E. (1995). Metabolic rate, social status and lifehistory strategies in Atlantic salmon. *Animal Behaviour* **49**, 431-436.
- Metcalfe, N. B. & Thorpe, J. E. (1990). Determinants of geographical variation in the age of seaward-migrating salmon, *Salmo salar*. *Journal of Animal Ecology* **59**, 135.
- Michel, C. J., Ammann, A. J., Chapman, E. D., Sandstrom, P. T., Fish, H. E., Thomas, M. J., Singer, G. P., Lindley, S. T., Klimley, A. P. & MacFarlane, R. B. (2013). The effects of environmental factors on the migratory movement patterns of Sacramento River yearling late-fall run Chinook salmon (Oncorhynchus tshawytscha). *Environmental Biology of Fishes* **96**, 257-271.
- Miller, R. B. (1954). Movements of Cutthroat Trout after Different Periods of Retention Upstream and Downstream from their Homes. *Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada* **11**, 550-558.
- Mitamura, H., Uchida, K., Miyamoto, Y., Kakihara, T., Miyagi, A., Kawabata, Y., Ichikawa, K. & Arai, N. (2012). Short-range homing in a site-specific fish: search and directed movements. *The Journal of Experimental Biology* **215**, 2751-2759.
- Mizuno, S. (2004). Quantitative changes of black pigmentation in the dorsal fin margin during smoltification in masu salmon, *Oncorhynchus masou*. *Aquaculture* **229**, 433-450.
- Moore, A., Bendall, B., Barry, J., Waring, C., Crooks, N. & Crooks, L. (2012). River temperature and adult anadromous Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar, and brown trout, Salmo trutta. *Fisheries Management and Ecology* **19**, 518-526.
- Moore, A., Ives, M., Scott, M. & Bamber, S. (1998a). The migratory behaviour of wild sea trout (*Salmo trutta* L.) smolts in the estuary of the River Conwy, North Wales. *Aquaculture* **168**, 57-68.
- Moore, A., Ives, S., Mead, T. A. & Talks, L. (1998b). The migratory behaviour of wild Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) smolts in the River Test and Southampton Water, southern England. *Hydrobiologia* **371/372**, 295-304.
- Moore, A. & Potter, E. C. E. (1994). The movement of wild sea trout, *Salmo trutta* L., smolts through a river estuary. *Fisheries Management and Ecology* **1**, 1-14.
- Moore, A., Potter, E. C. E. & Buckley, A. A. (1992). Estuarine behaviour of migrating Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) smolts. In *Wildlife Telemetry* (Priede, I. G. & Swift, S. M., eds.), pp. 389-399: Ellis Horwood.
- Moore, A., Potter, E. C. E., Milner, N. J. & Bamber, S. (1995). The migratory behaviour of wild Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) smolts in the estuary of the River Conwy, North Wales. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* **52**, 1923-1935.
- Moore, A., Russel, I. C. & Potter, E. C. E. (1990). The effects of intraperitoneally implanted dummy acoustic transmitters on the behaviour and physiology of juvenile Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar* L. *Journal of Fish Biology* **37**, 713-721.

- Morgan, R. I. G., Greenstreet, S. P. R. & Thorpe, J. E. (1986). First observations on distribution, food and fish predators of postsmolt Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar*, in the outer Firth of Clyde. *ICES Document CM 1986/M: 27*.
- Moser, M. L., Darazsdi, A. M. & Hall, J. R. (2000). Improving passage efficiency of adult American shad at low-elevation dams with navigation locks. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management* **20**, 376-385.
- Moser, M. L., Ocker, P. A., Stuehrenberg, L. C. & Bjornn, T. C. (2002). Passage efficiency of adult Pacific lampreys at hydropower dams on the lower Columbia River, USA. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* **131**, 956-965.
- Moyle, P. B. & Leidy, R. A. (1992). Loss of Biodiversity in Aquatic Ecosystems: Evidence from Fish Faunas. In *Conservation Biology: The theory and practice of nature conservation, preservation and management* (Fiedler, P. L. & Jain, S. K., eds.), pp. 127-169. New York: Chapman and Hall.
- Muir, W. D., Smith, S. G., Williams, J. G., Hockersmith, E. E. & Skalski, J. R. (2001a). Survival estimates for migrant yearling chinook salmon and steelhead tagged with passive integrated transponders in the lower Snake and lower Columbia Rivers, 1993–1998. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 21, 269-282.
- Muir, W. D., Smith, S. G., Williams, J. G. & Sandford, B. P. (2001b). Survival of juvenile salmonids passing through bypass systems, turbines, and spillways with and without flow deflectors at Snake River dams. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 21, 135-146.
- Mulcahy, D. M. (2003). Surgical Implantation of Transmitters into Fish. *ILAR Journal* **44**, 295-306.
- Neave, F. (1943). Diurnal Fluctuations in the Upstream Migration of Coho and Spring Salmon. *Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada* **6b**, 158-163.
- Neiffer, D. L. & Stamper, M. A. (2009). Fish sedation, anesthesia, analgesia, and euthanasia: considerations, methods, and types of drugs. *ILAR Journal* 50, 343-360.
- Nelson, J. S. (2006). Fishes of the World. New York: Wiley.
- Niezgoda, G., Benfield, M., Sisak, M. & Anson, P. (2002). Tracking acoustic transmitters by code division multiple access (CDMA)-based telemetry. In *Aquatic Telemetry*, pp. 275-286: Springer.
- Nilsen, T. O., Ebbesson, L. O. E. & Stefansson, S. O. (2003). Smolting in anadromous and landlocked strains of Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar). *Aquaculture* **222**, 71-82.
- Nilsson, C., Reidy, C. A., Dynesius, M. & Revenga, C. (2005). Fragmentation and flow regulation of the world's large river systems. *Science* **308**, 405-408.
- Noonan, M. J., Grant, J. W. A. & Jackson, C. D. (2012). A quantitative assessment of fish passage efficiency. *Fish and Fisheries* **13**, 450-464.
- Nordeng, H. (1971). Is the local orientation of anadromous fishes determined by pheromones? *Nature* **233**, 411-413.
- Nordeng, H. (1977). A Pheromone Hypothesis for Homeward Migration in Anadromous Salmonids. *Oikos* **28**, 155-159.

- Nordeng, H. & Bratland, P. (2006). Homing experiments with parr, smolt and residents of anadromous Arctic char Salvelinus alpinus and brown trout Salmo trutta: transplantation between neighbouring river systems. Ecology of Freshwater Fish 15, 488-499.
- Northcote, T. (1998). Migratory behaviour of fish and its significance to movement through riverine fish passage facilities. *Fish migration and fish bypasses*, 3.
- Northcote, T. G. (1978). Migratory strategies and production of freshwater fishes. In *Ecology of freshwater fish production* (Gerking, S. D., ed.), pp. 326-359.
- O'Connor, J. P., O'Mahony, D. J., O'Mahony, J. M. & Glenane, T. J. (2006). Some impacts of low and medium head weirs on downstream fish movement in the Murray-Darling Basin in southeastern Australia. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish* **15**, 419-427.
- Office Of Technology Assessment (1995). Fish passage technologies: protection at hydropower facilities. Washington DC: OTA-ENV-641.
- Økland, F., Erkinaro, J., Moen, K., Niemelä, E., Fiske, P., McKinley, R. S. & Thorstab, E. B. (2001). Return migration of Atlantic Salmon in the River Tana: Phases of migratory behaviour. *Journal of Fish Biology* **59**, 862-874.
- Økland, F., Jonsson, B., Jensen, A. J. & Hansen, L. P. (1993). Is there a threshold size regulating seaward migration of brown trout and Atlantic salmon? *Journal of Fish Biology* **42**, 541-550.
- Orell, P., Erkinaro, J., Svenning, M. a., Davidsen, J. G. & Niemelä, E. (2007). Synchrony in the downstream migration of smolts and upstream migration of adult Atlantic salmon in the subarctic River Utsjoki. *Journal of Fish Biology* **71**, 1735-1750.
- Östergren, J., Lundqvist, H. & Nilsson, J. (2011). High variability in spawning migration of sea trout, Salmo trutta, in two northern Swedish rivers. *Fisheries Management and Ecology* **18**, 72-82.
- Ottaway, E. M. & Clarke, A. (1981). A preliminary investigation into the vulnerability of young trout (Salmo trutta L.) and Atlantic salmon (S. salar L.) to downstream displacement by high water velocities. *Journal of Fish Biology* **19**, 135-145.
- Ovidio, M., Baras, E., Goffaux, D., Birtles, C. & Philippart, J. C. (1998). Environmental unpredictability rules the autumn migration of brown trout (Salmo trutta L.) in the Belgian Ardennes. In *Advances in Invertebrates and Fish Telemetry* (Lagardère, J.-P., Anras, M.-L. & Claireaux, G., eds.), pp. 263-274: Springer Netherlands.
- Ovidio, M. & Philippart, J.-C. (2002). The impact of small physical obstacles on upstream movements of six species of fish. *Hydrobiologia* **483**, 55-69.
- Paish, O. (2002). Small hydro power: technology and current status. *Renewable and sustainable energy reviews* **6**, 537-556.
- Papi, F. (1992). General aspects. In Animal homing, pp. 1-18: Springer.
- Peake, S., McKinley, R. S., Scruton, D. A. & Moccia, R. (1997). Influence of transmitter attachment procedures on swimming performance of wild and hatchery-reared Atlantic salmon smolts. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* **126**, 707-714.

- Pedersen, L.-F., Koed, a. & Malte, H. (2008). Swimming performance of wild and F1hatchery-reared Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) and brown trout (*Salmo trutta*) smolts. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish* 17, 425-431.
- Phillips, R., Matsuoka, M., Konkol, N. & McKay, S. (2004). Molecular Systematics and Evolution of the Growth Hormone Introns in the Salmoninae. *Environmental Biology of Fishes* **69**, 433-440.
- Phillips, R. B., Manley, S. A. & Daniels, T. J. (1994). Systematics of the Salmonid Genus Salvelinus Inferred from Ribosomal DNA Sequences. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* **51**, 198-204.
- Pinder, A. C., Riley, W. D., Ibbotson, A. T. & Beaumont, W. R. C. (2007). Evidence for an autumn downstream migration and the subsequent estuarine residence of 0+ year juvenile Atlantic salmon Salmo salar L., in England. *Journal of Fish Biology* 71, 260-264.
- Pirhonen, J. (1998). Movements of hatchery reared Salmo trutta during the smolting period, under experimental conditions. *Aquaculture* **168**, 27-40.
- Poff, N. L. & Hart, D. D. (2002). How dams vary and why it matters for the emerging science of dam removal. *Bioscience* **52**, 659-668.
- Potter, E. C. E. (1988). Movements of Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar L. in an estuary in south-west England. *Journal of Fish Biology* **33**, 153-159.
- Potter, E. C. E., Solomon, D. J. & Buckley, A. A. (1992). Estuarine movements of adult Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) in Christchurch Harbour, southern England. In *Wildlife Telemetry* (Priede, I. G. & Swift, S. M., eds.), pp. 400-409: Ellis Horwood.
- Pratten, D. J. & Shearer, W. M. (1983). The Migrations of North Esk Sea Trout. *Aquaculture Research* **14**, 99-113.
- Priede, I. G. & Swift, S. M. (1992). *Wildlife telemetry : remote monitoring and tracking animals* New York: Ellis Horwood.
- R Core Team (2012), R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing. <u>http://www.R-project.org/</u>
- Radford, A., Riddington, G. & Anderson, J. (2004). The Economic Impact of Game and Coarse Angling in Scotland. Scottish Executive.
- Ramsden, S. D., Brinkmann, H., Hawryshyn, C. W. & Taylor, J. S. (2003). Mitogenomics and the sister of Salmonidae. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* **18**, 607-610.
- Raymond, H. L. (1979). Effects of dams and impoundments on migrations of juvenile chinook salmon and steelhead from the Snake River, 1966 to 1975. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* **108**, 505-529.
- Raymond, H. L. (1988). Effects of hydroelectric development and fisheries enhancement on spring and summer chinook salmon and steelhead in the Columbia River basin. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management* **8**, 1-24.
- Reddin, D. G., Shearer, W. M. & Burfitt, R. F. (1984). Intercontinental migrations of Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.). International Council for the Exploration of the Sea C.M. 1984/M:11.

- Reid, D., Armstrong, J. D. & Metcalfe, N. B. (2012). The performance advantage of a high resting metabolic rate in juvenile salmon is habitat dependent. *The Journal of animal ecology* **81**, 868-875.
- Richards, S. A. (2008). Dealing with overdispersed count data in applied ecology. *Journal* of Applied Ecology **45**, 218-227.
- Rikardsen, a. H., Hansen, L. P., Jensen, a. J., Vollen, T. & Finstad, B. (2008). Do Norwegian Atlantic salmon feed in the northern Barents Sea? Tag recoveries from 70 to 78°
 N. Journal of Fish Biology 72, 1792-1798.
- Riley, W. (2007). Seasonal downstream movements of juvenile Atlantic salmon, *Salmo* salar L., with evidence of solitary migration of smolts. *Aquaculture* **273**, 194-199.
- Riley, W. D., Eagle, M. O. & Ives, S. J. (2002). The onset of downstream movement of juvenile Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar L., in a chalk stream. Fisheries Management and Ecology 9, 87-94.
- Riley, W. D., Ibbotson, A. T. & Beaumont, W. R. C. (2009). Adult returns from Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar, parr autumn migrants. *Fisheries Management and Ecology* 16, 75-76.
- Riley, W. D., Ibbotson, A. T., Lower, N., Cook, A. C., Moore, A., Mizuno, S., Pinder, A. C., Beaumont, W. R. C. & Privitera, L. (2008). Physiological seawater adaptation in juvenile Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) autumn migrants. *Freshwater Biology* 53, 745-755.
- River Tweed Commission (2009). 2009 Annual Report and Accounts. Melrose, UK: River Tweed Commission.
- River Tweed Commission (2010). 2010 Annual Report and Accounts. Melrose, UK: River Tweed Commission.
- River Tweed Commission (2011). 2011 Annual Report and Accounts. Melrose, UK: River Tweed Commission.
- River Tweed Commission (2012). 2012 Annual Report and Accounts. Melrose, UK: River Tweed Commission.
- River Tweed Commission (2013). 2013 Annual Report and Accounts. Melrose, UK: River Tweed Commission.
- Roscoe, D., Hinch, S., Cooke, S. & Patterson, D. (2011). Fishway passage and postpassage mortality of up-river migrating sockeye salmon in the Seton River, British Columbia. *River Research and Applications* **27**, 693-705.
- Roscoe, D. W. & Hinch, S. G. (2010). Effectiveness monitoring of fish passage facilities: historical trends, geographic patterns and future directions. *Fish and Fisheries* 11, 12-33.
- Rose, J., Arlinghaus, R., Cooke, S., Diggles, B., Sawynok, W., Stevens, E. & Wynne, C. (2012). Can fish really feel pain? *Fish and Fisheries*.
- Ross, L. G., Ross, B. & Ross, B. (2008). *Anaesthetic and sedative techniques for aquatic animals*: Wiley Online Library.
- Ross, M. J. & Kleiner, C. F. (1982). Shielded-needle Technique for Surgically Implanting Radio-frequency Transmitters in Fish. *The Progressive Fish-Culturist* **44**, 41-43.

- Russell, I. C., Moore, A., Ives, S., Kell, L. T., Ives, M. J. & Stonehewer, R. O. (1998). The migratory behaviour of juvenile and adult salmonids in relation to an estuarine barrage. *Hydrobiologia* **371**, 321-334.
- Sargent, R. C. (1982). Territory quality, male quality, courtship intrusions, and female nest-choice in the threespine stickleback, *Gasterosteus aculeatus*. *Animal Behaviour* **30**, 364-374.
- Saunders, R., Henderson, E. & Glebe, B. (1982). Precocious sexual maturation and smoltification in male Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). *Aquaculture* **28**, 211-229.
- Saunders, R. L. & Gee, J. H. (1964). Movements of Young Atlantic Salmon in a Small Stream. *Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada* **21**, 27-36.
- Schöffmann, J., Sušnik, S. & Snoj, A. (2007). Phylogenetic origin of Salmo trutta L 1758 from Sicily, based on mitochondrial and nuclear DNA analyses. *Hydrobiologia* 575, 51-55.
- Schramm JR, H. L. & Black, D. J. (1984). Anesthesia and surgical procedures for implanting radio transmitters into grass carp. *The Progressive Fish-Culturist* 46, 185-190.
- Scruton, D. A., McKinley, R. S., Kouwen, N., Eddy, W. & Booth, R. K. (2002). Use of telemetry and hydraulic modeling to evaluate and improve fish guidance efficiency at a louver and bypass system for downstream-migrating Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) smolts and kelts. *Hydrobiologia* **483**, 83-94.
- Scruton, D. A., Pennell, C. J., Bourgeois, C. E., Goosney, R. F., Porter, T. R. & Clarke, K. D. (2007). Assessment of a retrofitted downstream fish bypass system for wild Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) smolts and kelts at a hydroelectric facility on the Exploits River, Newfoundland, Canada. *Hydrobiologia* **582**, 155-169.
- Sheail, J. (1998). The Tweed fisheries: An historical perspective. *Science of the Total Environment* **210**, 469-482.
- Sheer, M. & Steel, E. (2006). Lost watersheds: barriers, aquatic habitat connectivity, and salmon persistence in the Willamette and Lower Columbia River basins. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* **135**, 1654-1669.
- Shen, J.-X., Xu, Z.-M. & Hankes, E. (1998). Direct homing behaviour in the ant< i> Tetramorium caespitum</i>(Formicidae, Myrmicinae). Animal Behaviour 55, 1443-1450.
- Shoji, T., Yamamoto, Y., Nishikawa, D., Kurihara, K. & Ueda, H. (2003). Amino acids in stream water are essential for salmon homing migration. *Fish Physiology and Biochemistry* 28, 249-251.
- Sih, A., Bell, A. & Johnson, J. C. (2004). Behavioral syndromes: an ecological and evolutionary overview. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* **19**, 372-378.
- Smakhtin, V. (2001). Low flow hydrology: a review. Journal of Hydrology 240, 147-186.
- Smith, G. W., Campbell, R. N. B. & MacLaine, J. S. (1998). Regurgitation rates of intragastric transmitters by adult Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) during riverine migration. *Hydrobiologia* **371-372**, 117-121.

- Smith, G. W., Smith, I. P. & Armstrong, S. M. (1994). The relationship between river flow and entry to the Aberdeenshire Dee by returning adult Atlantic salmon. *Journal* of Fish Biology **45**, 953-960.
- Smith, I. P. & Smith, G. W. (1997). Tidal and diel timing of river entry by adult Atlantic salmon returning to the Aberdeenshire Dee, Scotland. *Journal of Fish Biology* 50, 463-474.
- Smith, S. G., Muir, W. D., Hockersmith, E. E., Zabel, R. W., Graves, R. J., Ross, C. V., Connor, W. P. & Arnsberg, B. D. (2003). Influence of river conditions on survival and travel time of Snake River subyearling fall Chinook salmon. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management* 23, 939-961.
- Smith, S. G., Muir, W. D., Marsh, D. M., Williams, J. G. & Skalski, J. R. (2006). Survival estimates for the passage of spring-migrating juvenile salmonids through Snake and Columbia River dams and reservoirs, 2005. In *Report of the National Marine Fisheries Service to the Bonneville Power Administration, Portland, Oregon*.
- Smith, S. G., Muir, W. D., Williams, J. G. & Skalski, J. R. (2002). Factors associated with travel time and survival of migrant yearling chinook salmon and steelhead in the lower Snake River. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 22, 385-405.
- Solomon, D., Sambrook, H. T. & Broad, K. J. (1999). Salmon migration and river flow. Results of radio tagged salmon in six rivers in South West England. In *Research & Development Publication 4*, pp. 1-110. Bristol: Environment Agency.
- Solomon, D. & Templeton, R. (1976). Movements of brown trout Salmo trutta L. in a chalk stream. *Journal of Fish Biology* **9**, 411-423.
- Solomon, D. J. (1978a). Migration of smolts of Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) and sea trout (Salmo trutta L.) in a chalkstream. Environmental Biology of Fishes 3, 223 -229.
- Solomon, D. J. (1978b). Some observations on salmon smolt migration in a chalkstream. Journal of Fish Biology **12**, 571-574.
- Solomon, D. J. & Potter, E. C. E. (1988). First results with a new estuarine fish tracking system. *Journal of Fish Biology* **33**, 127-132.
- Solomon, D. J. & Sambrook, H. T. (2004). Effects of hot dry summers on the loss of Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar, from estuaries in South West England. *Fisheries Management and Ecology* **11**, 353-363.
- Spah, H. (2001). Fishery biological opinion of the fish compatibility of the patented hydraulic screw from Ritz Atro. Bielfield, Germany.
- Spares, A. D., Reader, J. M., Stokesbury, M. J. W., McDermott, T., Zikovsky, L., Avery, T.
 S. & Dadswell, M. J. (2006). Inferring marine distribution of Canadian and Irish Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) in the North Atlantic from tissue concentrations of bio-accumulated caesium 137. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* 64, 394-404.
- Spencer, R. C., Zydlewski, J. & Zydlewski, G. (2010). Migratory Urge and Gill Na+,K+-ATPase Activity of Hatchery-Reared Atlantic Salmon Smolts from the Dennys and Penobscot River Stocks, Maine. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* 139, 947-956.

- Stabell, O. B. (1984). Homing and olfaction in salmonids: a critical review with special reference to the Atlantic salmon. *Biol. Rev* **59**, 88.
- Stamps, J. (1983). Territoriality and the defence of predator-refuges in juvenile lizards. *Animal Behaviour* **31**, 857-870.
- Stark, K. E., Jackson, G. D. & Lyle, J. M. (2005). Tracking arrow squid movements with an automated acoustic telemetry system. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 299, 167-177.
- Stasko, A. B. (1975). Progress of migrating Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) along an estuary, observed by ultrasonic tracking. *Journal of Fish Biology* **7**, 329-338.
- Stearley, R. F. & Smith, G. R. (1993). Phylogeny of the Pacific Trouts and Salmons (Oncorhynchus) and Genera of the Family Salmonidae. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* **122**, 1-33.
- Steel, A., Sandstrom, P., Brandes, P. & Klimley, A. P. (2013). Migration route selection of juvenile Chinook salmon at the Delta Cross Channel, and the role of water velocity and individual movement patterns. *Environmental Biology of Fishes* 96, 215-224.
- Stefansson, S. O., Berge, A. I. & Gunnarsson, G. S. (1998). Changes in seawater tolerance and gill Na+, K+ -ATPase activity during desmoltification in Atlantic salmon kept in freshwater at different temperatures. *Aquaculture* **168**, 271-277.
- Steig, T., Skalski, J. & Ransom, B. (2005). Comparison of acoustic and PIT tagged juvenile Chinook, steelhead and sockeye salmon (Oncorhynchus, spp.) passing dams on the Columbia River, USA. In *Proceedings of the Fifth Conference on Fish Telemetry*, pp. 275-286.
- Steinmetz, J., Kohler, S. L. & Soluk, D. A. (2003). Birds are overlooked top predators in aquatic food webs. *Ecology* **84**, 1324-1328.
- Strand, J. T., Davidsen, J., Jørgensen, E. & Rikardsen, A. (2011). Seaward migrating Atlantic salmon smolts with low levels of gill Na+, K+ -ATPase activity; is sea entry delayed? *Environmental Biology of Fishes* **90**, 317-321.
- Strayer, D. L. & Dudgeon, D. (2010). Freshwater biodiversity conservation: recent progress and future challenges. *Journal of the North American Benthological Society* 29, 344-358.
- Stuart, T. (1957). The Migrations and Homing Behavior of Brown Trout (Salmo Trutta L.): HM Stationery Office.
- Stuehrenberg, L., Giorgi, A. & Bartlett, C. (1990). Pulse-coded radio tags for fish identification. *Fish-marking techniques*, 370-374.
- Sundström, L. F., Lõhmus, M. & Johnsson, J. I. (2003). Investment in territorial defence depends on rearing environment in brown trout (Salmo trutta). *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 54, 249-255.
- Svendsen, J., Koed, A. & Aarestrup, K. (2004). Factors influencing the spawning migration of female anadromous brown trout. *Journal of Fish Biology* 64, 528-540.

- Svendsen, J. C., Eskesen, A. O., Aarestrup, K., Koed, A. & Jordan, A. D. (2007). Evidence for non-random spatial positioning of migrating smolts (Salmonidae) in a small lowland stream. *Freshwater Biology* 52, 1147-1158.
- Svenning, M., Borgstrom, R., Dehli, T., Moen, G., Barrett, R., Pedersen, T. & Vader, W. (2005a). The impact of marine fish predation on Atlantic salmon smolts (*Salmo salar*) in the Tana estuary, North Norway, in the presence of an alternative prey, lesser sandeel (*Ammodytes marinus*). *Fisheries Research* **76**, 466-474.
- Svenning, M., Fagermo, S., Barrett, R., Borgstrom, R., Vader, W., Pedersen, T. & Sandring, S. (2005b). Goosander predation and its potential impact on Atlantic salmon smolts in the River Tana estuary, northern Norway. *Journal of Fish Biology* 66, 924-937.
- Swanberg, T. R. & Geist, D. R. (1997). Effects of intraperitoneal transmitters on the social interaction of rainbow trout. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 17, 178-181.
- Tay District Salmon Fisheries Board (2013). Annual Report 2012/13.
- Teo, S. L., Sandstrom, P. T., Chapman, E. D., Null, R. E., Brown, K., Klimley, A. P. & Block, B. A. (2011). Archival and acoustic tags reveal the post-spawning migrations, diving behavior, and thermal habitat of hatchery-origin Sacramento River steelhead kelts (Oncorhynchus mykiss). *Environmental Biology of Fishes* 96, 175-187.
- The Tweed Forum (2003). **Tweed Catchment Management Plan**. Melrose: The Tweed Forum.
- Thorpe, J. E. (1977). Bimodal distribution of length of juvenile Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) under artificial rearing conditions. *Journal of Fish Biology* **11**, 175-184.
- Thorpe, J. E. & Morgan, R. I. G. (1978). Periodicity in Atlantic salmon *Salmo salar* L. smolt migration. *Journal of Fish Biology* **12**, 541-548.
- Thorpe, J. E., Struthers, G. & Watts, W. (1981). Tracking Atlantic salmon smolts, *Salmo salar* L., through Loch Voil, Scotland. *Journal of Fish Biology* **19**, 519-537.
- Thorstad, E. & Heggberget, T. (1998). Migration of adult Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*); the effects of artificial freshets. *Hydrobiologia* **371-372**, 339-346.
- Thorstad, E., Kland, F., Finstad, B., Sivertsgrd, R., Bjorn, P. & McKinleyd, R. (2004). Migration speeds and orientation of Atlantic salmon and sea trout post-smolts in a Norwegian fjord system. *Environmental Biology of Fishes* **71**, 305-311.
- Thorstad, E. B., Heggberget, T. G. & Okland, F. (1998). Migratory behaviour of adult wild and escaped farmed Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar L., before, during and after spawning in a Norwegian river. *Aquaculture Research* **29**, 419-428.
- Thorstad, E. B., Økland, F., Aarestrup, K. & Heggberget, T. G. (2007). Factors affecting the within-river spawning migration of Atlantic salmon, with emphasis on human impacts. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries* **18**, 345-371.
- Thorstad, E. B., Økland, F., Aarestrup, K. & Heggberget, T. G. (2008). Factors affecting the within-river spawning migration of Atlantic salmon, with emphasis on human impacts. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries* **18**, 345-371.

- Thorstad, E. B., Uglem, I., Arechavala-Lopez, P., Okland, F. & Finstad, B. (2011a). Low survival of hatchery-released Atlantic salmon smolts during initial river and fjord migration. *Boreal Environment Research* **16**, 115-120.
- Thorstad, E. B., Uglem, I., Finstad, B., Chittenden, C. M., Nilsen, R., Okland, F. & Bjorn, P. A. (2012a). Stocking location and predation by marine fishes affect survival of hatchery-reared Atlantic salmon smolts. *Fisheries Management and Ecology* 19, 400-409.
- Thorstad, E. B., Whoriskey, F., Rikardsen, A. H. & Aarestrup, K. (2011b). Aquatic nomads: the life and migrations of the Atlantic salmon. In *Atlantic salmon ecology* (Oystein, A., Einum, S., Klemetsen, A. & Skurdal, J., eds.), pp. 1-32. Oxford, UK: Wiley-Blackwell.
- Thorstad, E. B., Whoriskey, F., Uglem, I., Moore, A., Rikardsen, A. H. & Finstad, B. (2012b). A critical life stage of the Atlantic salmon Salmo salar: behaviour and survival during the smolt and initial post-smolt migration. Journal of Fish Biology 81, 500-542.
- Thurow, F. (1968). On food, behaviour and population mechanisms of Baltic salmon. Swedish Salmon Research Institute - Report LFI Medd. **4/1968**, 1-16.
- Torniainen, J., Vuorinen, P. J., Jones, R. I., Keinanen, M., Palm, S., Vuori, K. A. M. & Kiljunen, M. (2014). Migratory connectivity of two Baltic Sea salmon populations: retrospective analysis using stable isotopes of scales. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* **71**, 336-344.
- Turnpenny, A., Clough, S., Hanson, K., Ramsay, R. & McEwan, D. (2000). Risk assessment for fish passage through small, low-head turbines. Oxon, UK: Harwell Laboratory, Energy Technology Support Unit.
- Ueda, H. (2011a). Physiological mechanism of homing migration in Pacific salmon from behavioral to molecular biological approaches. *General and Comparative Endocrinology* **170**, 222-232.
- Ueda, H. (2011b). Physiological mechanism of homing migration in Pacific salmon from behavioral to molecular biological approaches. *General and Comparative Endocrinology* **170**, 222-232.
- Uncles, R. J., Frickers, P. E. & Harris, C. (2003). Dissolved nutrients in the Tweed Estuary, UK: inputs, distributions and effects of residence time. *Science of the Total Environment* **314**, 727-736.
- Voegeli, F., Smale, M., Webber, D., Andrade, Y. & O'Dor, R. (2001). Ultrasonic telemetry, tracking and automated monitoring technology for sharks. *Environmental Biology of Fishes* 60, 267-281.
- Voegeli, F. A., Lacroix, G. L. & Anderson, J. M. (1998). Development of miniature pingers for tracking Atlantic salmon smolts at sea. *Hydrobiologia* **371/372**, 35-46.
- Wagner, G. N. & Stevens, E. D. (2000). Effects of different surgical techniques: suture material and location of incision site on the behaviour of rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). *Marine & Freshwater Behaviour & Phy* **33**, 103-114.
- Wagner, G. N., Stevens, E. D. & Harvey-Clark, C. (1999). Wound Healing in Rainbow Trout following Surgical Site Preparation with a Povidone-Iodine Antiseptic. *Journal of Aquatic Animal Health* **11**, 373-382.
- Walker, A. M., Bendall, B. J. & Moore, A. (2005). The thermal regimes experienced by adult Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) and sea trout (*Salmo trutta* L.) in freshwater, as indicated by temperature-sensing acoustic pinger tags. In 6th Conference on Fish Telemetry in Europe. Sesimbra, Protugal.
- Walker, R. W., Brown, R. S., Deters, K. A., Eppard, M. B. & Cooke, S. J. (2013). Does UV disinfection compromise sutures? An evaluation of tissue response and suture retention in salmon surgically implanted with transmitters. *Fisheries Research* 147, 32-35.
- Walsh, M. G., Bjorgo, K. A. & Jeffery Isely, J. (2000). Effects of implantation method and temperature on mortality and loss of simulated transmitters in hybrid striped bass. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* **129**, 539-544.
- Webb, J. (1989). The Movements of Adult Atlantic Salmon in the River Tay. *Scottish fisheries research report* **44**.
- Webb, J. (1990). The Behaviour of Adult Atlantic Salmon Ascending the Rivers Tay and Tummel to Pitlochry Dam. *Scottish fisheries research report* **48**.
- Webb, J. (1992). The Behaviour of Adult Salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) in the River Tay as Determined by Radio Telemetry. *Scottish fisheries research report* **52**.
- Webb, J. & Hawkins, A. D. (1989). The Movements and Spawning Behaviour of Adult Salmon in the Girnock Burn, A Tributary of the Aberdeenshire Dee , 1986. Scottish fisheries research report 40.
- Webb, J., Verspoor, E., Aubin-Horth, N., Romakkaniemi, A. & Amiro, P. (2007). The
 Atlantic salmon. In *The Atlantic salmon: Genetics, conservation and management* (Verspoor, E., Stradmeyer, L. & Nielsen, J., eds.), pp. 17-56. Oxford: Blackwell.
- Welch, D. W., Batten, S. D. & Ward, B. R. (2007). Growth, survival, and tag retention of steelhead trout (O. mykiss) surgically implanted with dummy acoustic tags. Hydrobiologia 582, 289-299.
- Welch, D. W., Rechisky, E. L., Melnychuk, M. C., Porter, A. D., Walters, C. J., Clements, S., Clemens, B. J., McKinley, R. S. & Schreck, C. (2008). Survival of migrating salmon smolts in large rivers with and without dams. *PLoS Biology* 6, e265.
- Wells, B. K., Rieman, B. E., Clayton, J. L., Horan, D. L. & Jones, C. M. (2003). Relationships between water, otolith, and scale chemistries of westslope cutthroat trout from the Coeur d'Alene River, Idaho: the potential application of hard-part chemistry to describe movements in freshwater. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* 132, 409-424.
- Went, A. E. J. (1973). Movements of salmon *Salmo salar* (L.) to and from Irish waters. *Journal of Fish Biology* **5**, 659-671.
- Wiese, F. K., Parrish, J. K., Thompson, C. W. & Maranto, C. (2008). Ecosystem-based management of predator-prey relationships: piscivorous birds and salmonids. *Ecological Applications* 18, 681-700.

- Wilby, R. L. & Harris, I. (2006). A framework for assessing uncertainties in climate change impacts: Low-flow scenarios for the River Thames, UK. *Water Resour. Res.* 42, W02419.
- Williams, J. G., Smith, S. G. & Muir, W. D. (2001). Survival estimates for downstream migrant yearling juvenile salmonids through the Snake and Columbia rivers hydropower system, 1966-1980 and 1993-1999. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 21, 310-317.
- Williams, K. L., Griffiths, S. W., McKelvey, S. & Armstrong, J. D. (2010). Deposition of Atlantic salmon Salmo salar carcasses in a Scottish upland catchment. *Journal of Fish Biology* 77, 927-934.
- Winter, J. D. (1996). Advances in underwater biotelemetry. In *Fisheries Techniques* (Murphy, B. R. & Willis, D. W., eds.), pp. 555-590. Bethesda, Maryland: American Fisheries Scociety.
- Wollebaek, J., Heggenes, J. & Roed, K. H. (2011). Population connectivity: dam migration mitigations and contemporary site fidelity in arctic char. *BMC Evolutionary Biology* **11**.
- Wright, P. J., Metcalfe, N. B. & Thorpe, J. E. (1990). Otolith and somatic growth rates in Atlantic salmon parr, Salmo salar L: evidence against coupling. Journal of Fish Biology 36, 241-249.
- Wysujack, K., Greenberg, L. a., Bergman, E. & Olsson, I. C. (2009). The role of the environment in partial migration: food availability affects the adoption of a migratory tactic in brown trout Salmo trutta. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish* 18, 52-59.
- Xenopoulos, M. A., Lodge, D. M., Alcamo, J., Märker, M., Schulze, K. & Van Vuuren, D. P. (2005). Scenarios of freshwater fish extinctions from climate change and water withdrawal. *Global Change Biology* **11**, 1557-1564.
- Xia, Y.-Z., Chen, Y.-Y. & Sheng, Y. (2006). Phylogeographic structure of lenok (Brachymystax lenok Pallas)(Salmoninae, Salmonidae) populations in water systems of eastern China, inferred from mitochondrial DNA sequences. *Zoological Studies* 45, 190-200.
- Yamamoto, Y., Shibata, H. & Ueda, H. (2013). Olfactory Homing of Chum Salmon to Stable Compositions of Amino Acids in Natal Stream Water. *Zoological Science* **30**, 607-612.
- Yamamoto, Y., Woody, C. A., Shoji, T. & Ueda, H. (2008). Olfactory nerve response of masu salmon (Oncorhynchus masou Brevoort) and rainbow trout (O. mykiss Walbaum) to clove oil and MS-222. *Aquaculture Research* **39**, 1019-1027.
- Yasuike, M., Jantzen, S., Cooper, G. A., Leder, E., Davidson, W. S. & Koop, B. F. (2010). Grayling (Thymallinae) phylogeny within salmonids: complete mitochondrial DNA sequences of Thymallus arcticus and Thymallus thymallus. *Journal of Fish Biology* 76, 395-400.
- Youngson, A. F., Simpson, T. H. & Hay, D. W. (1983). The autumn and spring emigrations of juvenile Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar* L., from the Girnock Burn,

Aberdeenshire, Scotland: environmental release of migration. *Journal of Fish Biology* **23**, 625-639.

- Zaugg, W. & Wagner, H. (1973). Gill ATPase activity related to parr-smolt transformation and migration in steelhead trout (*Salmo gairdneri*): influence of photoperiod and temperature. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part B: Comparative Biochemistry* 45, 955-965.
- Zigler, S. J., Dewey, M. R., Knights, B. C., Runstrom, A. L. & Steingraeber, M. T. (2004).
 Hydrologic and Hydraulic Factors Affecting Passage of Paddlefish through Dams in the Upper Mississippi River. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* 133, 160-172.
- Zippin, C. (1956). An evaluation of the removal method of estimating animal populations. *Biometrics* **12**, 163-189.
- Zydlewski, G. B., Haro, A. & McCormick, S. D. (2005). Evidence for cumulative temperature as an initiating and terminating factor in downstream migratory behavior of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) smolts. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries* and Aquatic Sciences 62, 68-78.
- Zydlewski, J., Zydlewski, G. & Danner, G. R. (2010). Descaling Injury Impairs the Osmoregulatory Ability of Atlantic Salmon Smolts Entering Seawater. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* **139**, 129-136.